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Foreword 

These proceedings represent the sixth volume to be published in a series generated 
by the Combat Studies Institute’s annual Military History Symposium. These 
symposia provide a forum for the interchange of ideas on historical topics pertinent 
to the current doctrinal concerns of the United States Army. Every year, in pursuit 
of this goal, the Combat Studies Institute brings together a diverse group of military 
personnel, government historians, and civilian academicians in a forum that promotes 
the exchange of ideas and information on a pressing topic of national significance. This 
year’s symposium, hosted by the Combat Studies Institute, was held 16-18 September 
2008 at Fort Leavenworth, Kansas. 

The 2008 symposium’s theme, “The US Army and the Interagency Process: 
Historical Perspectives,” was designed to explore the partnership between the US 
Army and government agencies in attaining national goals and objectives in peace 
and war within a historical context. The symposium also examined current issues, 
dilemmas, problems, trends, and practices associated with US Army operations 
requiring interagency cooperation. In the midst of two wars and Army engagement in 
numerous other parts of a troubled world, this topic is of tremendous importance to the 
US Army and the nation. 

This year the symposium welcomed as keynote speaker Brigadier General Robert 
J. Felderman, who provided an overview of the organization and capabilities of the 
US Northern Command and its ongoing efforts in interagency cooperation. Other 
featured speakers included Brigadier General (Ret) Mark Kimmit, the Assistant 
Secretary of State for Political-Military Affairs, and Dr. Richard Stewart from the 
Center of Military History. This volume also contains the papers and presentations 
of the seventeen participating panelists, including the question and answer periods 
following each presentation. The symposium program can be found at Appendix 
A. The proceedings can also be found on the CSI web site currently located at 
http://usacac.army.mil/CAC2/CSI/RandPTeam.asp. 

These symposia continue to be an important annual event for those students and 
practitioners of military history who believe that the past has much to offer in the 
analysis of contemporary military challenges. Every year, both attendees and other 
recipients of the proceedings have uniformly found them to be of great benefit. It is 
our earnest hope that readers of this volume will find the experience equally useful. 
CSI – The Past is Prologue. 

Dr. William Glenn Robertson 
Director, Combat Studies Institute 
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Day 1—Opening Remarks 

Introduction 
(Transcript of Presentation) 

Lieutenant General William B. Caldwell IV
 
Commanding General, US Army Combined Arms Center
 

I want to welcome everybody aboard and tell you we are glad to have you here. 
We are looking forward to a great three days. I think everybody can see the title—very 
applicable in the 21st century as we all move forward. The Chief of Staff of our Army 
keeps talking about the fact that we are in an “era of persistent conflict.” In the next 
couple of years, I think we will all recognize and note that the budgets that the US 
military has today will only decline, not increase. And when they do, even greater 
emphasis will be put on everybody collaboratively working together in a coordinated 
manner as we all move forward. There is no question that in the 21st century anything 
that we do is going to be done in what we call a JIIM, a Joint Interagency, Intergovern­
mental, and Multinational kind of an event. We can even take it one step further and 
say it is going to be comprehensive because it is going to involve all the other entities, 
too, such as nongovernmental organizations, entities such as NATO (North Atlantic 
Treaty Organization), and everybody else. We will all be participating in a collabora­
tive manner wherever we find the US military engaged around the world in the future. 
So today as we move forward, one of the great things about this is that sometimes we 
say those who do not read history are doomed to repeat it. What I would tell you is 
that, in fact, there are some great things from history that we do want to repeat. And I 
am hoping that through these next three days, through these eight different panels, the 
interactive discussions that will take place, and the off-line discussions that we will 
be reminded that there are things that we have done well in the past, and we know we 
have, but that we have just forgotten about, that we will repeat and do well again in the 
future. So I look forward to this. I think there are some great lessons learned out of the 
past, historical perspectives that the US Army and the interagency can dialog and talk 
about and benefit from. I will tell you also that here at Fort Leavenworth there are a 
couple of other great resources for those that have not been here before or really have 
not spent any time here. We have our Combined Arms Research Library which we call 
CARL. Our Combined Arms Research Library is a great resource. You can access it 
through the Internet. You can spend time over there. It is open to the public. It is not a 
restricted library, although there are restricted areas, classified areas in there, but the 
majority of it is wide open to the American public. It just won the 2007 Federal Library 
of the Year Award. It is that kind of quality library that we have here on this installation. 
We just received the award last Friday in Washington, DC. So I would encourage you 
to check it out, if you have not seen it or did not know about it, even if you just want 
to go by and ask some questions. We also have the Center for Army Lessons Learned 
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here, closely tied in with the Joint Lessons Learned Center at Norfolk in the JFCOM 
(United States Joint Forces Command) command there. It resides here too. Great les­
sons learned. And they have an element that just looks at joint interagency lessons 
learned. It is a huge directorate. So that resource exists here at Fort Leavenworth also. 
We also have a host of other entities that reside here and are part of this organization. 
So if you are not aware of those, they exist here and people are more than welcome, 
and we encourage you to look at them, ask questions about them, or come back if 
you want at some other point. I want to thank Dr. Glenn Robertson. Glenn is our di­
rector for the Combat Studies Institute. He and his team have done a great job over 
many, many months of getting ready to be where we are today. So Glenn, thank you. 
We appreciate the hard work and effort that everybody has put into getting us to this 
point today, and we really look forward to these next three days. Anyway, I just want 
to officially tell everybody thanks for coming; thanks for being a part of this. This is 
being televised live throughout Fort Leavenworth. We have a closed-circuit television 
system that we use here so it allows any of our CGSC (Command and General Staff 
College) students, the twelve hundred of them that are here daily in school, to be able, 
in their classrooms, to watch what is happening here if they are interested in a particu­
lar panel. It also allows anybody else who works on Fort Leavenworth, outside of the 
college, to tune in and watch what is happening here. We are also blogging live from 
this session today. We have three interactive bloggers that will be engaged in blogging 
so there may be a time when different questions are asked by one or two persons in 
the back that are in the “blogosphere” that are sharing this with a large audience also. 
So if you hear other questions coming in, they will probably be coming in through the 
blogosphere in the back or they will be coming in through some of the classrooms with 
an instructor passing something down asking a question. So we will take questions that 
way too. Okay, with that, those are my comments. I just want to say welcome. Take 
the time to reach out and touch other people. You will see a lot of different uniforms 
if you are from outside Fort Leavenworth. In that row right there you will see four of 
our International Liaison Officers. There is another one back over there. They are rep­
resenting 14 different nations. These officers are assigned here for two to three years. 
They are an incredible resource. They bring great richness to what we do at this institu­
tion and in the school itself where you will find 140 international officers, not as senior 
as these and not quite as knowledgeable, but they also are here and you will see them 
around. So there are almost 200 international officers, on a daily basis, that are here at 
Fort Leavenworth that are part of this whole organization and everything we do here. 
So if you see them around, please engage them. Ask them what they do. Quiz them. 
Put them under a little pressure. Do not let them off lightly. But we appreciate you all 
being here too. Thank you very much. 
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Day 1—Keynote Speaker 

Interagency Coordination 
(Transcript of Presentation) 

Brigadier General Robert J. Felderman
 
Deputy Director of Plans, Policy & Strategy
 

NORAD and USNORTHCOM
 

Thank you very much. US Northern Command (NORTHCOM) was formed in 
2002 based off of the actions of 9-11, 2001. To kick things off since we are talking 
about interagency, I think it is important for you to have an understanding of who 
your speaker is today. I like to consider myself one of the most joint military officers 
at NORAD (North American Aerospace Defense Command) and US Northern Com­
mand. I am the son of a retired naval officer. I followed him around for twenty-plus 
years. I enlisted in the Air Force and worked on F-106s that had a nuclear strike capa­
bility, which is one of the capabilities that NORAD used to monitor. I transferred over 
and was enlisted in the Army, went through Officer Candidate School, was Infantry 
qualified, attended Armor School and flight school, and then throughout the thirty-plus 
years in the National Guard I have worked in Infantry, Armor, Aviation, Medical Ser­
vice, and Cavalry. I have a real estate business that I maintained as a National Guards­
man. I stayed in the National Guard because of being a single parent for over six years 
I realized that was a little bit more important at the time than career. So I have a very 
successful real estate business that allows me these last almost four years to step up and 
work at NORAD and US Northern Command. But I also am on some local boards and 
committees, working down at the city helping write ordinances for real estate, zoning, 
waste water, and different things along that level. I have worked at the state level with 
real estate appraisals and real estate boards in licensing and accreditation. I am on the 
tri-state (Iowa, Illinois, and Wisconsin) American Red Cross Board of Directors. At the 
national level I have been working at the National Guard Association running resolu­
tions and became certified as a legislative liaison. So I have a broad perspective, but a 
person is also impacted by whom you have in reach, and my brother-in-law is Director 
of Mission with USAID (United States Agency for International Development) down 
in Mozambique most recently, and in Guatemala. So I have a lot of reach out there. 
All of that comes into play in what I am discussing here today on US Northern Com­
mand. 

Our primary focus is Homeland Defense. Homeland Defense is the number one 
mission, but we tend to spend most of our time and I will tell you I just disengaged 
yesterday from our response from working with Hurricane Ike, and before that Hannah 
and Gustav. But those are our two primary missions. 
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As you can see here (Slide 1) the focus of our mission is “anticipates.” On the 29th 
of August as Hurricane Katrina had roared across the tip of Florida in Miami and was 
working its way up through the Gulf, General Rich Rowe was the Director of Opera­
tions. I was running the command center. We were trying to anticipate what would be 
needed, knowing that this storm was gathering up to huge levels, very similar path to 
what Gustav did. We tried to anticipate. We tried to look forward and see what was out 
there. We tried to pull forces in. We reached out to the services and what we got was, 
“The military does not respond until we are asked for something.” FEMA (Federal 
Emergency Management Agency) and DHS (Department of Homeland Defense) were 
relatively new, coming together as an organization, and we could not get anything out 
of them as to an assessment as to what we were going to do. I will tell you that has 
changed today. It is significantly different and we have pre-scripted mission assign­
ments out there that we have worked. We have coordinated with all of the services. 
We have the interagency partners that work with us every single day that say, “Here 
are what our gaps are.” Here are the capabilities we do have that we know we will not 
need, and we reached out, as I will cover a little bit later on, with over 120 entities to 
do that coordination. 

Our area of responsibility (Slide 2) will expect a little bit of a change here with 
the 2008 Unified Command Plan (UCP), but here today we cover Canada, the Unit­
ed States, Mexico, Bermuda, and Saint Pierre and Miquelon Island, which is a little 
French territory just off the east coast of Canada. We are going to pick back up the 
Bahamas, British Virgin Islands, Puerto Rico, and the Virgin Islands and that will give 
us a bit more expansion into what we now call our third border and that is the Carib­
bean. We see a significant growth there in our relationship in reaching out to them as 
we have done with Canada with over 50 years with NORAD. We have a very strong 
relationship with them at the North American Aerospace Defense Command. They just 
celebrated their 50th anniversary on May 12th. We also have, and I am very proud to 
have worked on that team, a bi-national team that will help Canada Command stand 
up their command, something very similar to our Northern Command and we have 
developed that relationship where we have a civil assistance plan that was just signed 
by both nations where if they have a disaster or we have a disaster, that we can offer 
military support to that Federal response. In fact, for Gustav we had some aircraft and 
some ships from Canada that were en-route and ready to be shared with us. With Mex­
ico we work with the army SEDENA (Secretaria de la Defensa Nacional) and with the 
navy SEMAR (Armada de Mexico) on a regular basis. In fact, my boss, General Miller, 
is down representing General Renuart there right now for a meeting with their senior 
leaders and he will be headed back up tomorrow. These relationships are expanding on 
a regular basis. We also have quite a bit of an interagency side where we work with our 
Department of Homeland Security that reaches out to Canada’s Public Safety and then 
to Mexico’s Protecciớn Civil. 

This gives you a little bit of an idea of the spectrum that we deal with (Slide 3). 
Starting over here on your left, we work with national special security events such 
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as the space shuttle. We have a team that goes down and coordinates with them, our 
Standing Joint Force Headquarters–North and then that mission is being handed off to 
our Joint Force Air Component Commander, which I will cover in a little bit as we lay 
out the distribution chart. We also work with the United Nations General Assembly, 
which begins here this week. I cannot remember the number, but we will work and 
provide support and assets to the Secret Service as they stand up and protect those 
folks. We are operating in an area that the government calls a POHA (Period of Height­
ened Awareness), and we have a period from the last couple of months here through 
hurricane season and our response, the Republican National Convention, Democratic 
National Convention, United Nations General Assembly, we have a space shuttle that 
is getting ready; it was moving out to the pad in the last week or two. We also will be 
coming into the elections in November, and then the transition into the new govern­
ment in January, the Super Bowl that we cover every year, and several other different 
major events where we have thousands of folks in the United States that could be 
impacted. That will carry forward into July of next year and then from there we start 
working and coordinating with the 2010 Olympics that we are working with Canada in 
providing them support in that area. But we also work down here in the middle as you 
slide across the spectrum, which is the wildfires that we worked last year and the year 
before significantly in California and the southeast area. We monitor these throughout 
the country, but we had a huge response to those on the military side. We had immedi­
ate response from agreements and memorandums of understanding that we have with 
the local bases to be able to provide firefighters, either aircraft with buckets of water 
or flying folks around. We had a much larger response this last year with doing assets 
that are typically used for surveillance that we did for assessment and aerial views 
that we were provided that were hyper-spectral for the chemical side to the ultraviolet 
to be able to show where the fires were starting to pick up and we found that the fire 
chiefs, being able to send information down through a Blackberry or through a Rover 
P3 or full-motion video for this ultraviolet, infrared image that they could tell that they 
had their forces in one area of the nation and they could move and relocate it and be 
ahead of the fire. They never had the opportunity to do that before. So then everybody 
knows with the devastation that we have had and the stand up as I talked earlier of 
Hurricane Katrina, and then rolled into Hurricane Rita where we had First Army east 
of the Mississippi and Fifth Army west of the Mississippi and realized that we needed 
to have an Army element to be able to work that whole piece so we now have Fifth 
Army that works the whole nation for any response. We have 1st Air Force at Tyndall 
that works the air side and Fleet Forces Command that works the naval asset side, of 
course, linking into the Coast Guard. We have found that as we build those responses 
and work it that this becomes almost a day-to-day operation. So while Homeland De­
fense is our number one mission, the coordination with the interagency, coordination 
with nations in our area, coordination with the services and providing those assets is 
where we spend most of our time in this type of response. Now we can also get over 
into the homeland defense side. One of the areas I work quite a bit is nuclear weapons 
accidents, but also new NUDETS (Nuclear Detonations) as we work out there. We 
have two major exercises every year. One that focuses in on Homeland Defense, which 
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 is coming up here this November, VIGILANT SHIELD, and then ARDENT SENTRY, 
which focuses on the consequence management for any kind of a Homeland Defense 
response. We know that we are going to have a significant civil support response, no 
matter what that is, whether it is a 10-K NUDET that occurs, which we practiced last 
year in Indianapolis, or whether it is a pandemic influenza. As we reach out and try to 
work with all the different agencies that are there, it is very critical to our response to 
be able to work that whole piece. And this can extend all the way up to dealing with an 
actual force that attacks the United States. 

This is our command and control chart (Slide 4). It gives you an idea. We just made 
a change. We conducted an organizational mission analysis in the Plans, Policy and 
Strategy Directorate and we just made a move effective this year. But I would like to 
start at the top and you can see where it is very important that we have our coordination 
with the Department of Homeland Security and with the National Guard. For those of 
us in the military, C2 always meant command and control, but we have changed that 
definition of C2 because we are in support always of others in that while we may have 
command and control within the service elements, command and control stands for co­
ordination and collaboration, and with collaboration that means that you are sitting at 
the table as even partners. So as we work with the Department of Homeland Security, 
we have their liaison officers and senior officers that exchange and work with us. As 
we get into the chart on the Department of Homeland Security and the different agen­
cies I have a huge list of folks that we work with, but with the National Guard it is more 
than just the National Guard Bureau because that is not a command and control entity. 
It is reaching out to the states; it is reaching out to the Adjutant Generals that are with 
each of those 54 states and territories. It is reaching out to 12 of them that are triple- or 
dual-hatted as their Officer of Emergency Management or their Office of Homeland 
Security. So we reach out and coordinate and collaborate with those folks giving us our 
own definition of C2. We have Joint Task Force Alaska that works the homeland de­
fense and civil support missions up in Alaska. They also are a little bit dual-hatted with 
the Alaska Command. They work with the Pacific Command out of that area of our 
world. Then we have Joint Force Headquarters National Capitol Region. You might 
know them as the Military District of Washington, the Army element. In day-to-day 
operations they coordinate and work our equities in the National Capitol Region. They 
are leaning forward and we turn them into a Joint Task Force for different events. For 
example, the elections, or the inauguration, or when the President gives his State of the 
Union Speech, they will stand up and operate as our lead element. Here we have the 
services representatives. Air Force North becomes a Joint Force Air Component Com­
mand when we stand them up for a response. Army North, Fifth Army, becomes our 
Joint Force Land Component, or JFLC. We have Marine Forces North, which works 
the Marine forces that would respond to an event in support of the Navy or the Army. 
And then we have the Fleet Forces Command, which today is a supporting command 
but there have been discussions that they would become a Navy North. Then when we 
stand them up as we have in the past, they would become a Joint Force Maritime Com­
ponent Command. Each of those component commanders would also be responsible 
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to be prepared to stand up a Joint Task Force should we need it. For right now, regard­
ing our response into Florida, the required response was not as strong as it could have 
been. Florida has a significant response force so all we sent in there was 1 of our 10 
Defense Coordinating Officers. But had we needed a larger response there or a larger 
response in Louisiana or in Texas, we could have stood up the Joint Task Force that 
all of those elements of the services would have coordinated through. We also work 
through, if the state stands up their own Joint Task Force in a Title 32 capacity or a 
Federal funded—but under the State’s control—Task Force, the Defense Coordinat­
ing Officer could coordinate and collaborate with them. We also have some laws on 
the book that allow us to have a National Guard officer, as in my case, become dual-
hatted and to become a Title 10 officer as well. Also we could have a Title 10 Active 
Duty officer get a commission into the National Guard and then he would have the 
responsibility of Title 32 National Guard forces or Title 10 Active Duty forces to work 
that total response. Where that would come into play more than likely for the National 
Guard is if you had four or five different states, particularly in one state where there is 
significant response. Let’s use Texas as an example. If they did not have the capability 
that they needed, we could add a lot of forces, a significant number. During Katrina we 
had 50,000-plus National Guard folks from different states that came down to Louisi­
ana and Texas and over 22,000 Active Duty. About 10,000 of them were boots on the 
ground. So when you get that large of a force, you need to be able to develop unity of 
effort, a clear command and control piece of those operations, but all of that is in sup­
port of our nation. Then as I said, just recently we moved Joint Task Force North out of 
El Paso, formerly known as JTF-6. Those folks work the counterterrorism efforts that 
we have along both of our borders north and south. And then we have Joint Task Force 
Civil Support. They work the CBRNE (Chemical, Biological, Radiological, Nuclear, 
High-Yield Explosive) effort that we have if we need to stand up a Joint Task Force. 
They are in fact today working with Army North at Fort Stewart, running a validation 
exercise for the first assigned forces that will be given over to Northern Command. 
On 1 October we have a CBRNE Consequence Management Response Force or CC­
MRF. You may have heard of it by different names. We are actually hosting a contest. 
General Renuart has offered $100 to anyone who comes up with a better name than 
CCMRF. They are out there being validated today. That is a force that has been built 
up of about 6,000 folks and right now the plan is to stand up three of those CCMRFs. 
JTFCS (Joint Task Force Civil Support) would be the element that would work with 
them on a regular basis. The next two elements as they stand up over the next few years 
will be a mix of Active, Guard, and Reserve as we work out there and then several of 
them across the services so it will end up being a joint entity. 

We typically run this slide when we are doing a one-on-one with folks (Slide 5). 
We do it as the build slide. You can see the whole picture, but typically you start right 
down here in the middle when an event actually happens. In this case you can see that 
it is depicted as a hurricane. We also discuss it where we have a NUDET or some kind 
of chemical response. As the hurricane begins you start off with your local respond­
ers, that fireman, that police chief, that first response down on the ground. So these 
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are the folks right here as they go out and work that effort. Then as they see the storm 
or the response is within the national response framework, they see that response is 
larger than they can handle, then the governor may declare a disaster, either statewide 
or by different counties. In June in Iowa, my home state, we had 89 out of 99 counties 
that were declared state disasters, 85 that received Federal assistance. But we have the 
local responders that are out there working. The governor activated the National Guard 
to State Active Duty and sent the folks out to respond. Typically for a hurricane high-
water vehicles are needed, search and rescue capabilities are required, and planners are 
needed to be able to help the State and locals put their efforts together. Sometimes it is 
just having a body to go out and fill sandbags or to direct traffic. The National Guard 
folks are also allowed to do security, law-enforcement type duties legally when they 
are in State Active Duty or Title 32 under the governor’s control. So they are able to 
provide that kind of benefit. As they went out during Katrina, they were able to go 
through the houses, break in the door to make sure if someone was alive or not in 
the areas that were flooded. We have another valuable resource, EMAC (Emergency 
Management Assistance Compact). That has really grown over the past few years. It 
used to be just a few states in one area would help another state within their area—the 
northeast quadrant, the southeast quadrant, southwest quadrant—all these different 
compacts out there. Now we have all of the states and territories that have signed on 
to this. You can have the need for 100 ambulances down in Texas . . . you put out a 
call and coordinate and they will provide those folks. You can have any assets in that 
regard that can show up. Where it really has come into play is in the National Guard 
response. During Katrina, General Blum, Chief of the National Guard, had a video 
teleconference and had all the Adjutant Generals out there and said, “You know the 
kind of forces we need. Send us what you can. I need 1,000 folks from each of you. 
This is how big this is going to be. We need to get down there.” Then the paper work 
caught up. Typically what happens is, for example with Louisiana, Texas was short of 
aviation assets so they put out the call to and coordinated through the Emergency Man­
agement, NEMA (National Emergency Management Association) (we will get into all 
the different acronyms). It is an entity that helps work that for us and coordinates it. 
They coordinate through the National Guard Bureau, through the states and all these 
assets started flowing down into Texas. But as you look at that, as you look at the 26 
different hurricane states, which also includes Hawaii, and the capabilities that they 
have based off of what level of storm that they are responding to they have identified 
different gaps that are out there and that is where we need to work before a disaster to 
be able to identify what assets might be needed—medical, aviation, incident awareness 
and assessment, transportation, search and rescue. So as those folks start getting out 
there and the Governor asks for a Presidential declaration, that is what is in his request 
up here, he asks for a Presidential disaster declaration. If the President does declare 
that, it invokes the Stafford Act. The Stafford Act then allows us to be paid for what we 
will be responding to in those different states. He reaches out and typically puts into 
the Department of Homeland Security as the primary Federal agency in that regard, 
but not always. Everyone knows the I-35 up in St. Paul/Minneapolis that fell in. The 
Department of Transportation was the primary Federal agency for that response. So 
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we provided Navy divers. Those different requests for assistance become a mission as­
signment as they pass through the Secretary of Defense for his approval and then work 
their way down. Then US Northern Command works that response for any of those 
Title 10 assets. As I mentioned earlier, we have a group of pre-scripted mission assign­
ments that we identified from Katrina, different assets that they needed—communica­
tions teams, field housing and sheltering support, clearing debris, incident awareness 
and assessment, transportation, critical care patient evacuation. So as we identify those 
we put them on, for lack of a better word, a canned flight plan so that the primary 
agency working down to the state, with their State Coordinating Officers collaborat­
ing with the Defense Coordinating Officer. In the past they were reaching out during 
Katrina and saying, “I need, because I have been told that the U-2 is the best aircraft 
to give me a flyover to be able to tell what the roads, the power lines, and the roofs 
look like so that we know what we have to respond to, whether it is tarps or food, or 
whether people are stranded.” We need to have that U-2 and that is what they asked 
for. That was a 900 and some thousand dollar request yet we had aircraft with better 
assets, better capabilities, or equal capabilities that could go out and do it for signifi­
cantly less. For example, the Civil Air Patrol or the P-3 Orion from the Navy could fly 
out and take pictures and give us full-motion video. All of those assets we were using 
so they now ask for a capability and as you work in that capability that allows us to 
develop it. But within that they still need to have an idea of what we need to know, the 
five Ws—what, where, when, why, and where are we going to put them. So they now 
know what they have to give us. What location do you want them in, how long do you 
want to have them, are you going to provide the support or are we going to provide the 
support? So we send those entities out there as we work through Northern Command, 
the Defense Coordinating Officer, the Federal Coordinating Officer in the Joint Field 
Office and the State Operations Center. Later on I will have some slides that will cover 
what we did for Gustav regarding interagency coordination, several different agencies, 
and how that worked into this response. The big thing here on the take-away end is that 
support has to be requested and that we are always in support of that primary Federal 
agency as they respond. It does not mean we do not put forces out there to be prepared 
to deploy. We have the ability to have a group of Tier-1 level, Category One Forces 
that General Renuart can put out there as the Defense Coordinating Officer, some as­
sessment elements that can go out there and give us some idea of what the situational 
awareness is. We are not going to send forces forward. We are not going to send boots 
on the ground into the State of Florida when they know that they have it under control, 
but we are going to be positioned and ready to go and with a lot of those assets that I 
will discuss later on. 

The next slide (Slide 6) really focuses in on the main part of what you are here for 
today, the interagency piece. You can see within the military services the folks that we 
have, but we have over 60 different organizations that work with us from the American 
Red Cross to the Department of Transportation all the way to the Central Intelligence 
Agency and the Defense Intelligence Agency, NASA (National Aeronautics and Space 
Administration). We have over 60 of those folks represented at US Northern Com­
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mand; 45 of them are full-time. The rest of them are either liaisons and available in the 
area or we may have a liaison out to work with those folks. As we work with those, 
that has grown. Secretary Rumsfeld was the one who first put out the Joint Interagency 
Coordination Group and I will talk about it a little bit later, what its mission and role is, 
but all these folks work through that Interagency Coordination Team. 

The next slide (Slide 7) focuses in . . . you can see that we work in a joint and com­
bined environment, the joint being the different services that are there, the combined 
when we do a response that includes the different nations. Below the surface is where 
our success is. That is where we see the piece that we work every single day that we 
would not be able to do the mission and tasking that we have been given for homeland 
defense or civil support without those folks. 

The next slide (Slide 8) will focus just a little bit on what is interagency. We work 
within the military. We have our Operations, our J3, we have our Plans, the J5, we have 
Training and Exercises, J7. Those are directorates; those are functions, so the commu­
nications, the logistics, the operations, the plans. Interagency is a process and as that 
process works through it is important that we reach out and facilitate that. Well, that 
Interagency Coordination Group does just that. As necessary, they reach out and they 
focus in on those different areas. So you can see who we reach out to. Most folks do 
not realize that we work with the tribal nations as necessary. But it starts with the local, 
tribal, state, and then the Federal side. You can see a couple of them that are up there, 
the different agencies that we work with on a regular basis—the Department of Home­
land Security for a typical Consequence Management type of response for a disaster, 
the Department of Transportation for something with the highways, Health and Human 
Services would be more along the lines of pandemic influenza where they might be the 
primary agency, the Department of Energy for homeland defense with a civil support 
tag on for a NUDET of some kind. On the nongovernmental agencies it is very im­
portant that we work with those—Red Cross, other international humanitarian groups 
that are out there. We have an entity, and I will bring it up later on, that just handles 
the donations. The Department of State reaches out and handles donations from other 
nations, but from local faith-based, nonfaith-based folks that just want to do good. And 
they start up often before we see something coming. So for a no-notice response, a 
NUDET, an earthquake, that response starts after it kicks in. But for a hurricane . . . we 
started working Hurricane Ike as a pressure system off the coast of Africa. I always like 
to say it started when the butterfly fluttered its wings, but as we came across and had 
Hannah and Gustav and Ike and were watching them and where they were going, and 
doing the gap analysis and assessment as to what we do if it was a Category 2, which it 
finally did even though it had a Category 4 type of impact. What if it hit Florida? What 
if it hit the Gulf? What if it made a turn and went up and hit in North Carolina or the 
National Capitol Region? So as we worked those things, these are the folks we have to 
really reach out and work with. In the private sector we have a lot of different confer­
ences, a lot of different preplanning events, a lot of after-action reviews (AARs) that 
we do, and we bring folks in just as you are doing now to be able to discuss these types 
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of things. So we work with those. We have one organization, BENS (Business Execu­
tives for National Security) that are significant contributors in holding these types of 
entities out there, but we also focus in on the whole of government and the whole of 
society. And on here, what is missing are the international partners. Each of these dif­
ferent entities through the Department of State really do reach out and get that piece. 
During Hurricane Rita when it went into Texas, for the first time Mexico provided us 
some forces that came across the border and one of my division branch chiefs worked 
with them, was working out of Mexico, brought this team across with some food and 
some doctors and folks to be able to provide a response. That was one of the first times. 
During Katrina, with the levees and that piece, we had the Dutch that flew in with ex­
perts to advise us on working with the levees. It does cross the entire spectrum. 

Folks say, “Why do you need to have that?” (Slide 9). Well, in the military as we 
are learning, as your group is doing here today, reaching out and looking at the inter­
agency coordination that needs to take place are very critical. In the United States it 
works down into a lot of the things that carry all the way back to our Constitution. The 
states have their rights; the mayors have their rights, and you can see up here the mayor 
does not necessarily work for the governor and the governor does not necessarily work 
for the President. We need to be able to have that coordination across the entire spec­
trum to be able to do that response. The challenges here—there is no one department 
that can handle all of this, there is not one that has all of the assets, all the capabilities, 
and so it does require us to reach out and do this. And again, the key here is that we 
work as an integrated team, that unity of effort and that there is collaboration taking 
place across it. And the idea here is that everybody wants to do good, but not everyone, 
or not any one entity, is going to be in command so it does take several different lines 
of effort to be able to go out and work this piece. 

Again, on the why (Slide 10), I actually have my sheets here in front of me because 
even though I am one of the weak users of acronyms I have to carry it around and look 
them up on a regular basis. We think in the military we have a lot of acronyms, but it 
is just like having a translator for several of these different things. There are so many 
duplicate acronyms out there that are two different meanings so as we work through 
that, that is what we are looking at, the language piece. Everyone from their foxhole 
has a different perspective. They think they know what they need, but they do not nec­
essarily know how to make it work and get it coordinated and focused in on a response. 
So that piece is very important. And then the experiences, as I led off with the different 
experiences that I have had, I am sure General Caldwell has different experiences, I am 
sure everyone in the audience has different experiences of where you have come from, 
and that makes a difference. What we have found is that the military are great planners. 
When it is time to get in, get the mission completed and get back out, we are able to do 
that. But we do not look at it from a different perspective. I like to use the definition 
of what is a disaster and what is a catastrophe? A disaster is something that happens to 
someone else. A catastrophe is something that happens to you. So as you are there and 
you are looking at that, your experience shapes what you see. We all wonder why do 
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folks live in “Hurricane Alley?” Why do folks live in earthquake zones in California or 
the Madrid Fault? Why do folks live where they know they are going to have fires ev­
ery year? Those experiences, that knowledge is what we reach out to gather and to pick 
up. The National Response Framework has done wonders in bringing together that 
entity, the National Incident Management System and the Incident Command System 
as we work out, that puts a set of rules, a set of guidelines out there for us to follow to 
be able to coordinate and work those efforts through and then within the interagency 
they obviously have their own hierarchy that they work through. One of the things that 
has been very important to me, this has been my fourth hurricane season working at 
NORTHCOM, and as we go through everybody wants to do great, everybody wants 
to get out there and get the job done, help those that are suffering, help save lives, and 
help sustain those lives, and work in that regard, but we in the military typically have 
come in and we know that we are in charge and we can go in and run it. In this case, 
we are in support, it is a different role for us so we need to be able to go out and work 
through that. It also requires significant understanding of each other’s capabilities, 
each other’s way that we operate. 

This is what the Interagency Coordination Directorate looks like (Slide 11). Mr. 
Bear McConnell, a very good friend of mine with quite a bit of experience in USAID, 
State Department, SCS-5 (Senior Executive Service). I understand he is equivalent to 
a three-star; he leads it. He has a civilian government service executive officer, Jim 
Castle. He is authorized 6 different military folks and 13 civilians in his directorate, but 
it is all those other 45 different full-time folks that reach out to a of 60 different agen­
cies. Broken down into four different divisions, the Operations and Training Division, 
you can see just what that does. They do the training, but they also respond to ongo­
ing operations that are out there, and they work to integrate NORTHCOM personnel 
into those different agencies. The Emergency Preparedness and Plans Division reaches 
out to the FEMAs. They reach out to the EPA (Environment Protection Agency), to 
the Health and Human Services, and then they focus on defense support of civil au­
thorities. They are the ones that will stand up the Crisis Action Team, the Interagency 
Coordination Group, the Joint Interagency Coordination Group that we have stood up 
here today, and I will have slides later on that cover a little bit more of where that coor­
dination comes from. Most of us only deal with those two divisions. The Law Enforce­
ment and Security Division is in the bullet with NORAD, for NORAD’s aerospace 
and maritime warning and aerospace control. They also work with our Customs and 
Border Protection folks. Concepts and Technology Division reaches out with differ­
ent capabilities that are available. They co-chair the innovation and technology panel. 
They work with Sandia Labs. They work across the spectrum of different capabilities 
so that we become aware of what is out there and where we could possibly provide 
them a linkage into the Defense Department to be able to work that. So Operations, the 
Preparedness Division works planning, and then obviously focuses in on capabilities, 
and then the idea is that we have those resident agents that we can reach out to and we 
will get into some of those a little bit more. 
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The Interagency Coordination Directorate responds to the commander (Slide 12). 
As I said, every different agency talks with a different group of acronyms so to be able 
to provide that interpretation to the commander, be able to provide the staff with the 
understanding of how that works is invaluable. That is primarily what they do. The 
Battle Staff works the current fight in the Command Center while the Future Opera­
tions Center works what is next. We have the Future Planning Center, plans folks that 
work for me, and we work or lead the fight and hand it off then when it becomes a 
current operation. We have the logistics folks to do a support group. We have the com­
munications folks that work that piece. Interagency has a representative to each of 
those groups so as we work through they can provide us that right person to contact, 
that right person to reach out to and grab, but it gives us a link into that entire group of 
60 folks that are out there. We deal with over 150 different operation centers on a day-
to-day basis. And as we do that most people think of Northern Command, most people 
think of the Department of Homeland Security, most people think of FEMA only when 
it is time to do that response for a Hannah or a Gustav. They think of us only when it 
is the Department of Transportation or something and they need that support. But it is 
a lot more than that. We have 30 to 50 different incidents that we monitor every single 
day. They do not always turn into something, but it is something we are reaching out 
and as we work that there is always, everything we do there is a linkage out there to in­
teragency. And more important than that is the fact that we need to reach out in support 
of those. We are not the lead. So as we work through that, that is where we focus. 

Again, the Joint Interagency Coordination Group is a little bit more (Slide 13). 
Every other week we have speakers come in. They provide us with information. We 
have anything from the Office of Secure Transportation that comes out and brings 
equipment and shows us what they actually do provide when they are transporting 
nuclear assets around the country. We had the Customs and Border Protection folks to 
come out. They did not bring their horses along with them, but they came out and told 
us about their mission, where they operated, how they are growing, how they coordi­
nate with the locals and states to be able to be able to go out and do their mission. We 
bring these folks in on a regular basis and all focused in on a lot of different areas of 
interest. Not too long ago we had an expert come in and talk about the Madrid Fault 
so that gives us an idea on where to focus some of our plans in that regard. I discussed 
the Interagency Coordination Group. That is our Battle Cell, Crisis Action Team that 
you can kind of think of. They are stood up today. They have been stood up for 24 days 
and we have been nonstop 24-hour operations in response to following through for 
Gustav, Hannah, and now Ike. Fortunately, Josephine fell off to the wayside and got 
blown away. We are still watching one other little pressure system out there. So we are 
continuing to work. Then as we continue the response we also need to do the transition 
back to where we hand everything off. They are the ones that are doing that coordina­
tion and they provide us, and again I have a set of slides that will kind of cover all the 
different areas that they give us information so that we know what the . . . the cell tow­
ers, how they are standing up so that the emergency responders are doing good. So they 
reach out and find out what the loop down in Louisiana is that has the ships that come 
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in and pick the oil rigs up. They reach out and provide us with that information so that 
we can know that we can start transitioning, standing down, or disengaging out there. 
And we have started doing that. That is a significant part of my directorate, preparing 
to go in and then also preparing to bring us out. 

We could not do it without . . . the next slide here (Slide 14) shows a lot of those 
different interagency partners. So you can see where it has two asterisks up there that 
we have a liaison officer that is resident with that and we are continuing to grow those 
on a regular basis as we take our manpower and put them out there and work through 
them. I will give you a second there to kind of look through them and see what is out 
there. 

The next slide (Slide 15) gives you an idea of the nontraditional interagency 
partners that are out here working with us, as I mentioned earlier, Mexico with their 
Protecciớn Civil and then all the way down to the BENS that I mentioned, the Red 
Cross, the different governors. There is a big effort right now with the 2010 Olympics, 
but that is a Canadian response and while the states along the borders can reach out we 
have to work with those governors and ensure what piece they are working and we help 
them coordinate that, the National Guard or any other asset that we might be able to. 

The next one (Slide 16) shows several different events that we have been doing 
here this last year or more. You can see here from pandemic influenza tabletop exer­
cises, and we do a little bit more than that. I am part of a pandemic influenza team and 
we are working with South Korea and Japan knowing that is more than likely where 
something is going to initiate if it is a pandemic, the NH5N1 strain of virus that could 
come over so we work with those folks. Well, we have this tabletop exercise here. We 
have had tabletop exercises that discuss the constitutional law piece of pandemic in re­
sponding to germ warfare. We have improvised explosive device conferences. Defense 
Coordinating Officer, Federal Coordinating Officer conferences, all the way up into 
weapons of mass destruction conferences with the FBI (Federal Bureau of Investiga­
tion) and the border regions. They have started reaching out to interagency in Mexico 
significantly more for us all the way to California wildfires and humanitarian. 

This gives you a couple of more that we are continuing to work (Slide 17). Some 
of them are ones that occur every year. Obviously, with the National Conventions, sup­
port is worked into there. You can see here we have a Transportation Security Confer­
ence coming up. 

These are the few slides that I was talking about that really gets us into what our In­
teragency Coordination Directorate does (Slide 18). This is the one where you need the 
translation to get through some of the acronyms up here. The top one up here is FEMA 
(Federal Emergency Management Agency) and you can see the different things they 
work through. The US Geological Service that helps us with imagery that we coordi­
nate that through with our assets that we have for the Incident Awareness Assessment 
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piece. The Customs and Border Protection has a Predator that they have had out there 
flying and was able to give us some imagery and share it across to all those that are 
responders. For the fire fighting down in California, we coordinated to have a Global 
Hawk fly over and focus imagery down to the folks on the ground. Obviously with the 
Coast Guard working the cutters that are out there, they also worked going through the 
harbors. Right now Houston’s main harbor was just cleared. They had to go out with 
the vessels to do the side scanning sonar to be able to make sure that the depth and 
width was there for folks to get into it. Health and Human Services has the Medical 
Assistance Teams out there. The Army Corps of Engineers, while we think of them 
as a Department of Defense entity, and they are, but they work Emergency Support 
Function Number 3 for the Department of Homeland Security and so they are out there 
working the levees. They are out there doing debris removal where we, NORTHCOM, 
are only allowed to do debris clearing. So they go out and look at that. They look at the 
power side so they work with the Department of Energy in working through that piece. 
But one of the big ones up there, you can see the Joint Task Force Unwatering. When 
we get flooding the Corps of Engineers are the ones responsible for putting together 
the plan and monitoring that piece. So with New Orleans, and actually going on right 
now in Texas, they are looking at what the process will be and how long that will work 
on the watering side. Fortunately, we have some winds that turned around last night 
and will be coming out of the north so we are expecting to start drying out pretty well 
down there. The American Red Cross does the coordination across the different states. 
And again, this slide was put on the table the 1st of September so these are things that 
we were working across. The American Red Cross coordinates what is out there and 
again, the reason we do all of this is to look at any gaps that we would have to fill. The 
American Red Cross or FEMA have commodities that they need to deliver; I remem­
ber in Hurricane Dennis that we were working to get the commodities water, ice, and 
Meals Ready to Eat (MRE) down to Homestead, putting together the transportation 
plan working with TRANSCOM (United States Transportation Command) to be able 
to work that and get those delivered down there. It took four of five different agencies 
to be able to coordinate and work that. 

The next slide (Slide 19), as I mentioned before, the Customs and Border Protec­
tion had their Predator that they used. Aidmatrix is a private sector, nongovernmental 
organization that coordinates donations as they come in. Typically, as we start seeing 
the Katrinas, the Ikes, the Hannahs, or the Gustavs start and get an idea of where they 
are going to land, they start coordinating that type of support. They have 50 different 
field organizations that offer a one-stop system. You probably are not surprised at the 
number of on-line groups that started up accepting donations, but not a single dime 
goes toward a response. So we focus in on this piece. I know Secretary Chertoff put 
out a call to folks to do strategic communications plans to discuss how you go about 
picking and choosing the right entity to be able to respond with your donations so they 
work through there. And they help register volunteers. We had some live feed yester­
day during FEMA’s and DHS’s video teleconference. Friday the President walked into 
the meeting, but typically the last few days Secretary Chertoff has been in there and 
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we had a live feed down to one of the points of distribution. They had folks lined up 
with their cars for miles each way, but they had just as many people showing up and 
saying, “I am okay. What can I do to help?” So this type of organization helps work 
that piece. 

This is really what we are all about focusing here on (Slide 20), as I said, the mili­
tary is there to support. We are there to coordinate and collaborate. We are there to be 
able to use that interagency group to be able to support unity of effort. We are focused 
on being part of the team, not running the team and that is a significant challenge for 
many of us in the military to be able to step up and do that, but then at the end of the 
day, I can tell you that being there for four years from where we had to fight just to get 
anyone to pick up the phone to even think about anticipating that support to the folks 
that are out there, that today we are prepared, that we have done the planning, that we 
are ready and able to get out there. And a lot of that really focuses in on the practice 
side so with those exercises that we run from the national level to the tabletops that we 
run, it is more important to have the interagency perspective, the interagency reach so 
that they could pick up the phone and knew the right people to talk to to get the answer 
so that we could determine what asset we needed to get out there, to anticipate and to 
be able to respond to save lives and mitigate suffering and that is what it is all about. It 
is a pleasure to be able to present this to you today. I am very fortunate to have worked 
first in operations and now in the plans, to have been General Renuart’s representative 
for events like this and to be able to carry that message out to you. It was very impor­
tant to him. I do know that General Webster expected to be your speaker; he was look­
ing forward to coming back here for a visit. Both send their regards and wanted me to 
pass their thanks on to you for taking this subject on. Thank you very much. 
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Why Interagency Coordination? 

•	 Many organizations have a common goal, but not a common boss 
•	 Multiple authorities, jurisdictions, levels of governmentMultiple authorities, jurisdictions, levels of government 

(Constitutional underpinnings) 
•	 Mayors don’t work for Governors, who don’t work for the 

President 
•	 Private sector has responsibilities, obligations and capabilities 
•	 NGOs have their own objectives 

••	 21st Century security challenges are far too complex for any one 21st Century security challenges are far too complex for any one 
department/agency – at any level of government 
•	 Meeting these challenges requires integration and 

collaboration amongg  all instruments of US national ppower 
•	 Operations inevitably require close cooperation between 

various organizations with military, political, economic, public 
safety and other forms of expertise and resources 

Slide 9 

Why? (cont’d) 

• Common goal(s), but not common: 
•	 Languages 
•	 Approaches 
•	 Experiences 

•	 The NRF, NIMS, ICS standardizes some things, but… 

•	 Interagency diversity – differing cultures, hierarchy, 
biases, and misperceptions makes unity of effort 
difficult 

•	 In decision-making, non-DOD Departments/Agencies 
rely more on cooperation and consensus building 

•	 Understanding plans, capabilities and limitations of 
other stakeholders is key to building your own plan 

Slide 10 
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IC Directorate 

••	 Provide Interagency context to Commander’s decision Provide Interagency context to Commander s decision 
making processes 

•	 Provide Interaggency py  p  ersppective to N-NC staff and 
Department of Defense (DoD) perspective to external 
Agencies 
AAntiiciipate NORAD NORAD and USNORTHCOM requests ffor•	 d USNORTHCOM 
assistance through National Response Framework (NRF) 

•	 Administer Commander’s Joint InteragencyAdminister Commander s Joint Interagency 
Coordination Group (JIACG) 

•	 Operate the Interagency Coordination Group (ICG) 
“Battle Cell” 
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JIACG and ICG 

JIACG – Supports operational planning & initiatives day to day JIACG Supports operational planning & initiatives day to day 

• Provides interagency situational awareness, Interagency 
assessments, Interagency reach back (Resident and ‘Virtual’ 

b  hi  )  d  h  i  f  I  i  f  imembership), and synthesis of Interagency information 
• Working Groups formed for issues of interest…. 

Law Enforcement, DCO/FCO, Pandemic Flu, Earthquake, 

ICG – The Interagency Coordination Group (“Battle Cell”) 

Pre-scripted Mission Assignments, Private Sector, etc 

• Interagency coordination focus point for Agency reps during 
contingency operations or exercises 
P id th JIACG A t t th C d d t ff • Provides the JIACG Assessment to the Commander and staff 

• Anticipates gaps/seams that may lead to DOD missions 

Slide 13 

Slide 14
 

23 



Slide 15 

Slide 16
 

24 



t

t tt t t

t t t t

Slide 17 

Hurricanes 

Coordination 
• FEMA 

• notification/alerts/pre-movement of assessment, communications, and LNOs 
l i  i  h  S  (LA  TX)  (  i  h  d  d  )• gap analysis with States (LA, TX) (nursing homes and med evacs) 

• medical and general population Air Evacuation 
• USGS 

• remote sensing/imagery TELCON 
l df  ll  i  • post-landfall imagery 

• host unclassified, Global Hawk and U2 ortho rectified imagery and products, on a 
restricted portal 

• USCG 
d t  i  l  i  l  d  iti SAR• prepared to sortie cutters, close commercial port and pre-position SAR assets 

• USACE 
• levee assessments, Prime Power assessments, TF Unwatering 

• ARC 
di ti AL MS LA TX (3 000 di k d i )• coordination teams to AL, MS, LA, TX (3,000 disaster workers moved to region) 

• shelter/kitchen trailers 
• staged 750K pre-packaged meals in area; capacity to provide 650K meals per day; 
prepared to shelter 150K in 4 states 

HHS• HHS 
• 32 DMATs deployed for LA/TX; ambulance contract in place for TX (500) & LA (300) 
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• actively working with dozens of NGO partners to help faciliate awareness of needs and direc

LA 

 

 

Hurricanes 

Coordination 
• CBP 

• monitor border operations pre / post landfall 
P d  UAV  il  bl  f  IAA  • Predator UAV available for IAA 

• DOT 
• MS/LA contraflow operations FEMA 

• PS/NGO 
Aid i d th l h f AL FL LA MS d TX St l• Aidmatrix announced the launch of AL, FL, LA, MS, and TX  State portals to manage 

unsolicited donations 
t 

sources to affected areas. 
Th h bli h d k N NC/ICG PS/NGO bl h l i LA• Through an established network, N-NC/ICG PS/NGO was able to support two shelters in 

who were in need of critical supplies and resources. 
x DOI/MMS 

• tracking oil industry off-shore platform evacuations and shut-downs 
E d Pl tf 518 f 717 Ri 86 f 121 Sh i il 96 26% G 82 3% • Evacuated: Platforms: 518 of 717; Rigs 86 of 121; Shut in: oil 96.26%; Gas 82.3% 

• DOE 
• activated Strategic Petroleum Reserve Emergency Operations Center 
• suspended on and offshore ops as 1100 AM EDT 8/30 

k  d  i  i  LA  • tracked power restoration in LA 
• USDA 

• LA request for infant formula & baby food funded  & delivered 
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Day 1—Keynote Speaker
 
Question and Answers
 
(Transcript of Presentation)
 

Brigadier General Robert J. Felderman
 
Deputy Director J5, Plans, Policy & Strategy
 

NORAD and USNORTHCOM
 

LTG Caldwell 

Yes, I will start off. Bob, I have a question for you. I thought your comment about the 
fact that they are going to dual-hat military officers so they can be Title 10 and Title 32 
simultaneously was interesting. Is that accurate? 

BG Felderman 

Yes, it is. 

LTG Caldwell 

Is that something we could have always done or something that has been passed and 
required a legislative type of action from Congress to do and they have approved it? 
Can you just talk that for a second? 

BG Felderman 

Yes, I can. It has actually been on the books for quite a while. 525 is the law that goes 
into that effect. It requires an agreement to be signed between the governor and the 
President. Both signatures go on the block. We actually looked at it in Katrina, the 
five different states having five different dual-hatted commanders. The requirement 
is that you have to be a general of the line. You have to have been trained and been 
through the certification process and to have been a Joint Task Force Commander. It is 
authorized to go both ways. Right now I am Active Army, but if I were in a National 
Guard role then I could be dual-hatted. Then you are the only person, that one person 
has command and control of the National Guard forces because you are working for 
the governor and the Adjutant General, and you have control of the Title 10 forces that 
roll in. We have done it several times. The G-8 Summit. We just did it for the Demo­
cratic National Convention in Denver with Tom Mills out of Minnesota, we worked the 
parallel effort and depending on the event it can go both ways. We actually offered up 
General Honoré to be given a Title 32 commission in several different states, but par­
ticularly in Louisiana and he would have had the command and control of the National 

27 



Guard forces and the Title 10 forces. But dual-hatted means he has to respond back to 
two different leaders, the governor and the President. While we have not yet used that 
for a crisis response for Consequence Management Response, we are getting closer to 
that effort when we do more of these. But the law is out there. We do train. We do a 
course of instruction and certify folks through US Northern Command. We now have 
Active and Guard folks that have been through the training. About five or six hundred 
folks have been through it, but it has been going on long enough that as people retire 
and move on we have a stable of a couple of hundred folks that we can work with 
right now. It is very tough to be able to go and work through that. You need to have 
someone who has an understanding of the Active Duty forces. You need someone who 
understands how to work within the state and someone that can sit on the fence and 
work both sides. 

Audience Member 

When you send your liaisons out to these agencies that do not provide them to you, do 
you send them with communications, computers, all their support equipment or do you 
expect that they are provided those things when they get to their higher agency that 
they are supporting? 

BG Felderman 

Two different ways—on the day-to-day we have those liaisons that are out there, the 
Department of Homeland Security, we expect them to give them an office, computer, 
space, access and then we provide that access back. No different than when we send 
our officers down to Mexico or Canada. We do the same thing. But the Defense Co­
ordinating Officers have a team that we send out to each of the FEMA (Federal Emer­
gency Management Agency) regions, all 10 FEMA regions. And we send those folks 
out with a team of six folks, themselves and six folks. Some of them have a few more. 
Some have a few less when they are doing transitions. But we send them out with ve­
hicles, communications capabilities, and support capabilities to be able to go out. They 
have trailers and satellite reach so we can do video teleconferences with them so as 
they go out and colocate with that Federal coordinating officer at the Joint Field Office 
and reach out to the principal Federal official or Federal coordinating official. They can 
bring them in and do a video teleconference right back to Colorado Springs and then 
from there feed it to wherever it needs to go—the Department of Homeland Security or 
we have had it where the President has been online and asking direct questions to them. 
So you can kind of work both packages. That is a good question. Thank you. 

Audience Member 

We understand or recognize that there is a different perspective on training that a sol­
dier or military person would have versus what an interagency member would have. 
Their view of training is much different than ours. What successes can you point to in 
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your relationship with the interagencies in building up a training partnership with some 
of these groups? Clearly it is mutually beneficial to prepare for this before actually 
executing it; it is in all of our best interests. 

BG Felderman 

Absolutely. I just recently attended an earthquake exercise in Osaka, Japan—two and 
a half hours where they had over 5,000 folks responded to this area about the size of 
three or four football fields that they stepped in and had trained and prepared to be 
able to go and work it. And I looked at that and I thought to myself and wondered if 
we could do that here. And I think we have done it to a different level. That is a tacti­
cal-level type of response. Spoke last week to New York emergency managers. They 
have one of the larger response forces and they do these exercises themselves at the 
state level. Jack Colley who is in Texas every day in his video teleconference talks 
about the training that they have done at the state and local level and so that is with 
the National Guard, the Reserve, and then the Active forces, this Defense Coordinat­
ing Officer. They work with him on a regular, daily basis. But you get into some areas 
where we need to expand that training. That is where the tabletop exercises come into 
play. We do several of those. There is one quarter that is at the presidential level where 
we have the senior leadership, and we do the national level. ARDENT SENTRY and 
VIGILANT SHIELD—one is for homeland defense and one is for civil support. So 
the training piece comes in when you trade those business cards before you get in 
the foxhole. We also hold pandemic influenza training. FEMA holds exercises with 
emergency managers. Mr. Gene Pino, a retired Marine, is our SES (Senior Executive 
Service) that works our Plans Division at NORTHCOM. He reaches out and gets us 
fit into where we need to be, where we provide folks instruction. It is very long term. 
We just had the Worldwide Planning Conference that Mr. Pino attended and presented 
several different opportunities for us to expand into the military side. So as Fifth Army 
is reaching out and working that, we are doing that in depth. Good question. 

Audience Member (Blogosphere) 

With regard to cyberspace, Sir, the recent attacks that were preemptory fires for the 
Russia-Georgia conflict and General Renuart had mentioned that he believes that cy­
ber-domain is one of the biggest threats in the 21st century. Could you comment on the 
interagency coordination that you have done for that? Who has the rose pinned on them 
specifically within the interagency? 

BG Felderman 

Thank you. That is a very good question. We have actually identified several different 
challenges that are out there, cyber being one of them and the arctic being one of the 
future. Cyber is relatively new for all of us and working with the Strategic Command 
is where we expect to have the lead for the military side as they work through that. So 
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they are just at the ground floor now of working that coordination. We have our J6, 
communications, and then our J2 on the intelligence side has reached out and collabo­
rated with the right folks. Off the top of my head, I do not have the specific agency that 
they are working with right now, but it is growing every single day. It is moving further 
up the level, and we do know that after observing what happened with Georgia . . . we 
know what happened with one other nation where they went in and did basically a 
cyber attack, a cyber influence impact. We know what we go through every single day, 
the day-to-day hackers that are out there. As we expand we know that is going to be a 
continually growing requirement for us at Northern Command to be able to work that. 
We like to say we have 42 number one priorities, I see that as moving up into one of 
the top priorities. Great question. 

Audience Member 

My organization is the Army’s experimentation venue for the command and control 
warfighting function. I noted on one of your slides that within the Interagency Co­
ordination Directorate, I think in the Concepts and Technology Branch, you have an 
experimentation capability or interest of some type. Might this be an entity that the 
Command and Control Laboratory here at Fort Leavenworth could interact with and 
network with to achieve some common experimentation objectives? 

BG Felderman 

I think you probably hit the nail right on the head with that because we are seeing that 
reach to be able to do that. Working with the cyber realm, working with nuclear weap­
ons, recapture and recovery, working with the [inaudible], all of that, anything that 
contributes toward that command and control, that is what these folks do. They do that 
linkage so absolutely. I will give you a business card afterwards and we will get you 
hooked up with the right folks. 

Dr. Robertson 

Sir, with regard to change over time, Katrina was not all that long ago. Some might 
even call it not history, but more recent events. I tend to take the view that what is in 
the past, if it happened yesterday, it is a part of history. You had a response to Katrina. 
You are now having responses to Ike and those that will come after. Could you possibly 
characterize for us the change over time in that just short number of years, how things 
have improved and what we are learning from the past? 

BG Felderman 

It is such huge leaps and bounds from there that every single day it still surprises me. 
I have a list that I brought with me that I talked about that anticipation piece. That 
was not part of our mission. That is probably the biggest one. The prescripted mission 
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assignments that we worked. The process to get the Secretary of Defense to approve 
the use of an asset. We used to present him his book on Thursdays. You would work 
your way through and if you needed something you got it on Thursdays. There was no 
such thing as a vocal approval. There were processes that had to be vetted at so many 
different levels. Now we have it almost instantaneously. We have it . . . it is a defense, 
a very long acronym, and it is a computer portal page that the Defense Coordinating 
Officer talking with someone down on the ground that says, “We think we are going 
to need this.” We start then putting together a list of asset potential and start looking at 
analysis and assessment. First off, if the state has it, and second if the National Guard 
has it. If they do not, we do have it and work with JFCOM (United States Joint Forces 
Command) to be able to coordinate that. This is all on a portal page that you can 
look through and see that the request has happened and it is being worked. We have 
a signature. It is green. By the time it is signed and agreed, it means it went from the 
Federal Coordinating Official to the primary agency whether it be . . . in this case the 
Department of Homeland Security, FEMA and then goes to the SECDEF (Secretary of 
Defense) and then back down to us. I saw it take 72 hours. It is a matter of, in several 
cases, from minutes to hours. The anticipation piece where we were not allowed to 
commit, General Renuart was not allowed to commit any forces. We have a relation­
ship, as I told you, with Fleet Forces Command, with the Navy. They are allowed to, 
in a training mode, to have a ship start heading down behind a hurricane. Typically, 
we have had to prepare to do that from Bermuda or the Bahamas. But they will come 
in behind the storm. We are working the USS Nassau [LHA-4] right now that left two 
days ago from Norfolk and started its way around, swung past Jacksonville, flew out 
and gave some assets that they needed, capabilities that they needed, swung around, 
and as of last night was down by Key West ready to go either to Panama City to pick up 
another capability to deliver over to help with the national interests for the energy or to 
get into Galveston and provide whatever support they need. That asset now, last night 
in the video teleconference was determined to send it to Galveston and they could do 
medical and food because they can generate so many gallons of food and water every 
day, and then they have the food piece, and they are also a platform because Galveston 
was devastated that they can then have aircraft come and stage off of there. The video 
teleconferences that I mentioned, in the past we would first stand up the domestic 
warning center, not a Command Center, not a Joint Operations Center, and would just 
monitor things. We now have two to three senior leader video teleconferences and that 
is typically General Renuart with the representative from OSD (Office of the Secretary 
of Defense) Joint Staff. Several times it has been the Deputy Secretary of Defense, 
Gordon England, on that video teleconference with similar partners from FEMA, the 
Department of Homeland Security, Department of Energy, all those different inter­
agency folks that are there. And then we have three different video teleconferences that 
has just dropped down to two a day, that we do coordination and we get the information 
as to where everybody is and while we are at those, we can sit and make decisions and 
talk and be able to have an asset diverted as we did with the Nassau, get another one 
ready that was out on a training mission. You can get it diverted. You can take an asset 
we thought maybe needed to do a full-motion video of one area, then we can change 
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it. It is a little bit of a reach into some of the tactical area, but we did not have any of 
those before, and to get an assessment of what we needed in Katrina took 72 hours. 
Now we have an idea of what any response is going to need so we can have it ready to 
go and then the assessment piece can be done because instead of waiting to talk in two 
or three days, when you found it we are out along side of you, helping you, supporting 
you to be able to get that, feeding that assessment back. My planners and operators are 
already coordinating to be able to get that asset ready to go so that 72 hours to a week 
process to get an asset is minutes to hours, so significantly shorter. That probably is the 
biggest improvement that I have seen, and just to give you an idea and it is tough to see, 
these are assets that we had, some on “be prepared to deploy” in that anticipation mode 
and now, most of them were for search and rescue, and we took about 50 percent. We 
do not need them now so we started standing them down. But we also, because of that 
communications, coordination, collaboration where we were starting to stand some 
of them down, we got a feeling from Texas that it is going to take another day so we 
stopped and kept those assets going. We would not have had that situational awareness 
to do that. We did not have that for Katrina for several days into it. Great question. 
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Panel 1—The Difficulties in Interagency Operations
 
(Submitted Paper)
 

The Interagency Process and the Decision

To Intervene in Grenada
 

by
 

Edgar F. Raines, Jr., Ph.D.
 
US Army Center of Military History
 

In October 1983 at a time when Cold War tensions between the United States and 
the Soviet Union were at their highest in years, the United States invaded the Carib­
bean Island of Grenada. This paper examines the workings of the interagency process 
in the days leading up to the decision by President Ronald W. Reagan to intervene. 
Interagency process in this instance is considered to be the definition, analysis, coordi­
nation, and evaluation of an issue across organizational lines leading to a presidential 
decision.1 

The Army as an institution, of course, was not one of the agencies involved in 
the decision to intervene in Grenada in 1983. Ever since President Eisenhower had 
signed into law the Defense Reorganization Act of 1958, the Department of Defense 
had completely superseded the military services in the development of policy relating 
to issues of war and peace. Individual Army officers often were, on the other hand, key 
participants in the formulation of policy, because they were members either of the Joint 
Chiefs of Staff or of the Joint Staff. At the level below policy making, the preparations 
of Army, Air Force, Navy, and Marine units selected to participate in the incursion 
were vitally affected by the timing, sequence, and context of the decisions made or 
avoided in the days leading to the final presidential decision to land troops.2 

The individuals involved worked in no ivory towers. They made judgments on the 
fly based on partial and sometimes incorrect information using their own store of per­
sonal experiences to weigh the relevance and significance of presumed “facts.” Real 
world events intervened to distract them or spur them to greater efforts. They worked 
in a technological environment very different from our own, in which personal com­
puters were still a rarity and most of the papers produced in the Pentagon were, in their 
final versions, the products of word processing pools. As always, the personalities and 
decision-making styles of key players had an enormous impact on the outcome. 

This paper, after briefly discussing the origins of the Grenada crisis, lays out a nar­
rative account of the decision-making—with emphasis on the interagency process— 
from the first realization on 13 October 1983 that there was a potentially dangerous sit­
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uation developing in the eastern Caribbean until 24 October when the president made 
the virtually irrevocable decision to go ahead with the operation. Next there is a brief 
account of what the US government knew, but didn’t know it knew, about the Ameri­
cans on the island, a matter of some importance because the need to rescue them trig­
gered the intervention. Fourth, the paper considers the impact of President Reagan’s 
style of decision-making and his relationship with his key advisors on the operation. 
Fifth, it hazards an evaluation of the interagency process during the Grenada operation 
on the admittedly incomplete information available at present. Finally, it considers 
what students of the Reagan era don’t know yet but need to know to better evaluate the 
national security apparatus’ performance during the Grenada crisis. 

The island-nation of Grenada, located in the eastern Caribbean, became a diplo­
matic and security problem for the US government in March 1979 when a left-wing 
coup overthrew the authoritarian but western-leaning government of Sir Eric Gairy. 
The leader of the revolutionary government, Prime Minister Maurice Bishop, kept the 
island in the British Commonwealth but actively sought closer ties with Cuba and the 
Soviet Union. At the same time, the United States became the source of all the calami­
ties, both large and small, that befell the island—at least in Bishop’s rhetoric. Grenada 
thus became one small point in the “arc of crisis” that National Security Advisor Zbig­
niew Brzezinski discerned stretching from Afghanistan through the Horn of Africa and 
the Caribbean to Central America.3 

In response, the administration of President James Earl Carter began a modest 
military build-up in the region. It established a standing joint task force in Miami un­
der US Atlantic Command. The new organization was to monitor Soviet and Cuban 
activity in the northern Caribbean, draw up various contingency plans, and conduct 
exercises when needed. At the same time, a second subordinate unified command, also 
under Atlantic Command, US Antilles Command, performed the same functions for 
the southern Caribbean. Atlantic Command also staged a series of military exercises as 
a show of force. None of these initiatives, however, involved any great influx of forces 
on a permanent basis. With world-wide commitments, the US military was stretched 
too thin for that.4 

Initially, the administration of President Ronald W. Reagan did little more than 
continue the Carter approach of correct but cool relations with the Bishop govern­
ment. Military exercises continued to demonstrate US interest in the Caribbean. Atlan­
tic Command consolidated its subordinate organizations into one more robust head­
quarters, US Forces Caribbean, with headquarters in Puerto Rico. Behind the scenes, 
however, Grenada received much more high-level attention than it ever had before. 
The Grenadians, with Cuban assistance, had begun building a modern international air 
terminal capable of servicing the largest trans-Atlantic jets. Its purpose, said the Grena­
dians, was to revive the local economy by luring tourists to their beaches. In Washing­
ton, however, analysts worried that the airport when complete would provide a base for 
projecting Soviet and Cuban power through the region while serving as a staging area 
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for the Cuban expeditionary forces fighting in Africa. President Reagan made this very 
clear in a televised address to the nation on 23 March 1983 that was otherwise devoted 
to unveiling his Strategic Defense Initiative (“Star Wars” in the words of his critics).5 

Shortly thereafter, the administration adopted a two track policy. On the one hand, 
it would seek to engage the Grenadians constructively, but if that failed it would bring 
economic, political, and military pressure to bear to induce better behavior. An off­
shore medical school owned, operated, and largely attended by Americans, the St. 
George’s University School of Medicine, was the largest source of foreign exchange 
for the Grenadians. If all else failed, the Reagan administration proposed to encourage 
that institution to move elsewhere. The first track produced a Bishop visit to Washing­
ton and a meeting with National Security Advisor William P. Clark but resulted in no 
discernable change in Grenadian behavior as far as the administration was concerned. 
The president’s decision to launch track two was sitting on the desk of Clark’s suc­
cessor, Robert C. McFarlane, awaiting implementing instructions, when events on the 
island rendered it superfluous.6 

On 12 October 1983 an emergency meeting in Grenada of the Central Committee 
of the revolutionary party—the New Joint Effort for Welfare, Education, and Libera­
tion Movement Party, most commonly referred to by its acronym as the New JEWEL 
Party—deposed Bishop and substituted his sometime deputy and finance minister, 
Bernard Coard, as prime minister. When the party announced the leadership change 
the next day in the capital of St. George’s, a near riot ensued. Coard then withdrew, but 
he remained very much a power behind the scene, although this was not clear to party 
outsiders. Just who was in control became, suddenly, ambiguous not only for foreign 
observers but also for ordinary Grenadians. The central committee, meanwhile, placed 
Bishop under house arrest. He was held incommunicado.7 

Events in Grenada, as did those of all countries in the Western Hemisphere south 
of the United States, fell under the purview of the Restricted Interagency Group of the 
National Security Council. Upon taking office, the Reagan administration had mandat­
ed an elaborate, formal hierarchy of coordinating groups between all the departments 
and agencies involved in formulating and implementing US national security policy 
with the State Department at least nominally serving as the lead. At the top of the hier­
archy was the National Security Council and the president. The Restricted Interagency 
Group was at the bottom. Consisting of mid-level officials from agencies involved in 
national security, it was chaired by the assistant secretary of state for inter-American 
affairs. It was also a surprisingly influential group, considering the rank of its members 
in their respective departments.8 

The Reagan administration considered both the Sandinista government of Nicara­
gua and the insurgents in neighboring El Salvador as proxies for the Soviets and the 
Cubans and thus the number one national security threat to the United States in the 
Western Hemisphere. Over the first almost three years of the administration, the Re­
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stricted Interagency Group had served as the primary forum for developing US policy 
toward Central America. Recently, however, consensus had broken down. Some mem­
bers of the State Department advocated a diplomatic approach while a loose coalition 
of National Security Council staffers, officials at the Department of Defense, and the 
Central Intelligence Agency pursued a military solution. In these circumstances, repre­
sentatives of the State and Defense Departments were both territorial concerning their 
prerogatives and suspicious of the intentions of their counterparts.9 

It was in this inauspicious setting that, as the meeting broke up, Assistant Secretary 
of Staff Langhorne A. Motley spoke to the representative of the Joint Chief of Staffs, 
Colonel James W. Connally, US Air Force, Chief of the Western Hemisphere Division 
of the Plans and Policy Directorate (J5) of the Joint Staff. Grenada had not even been 
on the group’s agenda that day, and Connally’s relatively low rank indicated what 
the Chiefs’ nominal representative, the assistant to the chairman of the Joint Chiefs 
of Staff, Vice Admiral Arthur S. Moreau, Jr., thought of the importance of the topics 
that were. Ambassador Motley told Connally that there was apparently some unrest on 
Grenada and that it might become necessary to evacuate US citizens. He asked that the 
Joint Chiefs review their plans to support such a contingency. Connally thanked him 
and promised to pass his concern on to his superiors. This apparently was noted, but 
no further action followed.10 

That same day, the senior Latin American specialist on the National Security 
Council staff, Constantine C. Menges, reacted to the same reports of a Grenadian pow­
er struggle by proposing military intervention to rescue Americans on the island and 
restore democracy. Menges had a reputation as an ideologue at odds with the pragma­
tists who dominated the staff. His proposal appeared so far-fetched that his superiors 
ignored him for the remainder of the crisis.11 

Menges’s intervention did alert the senior members to the Grenada crisis, but this 
was more than off-set by the turmoil into which the staff was thrown at 1000 that same 
day. Without warning, National Security Advisor Clark announced he was stepping 
down to accept the post of Secretary of the Interior in the president’s cabinet. His dep­
uty, Robert C. McFarlane, would succeed him. This development probably slowed the 
staff’s response to the Grenada issue. Not until 2000 did a low-level staffer on the Latin 
American desk contact an officer in the Joint Operations Directorate (J3) of the Joint 
Staff. The staffer wanted to know what resources were available if it became necessary 
on short notice to safeguard the evacuation of Americans there.12 

This query brought a quick response because the National Security Council was 
an agency of the Office of the President. At 0800 the next morning, the director of 
operations on the Joint Staff, Army Lieutenant General Richard L. Prillaman, activated 
a crisis response cell in the National Command Center to monitor the Grenada situa­
tion. The officers assigned to the cell were to assess the situation and prepare possible 
courses of action. One of them placed a “what if” call to the headquarters of US At­
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lantic Command at Norfolk, Virginia. Spurred by the inquiry, officers in the operations 
directorate there began reviewing contingency plans for noncombatant evacuation and 
a show of force. They also began drafting options specifically related to the situation 
in Grenada. Initially these efforts were interspersed with the normal business of the 
directorate and proceeded at a somewhat leisurely pace.13 

That same day the Restricted Interagency Group held another meeting. This time 
Grenada did appear on the agenda as a minor item. Ambassador Motley repeated for the 
entire group much of what he had told Connally the day before. In his view, Bishop’s 
arrest opened the possibility of further radicalization of the revolutionary movement. 
This development might pose a threat to the safety of the large number of Americans, 
estimated at 1,000, living on the island. Motley informed the group that the State De­
partment was reviewing its standard evacuation procedures and formally requested 
that the Joint Chiefs review its plans for such a contingency.14 

Grenada at this point was still a potential crisis rather than a full-blown one. The 
14th was a Friday, and if any of the members of the Restricted Interagency Group 
missed part of their weekend, it was not because of Grenada. The military staffs, of 
course, continued working although at reduced levels of activity. Both the planners at 
the Pentagon and those in Norfolk knew that any noncombatant evacuation involved 
one major inherent risk—that the intended evacuees could become hostages instead. 
With this in mind, the planners at Atlantic Command made three assumptions. First, 
the National Command Authority would make available all the forces listed in the ex­
isting Caribbean concept plan, 2360, last updated the preceding March. From this pool 
of units, the commander of US Atlantic Command would draw whatever appeared ap­
propriate given the situation on the island. Second, neither the Soviet Union nor Cuba 
would intervene. Third, the bulk of the resident Americans were medical students who 
lived on the True Blue Campus of the St. George’s Medical School, just off the east 
end of the runway at Point Salines. Based on scanty intelligence, the third assumption 
would prove to be incorrect.15 

On Monday, 17 October, Motley convened a special meeting of the Restricted In­
teragency Group devoted solely to Grenada. This agenda testified to the State Depart­
ment’s rising concern. Colonel Connally’s continuance as the Joint Chiefs of Staff rep­
resentative in attendance, however, indicated the rather less serious view with which 
his superiors contemplated the situation. At the meeting Motley made a strong case 
for armed intervention. He began by reviewing the State Department’s standard pro­
cedures for dealing with a country where American lives might be at risk. The more 
moderate courses of action involved negotiating with the government in power. Motley 
rejected them because in his view Bishop’s arrest and Coard’s resignation meant that 
no legitimate government remained in Grenada. The only alternative was an evacua­
tion of noncombatants during which the US military would be prepared to use whatev­
er force was necessary to protect them. Motley wanted the Joint Staff to begin planning 
immediately for such an operation.16 
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Connally dutifully carried Motley’s concerns back across the Potomac. The direc­
tor of the Joint Staff, Army Lieutenant General Jack N. Merritt, found them overblown. 
In Merritt’s opinion, the crisis was “just vibrating”—the situation on the island was 
neither deteriorating nor improving. Nevertheless, he directed the Joint Staff to join 
the Atlantic Command staff in developing a full range of options extending from a 
peaceful evacuation to the use of force. In response to the renewed flurry of planning 
activity, Atlantic Command activated its own crisis response cell the next day.17 

On the morning of 19 October, the crisis stopped vibrating. In the Grenadian capi­
tal of St. George’s, a crowd, estimated at from 3,000 to 4,000, broke into the prime 
minister’s residence and released Bishop, who had been strapped to his bed. Observers 
reported he appeared dazed, reputedly because he had refused all food and water for 
several days, fearing that his former comrades might poison him. Bishop and some of 
his supporters moved to army headquarters at Fort Rupert, where they easily overpow­
ered the guards. Bishop, however, had failed to gauge the depth of Coard’s resolve to 
retain power. Three Soviet-supplied armored personnel carriers rolled up to the fort 
and without warning fired into the crowd. To prevent a massacre, Bishop surrendered. 
A firing squad of soldiers loyal to Coard then executed the prime minister and his 
leading supporters. Over Radio Free Grenada, the Minister of Defence, General Hud­
son Austin, announced the formation of a 16-man Revolutionary Military Council to 
govern the island until a new government could be formed. Bishop, he said, had died 
in the fighting at the fort. During the present emergency, he imposed a 24-hour curfew. 
Anyone violating it would be shot—words that carried grave import given Bishop’s 
fate.18 

The first news of disturbances in St. George’s prompted a strong response from 
the US Embassy in Bridgetown, Barbados. Reports of Bishop’s rescue by the crowd 
prompted Ambassador Milan D. Bish to report, long before he learned of Bishop’s 
death, that conditions on Grenada “posed an imminent danger” to US citizens resident 
there. In Washington, his assessment prompted yet another meeting of the Restricted 
Interagency Group. This time Admiral Moreau attended in person. Although junior in 
the bureaucratic pecking order to Ambassador Motley, he was in many ways the most 
influential person in the room. A nuclear submariner noted for his keen intelligence, 
Moreau was very close to the chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, Army General John 
W. Vessey. Vessey, a low key unflappable soldier with a droll sense of humor and a 
military career that stretched back to before World War II, was a favorite with both the 
secretary of defense and the president. Moreau’s ideas thus had a way of reaching the 
very highest echelon of government. It made him a force with which to reckon.19 

All the members of the interagency group agreed with Bish’s analysis and further 
concurred that the military needed to begin immediately to plan for a noncombatant 
evacuation. Moreau stated that the Joint Chiefs understood the situation and would 
instruct the relevant commands to monitor events on the island. At the same time, he 
emphasized that only the vice president in the Special Situation Group, which was the 
National Security Council when presided over by the vice president, or the National 
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Planning Group, which was the National Security Council when presided over by the 
president, could direct the Joint Chiefs to prepare invasion plans. Moreau did not add 
to this statement the phrase “not the State Department,” but that implication was clear 
from the context of his remarks.20 

Later that same day, following an intelligence briefing, the Joint Chiefs of Staff 
held its first formal meeting on the situation in Grenada. The Chiefs decided to dis­
patch a warning order for a possible evacuation of Americans to US Atlantic Com­
mand. Issued at 2347 local time on 19 October that instruction directed the commander 
of Atlantic Command, Admiral Wesley L. McDonald, to prepare by dawn of the next 
day an estimate of the courses of action available to protect and evacuate US and des­
ignated foreign citizens. The Chiefs envisioned a three- to five-day operation. Possible 
scenarios included a show of force, seizure of evacuation points, combat operations 
to defend the evacuation, and postevacuation peacekeeping. This list encompassed a 
range of political objectives that extended from minimal involvement in the internal 
affairs of the island nation to creation of a posthostilities democracy. The amount of 
combat power envisioned for each increased in line with the scale of the objectives. 
US Readiness Command, as a supporting command that might have to provide forces 
to Atlantic Command out of the strategic reserve, received an information copy of this 
warning order. Shortly thereafter, the Joint Staff gave the operation the code name 
URGENT FURY.21 

In the early hours of 20 October, Admiral McDonald replied to the Joint Chiefs 
of Staff warning order with his estimate of the situation. Later that morning, Gen­
eral Vessey flew to Norfolk where McDonald’s staff briefed him. Atlantic Command’s 
plans envisioned both the possibility of an uncontested evacuation and a contested one. 
There was about a battalion’s worth of Cuban construction workers on the island, all of 
whom had military training. If the Grenadians and Cubans permitted a peaceful evacu­
ation, McDonald outlined two possible courses of action: the use of either chartered 
commercial passenger planes or Military Airlift Command aircraft to fly the evacuees 
out of the country. The use of military aircraft would include stationing a small security 
detachment at the departure airfield. Either approach would require extensive negotia­
tions with the Grenadians.22 

If the Grenadians refused to permit a peaceful evacuation, McDonald proposed 
four options involving military forces. The first was a show of force with warships 
from the Atlantic Fleet. Each of the other three involved landing about one battalion’s 
worth of ground troops. The first used the 22d Marine Amphibious Unit supported 
by the aircraft carrier USS Independence and its accompanying battle group. Some 
of these forces were already at sea en route to the eastern Mediterranean; others were 
preparing to embark for that destination. All could reach the eastern Caribbean in five 
days. The second substituted another Marine amphibious unit, but that force would 
require nine days to arrive on station. Finally, McDonald might use an Army airborne 
battalion. Depending on the unit the US Readiness Command provided, it might be 
ready for action even before the 22d Marine Amphibious Unit.23 
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McDonald stated very clearly that he preferred to use Marines for both the as­
sault force and any stay-behind occupation force. The second Marine option, however, 
dropped out of the discussion very early because of the unit’s late availability. The first, 
employing the 22d Marine Amphibious Unit, became what the Joint Chiefs referred 
to as Atlantic Command’s “small option.” Vessey focused on the third option involv­
ing an Army airborne battalion. He proposed that McDonald use Army Rangers in the 
initial assault force because they specialized in seizing airfields. The potential hostage 
situation also suggested to him that this operation required the special skills possessed 
by the Pentagon’s hostage rescue specialists—the special operations units controlled 
by the Joint Special Operations Command at Fort Bragg. Vessey envisioned elements 
of the 82d Airborne Division at Fort Bragg serving strictly as the occupation force. The 
Joint Chiefs referred to this course of action, which General Vessey clearly preferred, 
as Atlantic Command’s “large option.”24 

Vessey’s hands-on style of revising Atlantic Command’s plans suggested that he 
was less than impressed with that headquarters’ product. Ever since the creation of the 
command almost 40 years earlier, its primary mission had been to keep the sea lanes 
open to Europe and to transport large numbers of ground forces there in the event of 
war with the Soviet Union. Given this mission, the headquarters had been a single-ser­
vice “blue water” organization throughout its history. It had no permanently assigned 
Army or Air Force units. The general’s concern that Admiral McDonald and his staff 
lacked the knowledge and skills to conduct a ground operation was thus no reflection 
on those individuals. It was the product of the Unified Command Plan and the assump­
tions upon which it rested.25 

Upon his return to Washington, Vessey took the first of two key actions that day. 
He directed the Joint Staff to analyze the impact of executing Atlantic Command’s 
large option on the world balance of forces between the United States and the Soviet 
Union. Throughout preparations for URGENT FURY, the Joint Chiefs would have as 
their primary concern keeping any conflict localized—and that meant deterring any 
Soviet or Cuban inclination to intervene. They proposed to accomplish that goal by 
massing enough land- and sea-based air power to dissuade the Soviets and Cubans 
from attempting to reinforce the Grenadian People’s Revolutionary Army and the Cu­
ban construction workers.26 

While Vessey reviewed McDonald’s plans, news of General Austin’s 24-hour 
shoot-on-sight curfew prompted the newly appointed National Security Advisor, Mr. 
McFarlane, to decide that the crisis required White House oversight. The National Se­
curity Council replaced the State Department as the lead agency in the decision-mak­
ing process. With the shift came a change in the name of the coordinating group. At 
McFarlane’s direction his deputy, Rear Admiral John M. Poindexter, convened a Crisis 
Pre-Planning Group at 0800 on 20 October. Institutional representation remained the 
same as in the Restricted Interagency Group but with an expanded number of often 
more senior representatives.27 
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As the attendees discussed the deteriorating situation, a member of the National 
Security Council Staff, Lieutenant Colonel Oliver L. North, US Marine Corps, men­
tioned that the USS Independence battle group and the 22d Marine Amphibious Unit 
had recently sailed for the Eastern Mediterranean. Ambassador Motley wanted the 
Defense Department to divert them to the Eastern Caribbean until the crisis eased. Ad­
miral Moreau refused to entertain the idea short of a written presidential order. In the 
end, Poindexter’s committee urged that the Special Situation Group, a committee of 
the most senior policy makers chaired by Vice President George H. W. Bush, assume 
responsibility for managing the crisis. The president accepted this recommendation.28 

At 1645 that same day, just as the vice president prepared to enter the first meeting 
of the Special Situation Group, a staff member handed him a copy of a message from 
Ambassador Bish reporting that Barbadian Prime Minister J. M. G. M. “Tom” Adams 
had requested American assistance in overthrowing the Austin junta. The vice presi­
dent had just returned from a four-day visit to Jamaica, where he had received an in-
depth analysis of the crisis from the Reagan administration’s favorite Caribbean leader 
and free-market advocate, Prime Minister Edward Seaga of Jamaica. Seaga believed 
that the coup and Bishop’s murder posed a threat, by example, for all the democratic 
governments in the Caribbean. If the Austin-Coard clique remained in place, every 
adventurer in the area would have a working model for how to take power. Bush led 
off the meeting by reading the Bish cable and then summarized his own conversations 
with Seaga. “These people” he concluded, “are asking us to do something.”29 

Detained because he was testifying on Capitol Hill, Secretary of State Shultz en­
tered midway in the meeting and outlined the State Department’s plans to evacuate 
American citizens. He also noted that US forces would probably have to protect the 
evacuation. If that became necessary, Shultz advocated disarming the Grenadian armed 
forces as a safety measure. This was only one step short of outright regime change.30 

General Vessey briefed the attendees on the risks of using force and the possibili­
ties of Soviet or Cuban intervention. The Joint Chiefs “. . . were determined,” he said, 
“to make sure that [Fidel] Castro got the message that interference was not an option 
for him and that the message was clear and early.” If the president decided to intervene, 
they wanted to send a very clear message to Cuba: “Hands off!” A representative from 
the Defense Intelligence Agency informed the group that the People’s Revolutionary 
Army would oppose any evacuation but that force was militarily ineffective. On the 
other hand, he added, the Cubans and Soviets simply lacked the means to intervene in 
sufficient strength to affect the outcome.31 

The Special Situation Group anticipated that conditions on Grenada would con­
tinue to deteriorate and that at some point events would compel the president to rescue 
the Americans on the island. As a result, Bush and his associates decided that the Joint 
Chiefs should prepare a detailed operational plan for this contingency and directed 
McFarlane to begin drafting a decision directive covering such a circumstance for 
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Reagan’s signature. The committee also recommended the immediate diversion of the 
Independence Battle Group and the Marines. Shortly thereafter, Secretary of Defense 
Caspar W. Weinberger ordered the change of course for these ships without waiting for 
the White House to issue the order.32 

Late that evening, about 2100, General Vessey contacted the commander of the 
Joint Special Operations Command, Major General Richard A. Scholtes, on a secure 
line and informed him that military intervention in Grenada was possible. He directed 
Scholtes to develop a plan and to come to Washington and brief him early the next 
morning. Specifically, Vessey wanted to know what targets Scholtes considered es­
sential and how in general terms he would envision the operation taking place. At that 
time, Scholtes assumed that his men would be working directly for the chairman as 
they had done often in the past.33 

On Friday, 21 October, President Reagan formally directed the Department of De­
fense to continue contingency planning, enjoined the State Department to contact al­
lies and regional governments to determine both their assessment of the situation and 
their willingness to participate in a multilateral intervention if one became necessary, 
and confirmed the diversion of naval and marine elements to the Eastern Caribbean. 
Early that same day the director of operations on the Joint Staff, General Prillaman, 
telephoned General Scholtes and indicated that the Secretary of Defense and the Joint 
Chiefs had decided to make Atlantic Command the supported command. Prillaman 
directed Scholtes to brief Admiral McDonald on the concept of operations and the 
outline plan Scholtes’ staff had developed the night before.34 

At this point three different military commands were preparing for an invasion of 
Grenada. Because Admiral McDonald could not be certain that the Grenadians would 
wait until the special operations forces or the Marines were ready, he had the 82d Air­
borne Division preparing to seize both the airport under construction at Point Salines 
and the only operational field on the island at Pearls. The Joint Special Operations 
Command had its planners working on the same objectives along with several others. 
Even though both organizations were located on the same post, rigid compartmental­
ization prevented either from having more than a very general idea of what the other 
was doing. Finally the officers of the 22d Marine Amphibious Unit were looking at 
the same objectives. Neither the Joint Chiefs nor Admiral McDonald deemed coordi­
nation between these groups necessary or even useful because they were developing 
competing plans for the operation. Still the distances involved and the need to feed 
these organizations information from Washington led General Vessey to direct that 
everyone involved take special security precautions. These directions came too late to 
prevent first CBS News and then the Associated Press from breaking the story of the 
diversion of the Independence Battle Group, a fact confirmed by a “Defense Depart­
ment official” during a briefing of Pentagon correspondents the evening of the 21st. 
The intended destination of Amphibious Squadron Four made the front pages of both 
the Washington Post and the New York Times the next day. Whatever the origins of the 
report, whether an unintended “leak” or calculated indiscretion designed to influence 
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the president’s decision, it produced intense concern in the White House about opera­
tional security.35 

Meanwhile, the Reagan administration attempted to maintain a public facade of 
“business as usual.” On Friday afternoon, President Reagan and Secretary Shultz and 
their wives departed for a scheduled weekend of golf at the Augusta National Golf 
Course. Because the situation in Grenada appeared to be heading toward a crisis, the 
new national security advisor, Mr. McFarlane, joined the party at the last moment. 
That evening, also conforming to his previously announced itinerary, General Vessey 
left to deliver a speech in Chicago. At the same time, “two senior presidential aides” 
accompanying the president to Georgia assured the press pool that the Independence 
Battle Group was in the area only to protect Americans and that no invasion was con­
templated.36 

After Vessey departed for Chicago, the acting chairman, Admiral James Watkins, 
the new Chief of Naval Operations, attended a second meeting of the Crisis Pre-Plan­
ning Group. New intelligence reports suggested that the Cubans as well as the Grena­
dians might resist. The Cubans, according to one inaccurate report, might have intro­
duced 240 combat troops onto the island when the freighter Vietnam Heroica docked 
at St. George’s on 6 October. At this point senior leaders were inclined to believe that 
Cuban machinations lay behind the Coard coup. The intelligence reports hardened the 
consensus that the United States would have to use military force to protect the evacu­
ation and might have to disarm all Grenadians and Cubans, even those well removed 
from the evacuation point.37 

For both decision makers and planners, the available information about Grenada 
was seriously flawed. The figures on Grenadian and Cuban defenders given to the Joint 
Chiefs of Staff, for example, represented an overestimate on the order of 190 percent. 
In the same way, Bishop and his supporters were more closely associated with Cuba 
than Coard and his faction. The intelligence was the best available, but it rested largely 
upon inferences rather than hard data.38 

This lack of accurate and up-to-date information was the product of major struc­
tural problems in US intelligence agencies and misguided policies in the local Ameri­
can embassy. The United States had drastically cut back its intelligence assets in the 
wake of the Vietnam War. In an attempt to economize, for example, the Department of 
Defense failed to assign a defense attaché to the American embassy in Barbados dur­
ing most of the period following the Grenadian Revolution. Finally, in 1982 Lieuten­
ant Colonel Lawrence N. Reiman, US Army, opened a one-man shop. As the Grenada 
crisis began, intelligence assets in the region were skeletal at best. All the agencies 
involved had to play catch-up.39 

So did the State Department. From the US embassy in Bridgetown, Barbados, 
Ambassador Bish, a Nebraska businessman with no previous experience in govern­
ment, had quite reasonably concluded that the Bishop regime was communist shortly 
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after taking up his post. Rather than seeking to obtain more information about what 
was transpiring on Grenada, however, he had arbitrarily directed his staff to drasti­
cally reduce even routine visits to the island. (This meant that Reiman, for example, 
concentrated on establishing contacts with friendly forces in the region.) The reporting 
from Bridgetown on events in Grenada during the crisis thus consisted of a composite 
of interviews with American citizens recently there, summaries of local press reports, 
transcripts of Radio Free Grenada broadcasts, and whatever information friendly gov­
ernments with better sources chose to pass along to the embassy. Policy makers in 
Washington consequently received little if any special insight into the events or psy­
chology of the key figures in Grenada that high quality diplomatic reporting could 
have provided. Even more important, because the policy makers in Washington were 
unaware of Bish’s embargo on Grenada visits, they assumed that the embassy reports 
were much more solidly based on first person observation than they were.40 

Reaction in the eastern Caribbean to the diversion of the Independence Battle Group 
was emphatic. The same day as the Department of Defense announcement, the heads 
of government in the region met in Barbados. They unanimously agreed to intervene 
in Grenada to restore order and, because the forces at their disposal were minuscule, 
to request the assistance of both Barbados and Jamaica. The prime ministers delegated 
the chairman of their organization, Prime Minister Eugenia Charles of Dominica, a 53 
year-old woman of keen intellect and forceful personality, to approach Great Britain 
and the United States for additional forces. They also prepared to make their case to the 
larger Caribbean community for still more local assistance. Attempts the following day 
to enlist other nations from the Caribbean proved largely unsuccessful.41 

In Barbados the American embassy struggled without avail to find a peaceful solu­
tion to the problem of US citizens on the island. The whole thrust of the post coup dip­
lomatic offensive by the members of the Organization of Eastern Caribbean States was 
to isolate the Austin regime. Ambassador Charles A. Gillespie, Motley’s new deputy, 
interrupted an orientation tour of the Caribbean to provide Bish with on-the-scene ad­
vice. Neither he nor Bish wanted to undercut this promising diplomatic development, 
but, at the same time, they had to start a dialogue with Austin, Coard, or whoever was 
in charge to ensure a peaceful evacuation. In short, the Americans had to negotiate 
without seeming to negotiate.42 

Initially, Gillespie and Bish used the vice chancellor of the St. George’s University 
School of Medicine, Dr. Geoffrey Bourne, as a go-between. They conducted conversa­
tions via teletype with the school, and then Bourne conveyed their views to representa­
tives of the Military Council. Sometimes Austin personally came down to the campus. 
After much discussion they convinced the Grenadians to allow a consular party headed 
by Kenneth Kurze, an officer in the Bridgetown embassy, to visit the island to check on 
the resident Americans. Kurze and one other embassy official landed at Pearls Airport 
on 22 October.43 
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Kurze confirmed that the Americans on the island were unharmed, but his efforts 
to negotiate a resolution to the crisis floundered upon Grenadian intransigence. While 
General Austin proclaimed the Revolutionary Military Council’s readiness to allow all 
foreign nationals to depart peacefully, the Council’s negotiator in this matter, Major 
Leon Cornwall, found “technical objections” to each course of action proposed. When 
the Cunard Lines, for example, offered one of their ships to evacuate free of charge 
all foreign nationals who wished to depart, Cornwall denied the vessel docking privi­
leges and said that the Grenadian Army would fire on it if it entered Grenadian waters. 
(Grenadian antiaircraft guns did fire on the ship when it appeared on the horizon.) 
Cornwall’s behavior convinced the senior officers at the Bridgetown embassy that the 
Grenadians were already attempting to use the Americans on the island as bargaining 
chips.44 

One officer of the Central Intelligence Agency entered Grenada during this period 
of limited access. Ms. Linda Flohr spent over two days dodging Grenadian Army pa­
trols while reporting on the situation via clandestine radio. The Grenadians, she noted, 
had confined the students to their dormitories and had posted sentries to keep them in 
and everyone else out. In her view the students were already hostages. She urged an 
immediate invasion.45 

So, too, on the 22d did the Governor General of Grenada, Sir Paul Scoon, regarded 
by the regional governments as the only legitimate source of authority remaining on 
the island. Scoon confided to a British official resident on the island that he desired an 
intervention to overthrow the Austin clique. The State Department learned of the ap­
peal early the next morning.46 

During the night of 21–22 October, Prime Minister Eugenia Charles of Dominica, 
acting in her capacity as chair of the Organization of Eastern Caribbean States, for­
mally petitioned the United States to intervene in Grenada. US Ambassador Bish in 
Bridgetown immediately forwarded her oral request to the State Department. On 22 
October, this message precipitated a very early morning meeting of the Special Securi­
ty Group of the National Security Council and a call to McFarlane. Shortly afterwards, 
the president, dressed in slippers and robe, met with McFarlane and Secretary Shultz 
in the living room of the Eisenhower Cottage at Augusta National where he and Mrs. 
Reagan were staying. They briefed him on the latest developments. The president’s 
reaction, recalled Shultz, was emphatic: The US had to respond positively to such a 
plea from small “democratic neighbors.” And then there was the danger posed to resi­
dent Americans. Reagan telephoned Washington at 0558 and spoke with Vice Presi­
dent Bush, who had been chairing the Special Security Group to develop options and 
recommend a course of action for the president. Next Reagan spoke with Secretary of 
Defense Weinberger, who had also participated in the meeting.47 

The president made no irrevocable decisions either then or at an 0900 teleconfer­
ence with all the senior members of his National Security team. It was, as one scholar 

45 



has observed, at best a 75 percent decision, but it certainly gave a military intervention 
decided impetus. Everyone now agreed that there was no longer any possibility of a 
peaceful evacuation of the American residents in Grenada, and Reagan ordered the 
Joint Chiefs of Staff to draw up plans to seize the country.48 

Back from Chicago and anticipating such a request, General Vessey, had plans 
already in hand. Since his meeting with McDonald, the Joint Staff, working with the 
US Atlantic Command, had prepared two force packages for the operation that were re­
markably similar in size. One, originally Atlantic Command’s small option, consisted 
of a Marine Battalion Landing Team with Navy SEALS attached; the other, the so-
called large option, included two battalions of US Army Rangers and a contingent of 
special operations forces from the Joint Special Operations Command. Each package 
numbered about 1,800 men and could be reinforced by two or more airborne infantry 
battalions from the 82d Airborne Division. The Chiefs anticipated, however, that the 
airborne units would function primarily as occupation troops in either scenario.49 

Two of the president’s counselors, both veterans of fighting in the Pacific dur­
ing World War II, Secretary Shultz and Secretary Weinberger, expressed concern that 
these elements were too light for the mission. Weinberger insisted that the United 
States should apply overwhelming force to minimize casualties. He was determined to 
avoid the sort of mistakes that had led to the costly failure in 1980 to rescue American 
hostages held in Iran, the DESERT ONE disaster, and so he told the Joint Chiefs to 
double whatever strength the theater commander considered adequate. On his own, 
using a similar rationale, Shultz advised Reagan to double the number of troops the 
Joint Chiefs recommended. At this time, the president did not appear to make any final 
determination on the matter.50 

The president did decide to send a special envoy, Ambassador Francis J. McNeil, 
a career foreign service officer, to the meeting of the Organization of Eastern Carib­
bean States to gauge just how committed the heads of government were to intervention 
and to obtain their request in writing. Reagan wanted an independent evaluation of the 
situation “before making a ‘go/no go’ decision.” As the Assistant Secretary of State for 
Inter-American Affairs, Ambassador Motley, remarked to McNeil, “It isn’t everyday 
that we get a request like this.”51 

As these more detailed preparations began, Reagan, Shultz, and McFarlane debat­
ed whether Reagan should remain in Georgia and adhere to his schedule. They decided 
ultimately that an early return to Washington would lead to intense press speculation 
that might precipitate hostage taking on the island. While the president continued his 
golf, Shultz and McFarlane monitored the Grenada situation using a satellite telephone 
to call Washington. Even the efforts of an emotionally disturbed gunman who crashed 
the security fence at Augusta National in a Dodge pickup truck and barricaded him­
self in the pro shop with five hostages—including two members of the White House 
Staff—failed to shake the president’s resolve to maintain a facade of normalcy. The 
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Secret Service did insist that the president leave the course while the pro shop crisis 
gradually moved toward a peaceful resolution.52 

Reagan did not allow the excitement of the day to divert him from his Caribbean 
concerns. On the evening of the 22d, shortly before 1700, the National Security Plan­
ning Group, the highest level of the National Security Council presided over by the 
president (in this instance using a secure telephone), formally directed the Joint Chiefs 
to dispatch an execute order to the responsible theater commander. The order autho­
rized, but did not require, Admiral McDonald to combine the troops in both options. 
Earlier in the day using a secure phone, General Vessey had suggested this possibility 
to McDonald. The chairman had told McDonald that the chiefs thought he needed to 
beef up the landing force to “intimidate” the Cubans. In the order, the Joint Chiefs es­
timated that the earliest possible time they could stage the operation was Tuesday, 25 
October. They told the admiral to use that date as a target.53 

On Sunday, 23 October, Admiral McDonald accompanied by General Scholtes 
flew to Washington to brief the Joint Chiefs of Staff on his concept of operations. 
At this meeting the Joint Chiefs decided to consolidate the two options. The chiefs 
planned a nighttime assault by Rangers and special operations forces using night vision 
devices against the Point Salines airport and various military and political objectives in 
and around the capital of St. George’s. The Marines would land at dawn near the town 
of Pearls, which had the one fully operational airfield on the island. After he returned 
to Norfolk, McDonald chose the commander of the US Second Fleet, Vice Admiral 
Joseph Metcalf III, to command the overall Grenada operation. In the process, he set 
aside US Forces Caribbean, the headquarters responsible for the region. He did not 
think it was robust enough to conduct an actual operation.54 

Another early morning telephone call, this time at 0239 on Sunday, 23 October, in­
formed the president of the bombing of the Marine Corps barracks in Beirut, Lebanon. 
The news convinced all concerned that Reagan needed to return to Washington im­
mediately. Throughout the day, as information accumulated, the scope of the disaster 
became clearer: 241 American servicemen were dead and another 70 wounded. Much 
of official Washington was in shock. Ambassador McNeil, who had arrived in Wash­
ington early on Sunday, thought that the Beirut crisis would abort the whole Grenada 
enterprise. Nevertheless, after a briefing on the situation in the eastern Caribbean at the 
State Department, he and a representative of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, Major General 
George B. Crist, US Marine Corps, left for Barbados that afternoon. Crist, whose nor­
mal post was vice director of the Joint Staff, was to make arrangements for military 
participation by the Caribbean governments.55 

Upon arrival in Washington, the president and his advisors embarked on a round 
of almost non-stop National Security Council meetings that alternated between Leba­
non and Grenada. As Grenada appeared to be progressing without problems, Gen­
eral Vessey concentrated on Lebanon and delegated most of the Grenada briefings to 
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Admiral Moreau. The ghastly news from Beirut dampened everyone’s spirits. At one 
point the president hung his head in his hands and wondered aloud if his administra­
tion would suffer the same fate as that of President Carter, undone by the hostage crisis 
in Iran. His advisors believed that a Grenada operation would only detract from his 
popularity. General Vessey, who like his colleagues on the Joint Chiefs did not think an 
intervention was necessary at this point, ventured that with the 1984 presidential elec­
tion only a year away, perhaps Reagan should call off the invasion. The president shot 
back that he intended to consider this operation strictly on its merits.56 

The president might have temporarily lost his ebullience but not his resolve. The 
key issue for him was that American citizens were at risk. As soon as he heard that 
hostages were involved, he made up his mind that he would use military force if nec­
essary. He carefully refrained from telling anyone of that decision, however, because 
he intended to keep his options open until the very last minute. Periodically he asked 
Vessey if he had made any decision that had irreversibly committed him to a military 
operation. Vessey always assured him that he had not reached that point.57 

That evening, 23 October, in the White House residence, after his advisors had 
departed, the president signed a National Security Decision Directive for the inva­
sion of Grenada. “The Secretary of Defense and the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of 
Staff . . . will land US and allied Caribbean military forces in order to take control of 
Grenada, no later than dawn Tuesday, October 25, 1983.” Reagan carefully stipulated 
that the State Department would not notify the Organization of Eastern Caribbean 
States of his decision until after 1800 on 24 October. The president did not inform his 
principal advisors of his action until sometime the next day. The explanation for this 
reluctance appears to have been more personal than political. He was very much aware 
that a decision to intervene would cost lives, and he refused to make that determination 
until he absolutely had to.58 

The news from the Caribbean continued to pressure the president toward military 
action. Ambassador McNeil arrived in Barbados on 23 October and immediately went 
into a meeting with the Caribbean heads of state that lasted almost three hours. Prob­
ing their rationale for intervention, he found their advocacy thoroughly grounded in 
the realities of the situation and concluded that they were deeply committed to action 
as the only way to preserve democracy in the area. Following instructions, he gave the 
prime ministers no hint as to what his recommendation would be.59 

McNeil also spent some time reviewing all locally available intelligence on Gre­
nada with particular emphasis on the medical students. He concluded that they were 
not hostages yet but that this well might be the Grenadians’ next step. He believed the 
situation was deteriorating daily and was dangerous. With the fate of his colleagues in 
Tehran, Iran, during the 1979 takeover of the American embassy very much in mind, 
he recommended that the president should order immediate military intervention. His 
one qualification was that it had to be quick, before surprise was lost.60 
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The Organization of Eastern Caribbean States heads of government joined by 
Prime Ministers Adams of Barbados and Seaga of Jamaica knew nothing of these de­
velopments and frankly doubted American resolve. Ambassador McNeil had brought a 
list of State Department concerns about the repercussions of American military action. 
Based on the discussion of these points, the group drafted a formal request for Ameri­
can intervention. The chairperson of the Organization of Eastern Caribbean States, 
Prime Minister Charles of Dominica, signed it on the evening of 23 October. She de­
clined to forward it to Washington, however, until she received a “final positive US 
decision . . . .”61 

Although the president signed the National Security Decision Directive for the 
intervention in Grenada on the evening of 23 October, he remained less than totally 
committed to the operation. Shortly after 1200 on 24 October, he met with the Joint 
Chiefs of Staff to ask each member individually to give his personal assessment of the 
plan. Did he agree with it? Was something more needed? The chairman and the chiefs 
of service were unanimous on two points. First, they preferred a negotiated, peaceful 
evacuation of the students to armed intervention. Second, if the situation required in­
tervention, they were satisfied with the plan and the forces committed to its execution. 
The meeting broke up with the president reassured about the plan but with his option 
of whether to execute still open.62 

Listening to this exchange, Secretary of Defense Caspar W. Weinberger became 
convinced that Reagan had concluded to invade the island barring a last-minute diplo­
matic breakthrough. That afternoon, the president confirmed that this was his decision 
and gave the secretary the signed National Security Directive. Weinberger immediately 
returned to the Pentagon. With a military operation looking ever more likely, he dele­
gated to General Vessey, as chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, full power to conduct 
the operation in the secretary’s name. This decision reflected both the president’s and 
the secretary’s confidence in Vessey’s professional abilities and their affinity for his 
low–key operating style. With this decision, Vessey gained more control over a major 
American military operation than had any uniformed officer since the Korean War.63 

That evening Weinberger, Vessey, and the chiefs went to the White House for a 
meeting with the president, the other members of the National Security Council, and 
the House and Senate leadership. At that time President Reagan asked Secretary of 
State George P. Shultz to describe the situation in Grenada for the group. General 
Vessey followed with a briefing on the rescue plan. In the discussion that followed, 
the Speaker of the House, Representative Thomas P. (“Tip”) O’Neill, and the Senate 
Minority Leader, Senator Robert C. Byrd, expressed their unhappiness with the idea 
of military intervention but could offer no alternative. The president observed that it 
looked as if it had to be done and that he would do it.64 

As the meeting broke up, Reagan took Vessey aside and asked him what his deci­
sion times were. When did he need to decide to launch the operation? What was the 
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latest time at which he could abort? Vessey told him that if he wanted to stage the 
operation the next day, 25 October, he had to make the decision immediately. Planes, 
ships, and troops were already deploying to launch positions. Vessey said that the lat­
est time for an abort would be shortly before 0500 when US aircraft would first enter 
Grenadian airspace. With that information in hand, the president said: “Go.”65 

Just at that moment the new national security advisor, McFarlane, walked over 
and told Reagan that he was activating the White House situation room. The president 
could come there at any time during the night and receive a briefing on the latest infor­
mation from Grenada. Reagan turned to Vessey and asked what he intended to do that 
evening. The general responded that first he was going to make a call to the Pentagon 
to set the operation in motion. Once he had made that call, there was nothing further he 
or the president could do that evening, unless the president decided to call off the op­
eration. That being the case, Vessey said he intended to go home and go to bed. In the 
morning, once the troops were on the island, he might be able to do something to assist 
them. He wanted to be well rested and alert when that time came. President Reagan 
replied that he intended to do the same.66 

At the time he issued his “go” order, President Reagan and the other decision mak­
ers and planners in Washington, Norfolk, and Fort Bragg believed that almost all the 
Americans on Grenada could be found on the True Blue Campus of the St. George’s 
University School of Medicine. This assumption was incorrect because it overlooked 
the even larger Grand Anse Campus located just south of St. George’s on the west 
coast of the island and the sizable collection of students and tourists living near Prickly 
Point, a peninsula east of True Blue. The misapprehension was due to the failure by 
Atlantic Command to double-check the information about the Americans’ location. 

Their whereabouts was hardly a state secret. Because US Forces Caribbean had 
the mission of conducting operations in the Caribbean, intelligence officers at Key 
West had already developed detailed information on the location of Americans living 
on Grenada as a precautionary measure in case their evacuation became necessary at 
some future date. When Admiral McDonald decided not to use this headquarters to 
direct Operation URGENT FURY, however, he cut these intelligence assets out. Even 
before that, when the Joint Chiefs first raised the possibility of evacuating Americans 
and other foreign nationals from the island, McDonald’s senior intelligence officer 
should have requested all the information that US Forces Caribbean had compiled and 
distributed it to the participating headquarters, but there is no evidence that he ever 
attempted to do so.67 

Despite Ambassador Bish’s prohibition on routine visits to Grenada, his staff at 
Bridgetown also knew the general location of the students. On 20 October 1983 Bish 
outlined to the State Department where the students lived, but he never sent an infor­
mation copy to the national command center, so the message never reached military 
intelligence. A copy did eventually come to rest in the records of the State Depart­
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ment’s Grenada Working Group. The military liaison officer from the Pentagon with 
this group should have passed on the information, but there is no indication of when the 
working group received the message. It may have arrived after the fact or with a mass 
of other cables. Although Bish devoted considerable space to describing the students’ 
domiciles, his subject line only referred to their attitudes about evacuation. Given the 
short time available, members of the working group could easily have overlooked this 
buried information.68 

Intelligence agencies also overlooked two other obvious sources of information 
about the students. Most of the Americans at the medical school received federally 
guaranteed student loans. The Department of Education, which mailed the checks, had 
the street addresses of these students, including those who lived off-campus. Because 
the department was reviewing the school’s accreditation, it had prepared a chart that 
listed all the students by name with their addresses alongside. The administrative office 
of the school had even more information, but no one went to Bay Shore, Long Island, 
to collect this material.69 

At the very last moment, the Defense Intelligence Agency learned of the Grand 
Anse campus quite by accident. In a casual conversation, one of the secretaries work­
ing with the agency mentioned that she had a brother attending the medical school in 
Grenada, who lived at the Grand Anse Campus. She had recently visited him there and 
even had photographs. She had nothing to do with tracking events on Grenada, but the 
person with whom she was talking did and immediately recognized the significance 
of her remarks. A flurry of research confirmed the existence of a second campus. At 
1800 on 22 October an intelligence analyst from the Joint Special Operations Com­
mand picked up a package containing the new material and flew with it to Fort Bragg, 
arriving there late that evening. At the same time, the Defense Intelligence Agency 
dispatched similar packages to three other intelligence offices, including that of the 
Atlantic Command’s director of intelligence. In the end, for reasons that remain ob­
scure, no plans were changed, and the information never reached the units preparing 
to invade the island.70 

* * * 

Accounts of the Reagan administration often comment on the president’s unusu­
ally passive style of decision-making coupled with a general lack of curiosity about a 
wide range of policy areas. At times his advisors were reduced to reading his body lan­
guage to determine whether he approved or disapproved of a particular option. Histori­
ans have suggested that his age and his philosophy of focusing his time and energy on 
a few big issues on which he had well developed opinions contributed to this style of 
decision-making. Granting the truth of both these observations and mixing in a person­
al predisposition to allow an issue to ripen before taking action—Calvin Coolidge was, 
after all, one of the president’s personal favorites among his predecessors—there still 
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remains room for a political explanation for his behavior. Like all administrations, the 
Reagan team represented a coalition of constituencies in power. It was an assemblage 
of movement conservatives, who saw the federal government as the cause of most 
problems in America; business conservatives, who espoused less government regula­
tion; social conservatives, who had abortion and homosexuality at the center of their 
concerns; and national security conservatives, who saw the United States failing to 
keep up militarily in its world-wide competition with the Soviet Union. None of these 
groups agreed entirely with the others, and they competed with one another to set the 
administration’s agenda. The coalition was new—previous Republican administrations 
had not reflected this particular mix of groups—and some of its members had never 
even been in power before. All these factors contributed to making the political con­
sensus buttressing the administration fragile with Reagan the one figure around whom 
all could rally. In this setting, the president’s adoption of a passive posture allowed his 
supporters in their own minds to endow him with their own hopes and desires. If he 
ultimately adopted a position at variance with their own, they could always blame it on 
bad advisors and recite the mantra “Let Reagan be Reagan.”71 

The Grenada crisis, of course, fell within the general area of national security—a 
topic on which Reagan had decided and long-standing opinions. At all the big deci­
sion points, he expressed his views in a clear and straight-forward way, except, that 
is, until he had to sign the presidential directive actually launching the forces. Then he 
temporized. He may have concluded that it would be easier for some of his supporters 
to accept a negotiated end to the crisis—should one become possible—if they did not 
know he had already signed an execute order than would be the case if they knew he 
had drawn it back at the last minute to accommodate a deal. This analysis is based not 
on the president’s words but on his actions. 

While Reagan gave every indication that he meant exactly what he said about his 
own motives—that his highest priority in addressing the crisis was securing the safe 
return of the Americans and any other foreign nationals who wanted to leave—this was 
almost certainly not the stance of everyone involved in the decision-making. Advisors 
who approached the crisis from a geo-political perspective saw the Americans on the 
island as a convenient pretext for a demonstration of American power and purpose 
that would cheaply send a message to the Soviets and the Cubans about the danger of 
meddling in a US sphere of influence. For these counselors, the ultimate fate of the 
potential hostages counted for little against this larger purpose. In the end, Reagan’s 
coyness did not in any way retard military preparations, which were developing on a 
track parallel to the policy making, but it did allow him to be certain in his own mind 
that he was making the right decision for the right reason.72 

By law and the president’s inclination, Reagan’s two senior advisors during the 
Grenada crisis were the Secretary of State and the Secretary of Defense. Secretaries 
Shultz and Weinberger shared several traits—both were Californians, had served in 
World War II, had first come to national prominence in the administration of President 
Richard M. Nixon, and were strong-minded men with considerable bureaucratic skill. 
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Unlike Shultz, however, Weinberger had originally opposed Reagan in California poli­
tics, and some of the original Reaganites still considered him tarnished by a liberal 
patina. As a consequence, Weinberger tended to restrict his advice to the president to 
issues that he considered to have major import and in which he had developed personal 
expertise. He was also careful not to allow any of his subordinates to get publically to 
his right. He believed that his main responsibility was to manage the defense buildup, 
ensuring that the administration retained the political support necessary to sustain the 
effort. Generally, he regarded Third World military adventures as unnecessary expen­
ditures of the political capital he needed for that larger project. Shultz, lacking Wein­
berger’s history, was more uninhibited in his advice. He believed in diplomacy backed 
by military power. At the time when Grenada became an issue, he and Weinberger were 
engaged in a dispute over whether military power could usefully support US diplomacy 
in the Middle East. Neither man had any previous personal involvement with the east­
ern Caribbean. Both came to the Grenada issue late in the process and, when presented 
with the available evidence, recommended intervention. Their primary contribution to 
the operation had to do not with whether to go but with the size of the force.73 

Two other senior advisors, Vice President Bush and General Vessey took diametri­
cally opposed views as to the wisdom of the Grenada operation. Bush, based on his 
recent Caribbean trip, was decidedly in favor of the invasion. Scholarly research on 
the first president Bush is just beginning and most of it has focused on his four years 
in the White House. The impression conveyed by the existing literature is that before 
his meeting with Prime Minister Seaga he had very little first-hand knowledge of the 
eastern Caribbean. This assumption needs testing by in-depth research. At the same 
time, his world view, particularly in regard to the portion of the Western Hemisphere 
south of the United States, might help explain his readiness to act upon Prime Minis­
ter Charles’ appeal. In contrast to the vice president, Vessey was consistent in saying 
that the Chiefs preferred a negotiated settlement. By implication that meant that in 
the Chiefs’ view all the military rationales used to justify seizing the airfield at Point 
Salines, premised upon the outbreak of war with the Soviets in Europe, did not suffice 
because the possibility of such a conflict was remote. Vessey, who normally handled 
himself with aplomb in the higher counsels of government, made one misstep when 
he advanced a political rather than a military reason for not intervening—but this may 
simply represent how well he fit into the relaxed and convivial air that Reagan gener­
ated among his senior officials. There is something to be said for military advisors not 
becoming too comfortable in such surroundings. 

The interagency process was designed to provide a thorough airing of issues at 
low levels so that those that survived to rise to senior levels would receive a thorough 
vetting from many points of view. In that light, several questions arise concerning 
the process’s performance during the Grenada crisis. How well did the system work? 
How thoroughly did lower level participants consider a range of options before senior 
policy makers became engaged? To what extent did the time compression affect the 
decision-making? 
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The Restricted Interagency Group became aware of a potential problem on 
13 October. Eleven days later, the president ordered US forces to intervene. In such a 
time frame there was a tendency for events to overtake careful deliberation of alterna­
tives. This compression of time between the first flickering awareness of the problem 
and the use of force suggests that Grenada was not a fair test of the interagency process. 
Any system of decision making—good, bad, or indifferent—might be overwhelmed 
under similar circumstances. Moreover, for participants the sense of that a succession 
of events cascading into a torrent was heightened by the unfamiliar speed with which 
they learned of occurrences. Grenada was one of the first crises in which the State 
Department used tactical satellite radios developed by the Army Signal Corps to com­
municate between its Washington headquarters and its embassies overseas. The new 
technology meant that policy makers in Washington could dispense with the elaborate 
memoranda with which they (or at least their subordinates) had analyzed past crises. 
This shift in procedures had at least four consequences. First, it made the record of 
decision-making much sparser and complicated the job of anyone seeking to render 
any definitive judgment upon what happened. Second, it meant that policy makers 
lost that “second look” which the discipline of writing imposes by requiring a writer 
to consider the inner logic of his or her subject. Participants relied on the “first look” 
alone—reading the messages as they arrived and reacting ad hoc to their contents. 
Third, the speed with which information arrived accelerated decision cycles increas­
ing the psychological pressures that accumulate on the individuals involved when an 
organization is called upon to process and act upon information received in greater 
quantity and with greater frequency than anticipated. Finally, the increasing speed of 
the decision cycle meant that whatever information or misinformation that was imme­
diately at hand became relevant with little time for checking—or at least that was how 
the individuals in the process acted.74 

All of the above was certainly true, but to halt the analysis at this point would 
give the national security bureaucracy too much of a free pass. Grenada was a subject 
in only four Restricted Interagency Group meetings spread over five working days if 
the Motley-Connally exchange at the end of the 13 October meeting is included in the 
total. Ambassador Motley thus used the first two sessions to simply broadcast to key 
agencies the fact that a potential problem existed on the island. Over the weekend, 
15–16 October, at a time when the situation on the ground did not appreciably change, 
he concluded that a full-blown crisis existed and that the only solution was US military 
intervention and the restoration of democratic government on the island. It would be 
interesting to know how, why, and when the ambassador reached these conclusions. 
Bishop’s assassination implicitly validated his approach, but this event occurred two 
days later. On the surface, at least, it appears that Motley thought he knew the answer 
before the question was asked. 

There is no evidence that the Restricted Interagency Group ever debated a range 
of options with discussion of the advantages and disadvantages of each approach. The 
record, such as it exists, of the meetings consists of the recollections of participants. 
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No notes, minutes, or memoranda of record have surfaced to date. Once Motley called 
for intervention, the debate appears to have polarized into a binary exchange for and 
against intervention. Even that description may suggest too much coherence in an ex­
change between two feuding bureaucracies. Motley argued for intervention. No one, it 
appears, argued against it on its merits. Connally was too low ranking to do anything 
more than carry the mail, while Moreau slow pitched the process by appearing to drag 
his feet. (Actually, more military planning was going on than he cared to share with 
Motley.) The admiral balked at the appearance of State Department direction, although 
that was the official purpose of instituting the formal interagency process. 

Of course, Moreau and Connally faced a dilemma. As uniformed members of the 
military, they were responsible for carrying out policy, not making it. Deciding to inter­
vene in Grenada was definitely a policy decision, a responsibility of the State Depart­
ment, the senior civilian leaders in the Department of Defense, and the president. The 
military’s role in the government thus precluded Connally, Moreau, and at a higher 
level, Vessey from open debate on the merits of an intervention. They were supposed to 
deal with the question of how, not whether. Vessey’s suggestion that the president defer 
landing because of domestic political considerations—totally inappropriate given the 
traditions of US civil-military relations even if induced by the warm fellow feeling that 
Reagan induced among his senior advisors—does suggest the depth of the Joint Chiefs 
of Staff’s opposition to Operation URGENT FURY. 

The student of the Grenada decision-making process is left with the disquieting 
conclusion that the issue appears to have received its most thoughtful consideration 
when the president took his own counsel. This observation speaks volumes for the 
president but is also an indictment of the advisory process supporting his decision-
making. The feckless actions of the post-Bishop Grenadian leaders and their minions 
justified the decision that Reagan ultimately reached, but much of that behavior oc­
curred after rather than before Motley made his recommendation. 

Serious, in-depth research into the Reagan years has just begun, so it may well be 
that future discoveries of personal notes or other records contemporaneous to events 
or prepared immediately afterwards will clarify some of the puzzles sketched above. 
While this account is only a first cut at the available evidence, it does suggest several 
fruitful lines of inquiry. One approach would be a series of in-depth studies of the 
roles of particular individuals. Political scientist Robert J. Beck has already provided 
a model for this kind of research with his excellent article focusing on the activi­
ties of Ambassador McNeil. Similar accounts on Ambassador Motley, Vice President 
Bush, General Vessey, Admiral Moreau, Secretary Weinberger, Secretary Shultz, and 
President Reagan that considered not only each man’s participation in the crisis but 
his previous experience with, interest in, and knowledge of the Caribbean region in 
general and Grenada in particular might substantially alter the conclusions presented 
in this paper.75 
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The proposals above are micro studies, but there is also room for broader ranging 
works. The collection, analysis, distribution, and use by decision-makers of intelli­
gence about Grenada, utilizing the records of all the intelligence agencies involved, 
would greatly clarify a great many issues. Possibly in the days of our great-grandchil­
dren, the records will become available for such an inquiry. Equally distant but equally 
useful would be accounts based on archival research in Cuba and Russia that would 
analyze Soviet and Cuban intentions and actions with regard to Grenada from at least 
the point at which the island gained its independence but with emphasis on Bishop’s 
years in power and the final crisis of the regime. A monograph grounded in primary 
materials that focused on the US Department of State’s role in the crisis would make 
clear many things currently out of focus. Finally, someone needs to write a history of 
Grenada based upon archival and manuscript sources that firmly sets the Grenadian 
revolution and its denouement in the context of local traditions. 
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Introduction 

Nineteen years have passed since Operation JUST CAUSE was executed in Pan­
ama. Twenty-one years ago, the Panama crisis began when General Manuel Noriega 
forcibly retired his only remaining rival for the leadership of the Panama Defense 
Forces (PDF) and, therefore, the nation. Because that rival would not go quietly, events 
were set in motion that resulted in US intervention. With respect to the interagency 
process—or non-process—one has to consider both time and place. 

The time was June 1987. The landmark Goldwater-Nichols Department of Defense 
Reorganization Act had passed the Congress only the previous year. Its effects were 
still to be felt. The Washington interagency process was still changing its structure with 
every new administration. Not until George H. W. Bush took office on 20 January 1989 
would today’s familiar structure of a Principals’ Committee, a Deputies’ Committee, 
and a series of subordinate committees or working groups be put in place. Instead, the 
interagency committee structure was very much in flux with roles of key players in the 
National Security Council staff very much works in progress. 

The place was the Republic of Panama, born in a rebellion against Colombia in 
1903 and midwifed by President Theodore Roosevelt. Teddy built the Panama Canal 
and, according to the Hay-Bunau Varilla Treaty, occupied a ten mile swath of Panama­
nian territory on either side of the Canal where the US could “act as if it were sovereign 
. . . in perpetuity” or, at least until a new treaty was negotiated. That happened in 1977 
and it went into effect in 1979. In 1987 the US found itself with three separate, largely 
independent US government institutions located in Panama; two of which were in the 
former Canal Zone where the US had acted as if it were sovereign for 76 years. Those 
institutions were: the American Embassy, located in Downtown Panama City, the US 
Southern Command, located at Quarry Heights and other “Defense Sites” in the former 
Zone, and the Panama Canal Commission, located in the Canal Administration Build­
ing on the slope of Ancon Hill in the former Zone. 
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US Institutions in Panama 

The American Embassy in Panama, like all American Embassies, contains all 
the elements of the US government that operate in Panama and all work under the 
direction of the Ambassador. In Panama, in the 1980s, these included the standard 
Embassy sections (Political, Economic, Consular, Security, USAID, USIS, and oth­
ers), a CIA Station, a Defense Attache Office, and with regional responsibilities, the 
Drug Enforcement Administration, and the USMC Latin America US Embassy Guards 
command and control office. Leading the Embassy in 1987 was Ambassador Arthur 
Davis, a political appointee who had, however, acquitted himself well as Ambassador 
to Paraguay. His Deputy Chief of Mission (DCM), John Maisto, was a career Foreign 
Service Officer who would later go on to several Ambassadorships and the post of Se­
nior Director for Latin America on the National Security Council Staff. Neither Davis 
nor Maisto had particularly good reputations within the Embassy or with the other US 
institutions in Panama.2 

The United States Southern Command (USSOUTHCOM) was the second US gov­
ernment institution located in Panama until the late 1990s. It consisted of the SOUTH­
COM commander and staff, located at the Quarry Heights Defense Site, halfway up 
Ancon Hill, the several service components: Army South operating out of Fort Clayton 
and other Pacific side sites and several sites on the Atlantic side, Southern Air Force 
(SOUTHAF) operating out of Howard AFB and Albrook Air Force Station on the Pa­
cific side, Navy South (NAVSO) and the Marines (MARSOUTH) at Rodman Naval 
Station on the Pacific side, and the sub-unified command, Special Operations Com­
mand South (SOCSOUTH), at first located on Quarry Heights and later on Albrook. 
As part of the senior staff, under the Commander-in-Chief (CINC), General Fred F. 
Woerner, Jr., was a senior Foreign Service Officer (FSO) called the POLAD, a senior 
CIA officer called the Regional Affairs Officer, the SOUTHCOM Treaty Affairs Di­
rectorate, and the several Staff Directorates. As CINC, General Woerner was respon­
sible for all US military activities in his Area of Operational Responsibility (AOR) 
which ran from the Mexico-Guatemala border south to cover all of Central and South 
America plus the seas out to 200 miles from land. Panama, of course, falls within the 
SOUTHCOM AOR. 

The last major US government institution in Panama was the Panama Canal Com­
mission’s Administration. The Administrator was former SOUTHCOM CINC, LTG 
(ret.) Dennis P. McAuliffe while the Deputy Administrator was a Panamanian, Fer­
nando Manfredo. The PCC administration was responsible for running the Canal and 
conducting business with the Panamanian government regarding the Canal. 

Neither SOUTHCOM nor the PCC Administration felt any obligation to coordi­
nate with the Embassy when conducting its core business. For SOUTHCOM, core 
business included all activity in the AOR except that which dealt directly with Panama, 
except those activities expressly stated in the Panama Canal treaties as being between 
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the US military and the PDF (which was nearly everything related to the treaties). This 
meant, as well, that there would be more coordination between SOUTHCOM and the 
PCC than with the Embassy. 

Stovepipes to Washington 

As Ambassador David Passage tells it, every agency working in an American Em­
bassy communicates by stovepipe with its Washington DC headquarters.3  Even though 
the CIA Station, for example, is supposed to be subordinate to the Ambassador, the 
Station Chief receives orders directly from CIA Headquarters—some of which are 
not shared with the Ambassador. Nor is CIA alone in this. Each agency has both com­
munication and command channels to Washington that are simply not shared with the 
Ambassador. In Panama, this problem was compounded by the existence of indepen­
dent entities such as SOUTHCOM and the PCC Administration. The CINC worked 
for the Secretary of Defense and normally communicated through the Chairman of the 
Joint Chiefs of Staff. Staff sections communicated with their counterparts in the Joint 
Staff. Service Components communicated with their Service Chiefs. For example, the 
Army South commander, Major General Bernard Loeffke, was in regular communica­
tion with Army Chief of Staff, General Carl Vuono. Similarly, the PCC Administration 
communicated with the Commission in Washington. So, each institution, and nearly 
every component within those institutions, had its own lines to somewhere in Wash­
ington both for normal communication and to receive direction. Lateral communica­
tion—that is, between components and institutions—was haphazard, at best. Indeed, 
interagency coordination in Panama was only a sometime thing. 

Issues & Efforts Requiring Interagency Coordination During the Crisis 

In these circumstances, there were any number of events that produced issues that 
clearly begged for interagency coordination, both in Washington and on the ground in 
Panama. These issues will be addressed in this section. 

Indicting Noriega 

The Panama crisis began with Noriega’s firing of his second in command, Colonel 
Roberto Diaz Herrera, in June 1987. Diaz Herrera struck back with allegations of drug 
trafficking by Noriega as well as far-fetched accusations that he had been responsible 
for the death of Omar Torrijos in 1981. These allegations provoked the opposition Na­
tional Civic Crusade (NCC) to mount street demonstrations that Noriega suppressed 
ruthlessly. In response, the Reagan Administration approved some minor economic 
sanctions including withholding US military assistance to the PDF and cancelled the 
annual combined defense of the Canal exercise, KINDLE LIBERTY. For the most part, 
however, the conflict was internal to Panama with the US supporting the NCC’s goals. 
At the same time, both the CIA and DEA continued their cooperative relationships 
with Noriega and the PDF. The DEA chief in Panama, Alfredo Duncan, was reported to 
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have acknowledged that Noriega had some “questionable” drug trafficker associations 
but he also said that Noriega’s cooperation was of much greater value.4  Neverthe­
less, in the fall of 1987 two US Attorneys in Florida—one in Miami and the other in 
Tampa—began Grand Jury investigations of Noriega’s involvement in drug traffick­
ing.5 There is no evidence that these Grand Jury investigations were coordinated with, 
or even known to, the US Attorney General, Edwin Meese. There is solid evidence that 
the investigations were totally unknown to the State Department. 

On 5 February 1988, while General Woerner was visiting Assistant Secretary of 
State Elliott Abrams, the latter received a phone call. As Woerner recalls it, “Abrams 
turned white as a sheet.” When he hung up the phone, he turned to Woerner and said, 
“They just indicted Noriega!” The General was completely convinced that Abrams 
was as clueless as he was.6 As a result, Woerner immediately directed his staff to begin 
planning for operations in Panama where the PDF was the enemy. 

Economic Sanctions: The “Battles” of the Electric Bills 

As the Panama crisis deepened throughout the spring of 1988, the US government 
chose to keep tightening the economic screws on Noriega through more sanctions. 
Interagency battles in Washington resulted in policy decisions for ever greater sanc­
tions.7 The sanctions did raise the pressure on the PDF and, on 16 March 1988, a group 
of officers attempted a coup. It failed. On 8 April the Reagan Administration invoked 
the International Emergency Economic Powers Act of 1977 to put Noriega under new 
and greater sanctions. The Presidential Executive Order prohibited “American citizens 
and companies operating in Panama from paying any taxes or fees owed the Panama­
nian government.”8 This sanctions policy was opposed by American businessmen in 
Panama as well as by the US Treasury Department which put up bureaucratic obstacles 
to its implementation.9 

Nevertheless, the American Embassy was fully supportive and immediately de­
cided not to pay the electric bills on the apartments it rented for all US government 
personnel assigned to the Embassy. In addition to those official Americans, there were 
any number of US citizens who worked for SOUTHCOM and its components as well 
as the PCC who lived in apartments and houses, rented or owned, in Panama City. 
These Americans also owed the Panamanian government for their electricity. Unlike 
the Embassy, these Americans simply ignored the order.10 

The Embassy, on the other hand, chose to ignore the electric bill when it came.11 

The Ambassador, DCM, and Administrative officer apparently believed that there was 
no way the government electric company would cut off so many individual apartments 
rented to the Embassy for assigned personnel. When the due date came and no payment 
was forthcoming, the electric company issued a warning—pay by 21 April or electric­
ity would be cut off. 21 April 1988 was a Friday. It came and went. Electricity was not 
cut off so there were celebrations by the Embassy leaders; nothing would happen until 
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Monday. Early Saturday morning, however, electric company trucks were observed 
outside the luxury apartments in Punta Paitilla where Embassy personnel were housed; 
the crews were removing electric boxes cutting power to the appropriate individual 
apartments! 

The Administrative officer moved quickly to get all the Embassy personnel rooms 
in the best hotel in Panama, the Marriott. Then, he began work on a longer term solu­
tion. He found an apartment hotel (Aparthotel) that would rent small suites and he paid 
a month’s rent up front. Personnel were notified and went to check the place out—they 
were appalled. Personnel from agencies other than State Department complained to 
their parent agencies and were told that they could remain in the Marriott. Then, the 
State Department personnel objected to the double standard and the Embassy backed 
down and paid for rooms at the Marriott for a month! At that point, the Embassy and 
the US government capitulated and agreed to pay the electric company, figuring that it 
would take some time to restore the electricity to the apartments. Of course, Noriega’s 
electric company restored the electricity within 24 hours and the US government was 
stuck with bills for two hotels—already paid—and the sanctioned electric bill, now 
paid! Clearly, this was evidence of a failed interagency process, at best, and no process, 
at worst. 

Planning for Intervention 

When General Woerner returned to SOUTHCOM from his meeting with Elliott 
Abrams where they were stunned with the news that Noriega had been indicted, he 
directed his Operations Directorate (J3) to begin planning for action against the PDF. 
At the same time, he requested from the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff (CJCS) 
direction to begin the same planning. On 28 February he received the order to plan and 
to do so using the Crisis Action Planning process of the Joint Operational Planning 
System (JOPS), then in effect. This gave the planning process a sense of urgency that 
the Deliberate Planning process did not have. The J3 planners produced a four phase 
plan which they briefed to General Woerner on the first Saturday in March. When the 
briefing ended, Woerner asked where Phase V—the postconflict phase was. Phase V 
planning was initiated the following day by the Civil Affairs section of the Policy, 
Strategy, and Programs Directorate (J5).12 The resulting five phase plan was code-
named, ELABORATE MAZE. The only coordination done was internal to DOD—es­
pecially between SOUTHCOM and its subordinate components and SOUTHCOM and 
the Joint Staff. 

By summer, the Joint Staff decided that the five phase plan should be divided into a 
series of separate individual plans that Woerner directed be capable of execution sequen­
tially, simultaneously, or independently, or any combination of these—as he had done 
for the phases of ELABORATE MAZE. Collectively, the plans were referred to as THE 
PRAYERBOOK; it was made up of POST TIME—the buildup of forces; KLONDIKE 
KEY—a noncombatant evacuation operation or NEO; BLUE SPOON—defensive and 
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offensive operations (Phases III and IV of ELABORATE MAZE); and KRYSTAL 
BALL (later changed to BLIND LOGIC)—postconflict operations. Of these, only 
KLONDIKE KEY was coordinated and shared with the Embassy.13 This was because 
Embassy personnel were among those Americans who were to be evacuated in the 
event of a NEO. 

On 18 May 1989, General Woerner was briefed on the status of BLIND LOGIC. 
This briefing had become necessary due to a reorganization of the SOUTHCOM staff 
which had transferred the Plans Division from the J3 to the J5 and the Civil Affairs sec­
tion from the J5 to the J3. Discussions among staff officers had resulted in the proposal 
to leave BLIND LOGIC in the J5 under the Chief of the Policy and Strategy Division 
where it would be revised and updated.14  Upon reviewing the plan, it immediately 
became clear that BLIND LOGIC was, in the words used at the time, “treading all over 
State Department turf.” As a result, he requested from his superior, one of three Deputy 
J5s, permission to brief BLIND LOGIC to the Embassy Political Counselor and dis­
cuss its implications with him. In his opinion, this was a “no brainer”—not only did 
the Political Counselor have a need to know but he was also a personal acquaintance. 
The answer was a surprise; he was told, “Not only no, but hell no!” and informed that 
the plan was held exclusively within JCS channels. The planner persisted and extracted 
permission from his boss to visit the Political Counselor, sound him out on some of the 
issues, but always talking “around the plan.”15  One positive result of the conversation 
was that the planners incorporated the Embassy assumption that the PDF would be dis­
banded. What they did not know, and, therefore, could not include was the intention to 
inaugurate as President and Vice Presidents the winners of the elections of early May 
1989, an intention that vitiated a principal planning assumption for postconflict, short 
term military government. 

Fissures, the Kozak Mission, and Fissures II 

Assistant Secretary of State Michael Kozak began a series of shuttle trips to Pana­
ma in mid-March 1988, shortly after the coup attempt on 16 March. Kozak had a long 
history of involvement with Panama dating back to the successful Panama Canal treaty 
negotiations in 1977 during the Presidency of Jimmy Carter. Indeed, Mike Kozak had 
developed a good relationship with then Panamanian dictator, General Omar Torrijos, 
and had come to know then Colonel Manuel Noriega. As a result, Kozak became the 
point man for the Reagan Administration’s diplomatic efforts to get Noriega to resign 
and go away, thereby ending the crisis. On his first visit, there was no effort to coordi­
nate in any way with SOUTHCOM. Indeed, the command was kept completely in the 
dark. On his second trip, however, in mid April, SOUTHCOM had been sent a classi­
fied message with US policy goals for Panama that had originated with White House 
Chief of Staff Howard Baker.16 Those policy goals were: protect US citizens, defend 
the Canal and US installations, make certain the US was in the best possible position to 
deal with a post Noriega government, and the removal of Noriega from power.17 
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With this guidance, such as it was, General Woerner convened a series of inter­
agency workshops at his headquarters in Quarry Heights. Attending were people from 
the Embassy, CIA, State, and SOUTHCOM staff. The purpose was to develop an in­
teragency strategy that would assist US efforts to achieve those goals in the event that 
the Kozak-Noriega negotiations failed, as seemed likely.18 The discussions at Quarry 
Heights produced a degree of consensus among the participants on actions to take that 
would most likely wean the PDF officer corps away from Noriega in the interest of 
saving their institution. General Woerner and his staff worked the agreed upon actions 
into a plan that the General called Fissures. When Kozak’s negotiations with Noriega 
failed, as expected, Woerner sent the Fissures plan through JCS channels with the 
admonition that it needed to be executed as a fully coordinated effort. If it were to be 
executed in pieces, it would fail. When orders to execute were finally received, they 
came in exactly the piecemeal manner that General Woerner feared.19  Indeed, because 
those orders came from JCS, they were military only—there is no indication that the 
JCS had made any effort to coordinate the Fissures plan outside the Joint Staff, let 
alone the civilian side of DOD or its interagency partners. 

A little over a year later, General Woerner decided to try again with his Fissures 
concept. Revising the Fissures plan to take account of the changes of the past year, 
he forwarded Fissures II to Washington. Fissures II suffered the same fate as its pre­
decessor, no interagency involvement and direction to implement individual pieces.20 

Apparently, neither Washington, under both Reagan and George H. W. Bush, nor the 
interagency players in Panama were able or willing to work together at the decision 
maker level to produce a coordinated strategy to address the disparate issues of the 
Panama crisis. 

An Issue of Perception—Drugs 

The indictment of General Manuel Noriega in February 1988 for drug trafficking 
changed the Panama crisis from being primarily internal to one between the US and 
Panama. But it also revealed deep rifts within the US government over Noriega’s and 
the PDF’s roles in the illicit drug trade. Interestingly, these rifts were not entirely closed 
until approximately the end of Operation JUST CAUSE on 31 January 1990—41 days 
after it had begun. The positions of the most relevant US agencies with respect to 
Noriega’s drug dealing are detailed below. 

The State Department position from the perspective of the American Embassy in 
Panama was that Noriega was intimately involved with the Colombian drug cartels. 
However, this was merely one more count in the Embassy indictment of the General. 
In addition, the Embassy was convinced that the entire senior leadership of the PDF 
was dirty, and it was not far off the mark. Still, drugs were seen as a tool to move the 
Reagan Administration and its successor toward active opposition to Noriega’s contin­
ued dominance of Panama’s government and politics. The drug issue was instrumental 
as far as the Embassy was concerned. 
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For the CIA Station, the drug issue was something that got in the way of their real 
business. CIA was concerned with Cuban and Nicaraguan involvement with the insur­
gencies in Central America. Noriega was obviously a less than sterling individual but 
he had been a paid source for many years. From the time he became G2 of the Panama­
nian Guardia Nacional through to his current tenure as Commander of the PDF, he was 
head of a Liaison Service. CIA funding went to the PDF G2, not personally to Noriega. 
Clearly, nobody in the Station believed for a moment that Noriega did not take his cut 
(and give out cuts to other PDF leaders) but he was not directly on the payroll any lon­
ger and had not been since soon after the coup in 1968 that brought General Torrijos to 
power. That said, the CIA valued Noriega’s cooperation in providing both information 
and assistance in conducting other intelligence related operations from Panama. What, 
then, was a little drug trafficking when there were bigger fish to fry? 

Within the regional DEA office in Panama there was considerable debate and 
disagreement regarding Noriega. The DEA chief, Alfredo “Freddie” Duncan, had ex­
pressed the opinion that despite his culpability in drug trafficking, Noriega was worth 
far more to the US as a source of information on the Colombian cartels’ activities than 
in jail as a convicted trafficker. Moreover, Duncan remained of this opinion long after 
Noriega had been indicted. Others in the office were not so sure as their boss. While 
they all agreed that Noriega was dirty and that he cooperated with DEA, these agents 
believed that the General was basically feeding them information about those cartels 
that were not cooperating with him. Thus, he was playing DEA (and, not coinciden­
tally, Duncan) for fools. 

SOUTHCOM, despite having been tasked during the Reagan Administration with 
the conduct of an interagency counterdrug mission in Bolivia—Operation BLAST 
FURNACE (1986)—and by the Bush Administration with the monitoring and in­
terdiction of drug smuggling from Colombia to the US, generally took the position 
that addressing Noriega’s and the PDF’s roles in the drug trade was not its job. The 
SOUTHCOM staff was well aware that Noriega was up to his ears in the drug trade but 
SOUTHCOM’s mission did not involve what Noriega was doing on that front. Rather, 
SOUTHCOM had to address the PDF as, first, an ally in the defense of the Canal and 
the support it gave to the command’s activities in other parts of Central America, and, 
then, as a potential threat to the Canal, US defense facilities and personnel, and the 
US civilian community in Panama. With all this, as long as Noriega was not directly 
engaged in drug smuggling, his other drug trade activities simply were not part of the 
command’s portfolio. 

Finally, the PCC Administration was focused exclusively on the effective and neu­
tral operation of the Canal. What Noriega did, or did not do, with regard to the drug 
trade just was not the business of the PCC. Its attitude was, “Hey, leave us out of this!” 
In short, finding common ground, or even common perceptions, regarding the drug 
trade among and within the US government agencies in Panama was a losing proposi­
tion. 
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Operations JUST CAUSE and PROMOTE LIBERTY 

Operation JUST CAUSE began at 2345 hours on 19 December 1989. Operation 
PROMOTE LIBERTY began at 1000 hours on 20 December 1989. Even before JUST 
CAUSE was launched, an event of critical importance took place at Quarters 25 on 
Fort Clayton, a US Defense Site. That was the swearing in as President of Panama, 
Guillermo Endara, his First Vice President, Ricardo Arias Calderon, and the Second 
Vice President, Guillermo “Billy” Ford, by a Panamanian Justice of the Peace. This 
event trampled on a primary assumption of the postconflict plan, BLIND LOGIC, 
which had assumed that the CINC would be the military governor of Panama for a pe­
riod of about 30 days following a US intervention. Clearly, the decision to inaugurate 
the new government had been made sometime prior to the decision to execute; clearly, 
the State Department was aware. Who in the military knew prior to the evening of 19 
December is an open question. Even more intriguing is the question of who in SOUTH­
COM knew prior to 17 December when the decision to execute BLUE SPOON/JUST 
CAUSE was made by President Bush. As of 15 December, nobody with responsibility 
for BLIND LOGIC had any idea that there would be a new Panamanian government 
sworn in before the operation began.21 As was true throughout the crisis, there was a 
dearth of interagency coordination even on the eve of launching an invasion. 

The immediate question for President Endara and his Vice Presidents was how 
they were supposed to begin governing the country. While they had won the 7 May 
1989 elections, Noriega had stopped the official count and annulled the vote. The last 
gasp for the winners was the street demonstration on 10 May where all three had been 
attacked by Noriega’s thugs in the Dignity Battalions and the PDF. Endara and Ford 
had been injured while Ford’s bodyguard was killed. From that moment on, these three 
had no expectation of governing Panama. Then, nearly 10 months later, they were 
informed that they would be sworn in and were expected to begin governing Panama 
the next day. Early on the morning of 20 December, the government of Panama opened 
for business in the Legislative Assembly building. It was constituted by three men, one 
the President and two Vice Presidents. Advising the government was the new DCM/ 
Charge d’Affaires at the American Embassy, John Bushnell. At 1000 hours, General 
Thurman told his J5, Air Force Brigadier General Benard Gann, to “Get down to the 
Legislative Assembly and keep Mr. Bushnell out of trouble.”22 That, in effect, was the 
order to execute OPORD BLIND LOGIC as Operation PROMOTE LIBERTY. 

One of the most important parts of Operation PROMOTE LIBERTY was provid­
ing security to the Panamanian public. This was achieved by reconstituting the Panama 
National Police (PNP) and its sister institutions of the Panama Public Force. To advise 
and assist the new police force in becoming organized, trained, and operational, Army 
Major General Marc Cisneros, Commander of US Army South, established the US 
Forces Liaison Group (USFLG). The FLG was treated by the Charge d’Affaires, Mr. 
Bushnell, as a member of the Country Team at the Embassy. Early on, Bushnell re­
quested the members of the FLG to stop wearing their uniforms and to work in civilian 
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clothes in order to influence the PNP’s self perception that it was to be a civilian, not 
a military, police force. Overnight, the uniforms disappeared at the offices of the FLG. 
At another meeting of the Country Team, Mr. Bushnell asked the FLG to determine 
whether there were Reserve Component soldiers who were police officers in their ci­
vilian jobs who could be assigned to Panama. The answer was positive, and what were 
called the “RC Cops” began arriving in short order where they were teamed with Army 
Special Forces as advisor/monitors in the PNP precincts. Clearly, Bushnell’s decision 
to treat the FLG as a member of the Country Team had the effect of significantly im­
proving interagency coordination in Panama during the first six months of Operation 
PROMOTE LIBERTY. 

In February 1990, the US Congress passed the Emergency Assistance to Democ­
racy in Panama Act. This legislation gave the interagency State/Justice Department 
International Criminal Investigative Training Assistance Program (ICITAP) full re­
sponsibility for training the PNP and other police entities. ICITAP arrived in Panama 
with three USG employees, its Director (a senior FBI Agent), his deputy (also an FBI 
Agent), and the State Department representative on its Directorate. All its “worker 
bees” were former FBI Agents (to include retired Assistant Directors of the FBI) now 
employed by ICITAP’s contractor, Miranda Associates. The ICITAP Director had been 
an Army Special Forces officer as a young man and had worked with a junior officer 
in the Panamanian Guardia Nacional, who now was the Director of the PNP. In antici­
pation of a smooth hand off to ICITAP, the FLG established an office for the ICITAP 
Director to share with the Chief of the FLG. Since the nominal chief of the FLG was 
General Cisneros, for practical purposes, the office would belong to ICITAP. 

From the moment they arrived, ICITAP tried to have as little to do with the FLG 
as possible. They never occupied the office prepared for them, preferring to comman­
deer other space to do their business when it was necessary to be at PNP headquarters. 
Otherwise, ICITAP operated out of the Marriott Hotel.23 At the hotel, they held classes 
for some of the PNP in classical lecture format with interpretation—only one of the 
Miranda contractors was a Spanish speaker. They also launched plans to establish a 
model police precinct; the model precinct never got off the ground. Meanwhile, it 
was essential to have the new police take to the streets. The FLG found them interim 
uniforms, ordered new khaki police uniforms through the Army/Air Force Exhange 
System, arranged for a purchase of trucks from US military stores, and developed and 
implemented a 20-hour course that was given to every member of the PNP by April of 
1990. Not until July would ICITAP have a training course in place. From February un­
til July, ICITAP was represented in Panama by its Director for two weeks and then by 
his deputy for two weeks. Only in July did ICITAP bring permanent government staff 
down and begin their training program. After six months, the FLG was finally able 
to hand over police training responsibilities to ICITAP. The conclusion to be drawn 
from these episodes is that where there was the will, on both sides, to make something 
work —as there was with the FLG working with the Embassy—then interagency co­
ordination and cooperation could be effective. Where the will to make it work was 
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one sided —despite good will at the worker level—there was little or no interagency 
coordination or effective systemic cooperation. 

Is There Any Evidence That We Learned Anything In Panama? 

The status of interagency coordination during the Panama crisis and Operations 
JUST CAUSE and PROMOTE LIBERTY was practically nonexistent. The process in 
Washington was very much in the same state of flux that it had been in since the pas­
sage of the National Security Act in 1947. Only in 1989 did the new Bush Administra­
tion begin to institutionalize what has become the current NSC system of interagency 
coordination. During the last parts of the Panama crisis, that system was just beginning 
to take hold. In Panama, by contrast, there was even less of a system of interagency 
cooperation and coordination—as this paper makes clear. In short, the glass (as they 
say) was very nearly empty. 

Two decades later, depending on one’s perspective, the glass is only half empty or 
half full. The Washington process has been relatively well institutionalized. However, 
the process in the field still has a long way to go. Although mechanisms, often “work 
arounds,” have been developed to address issues of interagency concern, they still de­
pend, far too much, on the personal chemistry of the principals. If it is good, as it was 
in the case of General David Petraeus and Ambassador Ryan Crocker in Iraq, it can 
be very, very good. If, on the other hand, it is bad, as it was in the case of Lieutenant 
General Ricardo Sanchez and Coalition Provisional Authority (CPA) Administrator, 
Ambassador L. Paul “Jerry” Bremer, also in Iraq, then it is horrid! While we have 
clearly learned from the Panama experience, we still have much more to learn. 

Notes 

1. The author wishes to acknowledge here an intellectual debt to two friends and colleagues, 
Gabriel Marcella and Larry Yates. Gabriel, as International Affairs Advisor to USCINCSO, 
General Fred F. Woerner, played a major, if largely unsung, role in these events. His writing, 
both alone and with General Woerner, has given me the benefit of insight from levels above my 
position. Gabriel has been generous with both his advice and friendship. Larry Yates’ recently 
published official history of the Panama crisis is likely to be the definitive work on the subject. 
Suffice that I have benefited greatly from Larry’s knowledge and insights over the last 19 years 
where we have shared data and experiences—at least once over pizza which he brought to an 
interview. 

2. Author’s conversations with several individuals assigned to the Embassy at the time and 
with senior staff at USSOUTHCOM. 

3. Ambassador David Passage has described this process in a number of lectures given on 
regular occasions to the Command & General Staff College at Fort Leavenworth, KS, through­
out the 1990s. 

4. Author’s conversations with several DEA agents assigned to Panama in 1987 and 1988. 
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5. One of those US Attorneys was Dexter Lehtinen, husband of then Florida Legislator and 
now US Congresswoman, Ileana Ros-Lehtinen. 

6. Author’s interview with General Fred F. Woerner, Jr., Boston MA, 
7. See Lawrence A. Yates, The US Military Intervention in Panama: Origins, Planning, and 

Crisis Management June 1987–December 1989 (Washington, DC, 2008: Center for Military 
History), pp. 40-43. 

8. Yates, p. 63. 
9. Ibid. 

10. The author writes from personal experience; he was not going to be without electricity for 
cooking, hot water, or air conditioning with daytime temperatures in the 90s. 
11. The source for the paragraphs that follow is the author’s observations at the time and 

contemporaneous conversations with friends in DEA and the USMC who were stationed at the 
Embassy and lived in Embassy rented housing. 
12. See the author’s, The Fog of Peace: Planning and Executing the Restoration of Panama, 

(Carlisle, PA, 1992: Strategic Studies Institute). 
13. Several years later, the author confirmed this with Ambassador John Maisto who had been 

DCM in Panama at the time. 
14. The author was the Chief of Policy and Strategy at the time; his civilian education and 

experience made him particularly well qualified to take charge of the plan. 
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Panel 1—The Difficulties in Interagency Operations 
(Submitted Paper) 

Interagency Actions and the US Intervention in Lebanon, 1958 

by 

Lawrence A. Yates, Ph.D.
 
US Army Center of Military History
 

In mid-July, 1958, President Dwight D. Eisenhower ordered nearly 15,000 US 
combat troops into Lebanon in an effort to prevent that country from falling to what 
Washington perceived as radical Arab elements operating in the Middle East. What 
I would like to do this morning is examine certain policies and decisions affecting 
the intervention in Lebanon from the perspective of interagency processes within the 
executive branch of the US government, starting with the National Security Council 
(NSC). 

In the American experience prior to World War II, what later came to be catego­
rized as national security issues had been addressed mainly by the President working 
with the State, War, and Navy departments; or with various advisers, specialists, and 
friends. This interaction occurred in cabinet sessions, personal meetings, and inter­
departmental correspondence and communications. The scope of the Second World 
War, the complex issues it left in its wake, and the great power responsibilities it thrust 
upon the United States caused several high-ranking officials to advocate supplement­
ing these methods with a formal, statutory organization that would advise the President 
on national security matters and promote interagency coordination and cooperation on 
a systematic and ongoing basis, in a way the State-War-Navy Coordinating Committee 
had sought to do during the last year of the war.1 

The result was the National Security Act of 1947, which established the National 
Security Council, together with the Central Intelligence Agency, the National Mili­
tary Establishment (later renamed the Department of Defense), and the short-lived 
National Security Resources Board. After amendments made to the act in 1949, NSC 
membership included the President and Vice President, the Secretaries of Defense and 
State, and the NSRB (later the Office of Defense Mobilization) director. Also attend­
ing meetings as advisers were the director of Central Intelligence and the chairman of 
the Joints Chiefs of Staff (JCS), with Eisenhower adding the Secretary of the Treasury, 
the Mutual Security Administration director, and others, when needed, to the list. The 
legislation establishing the NSC called on it to “advise the President with respect to the 
integration of domestic, foreign, and military policies relating to the national security 
so as to enable the military services and the other departments and agencies of the 
Government to cooperate more effectively in matters involving the national security.” 
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In this capacity, the NSC was to “assess and appraise the objectives, commitments and 
risks of the United States in relation to our actual and potential military power.”2 

Under Harry Truman, the NSC produced coordinated policy papers (for example, 
the landmark NSC-68 of 1950 that charted a new course for America’s containment of 
“international communism”), but the President himself rarely attended its meetings un­
til the Korean War compelled him to seek the council’s advice. In contrast, his succes­
sor, President Eisenhower, in the words of one historian, “came closer to implementing 
the NSC as it was originally conceived than any of the Presidents who followed him.” 
The staff process embedded in the council’s operations readily appealed to the for­
mer general’s military mindset, even though he believed the organization had become 
“moribund” under Truman’s stewardship.3 

To revitalize the NSC, Eisenhower made lawyer and businessman Robert Cutler 
his special assistant for national security (the forerunner of the national security advis­
er position created by President John F. Kennedy). Cutler addressed his assignment by 
developing “Policy Hill,” a process that would permit the NSC to perform its advisory 
mission in a systematic and efficient way. At the bottom of the “hill” were officials in 
each of the participating departments and agencies, writing policy recommendations 
that were then forwarded to a Planning Board that generally included departmental as­
sistant secretaries and officials of equivalent rank from other agencies, with the group 
chaired by the NSC’s executive secretary. The board tried (though not always suc­
cessfully) to resolve interagency differences before moving the revised papers up the 
hill to the NSC, which, during Eisenhower’s second term, generally met once a week 
around 0900. NSC members and others present would discuss and debate the papers, 
with the President—who chaired well over 300 of the 346 NSC meetings during his 
two terms—then approving a policy or authorizing follow-on actions he wanted taken. 
His decisions then moved back down Policy Hill to departmental deputies and assistant 
secretaries on the Operations Coordinating Board, a bureaucratic umbrella for over 
forty interagency working groups based on countries, regions, and subjects. The job 
of the OCB was to ensure that NSC decisions were properly coordinated and imple­
mented at all levels of government. While the board never lived up to Ike’s expecta­
tions in this respect, it did serve as another venue for interagency communication and 
the sharing of information.4 

This, in general, was the NSC setup in effect during the Middle East crises of the 
mid- to late-1950s, and during the Lebanon crisis of 1958, in particular. Time con­
straints and the focus of this paper do not permit an in-depth assessment of these cri­
ses,5 save to say that, from the administration’s perspective, the ramifications of each 
could be felt at three levels: international, regional, and local. The Cold War, which by 
the 1950s was defined in general terms as the struggle between the “free world” and 
“international communism,” provided the international context for the crises. From 
1945 to 1954, this ideological and geopolitical struggle had been largely confined to 
Europe and Asia. In the mid-fifties, the Middle East entered the picture, as the Soviet 
Union sought to extend its influence into the area, first, by taking the Arabs’ side in 
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their conflict with Israel and, second, by offering military and economic aid on a se­
lective basis. At the regional level, the principal Middle Eastern recipient of Soviet 
largess was the Egyptian government of President Gamal Abdel Nasser. In the few 
years since 1952, when he had been one among the group of “Free Officers” that had 
overthrown the pro-Western government of Egypt’s King Farouk, Nasser had become 
the country’s strongman and a popular and vocal proponent of Pan-Arab Nationalism, 
a position saturated with anti-Western, anti-colonialist sentiment. Some early efforts 
by the Eisenhower administration to work with Nasser had proved productive, but 
were soon overshadowed by the Suez war of 1956 and Nasser’s efforts to undermine 
the region’s remaining pro-Western governments in Saudi Arabia, Iraq, Jordan, and 
Lebanon. Neither Eisenhower nor his Secretary of State, John Foster Dulles, believed 
Nasser to be a communist, but both saw him as a destabilizing influence in an area of 
strategic importance to the United States, and as a conduit for Soviet penetration of 
that area. 

Of the governments Nasser had targeted, some were already unstable, as was the 
case with Lebanon in 1957 and 1958. There, a tenuous political structure had fractured 
along confessional, geographical, and family lines. In accordance with the National 
Pact of 1943, the Lebanese president was a Maronite Christian, the prime minister a 
Sunni, and the president of the parliament a Shiite. Demographic changes over fifteen 
years, president Camille Chamoun’s use of electoral fraud in 1957 to deny his rival 
zuama (strongmen) the seats in parliament essential to maintaining their patronage 
systems, his openly pro-West positions, and his attempt to amend Lebanon’s constitu­
tion to allow him a second term in office combined to produce a volatile situation that 
exploded into open violence in May 1958. Sides in the fighting generally—but not en­
tirely—reflected the country’s Muslim-Christian divide. While Eisenhower and Dulles 
had qualms about Chamoun, the fact that many of his opponents embraced Nasser’s 
Pan-Arabism concerned them more. To prevent a radical, anti-Western Arab regime 
from taking power in Beirut, the administration was prepared to use military force, but 
only as a last resort. 

Against this backdrop of ominous change and upheaval in the Middle East, Eisen­
hower turned to the National Security Council in February 1957 and, again, in July 
to review US policy in the region. In January 1958, he approved the coordinated rec­
ommendations presented by the NSC’s interagency Planning Board. Designated NSC 
5801/1, the policy paper, which reflected Washington’s perception of the new realities 
in the Middle East, set forth four US objectives: (1) maintaining the availability of re­
sources, strategic positions, and passage rights of the Near East, and denying these to 
Soviets; (2) maintaining stable and friendly governments in the region; (3) achieving 
an early resolution of Arab-Israeli dispute; and (4) limiting Soviet influence. With re­
spect to Nasserism, the United States would seek to avoid confrontation while hoping 
to guide “revolutionary and nationalist pressures” into channels not hostile to the West. 
In the process, pro-Western governments might fall, but a “neutralist orientation” by 
Arab states would be acceptable, provided that it was “reasonably balanced” by rela­
tions with the West.6 

79 



At the outset of this policy review, the NSC had called on the Pentagon to assess 
the military implications of the US position in the Middle East. Specifically, the Joint 
Chiefs were directed to report on the status of planning for three scenarios: global war, 
another Arab-Israeli war, and other contingencies. In June 1957, the Joint Chiefs re­
sponded that it was impossible to plan for the latter scenario—there were just too many 
possibilities. In general, however, they declared that small, mobile, nuclear capable 
forces from Europe could handle contingencies in the Middle East, short of a major 
war, requiring the introduction of US troops.7 

At one point in the Middle East review process, the President demonstrated how 
he could use an NSC meeting to modify the Policy Hill process to suit his needs. The 
meeting in question took place on 18 July 1957, with Ike expressing concern that the 
NSC Planning Board was inappropriately getting involved in contingency planning. 
To elevate that effort to a higher interagency level, he instructed the Secretaries of 
Defense and State, the chairman of the JCS, the CIA director (Foster Dulles’ brother, 
Allen), and Cutler to meet to discuss the range of possible US military operations in 
the Middle East. Soon thereafter, this group of principal advisers met and considered 
six courses of action, from deterrence to all out intervention. On 8 August, the NSC re­
viewed the group’s findings, then passed them to the Planning Board for incorporation 
in subsequent drafts of what would become NSC 5801/1. It is possible that the meet­
ing of the small group from State, the Pentagon, and the CIA also opened the door to 
further interagency cooperation on contingency planning, such as when Dulles queried 
the relatively new JCS chairman, Air Force General Nathan Twining on 17 October 
1957, as to what forces the United States could put into Lebanon or Jordan in 24, 48, 
and 72 hours, respectively, for the purpose of establishing “the authority of the friendly 
local government and to help maintain order.” Twining’s response provided Dulles 
with all the information the Secretary had requested.8 

The following May and June, as the political crisis in Lebanon escalated into armed 
conflict and president Chamoun made his initial request for US military intervention, 
CIA Director Allen Dulles included updates about the worsening situation in his regular 
briefings to NSC attendees. But the NSC was not designed to deal with crisis manage­
ment, as opposed to policy issues and military planning. Thus, as the conflict became 
more acute, almost all of the interagency activities and operational decisions related 
to it took place outside the NSC in more traditional modes that included a myriad of 
personal meetings, interdepartmental memoranda, cables, and telephone calls. This 
limited utility of the NSC in a crisis was no better illustrated than by the decision itself 
to intervene in Lebanon. 

On 14 July, a group of “radical” army officers in Iraq overthrew the pro-Western 
government there, in the process killing the royal family and the prime minister. As 
word of the bloody coup reached Washington early that morning, Eisenhower con­
ferred repeatedly with the Dulles brothers, General Twining, and others over the tele­
phone. The weekly NSC meeting was already on the President’s schedule for 9:45 
that day, with the main item on the agenda being a discussion of some NSC-directed 

80 



Civil Defense studies. Over the phone, Foster Dulles made the obvious observation to 
Eisenhower: the Iraqi coup and the possibility that it would trigger the downfall of pro-
Western governments in Lebanon and Jordan were “more important” issues than the 
topics before the NSC. Ike agreed, but rather than alter the council’s agenda or cancel 
the meeting, he simply sat through the Civil Defense reports until Dulles arrived at the 
White House from the State Department, where he had been meeting with State, Pen­
tagon, and CIA officials. At that point, the President adjourned the NSC and convened 
a meeting with his principal national security advisers in the Oval Office. That was the 
forum in which he would make one of the more critical foreign policy decisions of his 
second term.9 

During the Oval Office session, the Dulles brothers, General Twining, and others 
briefed the President. From the outset, all agreed on the need to accede to Chamoun’s 
renewed request to send US troops into Lebanon. As more than one person noted, US 
interests in the region would suffer more from inaction than from intervention, even 
though the President’s key advisers acknowledged that they did not know precisely, 
or even generally, what US forces would need to do to stabilize Lebanon, or when 
and under what circumstances the troops would be withdrawn. That notwithstanding, 
Eisenhower made his decision, and the next afternoon, Lebanon time, the first US 
Marines began landing south of Beirut. A few days later, Army units from Germany 
would join them.10 

In the weeks that followed, Allen Dulles continued to include Lebanon updates in 
his briefings that opened each NSC meeting. On 24 July, in the first council meeting 
after the intervention, both Dulles brothers gave detailed reports, which resulted in 
extensive discussion and a directive for the Planning Board to prepare “a list of rel­
evant policy issues arising out of the present situation in the Near East, together with 
arguments for and against taking various possible courses of action.”11  Still, despite 
this use of the NSC as a forum for discussing the crisis, the critical interagency actions 
taken to effect an acceptable resolution to the intervention continued to take place 
outside the council. 

In retrospect, one of the most important decisions during the intervention was 
Eisenhower’s approval of Foster Dulles’ recommendation, made during an Oval Of­
fice meeting, to send diplomatic trouble-shooter Robert Murphy to Lebanon. Ironi­
cally, both the President and the Secretary of State believed it would be a short visit, 
about one week, designed to patch up some serious problems caused by the perceived 
failure of US personnel on the ground to implement a State Department-Department of 
Defense agreement reached in Washington the previous month. The problem surfaced 
when the lieutenant colonel commanding the first Marines to land south of Beirut con­
fronted not Lebanese rebels but two uniformed US defense attachés from the Ameri­
can embassy who conveyed to him Ambassador Robert McClintock’s instructions for 
the troops to get back aboard their ships and disembark at the port of Beirut instead. 
The Marine officer refused the order, citing that the ambassador was not in his chain 
of command. Unfortunately, the US military commander for the operation, Admiral 

81 



  

James A. Holloway, Jr., was still en route to Lebanon and without the communications 
needed to resolve the problem before his arrival. When he did arrive the next day, he 
and the ambassador crossed paths near a road to Beirut, where the Marines were about 
to engage in what would have been a politically disastrous firefight with the Lebanese 
army. In a meeting to break the impasse and defuse the situation, Holloway talked 
tough to the Lebanese commander, but ended up accepting the more conciliatory sug­
gestions made by the ambassador. For McClintock, this incident reconfirmed his belief 
that the military was not going to honor the aforementioned agreement that, according 
to the ambassador, gave him the final word on any military movements that could have 
political consequences—meaning virtually all military movements. McClintock had 
already complained to Washington, and Dulles responded by dispatching Murphy to 
“establish better relations between our own military and diplomatic people, Lebanese 
military, and the Lebanese government.”12 

By the time Murphy arrived in Beirut, he found that McClintock and Holloway 
were working well together. The “interagency” crisis in the field had been resolved. 
Then, as Murphy’s “visit” turned into a full-scale diplomatic effort to end the crisis— 
an effort backed by US and Lebanese military force and the support of the administra­
tion in Washington—the harmonious relationship that these three US representatives 
on the scene developed over several weeks proved essential in facilitating the process. 
It was a highly coordinated undertaking: McClintock and Murphy kept Chamoun in 
line, while Holloway made sure that the actions of American troops ringing Beirut 
did not undermine negotiations but rather serve to further them. Murphy also traveled 
throughout the country, reassuring key rebel leaders that the United States was not try­
ing to prop up Chamoun, a pledge that he redeemed by helping to engineer the election 
of the Lebanese army commander as Chamoun’s successor, thus effectively reconcil­
ing most of the warring parties in the country’s internal conflict. Toward the end of his 
mission Murphy visited the new leaders in Baghdad, and Nasser in Egypt, finding that 
the former posed no imminent threat to US interests and that the latter sought to play a 
constructive role after having failed to convince the Soviet Union to intervene militar­
ily on his behalf. In October, the last of the US forces withdrew from Lebanon, leaving 
behind a relatively stable situation that would prevail for almost twenty years.13 

According to one historian, President Eisenhower and his staff insisted throughout 
his administration that “the President made his most critical national security policy 
decisions through the NSC.” The truth, she goes on to note, is that “We now know 
that Eisenhower’s NSC was just one part of a multifaceted foreign policy process.”14 

As that multifaceted process relates to the topic of this paper, it seems to have worked 
very well. While the NSC chaired by the President was instrumental in developing 
a sophisticated if ethnocentric policy toward the volatile Middle East that sought to 
employ resources from the various governmental agencies and departments associated 
with national security, outside the Policy Hill framework a plethora of interagency ac­
tivity also produced positive results, at least so far as keeping Arab nationalism at bay 
and maintaining a fairly stable, pro-Western government in Lebanon. The question, 
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which must be answered briefly here, is “Was this success the result of interagency 
procedures that Eisenhower enacted? Or was it the result of other, less tangible factors 
specific to the time and the place?” The answer, as one might expect from a historian, 
is both. 

The Policy Hill process, in which the President regularly approved policy and au­
thorized actions in the presence of his key national security advisers, not only made the 
NSC responsive to Ike’s needs in foreign policy, it also facilitated interagency activ­
ity in more traditional arenas. In the case of the Middle East crises, especially during 
1957-1958, the NSC setup worked well, even though it fell far short of eliminating 
all interagency disputes—a goal no one in authority considered remotely attainable 
anyway. In Washington, for example, the JCS believed the United States should be 
doing more to help end the Arab-Israeli dispute than John Foster Dulles’ State Depart­
ment was prepared to execute. On the separate issue of contingency planning for an 
intervention in Lebanon, military planners tried to impress upon the State Department 
the need to arrange overflight rights with those countries within whose air space US 
troop transports would have to fly. State refused, arguing that any such approaches to 
these governments before the President actually made a decision to intervene could 
compromise any operation and create political problems within several of the affected 
governments.15 Yet, these and other points of contention that remained unresolved on 
14 July seem minor given the interagency consensus that surrounded the key issues, 
especially the far-reaching decision to intervene. 

That consensus, in its most general expression, was not formed by processes and 
procedures that allowed for interagency discussion and debate. Nor was it fortuitous. 
Rather it represented the thinking of most American citizens at the time on the sub­
ject of the Cold War. The confrontation with international communism appeared as a 
zero-sum game, in which, to avoid any significant setback, the United States needed 
to respond to virtually every Sino-Soviet threat with whatever means required, even 
nuclear war, if need be. Thus Eisenhower could order US troops into Lebanon with no 
idea of what they would do once there, and no idea of when and under what circum­
stances they would be withdrawn; and he could do so with little criticism, save for 
some partisan political fallout and the reservations of some officials like CNO Admiral 
Arleigh Burke, who questioned the wisdom of plans calling for placing US troops in 
the Arab Middle East, and UN ambassador Henry Cabot Lodge, Jr., who, following 
an informal interagency meeting at Foster Dulles’ home on 22 June, questioned the 
Secretary, his boss, several times as to what the troops’ mission would be and when 
they would be withdrawn, all the while offering Dulles reminders on the limited util­
ity of military intervention. (Once Eisenhower decided to intervene, Lodge was on 
board, presenting the administration’s case at the United Nations.)16  The Vietnam War 
would shatter the rock-solid Cold War  consensus of nearly twenty years, but, at the 
time Eisenhower acted in Lebanon, that development was still a decade in the future. 
In 1958, to repeat, the Cold War consensus itself facilitated interagency cooperation, 
coordination, and agreement. 
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Related to the Cold War consensus was how the personalities of the men concerned 
tended to minimize interagency infighting or inaction. To begin with, John Foster Dull-
es was a strong Secretary of State—the last until Henry Kissinger during President 
Richard Nixon’s second term—and he had no intention of letting any other administra­
tion official usurp his role as the President’s principal foreign policy adviser. Dulles 
had his detractors in the administration—MSA Director Harold Stassen, for one—but 
they were in no position to challenge the Secretary, who had Eisenhower’s full back­
ing. The fact that Foster’s younger brother ran the CIA facilitated interaction between 
the two organizations they headed, while, in the case of Lebanon, the JCS chairman, 
General Twining, was as much an advocate of intervention as the President and his 
principal civilian advisers. As for the special assistant for national security, Robert 
Cutler, his job was to manage the NSC agenda and direct the council’s discussions, not 
to formulate policy or offer operational advice. (The role of a strong national security 
adviser in the White House capable of eclipsing the Secretary of State and other of­
ficials would be crafted by Eisenhower’s successor.)  Given this setup, only General 
Andrew Goodpaster, Eisenhower’s staff secretary and defense liaison officer, as well 
as close friend, was in a position to ignite an interagency turf battle, especially with the 
State Department, given his easy access to the President, but Goodpaster performed 
his duties in such a way that allowed him to assert his influence without running afoul 
of Foster Dulles. 

In conclusion, then, interagency activities in effect during the Middle East crisies 
of 1957-1958, of which I have only sketched the bare bones here, worked well for 
President Eisenhower, providing him with sound policy guidance and permitting him 
to introduce US armed forces into Lebanon in a timely way. After a rocky start, the 
success of that intervention owed much to diplomats and military officers working 
together, both on the scene and in Washington, to realize a peaceful outcome based on 
diplomacy backed by military force, but also diplomacy in which virtually all parties 
to the conflict felt they had achieved their objectives. Yet, if interagency cooperation 
was essential to resolving the Lebanese conflict, there were also reminders—the near 
shoot-out between the Lebanese army and the newly arrived US Marines being but 
one example—of the role also played in the outcome by what former Secretary of 
State Dean Acheson termed, in referring to the resolution of the Cuban Missile Crisis, 
as “pure dumb luck.” A discussion of that observation, however, must be deferred to 
another time. Thank you. 
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Panel 1—The Difficulties in Interagency Operations
 
Question and Answers
 
(Transcript of Presentation)
 

Edgar F. Raines, Jr., Ph.D.
 
John F. Fishel, Ph.D.
 

Lawrence A. Yates, Ph.D.
 

Moderated by Richard Stewart, Ph.D.
 

Audience Member 

I was struck by your closing comments about the glass being totally empty at the be­
ginning of JUST CAUSE because later on this afternoon we are going to have a panel 
that features a paper, actually two papers, one of which talks about the CORDS (Civil 
Operations and Rural Development Support) Program in Vietnam. So there were some 
things that were learned in the 1960s. And I suppose Larry would also add that there 
were some things learned in the 1950s, so what occurred do you think between 1973 
with our exit from Vietnam and then what happens in the 1980s? Do those people move 
on, is the knowledge forgotten?  I am curious as to what your perspectives are. 

Dr. Fishel 

Can I take that for starters? I have wanted to write an article that steals from a Bob 
Dylan line that says, “When will we ever learn? Oh, when will we ever learn?” The 
thing is, I think we have learned something. We do remember CORDS. We do remem­
ber the lessons. Some of the guys at the Joint Center for International Security Force 
Assistance here on post keep making a point that it took us far less time in Iraq to learn 
what to do right than it took us in Vietnam and some of the other places. I think the 
point I was trying to make was that in Panama itself, on the ground in a non-war situa­
tion but pre-war, we were not really doing much coordination. The only piece of plan­
ning that we really coordinated with the Embassy on was the Non-Combat Evacuation 
Plan (NEO) which directly involved them. I talked with John Maisto a couple of years 
later. We were on a panel together and I took him to the airport and we were chatting. I 
asked him specifically, “What did you know?” “Well, I knew about the NEO.”  That is 
all he had been told because we would not talk and we could not talk, but that is why I 
said there were some drops at the bottom of the glass and that was just our experience 
there. I hope that answers at least some of it. 
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Dr. Stewart 

We do tend to learn occasionally but then empty the glass out every few years just to 
make sure we can start all over again. 

Dr. Yates 

Given the dates you mentioned, one, the consensus I talk about is gone that you had 
during the 1950s and 1960s. The Cold War consensus ends with Vietnam. Someone in 
foreign affairs said it was something like Humpty Dumpty. You are not going to put it 
back together again. After 9-11 it looked like we might have a consensus on foreign 
affairs, but that went away with Iraq. You have a proliferation of agencies that are 
brought into the interagency arena that you did not have back in the 1950s or even the 
early 1960s. Then the role of personalities, again, without that consensus, you see that 
emerging to some degree. It has always been there . . . NCS-68, one of the most signifi­
cant documents of the Cold War, 1950, was an interagency blood-letting between the 
Secretary of Defense, Louis Johnson and the Secretary of State, Dean Acheson. They 
could not even talk to one another in putting this together. But you got it and you had a 
policy that most people could sign off on. You do not see that that often after Vietnam 
even though the Cold War goes on. Ed, in talking about Grenada, you made that point. 
Constantine Menges, in his memoirs, always talks about . . . he is an ideologue. He is 
a right-wing conservative, I do not mean a conservative, but a right-wing conservative 
on the Reagan National Security Staff. He has Ollie North along with him who is also a 
right-winger. Well, North is a reactionary. You have the pragmatists like Admiral Poin­
dexter and Bud McFarland, a lieutenant colonel in the Marines, they are the pragma­
tists and these people are at each other’s throats. Eagleburger was another pragmatist. 
You see this coming in once the consensus is gone, these issues can arise. And then 
finally, I agree with what everyone else has said, we study the case studies and then 
we forget. Who knows where this is going to end up?  My guess is on a lot of library 
shelves collecting dust. It should not. It deals with crisis management, interagency, it 
deals with SOF, conventional, all sorts of things. Stability operations which is another 
thing that I felt, and John has as well, every time we go into it it is re-learning and tak­
ing the time to do it. We learned things quickly in Iraq. That is nice, but we should have 
known them going in. The idea of dropping Chalabi, and I am grossly simplifying, 
Colonel Benson would take me to task if I said there was no plan. Of course there is a 
plan, but we really have not learned the lessons of Panama for Iraq. Even though we 
talked about using the Panama model, very few knew what it was, and you can go back 
from Panama. Most people do not even realize there was a stability operation in Gre­
nada, for example, and there was. And back to the Dominican Republic, my favorite, 
as Richard just said, we keep re-emptying the glass. We need to make a commitment to 
study it more. We pay lip service to it. 
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Audience Member 

President Truman was the last president that publicly called his Secretary of State his 
senior secretary, promoting him above, if you will, the other secretaries in the cabinet 
and making him the de facto Chief of Staff, if you will, for his advice that he got from 
his cabinet members. That seemed to work well then and that was the last time, argu­
ably, that interagency worked like it should I suppose, so why do you suppose ten 
presidents after President Truman chose not to do that and to level the playing field, if 
you will, amongst the cabinet members and sort of watered down in a sense the advice 
that he gets? 

Dr. Yates 

I would agree with the first part about Truman. First of all Truman had very little ex­
perience in foreign affairs. He has been in World War I as an Artillery captain and he 
cited that as his experience. He had a tremendous commitment to the United Nations. 
He had seen the failure of the League of Nations and was determined to have a United 
Nations that worked which is one of the reasons that we went into Korea because he 
felt the UN could not be allowed to fail. But he realized his shortcomings there and 
so did his staff, Clark Clifford, among others. Some would argue that he should have 
used the Embassy more than he did. He did not, but to the extent that it was used, he 
put the Secretary of State pretty much in charge of it. But he had two strong Secre­
taries of State, one of whom he idealized, George Marshall. This is the man of the 
century; that is a Truman-esque marginal note in his handwriting, the man of the cen­
tury. Dean Acheson was equally up to the task. So he had two very strong individuals 
who Truman had no problem in delegating certain foreign policy issues to. Marshall 
threatened to resign over, he told Truman he would not vote for him over the issue of 
Israel, recognizing Israel. So Truman turned over the NSC (National Security Coun­
cil) essentially to the State Department, its interagency, but there is the first among 
equals. Eisenhower changed the system, but he still had a strong Secretary of State in 
whom he had complete confidence that always had the first and the last word before 
Eisenhower made a decision. And because the two were in such synch, Eisenhower 
talked about that in his memoirs about how they sat around at the end of the day, he 
and Foster Dulles just in the Oval Office talking. Kennedy comes in, Eisenhower says 
keep the NSC pretty much the way it is. By that time you had the Jackson Commit­
tee which said all that the NSC is doing is turning out a lot of paper. We need a more 
dynamic National Security Council, one that is run from the White House, not by the 
State Department, and Eisenhower put the Vice President in charge of the meetings, 
not the Secretary of State, but one that is more run from the White House and you get 
the rise of the National Security advisors so that is where I disagree. It does not level 
the playing field. You elevate someone in the White House over the Secretary of State. 
Dean Rusk is considered a weak Secretary of State compared to McGeorge Bundy 
who was the first National Security Advisor, followed by Walt Whitman Rostow under 
Johnson. And then under Reagan, Brzezinski was very strong. Reagan tried to dimin­
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ish the role, but it keeps popping up. Initially Truman and Eisenhower relied on very 
strong Secretaries of State. 

Dr. Fishel 

And part of that is that the Secretary of State is the senior cabinet official, regardless. 
Another part of what is going on is the constant Congressional whittling down of State’s 
budget and the building up, over time, of the defense budget and other agencies so that 
the resource space available so far outweighs it on the defense side, the military side of 
things, that you get this very high-powered juggernaut on one side that has been doing 
its best in this administration, including time with Secretary Rumsfeld, to build back 
up some of the other agencies, and it does not work because again, it is underfunded. In 
the Truman era the policy planning staff of the State department did the things the NSC 
staff does now, and was created by Secretary Marshall largely to do what a Joint Plans 
and Policy element of a Joint Staff does. It worked kind of that way under Secretary 
Marshall, and then it started slipping because you did not have people with that kind 
of experience. [Inaudible] was the originator of it. So you have this larger scale thing 
that is creating diversifying power and concentrating power in the defense. 

Dr. Yates 

In 2005, my last year on the job, I was part of a task force that started at the Chief of 
Staff, went through TRADOC (United States Army Training and Doctrine Command), 
down to the CAC (Combined Arms Center) commander, and then to the college and it 
was on elevating stability operations to an equivalency with combat operations. I think 
that was what it was about. We had a big conference to start it off with and we all gave 
presentations. Someone was talking about how the State department needed to kick 
in more and do more and that the military was taking over and the State department 
representative says, “We cannot send you anybody. We do not have the money. We do 
not have the personnel. If you are going to get the job done, you are going to do it, the 
military. You have the people; you have the money.” 

Audience Member 

Just a comment if I could because I am going to present this afternoon, but in fact, 
it is my understanding since I have dug into the history of this, the State department 
willingly gave the policy planning functions over to the NSC and it is in that 1949 to 
1951 time frame which I think is incredibly important and then also to agree with the 
presenters on this, but to go back further, that shift in resources really began after the 
1947 National Security Act and then in the 1949 reforms. And what happened was a lot 
of the key committees wound up having seconded military officers even then coming 
over and filling the functions and the third piece, and I think it will be interesting when 
Mr. Kimmitt is here on Thursday to raise this question because we have discussed this 
before too, is how much the State Department as an organization, whether for orga­

90 



nizational culture, bureaucratic momentum, and so on has also continued that process 
of not stepping up to the plate when the opportunities were there. Again, it is my un­
derstanding in the reading of the history of this that the State department was offered 
coordination of intelligence role back when it was still seen as the entity that would 
be the primary coordinator in that 1947 debate and they said, “Thanks, but no thanks 
because it will make our State department functions more difficult.” So there are some 
interesting pieces there in terms of the State department also doing things along the 
way that helped put it on that path. 

Dr. Yates 

The politics of the National Security Act of 1947 are incredibly intricate and fascinat­
ing and you wonder how Forrestal got to be the first Secretary of defense. It was be­
cause he was one of them that complicated things and Truman said, “Okay, you made 
this mess, you can deal with it.” But you are absolutely right. 

Audience Member 

Gentlemen, just a comment. Not speaking for the Department of State or their ability 
to take on that increased role for stability and reconstruction, but it was kind of for­
malized within the last year or so with National Security Presidential Directive #44 in 
which he designated the Department of State as the lead for stability and reconstruction 
operations taking that whole of government approach to the interagency, kind of like 
what Goldwater-Nichols did for the whole of DOD approach. There are some grow­
ing pains with that. It is not fully fleshed out, but there is an Office of Stability and 
Reconstruction Coordinator at the Department of State and working closely with a lot 
of DOD agencies. 

Dr. Stewart 

And of course the first year after they created that, Congress zeroed out the budget to 
get back at them. It has gotten better, yes, but Congress is not thrilled with the whole 
idea. 

Audience Member 

Would you care to comment on one, Panama being a very strange case because you 
have the CINC (Commander in Chief) fighting for its own headquarters company. You 
do not normally have the CINC in the middle of the war zone. And the other problem 
is that there is no State department operational-level. It is either strategic-level or the 
Embassy which, in that country, is the tactical-level for us. So the missing operational-
level, which in Panama you really have because it is right there, but in the other cases 
you do not. Do you care to comment on those thoughts? 

91 



Dr. Yates 

One thing in Panama, given the CINC’s regional responsibilities, with some reluctance 
they set up the Joint Task Force Panama (JTF Panama) to run the crisis on a day-to­
day basis and to some degree, I would see that as an operational-level headquarters 
because under it you have various task forces that you would look for at the tactical-
level, but it was doing . . . the problem with that was you had SOUTHCOM ten minutes 
away micromanaging it and there was a lot of friction there, especially between the J3 
at SOUTHCOM and the J3 in JTF Panama. But that was the solution there. In terms 
of Washington, John has already mentioned that General Woerner dealing with Elliot 
Abrams who was the Assistant Secretary of State for Inter-American Affairs, not the 
Secretary of State. 

Dr. Fishel 

And the other thing, Jeff, is as Larry certainly knows, the operational-level headquar­
ters JTF Panama became largely overwhelmed by the crisis and even before Fred Wo­
erner was relieved they had gone to the 18th Airborne Corps and asked for the creation 
of a JTF based around the Corps. Little known, but JTF Charley was in fact activated 
prior to General Woerner’s relief and then General Thurman re-activated his JTF side 
so that the operational-level headquarters actually was sitting at Fort Bragg for most of 
the time. I am not sure I would agree that an Embassy is really a tactical headquarters. 
I think it probably is, in and of itself, typically operational to regional strategic head­
quarters. That said, there is certainly something missing. The assistant secretaries for 
the regions in Washington simply cannot perform the function and part of that has to 
do with the fact that the Ambassadors do not work for the State department. They are 
personal representatives of the President and if they happen to be Foreign Service Offi­
cers, they technically resign from the State department for their period as an Ambassa­
dor. So essentially it is like dealing with the Chairman. You say you are in the chain of 
communication when you are talking to State, but not quite in the chain of command. 
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Panel 2—The Interagency Process: Southeast Asia
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Counterinsurgency, the Interagency Process, and Malaya:

The British Experience
 

by
 

Benjamin Grob-Fitzgibbon, Ph.D.
 
University of Arkansas
 

In his seminal work Defeating Communist Insurgency: Experiences from Malaya 
and Vietnam, Sir Robert Thompson laid down what he called the five basic principles 
of counterinsurgency. Rather than offering operational advice, each of Thompson’s 
five principles concerned governance: first, the government must have a “clear political 
aim” in defeating insurgencies; second, the government must “function in accordance 
with the law;” third, the government must have an overall plan; fourth, the government 
must “give priority to defeating the political subversion, not the guerillas;” and finally, 
during the guerilla phase of an insurgency a government must “secure its base areas 
first.”1  In the attainment of each of these principles, it was essential that there should 
be a “proper balance between the military and the civil effort, with complete coordi­
nation in all fields.”2 At the heart of any counterinsurgency strategy, the interagency 
process must function flawlessly. This was Thompson’s central message. 

If there was an individual in the western world qualified to determine such, it was 
Sir Robert Thompson. When he published Defeating Communist Insurgency in 1966, 
Thompson had only returned from South Vietnam a year earlier, in March 1965, where 
he had operated since September 1961 as head of the British Advisory Mission to 
Vietnam (BRIAM).3  Prior to that, he had worked in various guises in British counter­
insurgency in Malaya from 1948 to 1960, eventually reaching Permanent Secretary of 
Defence with the acting rank of Lieutenant Colonel. He had begun his time in the re­
gion as one of the legendary Chindits of Britain’s 3d Indian Infantry Division in Burma 
throughout the Second World War. 4  It was through his experiences in the Malayan 
Emergency that Thompson first developed his principles of counterinsurgency. It was a 
conflict which, unlike Vietnam, Thompson believed he had achieved considerable suc­
cess in. Indeed, of all Britain’s small wars at the end of empire, from Palestine, Malaya, 
and Kenya to Cyprus, Aden, Dhofar, and Oman, it was in Malaya that the interagency 
process was most advanced, and in Malaya that the British were most successful at 
countering an insurgency. 

Malaya had been of interest to the British government since the earliest days of 
empire, when in the first years of the seventeenth century the newly formed English 
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East India Company opened a trading post at the mouth of the Kedah River. Such 
trade was increased a century later, when between 1765 and 1800 the British govern­
ment signed a number of treaties with the Sultan of Kedah that provided the British 
Penang Island and a strip of land opposite in exchange for an annual income payable 
to the Sultan. Following an invasion from Siam in 1821, the British were temporarily 
expelled from the island, but in 1894 a British consul returned with permission of the 
Siamese government and in 1909 Kedah was once again brought under direct Brit­
ish control with the signing of the Anglo-Kedah Treaty. Meanwhile, the British had 
captured Malacca from the Dutch on Malaya’s western coast in 1795. Expansion on 
the peninsula continued and in 1819 the British government signed a treaty with the 
ruler of Johore that gave the British the right to settle on Singapore Island. In 1867, 
Singapore was united with the west coast of Malaya to form the Crown Colony of the 
Straits Settlement.5 

From the Straits Settlement Colony, the British government was able to exercise 
considerable informal control over the ostensibly independent Malay States, signing 
treaties with Perak, Selangor, and Sungei Ujong in 1874 and Pahang in 1888, treaties 
through which a British Resident was appointed in each state whose mission was to 
replace the traditional feudal structure of Malay society with western law and political 
and economic norms. In 1895, these four states merged to form the First Federation 
of Malaya, with a central government in Kuala Lumpur. Further treaties establishing 
British Residents were signed with Kedah, Kelantan, Trengganu, and Perlis in 1910, 
followed by Johore in 1914. In each of these states, British engineers, doctors, and civil 
servants were seconded alongside the British Residents, each responsible to the British 
High Commissioner in Singapore.6 

Although unlike the Straits Settlement, the Malay States were not technically Brit­
ish colonial possessions, they were nonetheless an integral part of the British Empire, 
with the British Residents opening a Malayan railway system in 1884, clearing the 
swamps to prevent the spread of malaria in the late nineteenth century, introducing 
domestic and international flights with Empire Airways in the early twentieth century, 
and replacing coffee with rubber as the staple crop of the Malay economy. By the eve 
of the Second World War, Malaya (including the Straits Settlement and the Malay 
States) was exporting a quarter of a million tons of rubber, two and a half million gal­
lons of latex, and 80,000 tons of tin and tin ore each year.7 The British and Malays 
were not the only peoples to inhabit the peninsula, however. To find workers for the 
rubber plantations and tin mines, the British had embarked upon a large-scale immi­
gration scheme from China and India, the result being that by 1945, Malaya’s popu­
lation of 5.3 million people included 49 percent Malay persons, 38 percent Chinese, 
and 11 percent Indians, together with 12,000 Europeans, most of whom were British. 
While the Chinese were willing to work for the British, they were indignant about be­
ing employed by Malays. Ethnic conflict thus became an ingrained aspect of Malayan 
society in the twentieth century.8 
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This Chinese separation from Malay culture and economics was further increased 
by the formation of the Malayan Communist Party (MCP) in 1930. Led from 1939 
by Lai Tek, the MCP played a decisive role against the Japanese army following the 
latter’s invasion and occupation of Malaya in December 1941. By 1945, the Malayan 
People’s Anti-Japanese Army (MPAJA), as the communist guerilla force had become 
known, had grown to a strength of 7,000 men and was being directly supplied by the 
British from December 1943 onwards. Throughout these final two years of the Second 
World War, the British held numerous meetings with Lai Tek and provided the MCP 
with £3,000 a month to aid their anti-Japanese insurgency. Following the Japanese sur­
render, however, Lai Tek and the British war leaders had very different conceptions of 
what Malaya’s future would look like. 

Lai Tek had pledged to establish a communist republic, free of both Japanese and 
British control. The British, in contrast, were determined to regain control of their col­
ony. Before they could do so, the MPAJA launched a final push against the Japanese. 
On September 8, 1945, they reoccupied Singapore and on September 28 they took 
from the Japanese the rest of the Malayan Peninsula. When the British government cut 
off funding for the MPAJA, staged a disbandment ceremony, and installed a British 
High Commissioner in December 1945, the MCP refused to acknowledge its authority 
to do so. The grounds for a communist insurgency were therefore laid. It was just three 
short years after this ceremony that the British government was once again embroiled 
in conflict in Malaya.9 

The Malayan Emergency, officially declared in June 1948, was at first waged by 
the British as a conventional war, with soldiers seeking to hunt down and contain the 
Chinese Malayan guerillas, now reconstituted as the Malayan People’s Anti-British 
Army (MPABA). The Malayan police force was not considered to have an operational 
role and the civil administration was left ignorant of military affairs. This was a cam­
paign led by and carried out by the British Army, with limited support from the Royal 
Air Force and no input whatsoever from the various layers of civilian governance. 
By 1950, however, these methods seemed to be failing, with the MPABA holding its 
strength, its base of operations steadily increasing, and its having killed 850 Malay and 
European civilians, 325 Malay policemen, and 150 British soldiers. The British were 
not winning the war, they were losing it.10  It was time for a radical shake up of the way 
Britain’s counterinsurgency campaign had been run so far. 

The idea of a coordinated interagency command in Malaya was first proposed on 
February 23, 1950, when Sir Henry Gurney, the British high commissioner in Malaya, 
sent a telegram to Arthur Creech Jones, the colonial secretary. He suggested that he 
had “for some time” been considering appointing a single officer to “plan, co-ordinate 
and generally direct the anti-bandit operations of the police and fighting services.”11 

The reason, Gurney argued, was now that the conflict in Malaya had reached the stage 
of “protracted guerilla warfare” the civilian police commissioner was ill-equipped to 
direct operations, yet there was no other civil officer other than Gurney himself who 
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had the authority to give directions to the army’s General Officer Commanding (GOC) 
and the air force’s Air Officer Commanding (AOC). Gurney therefore recommended 
that the government second to Malaya a high ranking military officer who could be 
appointed in a civil post with the following duties: 

He would be responsible for the preparation of [a] general plan for offensive action and 
the allocation of tasks to the various components of the security forces. In consultation 
with heads of the police and fighting services he would decide priorities between these 
tasks and general timing and sequence of their execution. He would exercise control 
through heads of police and fighting services and aim at achieving co-ordination and 
decentralisation by this means. . . . He would work directly under myself [British High 
Commissioner] and within the framework of the policy laid down by this Government. 
He would be in close touch with civil authorities responsible for essential features of 
the campaign, such as settlement and control of squatters, propaganda, immigration 
control and settlement of labour disputes, and would have [the] right to make represen­
tation to me in such matters affecting the conduct of [the] anti-communists campaign 
as a whole.12 

It was a position that was without precedent in British imperial experience, yet 
one that had been carefully thought through and had been designed by a man with the 
appropriate authority and experience; prior to taking the post of British high commis­
sioner in Malaya in September 1948, Gurney had served as chief secretary in Palestine 
from 1946 to 1948, as colonial secretary in the Gold Coast from 1944 to 1946, and as 
chief secretary to the Conference of East African Governors from 1938 to 1944. There 
were few men in the British Empire with his experience of colonial governance, par­
ticularly during periods of insurgency such as had dogged his years in both Palestine 
and Malaya. 

Nonetheless, it was an inopportune time for Gurney to send his telegram. That day, 
a General Election had been held in the United Kingdom and Creech Jones had lost 
his parliamentary seat, at the same time automatically ceasing to hold his cabinet posi­
tion. While the telegram had been copied to the prime minister, the war secretary, and 
the first lord of the admiralty, in the scramble of a tightly fought election in which the 
governing Labour Party performed poorly, the message of Gurney’s telegram was lost. 
Despite this, Gurney persevered, and on March 9, less than three weeks after the elec­
tion, he telegrammed to the new colonial secretary, James Griffiths, outlining his plan, 
suggesting that a lieutenant-general (serving or retired) be appointed for a minimum of 
one year, and recommending that this position be titled the Director of Operations with 
the same civilian rank as the chief secretary. Gurney was even so bold as to suggest to 
Griffiths the wordings of the press release that could be issued to announce the post. 
Significantly, the final line of the proposed announcement read: “His primary function 
will be to secure full and effective co-ordination.”13 

Field Marshal Sir William Slim, the chief of the Imperial General Staff, suggested 
to the cabinet that they approach his good friend Lieutenant-General Sir Harold Briggs, 
who had been in retirement in Cyprus since 1948. Briggs seemed the perfect candidate 
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for the position. Only fifty-five years of age, he had followed a distinguished military 
career spanning thirty-four years and culminating in command of the Indian Army’s 
5th Infantry Division in Burma from early 1944 to June 1945, where he had gained 
familiarity with jungle warfare.14 After initial hesitation, Slim managed to persuade 
Briggs to take up the post and on March 21, the government announced that the first 
Director of Operations for Malaya had been selected. Following a whirlwind series of 
meetings in London to explain and discuss the position, Briggs arrived in Kuala Lum­
pur on April 3, 1950.15 

The retired general wasted no time in coming to grips with the situation in Malaya. 
After a two-week tour of the colony, meeting with military, police, and civilian authori­
ties, on April 16 Briggs issued Directive No.1, which laid out the future direction of 
his proposed policy, eventually becoming the cornerstone of British strategy in Malaya 
for the next decade. Effective June 1, a Federal War Council would be formed, chaired 
by the director of operations and including in its membership the chief secretary, the 
GOC, the AOC, the commissioner of police, and the secretary of defence. The role of 
the Federal War Council was to produce policy. Each state was then required to form a 
State War Executive Committee (SWEC), chaired by the resident commissioner of that 
state and with a membership of the British advisor in state, the state’s chief police of­
ficer, and the state’s senior army commander. The role of the SWEC was to implement 
the policy laid out by the Federal War Council. In each district within the state, a Dis­
trict War Executive Committee (DWEC) would be formed, mirroring the composition 
of the SWEC only with lower-level officials. In addition to the SWECs and DWECs, a 
Federal Joint Intelligence Advisory Committee was set up. Its purpose was to examine 
“ways and means of strengthening the intelligence and Police Special Branch orga­
nization to ensure that the mass of information which exists in the country becomes 
available and is sifted and disseminated quickly and at the right levels.”16 

The idea of the administrative hierarchy, as articulated by Briggs in Directive No.1, 
was that this “joint conception” would be “followed at all levels, with the Civil Admin­
istration, Police and Army working in the closest collaboration and using combined 
joint operations and intelligence rooms wherever practicable.”17 A smooth functioning 
of the interagency process lay at the heart of Briggs’ scheme for Malaya and was, in 
his mind, crucial for the successful operation of a counterinsurgency campaign. As 
such, within the SWECs and DWECs there could be no ranking of army and police 
personnel, with one claiming superiority over the other. Briggs made this very clear 
in his second directive, issued on May 12, where he explicitly stated: “It is immaterial 
whether the local military commander is a lieutenant-colonel and the local police offi­
cer is a sergeant or whether they are respectively a major and a superintendent; in each 
case they will establish a joint headquarters and will work in the closest cooperation 
also with the local administrative officer.”18 

Having established the administrative framework of the counterinsurgency cam­
paign, Briggs—in coordination with the Federal War Council—turned to strategy and 
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tactics, issuing on May 24 the “Federation Plan for the Elimination of the Communist 
Organisation and Armed Forces in Malaya,” referred to at the time and by historians 
since as the Briggs Plan. At the core of this plan was the idea that the British gov­
ernment needed to demonstrate “effective administration and control of all populated 
areas” and wrestle the initiative away from the communist guerillas. Essentially, the 
British had to demonstrate that the western way of life was more appealing and could 
offer a higher quality existence than the communist way of life. This would be done 
through a six-step process. First, security would be maintained on the ground and the 
British government would demonstrate through the use of the police and armed forces 
that it was firmly committed to protecting Malaya against both external and inter­
nal attack and disorder. Secondly, Malayan squatters would be resettled into compact 
groups, where they could more easily be protected by the British security forces and 
given social welfare. Thirdly, local administration would be strengthened, so that it 
would become more effective and efficient than anything the communists could offer. 
Fourthly, road communication would be provided in isolated areas to link all Malayan 
subjects to the British administrative structure. Fifthly, police posts would be set up in 
these isolated areas, both to protect the population and to show the flag. And finally, a 
concerted propaganda campaign would be launched to highlight the negatives of the 
communist insurgency and the positives of British governance.19 

Within this general framework, Briggs laid down four further objectives for his 
strategy: first, within the populated areas a “feeling of complete security” had to be 
built up, which would in turn lead to a “steady and increasing flow of information from 
all sources;” secondly, the MCP had to be broken up within the populated areas and de­
nied access to greater Malayan society; thirdly, having been ejected from the populated 
areas, the insurgents would be isolated from their food and information supply; and 
finally, the insurgents would therefore have to attack the British security forces on their 
own ground, where they could be defeated without inflicting pain or inconvenience on 
the general population. With regards to the tactics used to implement this strategy, the 
police and army were tasked with working in coordination under the leadership of the 
SWECs and DWECs to create the feeling of security within populated areas, the army 
was tasked with establishing strike forces that could dominate the jungle within five 
hours journey either side of the populated areas, and the civil administration, supported 
by the police and army, would regroup or resettle a large number of Malayan squatters, 
with the resettlement program anticipated to be completed by the beginning of 1952. 
Briggs closed his plan with a warning that even when each of these successes was out­
wardly achieved, and when the population was securely resettled and under effective 
British administration and control, there could be a “rapid recrudescence of terrorist 
activity,” and therefore “the danger of relaxing security precautions and of prematurely 
withdrawing troops must be realized.”20 

Briggs stressed throughout that any operations undertaken by the army or police 
had to be under civil control, had to be within the law, and the purpose for which they 
were being conducted had to be clearly articulated to the local population. For that 
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reason, on July 4, 1950—just six weeks after the Briggs Plan had been formulated—he 
instructed the acting chief secretary in Malaya, M.V. Del Tufo, to articulate whom the 
enemy was in the Federation of Malaya Government Gazette with an explicit defini­
tion of terrorism. Following its publication, there could be no doubt of the British 
government’s target. A terrorist was any person who: 

(a) by the use of firearms, explosives or ammunition acts in a manner prejudicial to the 
public safety or to the maintenance of public order; 

(b) incites to violence or counsels disobedience to the law or to any lawful order by the 
use of firearms, explosives or ammunition; 

(c) carries or has in his possession or under his control any firearm, not being a fire­
arm which he is duly licensed to possess under any written law for the time being in 
force; 

(d) carries or has in his possession or under his control any ammunition or explosives 
without lawful authority thereof; 

(e) demands, collects or receives any supplies for the use of any person who intends to 
or is about to act, or has recently acted, in a manner prejudicial to public safety for the 
maintenance of public order; and ‘terrorism’ shall have a corresponding meaning.21 

Briggs made it absolutely clear that the enemy was not only he who pulled the trigger, 
but also he or she who supplied the bullet for the gun, the food within the belly, or the 
bed at night. In so doing, he put the Malayan civilian population on notice that there 
could be no cooperation with the communist insurgents. 

The Briggs Plan was set into action immediately, with the senior police, army, and 
civil representatives of the SWECs and DWECs meeting daily and the whole member­
ship of the committees meeting weekly.22 Their first task was to resettle the Malayan 
squatters, of whom there were upwards of 300,000. This was begun without delay and 
at the British cabinet’s Malaya committee meeting of July 14, the colonial secretary 
Arthur Griffiths was able to report that already 20,000 squatters had been resettled, 
and the SWECs, working in “complete coordination” with the police, military and civil 
authorities, had laid the groundwork for many more resettlements.23  By September 
22, half of all squatters in the populated South Johore province had been resettled,24 

and by February 15, 1951, the job of resettlement in the priority areas was more than 
half done, with 67,000 squatters resettled and 52,500 remaining.25  Once resettled, the 
squatters were incorporated into so-called “new villages,” where they were brought 
under British administration and given social welfare, such as housing, health care, and 
education. These new villages, run in the short-term by resettlement supervisors and in 
the long-term by assistant district officers, were protected by the Malayan police force 
so that their residents could be shielded “against Communist physical and intellectual 
attack and helped to become contented communities.” Once protected in this way, the 
superiority of British mores and administration would be self-evident and the commu­
nist menace in the colony would be defeated.26 
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These new villages were the epitome of the Briggs Plan and demonstrated clearly 
the importance of the interagency process in countering insurgencies. The Federal War 
Council determined which areas of squatter populations were high priority for reset­
tlement, based on their perceived vulnerability to communist ideology. Within these 
areas, the SWECs and DWECs selected the exact site for the new village. The army, 
supported by the police, cleared the site and ensured that there was no communist 
guerilla influence within five hours of the area. Once cleared, the army took a lesser 
role and the police became the lead agency in keeping the perimeter secure. The squat­
ters themselves were moved by the police, with army protection and directed by civil 
administration, into the villages, to which new and modern roads were built. Within 
the villages, the civil administration worked with the villagers to establish schools, 
hospitals, cooperatives, and businesses. As the villagers began to trust British admin­
istration, and were in turn trusted by the British administrators, they were incorporated 
into an unarmed Home Guard that served alongside the Malay police force. Following 
an unarmed period of time in the Home Guard, the villagers were allocated shot guns 
for defense of their settlement and were considered loyal subjects of the British crown. 
At this point, the insurgency—in every sense of the word—had been broken.27 

On June 4, 1951, at the one year anniversary of the implementation of the Briggs 
Plan, Briggs, together with the high commissioner Sir Henry Gurney, composed for the 
cabinet’s Malaya committee a combined appreciation of the progress of the counterin­
surgency campaign. They wrote that after a long, hard year, British success in Malaya 
had finally reached a “turning point,” with 240,000 squatters now resettled into new 
villages and generally doing well. In particular, the British policy of “committing them 
to our side by getting them to join our Home Guard organization, which they are doing 
in very great number[s], is bearing good fruit.” Furthermore, in the first six months of 
1951, there had been an 180 percent increase of communist guerilla surrenders and a 
42 percent increase of guerilla casualties, compared to only an 11 percent increase in 
security force casualties. Civilian deaths had been reduced by 3.5 percent and civilian 
injuries by 33 percent. The strategy of drawing the insurgents away from the civilian 
population was working and, as a consequence, those resettled were becoming more 
cooperative with British rule each day. The Briggs Plan was succeeding and the British 
were winning the war. Although the Emergency would continue for another nine years, 
interagency cooperation had been shown to be the only path forward for a successful 
counterinsurgency campaign.28 

The true test of this new approach came later that year, when on October 6, 1951, 
the communist guerillas killed Gurney in an ambush.29  Less than three weeks later, a 
new Conservative government came to power in Great Britain under Winston Churchill, 
following the defeat of Clement Attlee’s Labour government in a General Election held 
on October 25. With Gurney dead and a government run not by Attlee but by the more 
belligerent Churchill, the question was whether the interagency process would still be 
front and center of British strategy, or whether the army would once again be given 
primacy, with tougher measures called for against the communist insurgency and a cor­
responding drop in the input from the civil administration and police. 
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Shortly after Gurney’s murder, representatives from the Federal War Council, the 
SWECs, and the DWECs met on October 17 to discuss future British policy in Malaya. 
Briggs suggested that full executive authority in Malaya be delegated from the high 
commissioner to the director of operations, negating the position of chief secretary and 
placing the director of operations in complete charge of civil administration, the mili­
tary, and the police force.30 To all intents and purposes, if Briggs’ advice was followed, 
Gurney’s successor as British high commissioner would be a mere figure head with no 
governmental responsibility, and the position of chief secretary would cease to exist. 
The new conservative colonial secretary, Oliver Lyttelton, approved Briggs’ sugges­
tion on November 1, just four days after taking over at the colonial office.31 

The director of operations now had full and undivided control of all emergency 
policy, strategy, and tactics in Malaya. It would not be the architect of this develop­
ment, however, that was its main beneficiary. Briggs grew ill in November and retired 
on the twenty-seventh of that month, overcome by exhaustion. Within a few weeks, he 
was dead.32  His deputy, Sir Robert Lockhart, temporarily took on the new powers. The 
colonial secretary, arriving in Malaya on November 29 for his first visit, was dissatis­
fied with what he found. He believed that the figure-head high commissioner, by his 
very presence, undermined the authority that was vested in the director of operations. 
The only solution to this problem, he concluded, was to merge the two positions into a 
single all-powerful high commissioner, who would take on all the responsibilities and 
the position of the director of operations.33 

Lyttelton returned to the United Kingdom on December 21 after a month in Mala­
ya and immediately met with Winston Churchill to persuade him of this viewpoint. The 
two men then discussed the new position with Field Marshal Bernard Montgomery, 
currently acting as the inspector-general of NATO’s European forces, who suggested 
General Sir Gerard Templer would be ideal. Templer, like Briggs, had a notable mili­
tary career before him, being first commissioned in the Royal Irish Fusiliers in 1916, 
becoming the army’s youngest lieutenant-general in 1942 in command of II Corps and 
eventually rising to become the director of military government in the British zone of 
occupied Germany. Churchill, leaving for his first official visit to the United States as 
the new prime minister, requested that Templer fly out to meet him, which he did on 
January 11, 1952. After a short and informal interview, Churchill invited Templer to 
take on the task in Malaya, which he immediately agreed to. Following a few weeks of 
preparation, Templer arrived in Kuala Lumpur on February 7 as the new British High 
Commissioner of Malaya and Director of Operations.34 

Templer had dictatorial powers in Malaya but he used them with caution. Fol­
lowing Briggs’ lead, he kept in place the administrative hierarchy of the Federal War 
Council, the SWECs, and the DWECs, and continued to hold the resettlement of squat­
ters into new villages as the government’s highest priority in the fight against the insur­
gency. He went further than Briggs and Gurney, however, quickly determining that the 
key to an effective counterinsurgency strategy was sound intelligence and this could 
only be obtained through a coordinated approach. On February 13, therefore, after less 
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than a week in Malaya, Templer wrote to Lyttelton, informing him that a new position, 
the director of intelligence, would be appointed, who would have “the right of direct 
access at any moment to [the] High Commissioner.” He would be given no executive 
control of any one intelligence agency, but would instead be responsible for coordinat­
ing the activities of police intelligence, naval intelligence, army intelligence, air force 
intelligence, and political intelligence. His role would include giving advice to each of 
these organizations, as well as being “completely responsible for collation and evalu­
ation of all the intelligence available and for its presentation to those concerned in the 
proper form.”35 

By March 1952, at all levels of command in Malaya, in civil, police, military, and 
intelligence matters, the British High Commissioner had achieved absolute interagency 
coordination. Gurney, Briggs, and Templer had each realized that the key to defeating 
the communist insurgency was not an aggressive military offensive but rather a careful 
campaign to win over the civilian population. As Templer famously observed in 1952, 
“The answer lies not in pouring more troops into the jungle, but in the hearts and minds 
of the people.”36  In Malaya, the British government took these words to heart and 
made them a creed. The consequence was that it was able to erase all communist influ­
ence and declare the Emergency over on July 31, 1960. Three years earlier, on August 
31, 1957, the British had granted independence to the Federation of Malaya in an or­
derly transition of power which kept Malaya in the British Commonwealth. Six years 
after independence, and three years after the close of the Emergency, the Federation of 
Malaya joined with the British colonies of North Borneo, Sarawak, and Singapore to 
form Malaysia, which like Malaya before it was an independent state within the British 
Commonwealth. Although Singapore was to secede in 1965, Malaysia has remained a 
stable state to the present day. For the remainder of the Cold War, it never again turned 
hot and British troops never again returned after their final departure in 1960.37  In 
Malaya, the British government had combated an insurgency and had won. It had done 
so, in large part, through an effective use of the interagency process. 

Notes 

1. Robert Thompson, Defeating Communist Insurgency: Experiences from Malaya and 
Vietnam (London: Chatto & Windus, 1966), 50-58. 

2. Ibid, 55. 
3. For more on Thompson’s time leading the British Advisory Mission to Vietnam, see Ian 

F.W. Beckett, “Robert Thompson and the British Advisory Mission to South Vietnam, 1961­
1965,” Small Wars & Insurgencies, Volume 8, Issue 3 (Winter 1997), 41-63; and P. Busch, 
“Killing the ‘Vietcong’: The British Advisory Mission and the Strategic Hamlet Programme,” 
Journal of Strategic Studies, Volume 25, Number 1 (March 2002), 135-162. 

4. For a firsthand account of Thompson’s life and career, see Sir Robert Thompson, Make 
for the Hills: Memories of Far Eastern Wars (London: Leo Cooper, 1989). 

5. Robert Jackson, The Malayan Emergency: The Commonwealth’s Wars, 1948-1966 (Lon­
don and New York: Routledge, 1991), 3-4. 

102 



6. Ibid, 4-6. 
7. Ibid, 6. 
8. John A. Nagl, Learning to Eat Soup with a Knife: Counterinsurgency Lessons from Ma­

laya and Vietnam (Chicago: The University of Chicago Press, 2002), 60. 
9. For the origins of the communist insurgency in Malaya, see Richard Clutterbuck, Conflict 

and Violence in Singapore and Malaysia, 1945-1983 (Boulder, CO: Westview Press, 1985), 37­
41. 
10. Michael Dewar, Brush Fire Wars: Minor Campaigns of the British Army since 1945 (New 

York: St. Martin’s Press, 1984), 33. 
11. The National Archives [TNA], Foreign Office [FO] 371 / 84477, Telegram from Sir Hen­

ry Gurney, British High Commissioner to Malaya, to Arthur Creech Jones, Secretary of State 
for the Colonies, February 23, 1950. 
12. Ibid. 
13. TNA, FO 371 / 84477, Telegram from Sir Henry Gurney, British High Commissioner to 

Malaya, to James Griffiths, Secretary of State for the Colonies, March 9, 1950. The full text of 
the proposed announcement read as follows: “The Government of the Federation of Malaya has 
appointed (blank) as Director of Operations to plan, co-ordinate and generally direct anti-bandit 
operations of Police and fighting forces. The post is a civil one. The Director of Operations will 
be responsible for the allocation of tasks to various components of the Security Forces avail­
able for operations and for deciding, in consultation with heads of the Police Force and fighting 
services, the priorities between these tasks and general timing and sequence of their execution. 
His primary function will be to secure full and effective co-ordination.” 
14. Edgar O’Ballance, Malaya: The Communist Insurgent War, 1948-1960 (Hamden, CT: 

Archon Books, 1966), 106. 
15. Anthony Short, The Communist Insurrection in Malaya, 1948-1960 (New York: Crane, 

Russak & Company, Inc, 1975), 235. 
16. TNA, Cabinet Office [CAB] 21 / 1681, Directive No. 1, Director of Operations, Malaya, 

April 16, 1950. 
17. Ibid. 
18. TNA, CAB 21 / 1681, Directive No. 2, Director of Operations, Malaya, May 12, 1950. 
19. TNA, CAB 21 / 1861, Federation Plan for the Elimination of the Communist Organisa­

tion and Armed Forces in Malaya, May 24, 1950. 
20. Ibid. 
21. Colonial Office [CO] 537 / 5984, Definition of Terrorism, laid down in the Federation 

of Malaya Government Gazette, July 13, 1950, No. 32, Vol. III, L.N. 302 in the Emergency 
(Amendment No 12) Regs, 1950. By command of M.V. Del Tufo, Acting Chief Secretary, July 
4, 1950. 
22. O’Ballance, Malaya: The Communist Insurgent War, 107. 
23. TNA, CAB 21 / 1681, “Various Matters Discussed with the Authorities in Malaya,” mem­

orandum by Arthur Griffiths, Secretary of State for the Colonies, circulated to the Malaya Com­
mittee of the Cabinet, July 15, 1950. 
24. TNA, CAB 21/ 1681, “The Present Situation in Malaya,” memorandum by Arthur 

Griffiths, Secretary of State for the Colonies, circulated to the Malaya Committee of the Cabi­
net, September 22, 1950. 

103 



 

25. Progress was significantly slower in the nonpriority areas, where 50,000 squatters had 
been resettled but 280,000 remained. CAB 21 / 2884, Sir Harold Briggs, Director of Opera­
tions, “Progress Report on Situation in Malaya,” February 15, 1951. 
26. TNA, CO 1022 / 32, Sir Harold Briggs, Director of Operations, Malaya Directive No. 13: 

Appendix A: “Administration of Chinese Settlements,” February 26, 1951. 
27. Nagl, Learning to Eat Soup with a Knife, 75. 
28. TNA, CAB 21 / 2884, Sir Harold Briggs, Director of Operations, and Sir Henry Gurney, 

British High Commissioner in Malaya, “Combined Appreciation of the Emergency Situation,” 
circulated to the Malaya Committee of the Cabinet, June 4, 1951. 
29. Noel Barber, The War of the Running Dogs: The Malayan Emergency, 1948-1960 (New 

York: Weybright and Talley, 1971), 130-132. 
30. TNA, CO 1022 / 7, Telegram from the Federation of Malaya (unsigned) to Oliver Lyttel­

ton, Secretary of State for the Colonies, November 1, 1951. 
31. Ibid. Lyttelton was named as Colonial Secretary on October 27, two days after the Gen­

eral Election had taken place. 
32. Barber, The War of the Running Dogs, 141. 
33. Ibid, 141-143. 
34. John Cloake, Templer: Tiger of Malaya: The Life of Field Marshal Sir Gerald Templer 

(London: Harrap, 1985), 201-209. 
35. TNA, CO 1022 / 51, Telegram from General Sir Gerald Templer, High Commissioner, to 

Oliver Lyttelton, Secretary of State for the Colonies, February 13, 1952. 
36. Quoted in the page of Barber, The War of the Running Dogs. 
37. For more on the aftermath of the Malayan Emergency and the formation of Malaysia, see 

Clutterback, Conflict and Violence in Singapore and Malaysia, chapters 15-20. 

104 



Panel 2—The Interagency Process: Southeast Asia
 
(Submitted Paper)
 

Counterinsurgency, the Interagency Process, and Vietnam:

The American Experience
 

by
 

Jeffrey Woods, Ph.D.
 
Arkansas Tech University
 

The American military and civilian officers involved in the counterinsurgency ef­
fort in South Vietnam, represented a myriad of bureaucratic cultures and interests. Some 
were conventional soldiers, trained to fight the North Vietnamese regular army. Others 
were special forces, proficient in counterguerilla tactics. Some were diplomats who 
had language skills and a deep understanding of the Vietnamese history and culture. 
Others were spies, skilled in intelligence trade craft. Some were agricultural, medical, 
or propaganda experts. Many were a mix of all of the above. Some served huge bureau­
cracies, others small. Some had their funding subject to strict public oversight; others 
spent money with little supervision. Some worked in contested areas, others in regions 
almost completely pacified. 

Communication, cooperation, and coordination of these men and their agencies 
proved difficult from the beginning of the American advisory effort in Vietnam. Though 
they shared the common goal of defeating the Communist insurgents and building a 
viable non-Communist South Vietnamese government, their means often ran at such 
cross purposes that they were conveyed to their Vietnamese counterparts as fundamen­
tal, even irreconcilable political differences. A formal structure to better coordinate the 
activities of the various agencies implemented in 1967, helped to unify the message, 
but by that point the rifts were already entrenched and the opportunity for a war chang­
ing, unified effort had past.1 

Mao Zedong famously tutored his guerillas that they were fish that depended on the 
water of the population for their survival. The Viet Cong (VC) adopted Mao’s wisdom. 
Their primary goal throughout the war was to win the people, especially the majority 
rural peasantry, to the Communist cause. From the beginning, American counterinsur­
gency experts recognized this “people’s war” as the conflict’s center of gravity, and 
stressed the need to establish the authority of the South Vietnamese government in the 
countryside. They would deprive the VC of the water in which they swam. Establish­
ing government authority, however, proved no easy task. Though recruited, trained, 
and supplied by the North, the VC were Southerners with kinship and friendship ties 
within the communities in which they operated. The South Vietnamese government, 
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on the other hand, routinely deployed forces from the outside. Government officials, 
in addition, were often corrupt and unpopular. The exposing, capturing, and killing of 
VC by the government or its allied forces was, therefore, a complicated and poten­
tially counterproductive activity. Security measures had to be offset with economic 
and social programs and carefully balanced for each of the various local, regional, and 
national South Vietnamese political environments.2 

From the first days of the American involvement in the Vietnam conflict, coun­
terinsurgency and pacification went hand in hand. Civic and political action had to be 
coordinated with military operations. The group originally deployed to oversee that co­
ordination was the Saigon Military Mission (SMM). SMM was led by pacification and 
counterinsurgency guru Ed Lansdale who was fresh from helping Ramon Magsaysay 
build an army, suppress the Huk insurgency, and establish a government in the Phil­
ippines. Lansdale’s SMM was CIA funded and administered, but it was independent 
of the Saigon Station. The members of the small twelve man SMM team, including 
Lansdale, were seconded to the CIA from the military or were given positions in the 
military as cover. 

From 1954 to 1956, the overall American advisory mission was small enough that 
interagency coordination of counterinsurgency and pacification operations could be 
handled by the SMM; nevertheless, even then it was clear that serving the missions of 
the CIA and United States Army in support of a new leadership under Ngo Dinh Diem 
was politically complicated. Diem was Catholic in a country that was 90 percent Bud­
dhist. He was virtually unknown as a public figure, especially when compared to Ho 
Chi Minh. He led a government that favored the urban affluent classes over the rural 
peasantry. He was an anti-French nationalist, but his army’s officers were recruited 
from the ranks of soldiers who had served under the hated French. And he faced a 
possible North Vietnamese invasion as well as the stay-behind Viet Minh insurgency. 
SMM drew on Lansdale’s experience in the Philippines, established PSYOP and intel­
ligence commands, set up a civic action campaign, and began training programs to 
make the Vietnamese army and civil administrators more responsive to the peasants’ 
needs. Lansdale also confronted or co-opted Diem’s rivals in the Hoa Hao, Cao Dai, 
and Binh Xuyen sects. In the process, however, Lansdale alienated the French, who, 
though defeated by the Viet Minh and in the process of withdrawing from the country, 
hoped to retain some of its influence in Vietnam. France used its leverage as a key 
American ally to convince American embassy officials that Diem was too weak a reed 
to rely on. Lansdale ultimately had to exploit his friendship and direct communication 
channel with CIA head Allen Dulles and his brother, Secretary of State John Foster 
Dulles, to convince the Eisenhower administration not to abandon Diem as he consoli­
dated power through 1955. 

With Diem firmly established as the American backed leader of South Vietnam, 
the SMM was disbanded in 1956. The CIA continued to run counterinsurgency and 
pacification operations but mainly in small scale experiments like the Civilian Irregu­
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lar Defense Group (CIDG) in the central highlands. This experiment and others like 
it were ad hoc and relied on local forces rather than the South Vietnamese Army. The 
army had been trained by American military advisors as regular conventional forces 
capable of withstanding an invasion from the North. With CIA help, Diem launched 
his version of counterinsurgency in the strategic hamlet program, where communities 
were moved to barbed wire enclosed compounds that could be cut off from the VC, 
defended, and controlled. Strategic hamlets, needless to say, made as many enemies 
as friends for the government. CIDG and the other local projects initiated by the CIA, 
on the other hand, were generally better received. They relied on what Saigon Station 
Chief Bill Colby called the “three selfs:” self-defense, self-development, and self-gov­
ernment. In the case of CIDG, specifically, the montagnard tribesmen of the central 
highlands, who resented the South Vietnamese government intrusions almost as much 
as the VC, were allowed to keep arms to defend themselves and maintain their relative 
political autonomy in exchange for their loyalty to Diem in fighting the VC. CIDG 
fought well against the VC, but as their military prowess grew, the regular army be­
came suspicious of their motives. Diem eventually downsized the program. Like the 
SMM, the CIA backed CIDG program revealed underlying competing loyalties among 
the American advisory agencies that translated into political rivalries for the South 
Vietnamese. Where the CIA invested in irregular force programs like CIDG that bol­
stered local autonomy and decentralized power, the Army invested in regular military 
programs that bolstered a national sovereignty and centralized government. 

The American presence in Vietnam increased from a couple of thousand advisors 
in the late Eisenhower era to over 20,000 in the Kennedy era. In those years, counter­
insurgency and pacification efforts were divided among a number of different agen­
cies. They were an alphabet soup of abbreviations and acronyms. The MAAG (the US 
Military Assistance and Advisory Group) and then MACV (the US Military Assistance 
Command, Vietnam) continued to provide the regular force training of the Vietnamese 
army and also from time to time supplemented their firepower needs. Political and eco­
nomic components, irregular force training and the intelligence programs that provided 
the crucial links between combat and civil action planning, were continued by the CIA 
but were also taken up by several other agencies. USAID (the United States Agency for 
International Development), and its various iterations from IVS (International Volun­
teer Services) to USOM (United States Operation Mission), provided money, training, 
and logistical support for building economic infrastructure, roads, bridges, schools, 
hospitals, agricultural training centers, and the like. USAID also provided civil ad­
ministration training for police forces and other civil administrators. USIS (United 
States Information Service) which became USIA (United States Information Agency) 
and eventually, in Vietnam, JUSPAO (the Joint US Public Affairs Office) provided 
communications as well as information, propaganda, and education programs. Coun­
terinsurgency and pacification workers increasingly came from USAID and USIA after 
1963 when the CIA was forced to withdraw from many of its covert operations and 
refocus on intelligence collection under Operation SWITCHBACK. The State Depart­
ment contributed its share of key embassy personnel as well. 
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Each of the agencies provided much needed expertise, but cooperation could be 
sporadic and again the different organizational cultures, the different ways the agencies 
defined means and ends, often resulted in complications for the Vietnamese, sometimes 
even disaster. Mike Benge, a former Marine and agricultural expert who worked for 
IVS and then USAID in the central highlands, remembered in 1964 working with some 
nuns building a church near Loc Tien. He received word that some nearby villages had 
been bombed, so with the nuns’ help, he picked up some food and medical supplies 
and went to the villages to distribute it. Visiting the province chief, Benge found out 
that the local USAID representative had had some success providing the district with 
money for rice, salt, fish and other supplies as part of the pacification effort, but that 
the villages had been bombed not by the VC but by allied aircraft acting on three month 
old reports of a VC PSYWAR team operating in the area. The lack of coordination 
between the intelligence, military, and civilian pacification components was tragic, but 
worse yet was USAID’s reaction when Benge reported the incident. Instead of reward­
ing Benge for his identification of a clear communication breakdown, USAID banned 
him from the region. His complaints had made too many political enemies in the GVN 
province hierarchy.3 

The struggle for a coordinated counterinsurgency and pacification was at its most 
difficult as the American military presence grew exponentially in the mid-1960s. The 
American military’s advisory roll had been from the beginning larger than the civil­
ian, but with the rapid military escalation from just over 20,000 in 1963 to some half 
a million in 1968, the American armed forces further dwarfed all the other agencies. 
MACV gained substantial control over the transportation systems, the buildings, the 
money, the guns, and the influence within the government in Saigon. Furthermore 
General William Westmoreland’s attrition strategy relegated the counterinsurgency 
and pacification effort to a secondary role. The number and kinds of irregular forces 
grew overall from 1964 to 1966 but did not gain in proportion to the regular military. 
Neglect and mismanagement threatened to take the “other war” completely out of the 
strategic equation. 

It was at this low point, however, that the push for coordinated national political, 
economic, intelligence, and political campaign was renewed. While agency coopera­
tion under a unified pacification and counterinsurgency strategy had been hard to come 
at the national level, there were some important examples of success at the province, 
district, and village level. Led primarily by the civilian agencies and the local Viet­
namese they supported, experiments in Long An, Kien Hoa, Hau Ngia, and Quang 
Ngai became models for new national programs. In Long An a USIS official named 
Frank Scotton organized survey teams that went from village to village learning about 
the community’s particular needs and mapping its unique political environment. Team 
members lived and slept in the villages and questioned every family so as not to make 
any one a target for VC or GVN reprisals. Teams then coordinated CIA, USAID or 
MACV resources to provide the village with resources and security in the most politi­
cally sensitive way. Scotton had learned on a previous tour in Binh Dinh, while work­
ing with a Vietnamese army officer Nguyen Thuy, that it was most effective if his men 
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helped the peasants plant crops, treat the sick, and build new schools, leaving it to the 
VC to condemn those projects and initiate hostilities. Communities that came under 
attack invariably rallied to denounce the VC and in many instances even helped repel 
the enemy. On some occasions VC even defected. In 1966 Scotton’s methods became 
one of the cornerstones of the training curriculum for the Rural Development Cadre, a 
new national South Vietnamese force used for civic action and political indoctrination 
in the countryside.4 

Boasting its own successful programs, certain members of the American military 
joined the civilian irregulars in calling for new national pacification and counterin­
surgency efforts. Perhaps the most famous of the military efforts were the Marine 
Combined Action Platoons (CAPs) that helped pacify several areas of I Corps near the 
border between North and South Vietnam. CAPs lived and worked in the communities 
they were helping to pacify and, as a result, like Scotton’s teams, came to know the 
unique problems of the village and were better able to coordinate efforts to provide for 
specific needs. The success of CAPs and other pacification programs eventually led 
Army Chief of Staff Harold K. Johnson and then General Creighton Abrams, West­
moreland’s deputy, to advocate a major reassessment of America’s Vietnam strategy. 
Johnson and Abram’s study, “A Program for the Pacification and Long-Term Devel­
opment of Vietnam,” known as PROVN, was published in March 1966. PROVN de­
clared that there was “no unified effective pattern” to American actions and called for 
a greater emphasis on pacification in the allied war effort. Under the advice of returned 
counterinsurgency and pacification guru, Edward Lansdale, Ambassador Henry Cabot 
Lodge quickly added his support and helped persuade President Lyndon Johnson to 
make the PROVN arguments to the South Vietnamese leadership at the 1966 Honolulu 
Conference. The most important force behind the new initiative, however, was Robert 
J. Komer a smart, intense, ambitious man who had been running the Middle East shop 
in the NSC. Komer and CIA Far East Division chief, William Colby, made sure that 
field reports from counterinsurgency and pacification officers like Scotton made it to 
Washington around the MACV command who typically weeded such reports out.5 

Shortly after the conference in Hawaii, President Johnson named William J. Porter 
to be deputy ambassador to Vietnam and head of the revitalized pacification program, 
but in the latter half of 1966, Komer persuaded the White House to turn the operation 
over to him. Komer gave the program a new title, CORDS, short for Civil Opera­
tions and Revolutionary Development Support, and began building the first combined 
civilian-military command in US history. CORDS encompassed all of the typical paci­
fication activities: economic improvement, security, and political development, and its 
officers held both military and civilian ranks. Province and district level advisors were 
recruited from MACV, USAID, USIA, CIA, and the State Department, and CORDS 
acted as a liason between those agencies. Special forces were also heavily represented, 
especially in the Provincial Reconaissance Units and Phoenix programs that were de­
signed specifically to root out the VC infrastructure. By early 1967, the coordination of 
the American counterinsurgency and pacification effort had reached its apex. 
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CORDS offered many solutions, but it was never the panacea its supporters had 
hoped it would be. First, the organizational cultures of the military and civilian agen­
cies continued to cut divergent paths in the Vietnamese political landscape. Coordinat­
ing pacification forces and regular military forces remained particularly difficult. Sec­
ond, the 1968 Tet offensive changed everything. Tet left the VC decimated, but it also 
sapped the political will of the United States to continue the war. With tragically bad 
timing, Washington made its first steps toward Vietnamization at the same time Hanoi 
chose to deemphasize the guerilla insurgency in favor of a purely political campaign in 
the South that would be backed by conventional North Vietnamese regular army opera­
tions. CORDS officials recognized the opportunity to fill the political vacuum while 
the Viet Cong were weak, but Saigon refused to act quickly enough. Thus CORDS was 
never really tested in the context in which it promised the most success. 

As much as some would have liked it to, CORDS could not replace the exist­
ing advisory agencies in Vietnam. The best it could offer was a bureaucratic overlay 
that facilitated better communication. Personnel from USAID, USIA, CIA, State, and 
MACV seconded to CORDS experienced generally improved coordination, but the dif­
ferent agency cultures, their varied means of fighting the Communists, still remained 
a barrier to unified action. The rift between regular military forces and the civilians 
and irregulars focusing on counterinsurgency and pacification, in particular, remained 
a problem. Ken Quinn, a foreign service officer with no military training who served 
four tours with CORDS in the Mekong Delta, posed the dilemma this way: “There was 
always a little cultural difference between civilian and military [agencies], but one of 
the great lessons of CORDS was that it was not just the different colors of your clothes 
but where you sat that made a difference in your attitudes. The army guys who were in 
the MACV team and I generally saw eye to eye, but it was a different view than army 
guys in same town who were advisors to the ARVN 9th division. The two groups saw 
different wars from different perspectives with different counterparts.”6 

Bruce Kinsey, a foreign service officer working for CORDS in Long An, recalled 
similar problems. Despite generally good relations between personnel working for 
CORDS, he remembered miscommunications with the regular military that had very 
real and tragic consequences: 

There was a village that I worked with like crazy. I had a cadre team in there. We 
strung up barbed wire and threw down tin cans on the perimeter so if the guerrillas 
came in you could hear them more easily. And we set up a school and the VC blew it 
up. It was fighting tooth and nail. The third brigade of the ninth division came in and 
set up at the end of the road that went through this hamlet. They ran these huge deuce­
and-a-half trucks through there full of garbage, and ammunition, and god knows what 
else. They were scared to death, so they ran them at fifty miles an hour. They killed like 
eleven Vietnamese kids. I talked to those people until I was blue in the face. And I put 
up signs saying, “US Drivers—Friendly Hamlet—Slow Down” and they wouldn’t.7 

Despite these ongoing issues, CORDS successfully unified the various agencies’ 
efforts in many key regions, especially in the months following Tet. In Tay Ninh Prov­
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ince, Terry Lambacher, an ex-Green Beret who served a combat tour in Vietnam before 
joining USAID, was among the many CORDS district representatives who took ad­
vantage of the post-Tet political vacuum. When the local VC leadership exposed itself 
in the Tet attacks, Lambacher’s teams, including CIA, Special Forces, and Phoenix 
personnel, were able to pinpoint the top ten VC leaders in the district and target them 
individually. In each case they used the technique that effectively neutralized the ene­
my while still maintaining community support. In some cases they embarrassed family 
members into turning in VC relatives. In other cases they deployed national police to 
make arrests. In others still, they lured the Communists into firefights. In all cases they 
made sure the South Vietnamese government took the credit for the operations and 
government officials justified their actions to the community. Lambacher made sure 
the district chief, in particular, received most of the accolades. That favor could then 
be used as leverage in convincing the chief to limit corruption. As Lambacher remem­
bered it, CORDS went beyond “coordination,” and even beyond “joint” action. It was 
a unified counterinsurgency effort that was winning the war in his district.8 

Larger political forces, however, intervened. Nguyen Van Thieu, who had joined 
with his political rival Nguyen Cao Ky to wrest control of the government in 1965, had 
been chosen chief of state in September 1967 having gained only 35 percent of the vote 
in an election that was only marginally free and fair. Just months into his presidency, 
Tet constituted an early referendum on Thieu both in South Vietnam and in the United 
States. Thieu was slow to act, showing more concern for his urban constituency and 
his personal power than for the “people’s war.” It took American leaders one hundred 
days to convince Thieu just to move his forces back into the countryside after Tet, and 
when he finally did, the soldiers arrived as occupiers rather than pacifiers. A full six 
months after Tet, Thieu finally accepted a CORDS proposal to initiate an Accelerated 
Pacification Campaign (APC), a plan designed to pacify 1000 new hamlets and meet 
new Phoenix quotas for eliminating VC infrastructure. Once implemented, though, the 
Accelerated Pacification Campaign bypassed real rural political development for short 
term security and control measures. The government’s return to the countryside be­
came just a land grab to be used as leverage in negotiating a settlement with Hanoi and 
creating a decent interval under which American withdrawal and Vietnamization could 
take place. Thieu effectively abandoned the people’s war just as the Communists, so 
weakened militarily by Tet, could only mount political operations in the South. The 
South Vietnamese government had belatedly gained a greater physical presence in the 
countryside, but the VC were filling the political vacuum.9 

CORDS continued through 1972, but Thieu’s continuing reluctance to launch po­
litical operations devastated morale. A small group of American pacification and coun­
terinsurgency experts that included Ed Lansdale, John Paul Vann, and Daniel Ellsberg 
advocated finding a leadership alternative to Thieu, one that could negotiate a compro­
mise that might save South Vietnam. They found a champion in Vietnamese national 
assemblyman Tran Ngoc Chau. Chau had long experience studying guerilla tactics. 
He had been a guerilla himself with the Viet Minh, studied American tactics based on 
Ed Lansdale’s experience in the Philippines at Ft. Benning, and saw firsthand British 

111 



counterinsurgency on two trips to Malaya during the Communist crisis of the 1950s. 
As a province chief in Kien Hoa, he had collaborated with Rufus Phillips, a Lans­
dale disciple and USOM advisor, in systematizing a pacification formula that became 
among the most effective in Vietnam. Chau’s Census-Grievance program was at the 
heart of the formula. It was a formal census consisting of interviews with the heads of 
households about local social, economic, and security conditions. Census-Grievance 
teams, recruited from the local population, elicited complaints about both the VC and 
the GVN, which allowed Chau to custom design civic action, encourage citizen loyalty 
through responsive government, and leverage intelligence for surgical strikes against 
the VC. Chau brought his Census Grievance program to the national Rural Develop­
ment Cadre training center at Vung Tau where he briefly served as head of instruction. 
Returning to Kien Hoa to begin a career in politics, Chau was elected a national as­
semblyman and mounted a significant opposition to Nguyen Van Thieu. In the words 
of Historian John Prados, Chau would be “among the first to understand the impact 
of Tet would be to move the United States to search for a way out of the war.” Chau 
would push for “reasonable negotiations and a settlement while Saigon still retained 
bargaining power.” Thieu, of course, worked to prevent any such settlement. The presi­
dent eventually had Chau arrested for treason on trumped up charges that Chau was 
conspiring with his brother, a Communist agent, to overthrow the government. Ironi­
cally it was CORDS head Bill Colby, CIA Saigon Station Chief Ted Shackley, and 
Ambassador Ellsworth Bunker who signed off on Chau’s arrest. For Chau’s support­
ers in CORDS, it was the last and most disastrous of the American political choices. 
As Doug Ramsey, a USOM worker who would be captured in 1966 and spend seven 
years in a VC prison camp, put it, the United States ultimately supported “traditional 
bribe-soliciting and patronage dispensing military politicians like Nguyen van Thieu . . 
. instead of socialist-leaning counterinsurgency and village administration experts like 
Tran Ngoc Chau.” They had lost the key ingredient in winning over the rural peasantry, 
a “solid, honest, civilian democratic modernizer” in the presidency.10 

One of the crucial things we can learn from the Americans who were on the front 
lines coordinating the counterinsurgency war in Vietnam is that success and failure 
is sensitively dependent on political conditions. That is no revelation in and of itself. 
The inherently political nature of warfare has been recognized in military doctrine 
from Sun Tsu to Clausewitz to Mao. But the front line American counterinsurgency 
warriors in Vietnam offer us a glimpse at the mind boggling complexity of the politi­
cal contexts in which they had to operate. Though they all shared the common goal 
of defeating the Communist insurgents and building a viable non-Communist South 
Vietnamese government, the bureaucratic cultures of the agencies they served and the 
varied tactics they employed translated into fundamental, even irreconcilable political 
differences when applied in country. Where some encouraged bottom up, rice roots, 
local self defense, and decentralized control, others supported top down, national army, 
and centralized authority from Saigon. Both approaches were necessary in fighting the 
insurgency in the South and preventing an invasion from the North. But the separate 
paths fostered factionalism that in part prevented South Vietnam from achieving a 
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decisive political victory in the countryside. When the American advisors achieved a 
new level of pacification and counterinsurgency coordination with CORDS, it was too 
little, too late. For all its potential, CORDS could not completely erase pre-existing 
agency rivalries, could not overcome the new strategic reality caused by Tet, and could 
not find the crucial balance of local and national government. 
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Panel 2—The Interagency Process: Southeast Asia
 
Question and Answers
 
(Transcript of Presentation)
 

Benjamin Grob-Fitzgibbon, Ph.D.
 
Jeffrey Woods, Ph.D.
 

Moderated by Donald P. Wright, Ph.D.
 

Dr. Wright 
I will start off with the first question. What came to mind, as I was listening to both 
of your papers, has something to do with the work that we do at CSI and all the atten­
tion paid to both Afghanistan and Iraq. I am curious to know, when you looked at the 
interagency processes, both Malaya and Vietnam, to what degree did these processes 
feed into a better intelligence effort? There is a lot of discussion right now about the 
creation of fusion cells in Iraq and the ability to pull in the CIA, coalition intelligence 
agencies, you name it, all kinds of acronyms together, and unless you do this you are 
not going to really be able to create a coordinated effort against insurgents as well as a 
larger, something they call a “pacification effort,” if you will. So any comments on that 
as you looked at your particular cases? 

Dr. Grob-Fitzgibbon 

One of my favorites, which I had to cut. The time restraints led to that. Briggs actually 
became ill in November 1950 and had to leave his position as Director of Operations. 
He died shortly thereafter and Gerald Templer came in. Templer looked at the situation 
in Malaya and said what Briggs has started is fantastic as far as the new villages are 
concerned and Briggs is spot on as far as drawing the commies and insurgents away 
from the villages to take on the British Army and isolate the position so that the civilian 
inhabitants would be spared the warfare, but he said there was no consideration given 
in Briggs’ plan to intelligence coordination. So shortly after Templer took over in 1952 
he established intelligence centers throughout Malaya with the intention being that they 
had army representatives, RAF (Royal Air Force) representatives, navy representatives 
in coastal states, police representatives, civil administration representatives, and those 
intelligence networks would have liaisons throughout the Malaysian community where 
information would be brought into the same building with police officers sitting next 
to an army officer sitting next to a civil servant sitting next to an RAF officer where 
they would all be reading the same intelligence and sharing the same information, and 
it could then be taken out to the plans on the ground. 
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Dr. Woods 

I hate to be flippant and too general about this, but Vietnam was about families. Fami­
lies are so important so this local-level approach, interagency approach, you do some­
thing good for the community, build them a road, build them a school. You make the 
Viet Cong into the enemy by having to attack that. It makes you friends. It makes you 
people that you would talk to and chances are they are going to be related to some­
body who is a communist, like Chau himself. This guy who was championed by some 
of these CORDS officials; his two brothers were communist intelligence agents. He 
spoke with them a couple of times, in 1965 and 1966, and Thieu used that as evidence 
that he was conspiring to overthrow the government when really it was just the oppo­
site. He was gaining information from those guys. He was using it against them so it 
was getting into that family structure and I think you cannot do that just with what he 
can do with guns. You can provide security for people which they can appreciate, but 
it is almost like you have to become part of the family. You have to be there with them. 
You have to know enough about them to have a relationship that allows that kind of 
intelligence to happen. So you need CIA, you need USAID, and you need those other 
agencies that have expertise in doing that, and plus who have the language skills and 
know the historical culture well enough to be able to do that. 

Audience Member 

I have a question for Dr. Woods. I understand your approach to Thieu. He is not exactly 
a lovable character, but at the same time, after Tet he did, with some prodding, move 
out into the countryside, and I am not sure, you may be overstressing the fact that he 
abandoned the people’s war. This was after all the man who, on our advice, set up the 
People’s Self-Defense Force Militia going beyond the regional forces, popular forces 
sending, literally, hundreds of thousands of small arms out to the countryside. Again, 
not entirely trusting them, but willing to take the chance with them and by the end of 
about two years the People’s Self-Defense Forces were fairly strong, fairly trained, and 
fairly well armed. This is not the act of somebody that fears that all those people are 
going to come up and rally against him. So I think he was willing to take a few more 
risks than you have given him credit for, a combination of that program and the Revo­
lutionary Development Program which continued to expand dramatically in 1969 and 
1970, I think, indicates that he was continuing to see the possibilities in mobilizing the 
people. Any thoughts? 

Dr. Woods 

I think that is fair. I am generalizing a bit from having to do the paper in this context, 
but it did take him a hundred days just to get out of the cities after Tet. And it took 
him a full six months to approve something like the APC (Accelerated Pacification 
Campaign) which could have been done immediately afterwards. Well, maybe not im­
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mediately, but faster than six months for sure. What I think is that that time was crucial, 
particularly if you are going to have an influence both on Vietnamese public opinion 
and American public opinion about those things. If you can fill that gap quickly you 
might have an effect on the political ramifications of Tet. Now, maybe not; we do not 
know. We did not test that. It did not happen. 

Audience Member 

Well, attacks continued into May. So he was still on the reaction side of the house, but 
I understand your point. 

Dr. Woods 

Not quite as severe attacks. 

Audience Member 

Thank you. 

Audience Member 

If I got it right, this guy Briggs shows up, a retired military guy. Things are not going 
well. He runs around for two weeks, comes up with a structure which seems to work 
until the end. Then they do some studies and then within a month or two he comes up 
with a plan which pretty much works until the end. 

Dr. Grob-Fitzgibbon 

Yes, that is correct. 

Audience Member 

I think that is pretty amazing that that happened. 

Dr. Grob-Fitzgibbon 

We have to be careful because, of course, the war did not end immediately after Briggs 
came in. 
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Audience Member 

That is where I was going actually. You said by 1952 the coordination was absolute and 
very good, and I do not doubt that, but even given all that, the right structure and the 
right approach, it still took another seven or eight years to make it happen. 

Dr. Grob-Fitzgibbon 

Yes, absolutely, and when Briggs actually became sick and then died, he was extremely 
pessimistic upon his death bed because out of the 300,000 Malayan squatters that were 
present when Briggs’ plan was implemented only 25,000 had been resettled and he 
had originally laid down that the Briggs Plan would be completely implemented by 
the end of 1952. As it was, the settlement did not take place until the end of 1954 so it 
was almost double the time frame that Briggs had expected because of the usual sort 
of delays every general imagines with implementing that sort of plan. But what we did 
have, and I can give you the exact information if you need it. Again, I skipped over this 
part for the sake of time. Although the emergency did not end until 1960, we do have 
a gradual betterment of the situation in certain provinces. So by 1957, the Federation 
of Malaya was granted independence so we still have a counterinsurgency coming and 
going for another three years after that. From a British perspective there was an emer­
gency going on, but from which the command of the forces and interagency processes 
were transferred over to the Malayan government. That was six years after the Briggs 
Plan was implemented. But again, you are absolutely right. The British forces and the 
British administration found a hierarchical structure that worked and found a way to 
coordinate them. Even within that coordination, as Briggs himself said, this is going 
to take time, even when it appears that the Malayan populations are settled, are peace­
able, or are in favor of some sort of British administrative structures, we cannot at that 
moment let up our guard because we have to ensure that the ideology on the line of 
insurgency has been defeated before we can give way on some security measures. 

Audience Member 

Dr. Woods, I will use a Thompson sort of quote, a version of it, but basically, looking at 
Vietnam a little later, he said that in Vietnam the counterinsurgency had three compo­
nents—nation building, pacification, and military affairs, and that nation building was 
the most important because it built the capability of the nation to do what it needed to 
do. Pacification provided the linkage between the central government and folks in the 
countryside, and of course, the military component for security was always essential. 
And then he added that the Americans, when they did those, if they did them all, tended 
to do them in the reverse order. And while you are talking about CORDS and pacifi­
cation there, I understand that, but do you have any insights about the interagency on 
the nation building side of that? Not just the pacification program that came in 1967 
through the CORDS program. 
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Dr. Woods 

I wish I did. That is actually the side that I am working on right now. Vietnamese 
politics is very complicated and the literature on it is not real sophisticated right now. 
So that is the area that I am going into. We do run into problems. I focused a little bit 
in my research on Bill Colby and trying to get some insight and what is he doing in 
Saigon and the current influence he is building, particularly in the CORDS years and 
his relationship with the Interior Ministry and that sort of thing. Unfortunately, I do 
not have access to documentary evidence and things like that so I have to do it through 
an interview kind of process. All I can tell you is that I am picking away at it. I do not 
know at this point, but you are right. That is the fundamental question. 

Audience Member 

You can get some hints of that, at least from the American perspective, by going to the 
foreign relations documents, but again, that is just from the US side. 

Audience Member 

I have a question for both of you gentlemen. In the interagency process, given that both 
nations had a consensus as we heard earlier from Dr. Yates, maybe one that has not 
returned, but a consensus nationally that these were emergencies and needed to be ad­
dressed. Both nations have their focus on NATO and the central front and both of these 
operations were supporting efforts. Did either nation have an advantage over the other 
in the process? What is the difference? 

Dr. Grob-Fitzgibbon 

That is an excellent question. Let me think on that for just a minute. 

Dr. Wright 

At least your paper, Benjamin, argued that one of the advantages that the British com­
missioners brought was their times in other colonies. I think Palestine and some of the 
African nations. 

Dr. Grob-Fitzgibbon 

Yes, I think there are a couple of advantages. I think that is one, that the British had been 
running an empire whereas the Americans had not. So, when somebody like Gurney 
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comes in he is not approaching how to deal with colonial subjects fresh; how to deal 
with some type of occupation policy. He is somebody who has been in Palestine for 
two or three years and dealt with the Palestine insurgency or Jewish insurgency against 
the British. He has been in Africa. He has been in Burma. So you have this tradition, 
if you will, of colonial administration which I think is a sizable advantage for the Brit­
ish. I also think in the situation in Malaya, what you have is that the British have been 
in Malaya in some aspect since 1608 and certainly controlling certain Malayan states 
and colonies since the 1800s. So what that does is the majority of the Malayan popula­
tion, when the emergency begins in 1948, are familiar with British rule, are familiar 
with certain British officials. They already have British administrative structures estab­
lished there. So rather than seeming as occupiers in that land, it is a certain minority of 
Chinese who seem to be rebelling against the system that was already in place rather 
than a system being imposed on the population which was never there previously; so a 
combination of what you brought up and that experience of the British in Malaya for a 
long period of time. I also think the British in the 1950s were not any way shy or em­
barrassed about being an empire, actually having long-term control over Malaya so I 
think for the British in 1951, 1952 to say that they were bringing civilization to Malaya 
and that the western way of life was self-evidently better than the colony’s way of life. 
It was perfectly fine in the moral aspect of foreign policy to compel Malayan entities 
into these villages to give them British administrative structures, to give them British 
social health, education, and that sort of thing. It was fine. That is what the Brits had 
been doing for 250 years. I think to the Americans the whole idea of, I know we like 
to spread our values, but the idea of actually obtaining a colonial situation was almost 
squeamish in this country. 

Dr. Woods 

Is that answering your question? 

Audience Member 

It does. I understand that the British do have a colonial tradition. Obviously, we are 
both speaking the same language, sort of. The point is we had been, the United States, 
had been in Vietnam really since 1944 and so by 1964 this was not a new process. We 
had administered the Philippines and parts of China and Cuba. This is not a new pro­
cess, but yet it seems continually just in the short period say from 1962 until 1968 to 
be an incredible thrash, although we had as you said, political consensus earlier and I 
do not understand why that process was not there. 

Dr. Woods 

Part of the problem is that the specifics of all the situations are so different. You can 
help control what happens in say Japan and Germany in the late war because you have 
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a big occupying force and they have admitted to defeat and that sort of thing. Viet­
nam is a limited kind of conflict by nature. I think that is part of it. The Philippines, 
it depends on what you think of the interpretations of this kind of stuff, but Lansdale 
thought it was all about [inaudible]. You had to find the right person who could be both 
in touch with the people and provide a coordinated national leadership and that was the 
success for [inaudible]. In terms of the larger issues that Ben is talking about, yes, we 
have this kind of . . . our anti-imperial culture is as prominent as anything in all of this. 
You do not want to go in and tell people exactly what you want them to do. Lansdale’s 
approach to it is that you are bringing people to realize what is good for them already. 
There is sort of this anticommunist assumption there, but that is kind of what he is 
arguing now and he is an advertiser. What you do in advertising is not sell people 
stuff; you give them access to the things they already want. So it is a different kind of 
process, and there is a real reluctance to be that heavy-handed. And I think that in some 
ways constricts the interagency process. We want it both ways. We want to be able to 
go in and help and control the thing, and provide control, but at the same time we do 
not want to be imperialistic about it. That may be the fundamental conflict there. 

Audience Member 

I have a comment and then a question. Again, one of the things that I came across that 
is interesting in the National Security Act of 1947 and during the war looking to the 
British model for some of the interagency coordination, military and civilian-military, 
but what emerged, and came out afterwards, was also the distinction between the par­
liamentary or the cabinet system and the presidential US system where you have one 
executive and a cabinet that has a built-in political coordination capacity on the Ameri­
can side and I just throw that out. That is probably a challenge and I will hit on it a little 
bit for us now too, not contradicting anything either one of you have said, but puts it 
kind of in that bigger shell that we have this problem in terms of the political organiza­
tion and the apparatus. 

Dr. Woods 

I keep going back to the Federalist Papers for some reason. I do not know why. 

Audience Member 

So the comment and question, if I may, I think I understand from both of you, but I just 
wanted to put this question out, how much of it, if this is a fair question, how much of 
it then on the back of the envelope sketch could you say is the result of individuals that 
were at the right place at the right time or the wrong place at the wrong time as opposed 
to structures and processes that were, in fact, survivable even in both cases, as ongoing 
institutions and institutional processes? Thank you. 
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Dr. Grob-Fitzgibbon 

I am a big believer in personalities in history so I would certainly subscribe to that 
interpretation. In the case of Malaya the choice of Briggs was very fortuitous in that 
he came along and he had the idea and the forceful personality to push that through. 
And of course, when Templer comes in he is even more of a forceful character and I 
think throughout the British imperialist experience you see the impact of personalities 
and recognition of that impact. My larger work expands beyond Malaya to other coun­
terinsurgency operations in the empire, and you see time and time again whether it is 
Malaya, Cypress, Kenya, Aden, Dhofar, memorandum cautioning against the lessons 
learned in an organization or an apparatus fashion because what they say is that in each 
of these campaigns, whether it be Cypress, Kenya, Malaya, what have you, the situa­
tion on the ground was so completely different, the context so completely different that 
they need to be managed in a different manner and the type of government, whether 
you use strict interagency processes in Malaya where we used more dictatorial power, 
in Cypress where we used the local sector population, and in Kenya that was deter­
mined by the situation on the ground so you could not take the DWEC/SWEC model 
and put that on Kenya or put that on to Cypress. You also could not take somebody like 
Templer and put them using the same methods of management in Cypress or in Kenya 
because that would not work. But again, throughout all these memorandum, back to 
what Jeff was saying, you see a patronizing attitude, if I may call it that, that I think 
brought American history to be somewhat uncomfortable with what the British have 
always, right through to the 1970s have been quite convinced that their way of govern­
ment and life were superior to all others, including the American system, and that it 
was their right and duty to compel others to take them. 

Dr. Woods 

I think the heart of your question is the really important thing and that is, what of these 
things can you control? When you start to bring up personality, does that become more 
a sense of chance and luck, like you said, right person, right time? You cannot make 
that happen most of the time. The people I interviewed were mostly civilians from the 
various civilian agencies. They have the hardest time, I think, talking about this kind 
of thing. They want to make a champion of somebody like Lansdale because he was 
in there early and seemed to have a good idea. It seemed to have worked in the Philip­
pines. Why could it not work in Vietnam? But then he is pulled out of there. Then you 
wait for someone like Komer and I hear people talk about how crucial Komer was 
to the CORDS project. Yes, that is true, but there are a lot of other people who are 
pushing for it as well. He just happened to be, how should we put it, very vocal about 
his . . . “Blowtorch Bob.” So yes, it was sort of a good circumstance that he was in 
there, but could Bill Colby have done the same thing? He has as much influence, but he 
is not the spokesman that Komer was. So there is a degree of chance, but the problem 
with that is that you lose control. In a way, I am more interested in things that you can 
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control, I guess. I think there is a lot you cannot, and a realization of what you cannot is 
vitally important, but that said, I think control is what we are all searching for, right? 

Audience Member 

I want to press this issue of causation because I think there is a danger here in conclud­
ing that interagency cooperation worked in Malaya because it worked, and in Vietnam 
was, as you argue, it was too little too late because it obviously did not work. In one 
mission it succeeds; in one mission it fails. And I wonder if I could press both panelists 
to talk about how we can look at these events historically and determine not whether 
or not these succeeded or failed, but whether they were decisive or how they were de­
cisive or whether there are alternative explanations, things that have to do for instance 
with the internal coherence of the insurgency or take your pick of any number of other 
factors. So it is obvious, I think, that cooperation is, in and of itself, a good thing. My 
question is, how can we test historically to see if it was a decisive thing? Thanks. 

Dr. Grob-Fitzgibbon 

I think in the case of Malaya we have a nice breakdown in emergency and ask his­
torians to study it before the Briggs Plan was implemented and after the Briggs Plan 
was implemented. We have the years from 1948 until 1950 where a particular military 
approach was taken where the British essentially considered this to be a continuation 
of the campaign that we fought during the Second World War, just delayed by about 
three years and with a slightly different enemy, but essentially the tactics to use against 
Malayan communists were safe to use against the Japanese, and that was actually a 
misunderstanding of the situation because the Japanese had been viewed by the Ma­
layan people as occupiers and thus the British fighting the Japanese occupiers were not 
really the enemy, but ethically the Chinese guerillas were somewhat less occupiers. 
Then Briggs comes in and implements his plan and again, I think he as a person is as 
important as his ideas and plans, but he is actually only on the ground managing that 
for seven or eight months before he moves, yet it is his idea which continues. Prior to 
interagency coordination the British were losing ground in Malaya, the communist or­
ganization was growing which attracted more members, numerous states were falling 
into a status—security-wise—which would be considered close to anarchy, the British 
not really having control, and then once the Federal War Council was established ac­
cording to policy, and once the SWECs are established, once the DWECs are estab­
lished, although it is going to take another nine years, we do see a gradual regaining 
of ground by the British and gradual ostracization of the Malayan Communist Party 
within Malayan society. So whether that is answering the first question which you 
cautioned against as to whether it was success or failure, I think it does answer the 
question as to how decisive was the British plan. Certainly the situation on the ground 
changed greatly after 1950, yet the Malayan Communist institution itself did not have 
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a dramatic restructure and they did not get any leadership in 1950, none of the other 
variables were changed. 

Dr. Woods 

Cause and effect in history is incredibly complicated and I tell my students the one 
thing you can learn from history is that things cannot be simplified. You cannot break 
it down, and unfortunately, when we come in here to conferences and things that is 
kind of what we do. We break down elements and things like that, but there are always 
other causations. There are always other things going on. In this particular case, my 
instinct is to look at implementation on the ground, at the local level and how it af­
fects the people that you are dealing with. So when I juxtapose somebody like Bruce 
Kinsey’s experience and his problem in trying to conduct pacification efforts at the 
same time the military seems to be killing civilians in his region versus somebody like 
Terry Lambacher who is taking advantage of Tet and getting great cooperation. Both 
of those are under CORDS. Both of those are supposed to be under a kind of coopera­
tive environment. They are different places with different cultures and influences, but 
that is the juxtaposition that I am setting out. Like I said, CORDS is not a panacea. I 
cannot make the statement that it is going to save everything. I cannot. But it was one 
of those untested areas, one of those areas that was tried, but I think under different cir­
cumstances might have had a better opportunity. Again, that is a wishy-washy answer, 
but that is history. 

Audience Member (From the Blogosphere) 

Given the mixture of views on how effective interagency has been throughout the 
historical vignettes discussed during this symposium and our trend to backslide on 
war-time lessons learned in times of peace and tighter budgets, i.e., in World War II we 
had a Military School of Government in Charlottesville, Virginia collocated with the 
University of Virginia to train civil administrators. Is it finally time for legislation, a 
Goldwater-Nichols for the interagency? 

Dr. Grob-Fitzgibbon 

I know from the British perspective, they have always been hesitant to make any sort 
of formal lessons learned procedure, sometimes to their detriment. I know in Cypress 
in 1956, you still have the Malayan emergency going on, you have had the Kenyan 
emergency going on for five years, the NLF (National Liberation Front) in Aden, four 
or five insurgency campaigns being waged simultaneously and the governor of Cy­
press, who had himself been in Malaya just the year previously in an official capacity, 
wrote back to the Chief of Defense and said, we are doing this in Malaya and it worked 
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quite well, should we try to attempt an interagency system in Cypress? And he was 
shot down very quickly. He was told in no uncertain terms that Malaya is Malaya, and 
Cypress is Cypress. We get into situations and different wars and whenever we get in­
volved in insurgency situations we have to look at the situation on the ground. We have 
to look at local contact and we have to develop a new form of plan. Now in saying that, 
does that mean that we should say that interagency works in some situations and not in 
others? I do not think so. I think we can look at situations of Malaya and central Kenya 
and other areas and say for each of them that interagency coordination of a certain type 
was attempted and a certain type worked. And in any situation where an interagency 
cannot promote the objective of the military only approach the British tended to do 
worse, but I think as far as any systematic we should always have a SWEC, we should 
always have a DWEC, we should always have a Federal War Council. I do not think we 
can bring that sort of certainty to the process. So any sort of legislation in recommend­
ing abstractly how insurgency campaigns should be run or how interagency processes 
should work, I would shy against them. 

Dr. Woods 

I certainly do not want to be a political advocate here. I do not want to advocate for any 
kind of legislation or anything, but I do understand the question though. We were talk­
ing about this actually before we came in here. This curious notion of lessons learned. I 
had a professor in graduate school who was very against that whole idea that you could 
get lessons learned from history. He was sort of willing to leave that to a political sci­
entist and others, but he said what you could learn from history is instinct. And instinct 
was built on very particular knowledge and a very particular place to a very particular 
time. So you could use the methodology to gain that kind of instinct on the ground and 
it allows for adaptation, right? But if you do a strictly lessons learned kind of thing, you 
will run the mistake of repeating past failures in the wrong context. 

Dr. Wright 

Does anyone want to be a political advocate for an interagency Goldwater-Nichols 
Act? We have one. 

Audience Member 

I want to touch on some of that. It is not particularly an advocate for Goldwater-Nich­
ols to the interagency. There may be other things much broader than that, but it comes 
back, I think, to the point that we need to look at structures and processes that we cre­
ated most of what we have in 1947 and the years after. It is at least worth looking at 
whether or not what we created and that which we can legislate and change is worth 
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looking at again. So whether it is Goldwater-Nichols, I will argue that taking all of that 
off the table is very dangerous because eventually it says that we have to deal with 
what we created ourselves from now into perpetuity whether or not the problems we 
are facing are at all relevant to the same structures and processes. 
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Thank you very much. It is a pleasure to be here. Indeed, I am going to take up 
somewhat indirectly at first, but I think then more directly toward the end of my pre­
sentation, the very question that came up with the person coming in from the streamed 
video world out there. I want to take a look, as the title suggests, to the 21st century 
challenges in the interagency process, and to do so in something of a historical ap­
proach which I will jump right in and say as a matter of disclaimer that first of all my 
views are not the official policy or position of the Department of the Army, Department 
of Defense (DOD), US government, or probably any other thinking human being. I am 
also a political scientist; therefore, I can violate all those good principles our fellow 
historians were telling us about—lessons that we should not try to learn from history. 

I can just jump right in there and make all kinds of mistakes and draw all kinds 
of wrong lessons and so on and that is just part and parcel to what we as political 
scientists do anyway. I will say also that I had hoped with this paper, and I will still 
have because hope is not a method as we all know, at least three historical cases—the 
National Security Act of 1947, the Goldwater-Nichols Reforms of the 1980s, and then 
the contemporary case. My idea was to begin with setting a framework for looking at 
the historical attempts to redesign, or to design and redesign and reorganize and see if 
there is anything we can learn there that would help inform this very relevant and cur­
rent debate that we are having right now about integrating civilian military capabilities 
in a whole range of operations, but they change the names so fast. It was only recently 
SSTR (Stability, Security, Transition, and Reconstruction). Stability and Reconstruc­
tion came first, and then SSTR. I think we are back to Complex Operations now. You 
know we are really in trouble when we come up with these large umbrella terms that 
can mean almost anything, but at least what we have now with the attempt of DOD and 
the State Department and USAID (United States Agency for International Develop­
ment) to work together and create this consortium called Complex Operations suggests 
maybe that is the new term. But the idea was to how, if at all, looking at some of these 
cases might inform that. I will stick to at least part of that. I will introduce a very brief 
framework that will not be filled with social science jargon. I am sure most of you will 
be pleased to know that, but I want to use it to look especially at the National Security 
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Act of 1947, and I will gloss over Goldwater-Nichols very briefly in hopes that I can 
spend a little bit more time on the contemporary, and end with that as something to 
draw our discussions. I will take a broad view of the interagency process, which is not 
only what I call at the strategic level, which would be in Washington, DC, but also on 
the ground and argue perhaps that in the end what is happening on the ground is often 
more important than what is happening in Washington, DC. I will make the argument 
that if what you are doing on the ground is not also supported and sustained at the 
strategic level, the likelihood that it is going to be sustainable over time and therefore 
successful in these complex operations is not very good. 

The paper is largely complete. The historical cases took up much more space than 
I had planned, probably stemming from practicing without a license as a political sci­
entist in the history realm, but I am still trying to struggle to find the right balance 
between those. And let me say this up front, my interest here is not in describing the in­
teragency process. So this is not a historical study of what it is and how it was created. 
I am really interested in looking at the role of the interagency process in integrating. 
This will become an important point later because I am going to make an argument 
that the difference between coordinating and voluntary coordination and the goal of 
integrated use of national instruments of power is one of the fundamental challenges 
that we face. And I will change a little bit from my planned presentation if time allows. 
I have some slides, especially on the contemporary challenges, which I will try to get 
to. So you are going to be staring at that one for a little while and perhaps I am going to 
conclude before you stare at any other slide. And you can ask yourself, “I wonder what, 
if anything, came behind that title slide?” All right, all of that aside. 

The impetus for this paper, some work I have been doing for a while now is, as 
I said, really in the recent calls for reform, reorganization, what have you of the in­
teragency process. Certainly, a lot of us know that the attacks of September 11, 2001, 
caused a lot of rethinking in terms of who the enemy was, how we were going to fight, 
what we needed to do across the board in a number of different ways other than just 
simply military operations. And that certainly accelerated a debate about whether or 
not we are organized properly to conduct national security strategy and policy in the 
21st century. 

But my first point, as I have argued before that really fits with the historical frame­
work, is that there were many arguments that long pre-dated 9-11 about the changes 
we needed to be thinking about in terms of how we are organized to conduct national 
security and defense policy. They go back at least to the end of the Cold War. Some 
go back even further than that, but they have their origins in some things that were 
personal interests of mine, notably arguing, I guess 15 years ago now, that one of the 
new strategic imperatives that we were really going to face is what I will come back 
to later and call the good governance deficit. That is the whole panoply of things such 
as failed, failing, fragile, and weak states, ungovernability, and a host of problems that 
grow out of them. We will come back to that, as I said, if time allows. I am going to do 
my best to make sure it does. 
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The point made earlier and I just want to mention this again. I am one of those 
that adheres to the view that there is no such thing as the interagency as a noun. It is 
not a person, place, or thing, but that is an important thing to say. It is not amorphous, 
often shifting and changing set of representatives from US government agencies, and 
increasingly, from nongovernmental agencies and nonagency organizations. I am sure 
my fellow panelists here will help us understand very importantly how international 
nongovernmental organizations play in this realm as well. Sometimes they meet for­
mally. Sometimes they meet informally. Sometimes they meet in places as obvious as 
Washington, DC, or sometimes as obscure as a remote PRT (Provincial Reconstruction 
Team) setting in rural Afghanistan. I hope that, again, my remarks will address and 
cover those variations. 

Let me start then with the basic framework for looking at institutional change. 
There are really five components to this and I have stolen heavily and shamelessly 
from a friend and colleague, Doug Stuart of Dickinson College, who if you have not 
read, has just recently completed a book which is excellent. He has an article out 
ahead of it, but in the framework that I am going to be drawing on from him is not in 
that book Creating a National Security State, but it is an excellent historical study of 
the National Security Act of 1947. The article is “Constructing the Iron Cage,” which 
should be published by SSI (Strategic Studies Institute) by the end of this year or early 
2009. What he argues is that there is really a five-phase model of institutional design. 
It begins with an initial goal or problem. It is then followed by an impetus or a trigger 
event. There follows a period of tests and models, in which in response to that crisis 
or trigger event, you began to tinker around with things and try to find stuff that will 
work. I generally think of that as adapting and flexing on the fly. You then, on the basis 
of that and what things get through that testing and modeling stage, start to construct 
institutions and then you formalize those and move into the fifth phase which is the 
initial operation and adjustment phase. That is when you go back and try to fix and, 
again, tinker further with those and ideally fine tune them. Stuart goes on to explain 
that that initial goal or problem combines with a trigger event to create a public theory. 
And that public theory for our purposes is little more than an agreement, both in the 
public’s and in the policy-makers’ and leaders’ minds that this is a general explanation 
for what is going on. That then provides the framework for guiding the search for the 
tests and models piece, what you try, develop and use, and that then butts up against 
the reality of institutional creation, and you go into the final phase, as we said, also 
scientifically known as the shake-out period in which you basically find what works 
and what does not work and adjust accordingly. I would like then to use that as the very 
simple framework for this historical piece on the National Security Act of 1947. 

Stuart and others make the argument that if you really want to look at the thought 
processes that exist and the definition of the problem that occurred it certainly did not 
occur in 1945 and the immediate post-Cold War era. It also did not occur in December 
of 1941 with the Pearl Harbor attack. A lot of the thinking had already been expressed, 
written, spoken, and otherwise circulated in the 1930s. So a lot of that had to do with 
the rise of totalitarian states, obviously the growing power that Nazi Germany and Ja­
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pan had, and the threats that those countries and their ways of life posed to the United 
States. The way they were organized, the powers that they had, and so on, seemed to 
be threats, and the concern was that the old concept of national interests needed to be 
rethought and there was a new concept introduced into the, at least policy, lexicon. The 
concept, of course, was national security, something broader than national interests. 
That then was the problem. The goal was to find out how to make the United States, 
in essence, more competitive with the totalitarian threats and the new technologies in 
their hands that we saw rising before us at the time. So we needed to be more competi­
tive in foreign and defense policy realms. The trigger event, as we all know, was Pearl 
Harbor on December 7, 1941. More than just an impetus for change, as we will see we 
have had later, this one was a trigger event of grand proportions that would become 
both a symbol of what was wrong with the existing security architecture and what was 
needed to address it. So what we find in this period is that there was a confluence of 
the early thinking that had already gone on, a trigger event that really drove interest 
in doing something about it, and that forced thought into action. And the confluence 
created the public theory that I referred to, namely, that we needed to do some of these 
things, perhaps moving away from national interests and national security as a concept 
to drive it and to take a look at the four lessons that came out of it. The institutional 
design effort, this testing by the way phase, was one that we could then conduct dur­
ing the actual war itself. So you could see the institutional design effort beginning in 
1941 in how the US organized to fight the war, how it developed and coordinated the 
immediate post-war policies, and then in the attempts to construct the actual post-war 
foreign and defense policy system. 

The four lessons, we will just go through these quickly because we all know them. 
Obviously, one was we needed new and better institutions for collecting and analyzing 
information so there could be no more Pearl Harbors. We also needed a permanent and 
more influential military voice in the peacetime making of foreign and security policy, 
something that was very new to US culture historically and would probably have been 
almost impossible were it not for the Pearl Harbor event. Third, the US needed to 
ensure the interservice as well as civilian-military cooperation would be seamless and 
ongoing in peace and in war time. And fourth, the US needed new procedures for in­
tegrating the capabilities of the domestic economy, especially industry and science in 
the new national security state. Now, as I said, the first elements as we got into that, the 
public theory was formed, the testing stage is really what we can see in how the United 
States organizes to fight the war. We created what one author has referred to as an ac­
cidental Joint Chiefs of Staff as we needed to coordinate with the Brits. As it turned 
out there was not a similar system so that we could communicate with their equivalent 
staff. Shortly thereafter an ad hoc Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff emerged and 
as the issues of postwar reconstruction and occupation began to require attention, the 
need for improved civilian-military cooperation was addressed through the creation 
of the State-War-Navy Coordinating Committee, and I cannot even pronounce this 
acronym since there is no vowel in there, SWNCC, which I am sure many of you are 
familiar with. It is interesting and I alluded to that in a comment earlier today, that 
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committee, again, according to at least a couple of historians was one that presaged a 
trend, and that trend was State was outnumbered two to one within that committee by 
the Armed Services and the institution itself became gradually to be dominated by the 
military. It was an institution that also foreshadowed this lesson learned and that is the 
application of a continued and strengthened military voice in US foreign and defense 
policy. Now, there is a lot more detail in all of this. I want to just fast forward a little bit 
to simply point out that with all of those changes as we fought the war, we came out of 
the war with what seemed to be a consensus, a very important term alluded to earlier, 
that we really had to institutionalize this for the new world. The experiments that were 
relatively easy to implement in war time, however, that test and model stage, now 
moved into the construction stage where concrete institutions and processes had to be 
proposed, debated, constituted, and eventually put into action. And as Stuart himself 
notes, “The fact that policy makers agreed on the need for institutional reform did not 
make it any easier for them to agree upon the details.” This could be words of wisdom 
for today’s ongoing debates. 

What ensued, and let me go through this very quickly. Many of you in here are 
familiar with it. From 1945 roughly until the 1947 Act was passed in late July of that 
year and signed into law, the effort to achieve military unification, a key point of that 
reform, clearly dominated in terms of time, energy and attention all of the other ele­
ments of that National Security Act of 1947. We know by now that Army leaders abdi­
cated a full merger of the Army and the Navy, a problem that many of us in this room 
can probably see no problem with today, right?  The creation of a Joint Chiefs of Staff 
with a Chief of Staff at the helm that would serve as the principal military advisor to 
the President. This idea which seemed to work fairly smoothly, probably because it 
was modeled a little bit after our Combatant Command model of today, was not going 
to survive very long after the conclusion of World War II. The Navy switched fairly 
quickly over to a system that emphasized coordination over merger, and I ask you to 
bear with me on that because it is a key word for all of what I am going to argue here. 
It emphasized coordination over merger. President Truman and his supporters of full 
unification and integration eventually got far from all of what they wanted. Forrest­
al’s efforts that I alluded to earlier today to stave off unification and the Secretary of 
the Navy was very successful and it points to the difficulty of forcing comprehensive 
change on a system designed to innovate at the margins, if at all. Forrestal’s victory is 
the result, and I quote, “of his ability to garner Congressional support and to channel it 
using tactics that frequently verged on insubordination.”  And yet, according to Stuart 
the very institution that Forrestal had succeeded in creating in opposition to full and 
complete unification, the national military establishment which with amendments and 
new legislation and so on would later become the Department of Defense wound up 
with Forrestal himself serving as the first Secretary of National Defense, and it could 
not even stand the test of the first six months of operation. The initial operation and 
adjustment phase began almost immediately and it did so in earnest. What Forrestal 
had done using a friend of his and a well-known advisor at the time, Eberstadt, wrote 
a report that shifted the focus of the debate from the military per se to civilian-military 
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coordination at the top of the Washington policy community. The central issue of all 
the organizational and reform efforts at that time and since then have been clear and 
consistent, improving civilian-military coordination. 

I will fast forward again, August 5, 1949, major amendments to the National Se­
curity Act were passed trying to fix the very first problem, I think, August 11th, 16 
days after the National Security Act was passed. I believe the Army circulated a memo 
having to do with significant military roles and missions that did not mention any of­
fensive operations on the part of the Navy. That launched the first of the modern in­
terservice rivalry battles. In August of 1949, the Department of Defense emerged from 
NME (National Military Establishment), the Secretary of Defense was created having 
more authority, direction, and control and fewer statements about how he would coor­
dinate, and the service secretaries were eliminated from the cabinet and so on. Now, 
other entities created in that National Security Act, the National Security Council, the 
Central Intelligence Agency, and the National Security Resources Board are three. I 
will not dwell on them. The National Security Act has also been referred to in this be­
cause, and the CIA got so little attention compared to military service unification that 
the NSC almost emerged as something of an afterthought. I will make the point that 
in my readings of the history on this, that the original proponents of this system and 
the National Security Council envisioned it as the coordinator of the overall system. 
And what is interesting is that over time the NSC became essentially a presidential 
or executive tool for managing foreign and security policy. It never became, I would 
argue, the coordinator let alone the integrator of all these various national instruments 
as even some people today think that it is. The original language that had it specified 
as that never made it through the debate in the markup stage, and as I said, over time it 
became a presidential tool for executive management and the same legislation gave the 
CIA relatively clear guidance in terms of what it was supposed to do, here is the term 
again, coordination information, never gave it the authority over into other intelligence 
services to do so. So for the CIA, it never really got its intelligence coordination func­
tion off the ground, and the debates we had after 9-11 were nothing new if you look 
back on this. In fact, what the CIA did under very deft leadership and opportunistic, I 
think, use of resources was to go heavily into the covert operations role which was not 
anything that was mentioned in its original mandate and downplayed the intelligence 
coordination role which it simply could not do because it all was hinged on voluntary 
coordination among institutions that probably did a lot of that during the war but were 
less inclined to do so once the war ended. I mentioned the State Department in a com­
ment I made this morning. It is interesting; again, there are several people that point out 
that the State Department seemingly made every choice it could to erode its own role in 
the still emerging and evolving Pearl Harbor system. Part of that was its own problem 
still seeing peace and war dichotomous and that the new postwar system would be very 
much the same. Quickly, let me mention that is the system we got. There were other 
changes; some of you have alluded to them earlier today. When I look to Goldwater-
Nichols, and I was going to apply the same framework, I could not see the trigger event 
and the same notion that we obviously had some failures or viewed failures in Vietnam 

132 



and others that were impetus to change. But the main point that I came away from here 
is first of all that most of what Goldwater-Nichols is not about integrating national 
instruments of power; it is really about unifying the Pentagon. It is almost exclusively 
operational and it is almost exclusively military operational. That does not mean it is 
not important, but it does mean that it is going back to one piece of the problem and not 
the problem that I said I am most interested in here. And even with that the cases that 
were mentioned this morning are very interesting. Panama, again, from my reading 
demonstrated how much we had improved in joint operations and unity of command, 
but equally, and I think John Fishel and others were alluding to this, there was little evi­
dence of real effective postconflict planning and execution. So again, we fixed some 
things, but the bigger problem I am interested in was not. And Afghanistan, I think we 
could look at Haiti in much the same way. Afghanistan in the initial phases was a real 
joint warfighting success, especially at the small unit level, but again a postconflict, if 
not failure, at least something much less than a great success. Let me say that the prob­
lem to that then is, before we are casting blame everywhere, a lot of it is Goldwater-
Nichols. It was designed to improve civilian-military control. It was designed to give 
better professional advice to civilian leadership, and in many ways it did that and by 
empowering the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs by strengthening the Joint Staff. Many 
critics then argued that the civilian control was actually weakened. Whether that is true 
or not, some of those same people say that the failure to act just as Elliot Cohen says, 
it is the civilians not the soldiers that have abdicated their responsibilities. So again, 
it is not so much the pointing of fingers; it is how do we get this integration. After 
Goldwater-Nichols I think if you look at this five-step framework I think it is surpris­
ing how with the end of the Cold War, maybe not a trigger event like Pearl Harbor but 
certainly a significant shift in the international system, and even with the dissolution 
of the Soviet Union no serious attempt emerged to really revisit the institutions and 
organizations and processes that we had. 

Let me fast forward now. I am probably already over my time; it is very close to 
the end. There is our institutional design model (Slide 1). If you come from the Army 
War College you have to have a Clausewitz quote in every presentation so here is mine 
(Slide 2). Actually, this one helps a lot because not only in applying to war, the funda­
mental premise that we begin with in getting institutions and structures and processes 
and so on right is understanding the nature of the security system that we are confront­
ing. And that is how I would paraphrase Clausewitz for what we are doing here today. 
To get strategy right you have to understand the nature of the security environments 
correctly and then it is lining up your resources and using them, the right resource in 
the most effective and efficient ways to accomplish your objectives. I will skip those 
last two bullets. 

These are gaps and challenges that I want to cover very quickly, and let me do that 
right now (Slide 3). This is the contemporary setting that I am looking at. Many of 
you may disagree with this (Slide 4). I believe terrorism is certainly important, vitally 
important. I believe that insurgency is vitally important, but I am not convinced that 
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terrorism in and of itself and insurgency in and of itself are really the kind of strategic 
kind of imperatives that we are dealing with. I believe that this is the new normal and 
that is a world in which it has all been spelled out. We have non-state actors empow­
ered with all kinds of weapons. We have serious issues of, I still argue that a lot of 
the problems of terrorism and insurgency grow out of the various forms and fashions 
that failed in fragile and illegitimate states that we have, and we can talk about that in 
discussion if time allows. 

If you have not seen “wicked problems” I encourage you to go to Wikipedia and 
look this up (Slide 5). I heard Larry Sampler talk about this when he was speaking to 
the consortium on Complex Operations, but there are some interesting things in here. I 
love the second bullet there—every problem interacts with other problems and is there­
fore a part of a set of interrelated problems, a system of problems. I choose to call such 
a system a mess. The point here is that these are not Cold War problems with a single 
definable enemy. They are not just about winning the war. They are about winning the 
peace, but it is about winning the peace in ways that are very much more complex and 
complicated than I think we have dealt with in the past. 

We will come back to this. I think that therefore, and this is truly Robin Dorff’s 
view on this. I believe that our grand strategic objective should be promoting effective 
legitimate governance (Slide 6). To grow that community where you have effective 
legitimate governance and therefore the gaps that I want to just quickly toggle through. 
Gap one is a gap between the reality and the understanding of the strategic environ­
ment. If we are at war with terrorism, a war and certainly a concept in general I do not 
have a problem with except I do not think you go to war against a tactic, and I think 
that is what terrorism is. I want to know who the enemy is that wants to use terrorism 
against us. But if you define it only that way, my problem is that in the “wicked prob­
lems” world that we are dealing with in these complex operations we are going to miss 
a lot of the other important things that we need to be able to do. 

Here it was alluded to this morning, yes, we have NSPD-44 (National Security 
Presidential Directive) (Slide 7). The President does designate the State Department 
as the lead agency in coordinating these operations. Yes, we even have DoD 3000.05 
that equates SSTR in reconstruction operations, the equivalent of combat, but where 
is the strategy? What we have, and I can go back to Clausewitz on this, yes, policy 
must drive strategy, but right now we have a lot of policy, but we do not have a lot of 
strategy. Now, we have generated some doctrine at the counterinsurgency level, but a 
lot of that has really been about how we are going to operationally conduct things on 
the ground to deal with the problem at the moment. We have yet to see resources flow 
significantly from either NSPD 44 or 3005. 

Here is something I borrowed, I spent some time working as a senior advisor for 
a company that has done education and community development work internationally 
for 35 years, long before any of this stuff came out (Slide 8). They have now been on 
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the ground in Iraq, in Afghanistan, and many other places around the world and their 
strengths are working exactly on the community development, education, and local 
governance kinds of things and if time allows I will speak to that too. I think these are 
organizations that need to very much be brought into this integrating argument that I 
am making. The point here is that you need organizations that can operate effectively 
in both of those spaces—battle space and humanitarian space. You especially need or­
ganizations that can work in those areas that overlap the two. The implications then of 
those two operational spaces, here is the gap I am pointing to, the gap between policy 
and guidance and operations in the field. 

I will let you read these (Slide 9). The joint civilian military concepts—doctrine, 
training, and execution. I am a huge fan and this relates to the last slide and to this slide. 
We have been doing some great things in the field. I have friends that are very much 
involved in some training of soldiers about to deploy in PRTs and I think it is making 
great progress. The problem is, again, it is largely military only. And why?  Because of 
some of the things we talked about earlier. The civilian organizations, the governmen­
tal organizations do not have the training float to pull people off and go through pro­
grams like some of you in this room I am sure have gone through or are going through. 
Somebody talked about the people problem that State has. I think the best statistic I 
heard about this, I assume it is true, I have not been able to go out and count it up, but 
I am told that there are more musicians that the Pentagon has access to than the State 
Department has deployable State Department people. That is kind of a worthless com­
ment, but it does make a point. That whole aspect of I have been a big beneficiary of 
watching military officers be able to take 10 months off to do a senior service college 
rotation at the O-6, soon to be O-7 level. There is very little float in civilian agencies to 
even come close to that. A two-week course at the Foreign Service Institute is maybe 
all they can cram in. Who can work that stabilization piece?  The whole of government 
is required, but we do not do it very well. When I say making it up in the field, we are 
learning great things about how to do things on the ground, but my earlier point, if we 
are making it up on the ground, but it is not getting back to the top, then it is not going 
to be resourced over time and it is not going to be sustainable. And if it is not coming 
from the top down and so on, then I am coming back to the cases that I have seen today 
and the question that I ask because the making it up on the ground then depends almost 
completely on who is on the ground at the moment. And it is not really in the kind of 
training and I make a vague reference here to training jointly. I mean jointly civilian 
military predeployment as well. 

The fourth gap here then is this gap in useable military civilian instruments 
(Slide 10). That gap exists and it is expanding. I just alluded to that. I mentioned the 
policy driving strategy that is not fully resourced. Executive and legislative branches, 
this is what the history piece learned. If you figure out where your allies are, you can 
prevent just about anything from getting through any kind of a redesign or design 
phase, and once again, making it up in the field, but is it sustainable? 
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I will not talk to this one, but what we have also done to fill some of these gaps 
then is to go to contracting (Slide 11). And contracting raises at least these questions 
and a number more, so finally, the functions that we need in US government versus 
contractor functions. 

I have already noted that where this story began with the National Security Act of 
1947. (Slide 12) 

My last slide really on this piece and here are the things I think we need (Slide 13). 
And unfortunately, it is leadership, leadership, and leadership. And I am fairly confi­
dent of leadership in a couple of these areas. I am less confident in a couple of other 
areas. And that is as specific as I will get. 

This I will leave up there if we want to post these later (Slide 14). These are some 
of the major reform efforts that are being addressed out there. Some of them are Gold­
water-Nichols II which is kind of Goldwater-Nichols for the civilian agencies. PNSR, 
the Project for National Security Reform. It talks about starting all over again and cre­
ating a whole new National Security Act of 2009 or 2010. Others talk about just a little 
better coordination and so on within the organizations that we already have. 

I think that is it (Slide 15). Yes. Let me wrap up then. I apologize. I believe that if 
we are not able to come to grips more fully with the requirements to integrate rather 
than stovepipe, to develop operators with multidimensional skills sense that cut across 
these traditional stovepipes, and by the way, we are now calling those, is anybody 
familiar with this one, cylinders of excellence, and engage the broader national com­
munity in these efforts the project is likely to resemble the sausage-making exercise 
that has all to often characterized that interagency process. I will leave you with this 
in terms of coming back to the framework for analyzing institutional change suggests 
that the ability of the US to adapt to these 21st century security environment challenges 
will be huge and perhaps insurmountable. While no structures and processes alone can 
ensure good decisions and outcomes really bad ones can make them almost impossible 
or very difficult to achieve. If we look back on the National Security Act as it was first 
proposed, as it was passed into law, as it has been modified and amended since then 
what we see is this principle of voluntary coordination dominates all of our thinking 
and we try to find ways to make us voluntarily cooperate better. What that fundamen­
tally comes down to is we give agencies, people, czars in the White House, and so on 
responsibility without authority, or responsibility, a little authority, and no resources as 
SCRS (Office of Reconstruction and Stabilization) is in the State Department is today. 
My argument is not that we necessarily need to throw out everything we have and start 
over again. My argument is that we need to go back in terms of what the 1947 Act did, 
and that was to have a very serious debate and discussion about what the challenges, 
threats, and opportunities are, what we need in the way of capabilities to address them, 
and how we can best organize in order to use the capabilities we have, generate the 
ones that we need, and take our strategy and policy into the 21st century. 
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The last point, I promise. I will get that Bill Clinton “thank you” in conclusion. 
Wild applause. If we do not get this integration through some sustainable structures 
and processes, still relying on right people being in the right places at the right time, 
that is an interagency process for the 21st century, I believe that you in the military, 
and especially the Army, will continue to very, very busy and I also believe you will 
continue to be very, very under-resourced. And there is a whole debate to have in there 
about whether or not the civil affairs, especially civil military pieces, especially of the 
Army, if this is going to be a lot of the work of the future if 90-plus percent of it should 
reside in the non-Active Component of the military. I strongly hope that military lead­
ership, and especially Army leadership, will play constructively in this debate, both on 
the need for taking this serious look at the problem and in terms of what the content of 
that should be. Thank you very much. 
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Dr. Robert H. Dorff Slide Addendum:
 
21st Century Security Challenges and the Interagency Process
 

INSTITUTIONAL DESIGNINSTITUTIONAL DESIGN 

Initial Problem or Goal=>Trigger Event=> 
PUBLIC THEORY=> 

Tests and Models=>Construction=> 
INSTITUTIONS=>INSTITUTIONS=> 

Initial Operation & Adjustment 

Slide 1 

ContextContext 
••	 "The first the supreme the most far reaching act of "The first, the supreme, the most far-reaching act of 

judgment that the statesman and commander have to 
make is to establish . . . the kind of war on whichmake is to establish . . . the kind of war on which 
they are embarking.“ Karl von Clausewitz 

• Strategygy is the calculated relationshipp amongg: Ends 
(Objectives), Means (Resources), and Ways 
(Concepts) 

• Interagency in Broadest Sense 
• My Personal Interests 

Slide 2 
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The Challenges and the GapsThe Challenges and the Gaps 

• ThThe StStrattegiic EEnviironmentt 
• Policyy and Opperations 
• Interagency: National and Field 
• CCapabiliti bilities and Resources: MilitMilitary andd R d 

Civilian 
• US Government and Contractor Roles 
•• National Security OrganizationNational Security Organization 
• Leadership 

Slide 3 

The Strategic EnvironmentThe Strategic Environment 

• TTerroriism iis iimporttant  b  t butt…. 
• Insurggencyy is impportant but…. 
• The “New Normal” and Good 


Governance Deficit
Governance Deficit 
• Wicked Problems 
• A New Grand Strategy: Promoting 


Effective Legitimate Governance
Effective, Legitimate Governance 
GAP I: Reality and Understanding of Strategic Environment 

Slide 4 
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Wicked Problems 
•	 Wicked problems have incomplete, contradictory, and 

changg ging reqquirements;; and solutions to them are often 
difficult to recognize as such because of complex 
interdependencies. Rittel and Webber stated that while 
attempting to solve a wicked problem the solution of one of attempting to solve a wicked problem, the solution of one of 
its aspects may reveal or create other, even more complex 
problems. 

•	 “Every problem interacts with other problems and is 
therefore part of a set of interrelated problems, a system of 
problems I choose to call such a system a mess ”problems…. I choose to call such a system a mess. 

•	 “a Social Mess is a set of interrelated problems and other 
messes. Complexity—systems of systems—is among the 
factors that makes Social Messes so resistant to analysis and, 
more importantly, to resolution.” Source: Wickipedia 
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The Strategic EnvironmentThe Strategic Environment 

•	 TTerroriism iis iimporttant  b  t butt…. 
• Insurggencyy is impportant but…. 
• The “New Normal” and Good 


Governance Deficit
Governance Deficit 
• Wicked Problems 
• A New Grand Strategy: Promoting 


Effective Legitimate Governance
Effective, Legitimate Governance 
GAP I: Reality and Understanding of Strategic Environment 

Slide 6 
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Battle Space

Humanitarian
Space

Policy and OperationsPolicy and Operations 

• NSPD-44 
• DOD 3000.05 
• Where is “The Strategy”?• Where is The Strategy ? 
• Implications: Two Operational Spaces 

GAP II: Policy Guidance and Operations in the Field 

Slide 7 

Stabilization Challenge: 
The capacity to deliver results 

i i i ttiin non-permissive settings 

Slide 8 
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Interagency: National and FieldInteragency: National and Field 

N  d  “j i t”  i  il t d t i• Need “joint” civ-mil concepts, doctrine, 
training and execution (e.g. TRADOC and 
PRT t i i )PRT training) 

• Who can work the “Stabilization Space”? 
• Whole of Government required—but we 

don’t do it veryy well. 
• “Making it up” in the field but sustainable? 

GAP III: IA Org & Process (DC) and On-the-Ground 
Capabilities Integration 

Slide 9 

Capabilities and Resources: Military and 
Civilian 

G E i t  d i  E  di  • Gap Exists and is Expanding 
• Policy drives a strategy that is not fully 


resourced (not just $)
 
• Executive and Leggislative Branches 
• Reluctance of Civilian Agencies (historical, 

cultural, bureaucratic, etc.)cultural, bureaucratic, etc.) 
• “Making it up” in the field but sustainable? 

GAP IV: Useable Mil-Civ Instruments 

Slide 10 
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US Government and Contractor RolesUS Government and Contractor Roles 

• Sourcing vs. outsourcing 
• If outsourced, how coordinated? 
• Can yyou “contract” functions without
 

“contracting” strategy?
 

• Sustainable?Sustainable? 

GAP V: USG and Contractor Functions 

Slide 11 

National Security OrganizationNational Security Organization 

• The legacy of NSA 1947 • The legacy of NSA 1947 
• The lessons of NSA 1947 
• Affects not only how we coordinate: 

– Define problem 
– Develop strategy 
– Implement strategyp  gy  
– Adapt and adjust 

GAP VI: USG National Security Architecture 

Slide 12 
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e ca eo e

LeadershipLeadership 

Milit• Military 
• Civilian 
• Executive and Legislative 
• American Peopple 

GAP VII: Leadership Across the Board 

Slide 13 

Some Current Reform EffortsSome Current Reform Efforts 
• 

• 

• 

• 
• 
• 

•• 
• 

Executive Branch Key Players: Adjust the Balance of Roles 
and Responsibilities 
Interagency Coordination and Integration: Foster Horizontal 
IntegrationIntegration 
Interagency Coordination and Integration: Create a New 
Coordination Body 
National Security Decision-Making: Require Greater Rigor 
National Security Strategy: Strengthen the Guidance 
Resources for National Security: Create a National Security 

Budget 
Congressional Oversight: Reorganize Congressional Oversight: Reorganize 
Start all Over Again: National Security Act of 2009 

Source: CRS Report for Congress RL34455 

Slide 14 

144 



these tensions.

Observations 
• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Assumes: 1) We really believe these are the strategic threats, challenges 
and opportunities we face, and 2) we really want to do something about 
them. Neither is a given.them. Neither is a given. 
If so, where is political will to lead, and convince the American public – 
and with them Congress—that this is what we face and we must resource 
the strategy.the strategy. 
Absent some significant changes in ability to integrate civ-mil 
capabilities, the mil is likely to continue having to do many of them.   
Implications?Implications? 
If mil continues in that vein, what about the respective roles and 
missions?  And what about skill sets that may reside in the Reserve and 
Guard?Guard? 
Clausewitz Revisited: “…extension of politics by other means.” Neither 
“Deliberate planning” alone nor “flexibility above all” alone will resolve 
these tensions. 

Slide 15 
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Panel 3—Interagency Efforts at the National Level
 
(Submitted Paper)
 

The Independence of the International Red Cross: The Value of 

Neutral and Impartial Action Concurrent to the Interagency Process
 

by
 

Mr. Geoff Loane
 
Head of Regional Delegation to the United States and Canada
 

International Committee of the Red Cross
 

Abstract 

The International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC) is an exclusively humani­
tarian organization. Its mandate to help victims of armed conflict derives from interna­
tional humanitarian law, of which the four Geneva Conventions are the foundation. 

In this paper, author Geoff Loane acknowledges the ever-expanding role of inte­
grated approaches to furthering recovery and reconstruction efforts by combining mili­
tary, political, and economic activities. Despite this trend, he argues that the delivery of 
humanitarian assistance to persons affected by armed conflict must be carried out in a 
strictly neutral and impartial way. He explains that this is the only way to provide help 
in a timely effective way and not place persons most in need at greater risk. 

The ICRC is able to work in such a way due to its strict adherence to the fundamen­
tal principles of the Red Cross Movement, of which humanity, neutrality, impartiality, 
and independence are paramount. In addition, the author explains ICRC’s operational 
approaches, including proximity, universal vocation, dialogue, and agreement among 
all parties to a conflict to ICRC’s role. In this way, the ICRC can secure the support and 
agreement of all the parties to a conflict and the acceptance of the ICRC as a neutral 
intermediary. 

Introduction 

Over the past two decades, the field of humanitarianism has experienced a seismic 
shift in terms of size, composition, and diversity. The hundreds of organizations now 
assisting persons in need, whether due to a natural disaster or situation of armed con­
flict, represent a disparate mix of actors. They include locally affected communities 
and individuals as well as governmental and nongovernmental, civilian and military, 
religious and philanthropic, and charitable and corporate agencies. Today, they col­
lectively harness an unprecedented level of resources. Moreover, each actor brings its 
own particular vision, mandate, and working modalities into the common humanitar­
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ian space in which all operate. While the sheer growth of humanitarianism has enabled 
more people to access higher quality assistance more predictably than ever before, 
threats to aid effectiveness abound. Actors struggle with delineating their roles and 
boundaries, sharing information, coordinating activities, involving and empowering 
affected communities, and linking relief aid to development programs. This diversity 
of operating bodies with widely differing mandates poses a significant challenge for 
the community of actors that work based on a strictly humanitarian impulse, particu­
larly that aim may conflict with other agencies’ goals linked to foreign policy or politi­
cal objectives. 

As an agency whose raison d’etre remains exclusively humanitarian, the ICRC 
bases its action exclusively on the fundamental principles of humanity, neutrality, im­
partiality, and independence. The ICRC ensures that the delivery of assistance sends 
an absolutely neutral message. This both means and allows it to work on all sides of 
a conflict simultaneously, identifying needs first hand, and having the support of all 
arms carriers, on behalf of the largely civilian victims of conflict. 

Other agencies do not follow these precepts nor could they, and some might argue 
should they. Governmental agencies, for example, often deliver aid in accordance with 
the national priorities as determined by their political authorities. Within the United 
States Government (USG), the dialogue has increasingly focused on what is often 
referred to as the “interagency process.” This approach attempts to capture the com­
bination of all the activities and resources of civilian entities like the US Department 
of State and US Agency for International Development (USAID) and military com­
ponents of the US Department of Defense (DOD), including the regional combatant 
commands. 

The challenge for the ICRC is finding a way to relate to and coordinate with differ­
ent interagency actors providing assistance, especially military ones, while safeguard­
ing its fundamental principles, which ensure its acceptance by all arms carriers and 
access to all victims, on every side of a conflict. These principles are more than words; 
they are practical tools that enable the organization to reach communities in need. In 
any situation of armed conflict or political tension, actions by outsiders as well as 
by local agents, are systematically analyzed for any political content, and judged ac­
cordingly. The very act of providing emergency assistance to civilian communities in 
armed conflict will be carefully monitored and analyzed by political leaders and armed 
groups for any potential impact that act may have politically. The bombing of both 
the United Nations (UN) and the ICRC delegation in Baghdad in 2004 was also an at­
tempt to intimidate those providing assistance. In general though, because it remains 
apart from political influences, can gain the trust of all sides, and serves as a neutral 
intermediary in the midst of hostilities, the ICRC is more often accepted in providing 
protection and assistance, on the exclusive basis of need. 

The following exploration will argue for the need to understand and respect the es­
sential value of this neutral and independent form of humanitarian assistance, in order 
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to ensure effective access to and support of all victims, regardless of their location, 
political persuasions and beliefs. 

Law & Principles: The Basis for the ICRC’s Work 

One finds the legal basis for the ICRC’s work in international humanitarian law, 
of which the four Geneva Conventions are the foundation. These universally ratified 
treaties provide the ICRC1 with a humanitarian mandate from the community of states2 

to help victims of armed conflict. The States also gave the ICRC the responsibility of 
monitoring the faithful application of international humanitarian law in armed conflict. 
As a guardian of humanitarian law, the ICRC takes measures to ensure respect for, to 
promote, and to reaffirm this body of law. 

This universal ratified legal basis thus provides ICRC with the authority and le­
gitimacy to negotiate with state and non-state actors about its humanitarian role. The 
two primary objectives of this negotiation is firstly, the promotion of the faithful imple­
mentation of humanitarian law. The second is to ensure acceptance of the humanitarian 
role of the ICRC in providing assistance to conflict victims across all front lines and 
ceasefire lines to all communities. 

Central to this are the principles of neutrality and independence, which allow the 
ICRC to make its exclusive humanitarian decisions without the influence of political, 
financial, or other interests. These core humanitarian principles mean that for the ob­
jective of acting as a neutral intermediary or provider of assistance the ICRC requires 
acceptance from all arms carriers, irrespective of their ideologies or political persua­
sion, the freedom from external influence to choose where to go, who to assist, and 
how to operate. These operating principles are at once the strength of the ICRC, and 
the single hardest aspect to negotiate. States and non-state armed actors believe in the 
justness of their cause and are regularly distrustful of the provision of assistance to the 
enemy, ostensibly as it may be construed to support the war effort. The ICRC aims 
not only to reach needy communities, but also to distribute assistance in ways that are 
transparent and controlled by its own, often-expatriate staff, thus ensuring no misuse 
or diversion of aid commodities to the wrong persons. 

On this basis, the ICRC works actively to earn and retain the trust of all States, 
parties,3 and people involved in a conflict or other situation of violence.4 This trust 
is based on an awareness of the principles and practices of the ICRC, and through 
an observation of how the ICRC acts in the field over long periods. The ICRC gains 
trust through continuity and predictability. Combining effectiveness and credibility ir­
respective of time, place, or range of needs is a continuous challenge for the organiza­
tion, because it must be able to prove it can always meet the standard of assisting all in 
need, regardless of the context or circumstances. 

Experience has taught the ICRC that this approach offers the best, if not the only, 
chance of acceptance by all sides during an armed conflict or other situation of vio­
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lence. Arms carriers and their political leaders would simply not allow an agency to 
travel freely across front lines distributing assistance with motives other than humani­
tarian ones. 

The Operational Aspects of ICRC Work 

In order to implement this policy of independence, neutrality and impartiality, the 
ICRC must build confidence with arms carriers and their leaders through its opera­
tional approaches. Primarily, the ICRC favors field-based engagement. It meets, works 
with, and lives in the midst of communities whose lives have been affected by conflict. 
The proximity of ICRC to those affected is of central significance for it helps to analyze 
and understand the particular needs of communities. Proximity also ensures access to 
local leadership, often the building block of political decision-making. In addition, the 
ICRC systematically consults local community members to establish their priorities, 
and to ensure that they are associated in the action taken.5 

The ICRC’s work has a universal vocation. It is not limited to certain places, or 
to certain types of people (such as children or refugees). It is present in all conflict 
zones, often for many years through successive changes of regime. This long-stand­
ing presence means that the ICRC interacts with armed opposition who may become 
political leaders, as well as with political leaders who may end up as armed opposition 
or security detainees. Such relationships, managed in nonjudgmental and humanitarian 
contexts often serve considerable value as roles change. Responding to the specifici­
ties of each context and working tightly in a needs-based approach are key aspects of 
analysis and strategy. 

The ICRC engages in dialogue with all those involved in an armed conflict (or 
other situations of violence) who may have influence on its course, whether those 
persons are recognized and/or acknowledged by the community of States or not. All 
those who may have an influence are consulted because multiple and diverse contacts 
are essential for assessing a situation and for guaranteeing the safety of ICRC activi­
ties and personnel. Such dialogue does not confer any formal status on anyone, as the 
discussions focus exclusively on the humanitarian situation. 

The ICRC requires the support and agreement of all the parties to a conflict, as well 
as access to all communities affected by the conflict before engaging in humanitarian 
operations. Any humanitarian operation can only begin if both (or all) parties to the 
conflict understand, accept, and support operations on both (all) sides of the conflict. 

One benefit of these operational approaches is ICRC’s ability to serve as a neutral 
intermediary. Because of its acceptance by all arms carriers, the ICRC has recently 
been able to negotiate a halting of armed activities by the armed opposition in Af­
ghanistan to facilitate UN-led vaccination campaigns and secure the release of dozens 
of hostages in Afghanistan, Ethiopia, and Colombia. The ICRC has also acted as an 
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intermediary in the repatriation of mortal remains and detainees between sovereign 
powers. A current example is the ICRC-facilitated phone calls between detainees in 
Guantánamo and their families, often located in remote and inaccessible areas. 

While doing what it can to help people in need, the ICRC also considers the efforts 
of other agencies working in the humanitarian world. The main objective of interacting 
with other providers of aid is to make the best use of complementary efforts in order to 
meet needs. Interaction based on transparency, equality, effective operational capaci­
ties, and complementary, reality-based, and field-centered relationships is essential. 

The ICRC’s Understanding of the USG Interagency Approach 

The current tendency among many other actors, most notably in the governmental 
sector is to “integrate” or combine the military, political, and economic instruments of 
power to achieve a set of predefined political objectives, including conflict prevention, 
conflict resolution, and postconflict nation building. In the United States, this process 
is often referred to as the “interagency process.” Indeed, Provincial Reconstruction 
Teams (PRTs) in Afghanistan and Iraq are the most visible representation in the field 
of this integrated approach. Such an approach is based on multiple objectives, many of 
which reach well beyond the humanitarian imperative into realms of good governance, 
strengthening civil institutions and reinforcing compliance with “good behavior.” Such 
an approach is not confined to western democratic states. Other actors such as Hezbol­
lah and Hamas have incorporated civil society interventions, including the provision of 
social services, into their efforts to reinforce their relationships and influence over their 
constituencies. To the extent that such mechanisms exist in places of conflict, they will 
suggest a direct link between delivery of humanitarian assistance and political objec­
tives. This linking of emergency assistance (development aid has long been associated 
with political conditionality) with political condition is a new departure for a system 
of assistance that long held the value that suffering in disasters merited absolute and 
unconditional assistance as soon as possible. 

The current developments stem from the US Government Interagency Initiative6 

in 1997 when President Bill Clinton approved Presidential Decision Directive (PDD) 
56. This directive laid the foundation for “interagency planning of future complex 
contingency operations.” Focusing curricula, budgets, and exercises on interagency 
practices and procedures, PDD 56 called upon government agencies to institutional­
ize lessons learned from complex contingency operations in Haiti and Bosnia. The 
current impetus, it is understood, stemmed from National Security Presidential Direc­
tive 44 (NSPD 44), signed by President George Bush, which detailed responsibilities 
for governmental departments in supporting stability and reconstruction. NSPD 44 
also charged the State Department with developing “detailed contingency plans for 
integrated US government reconstruction and stabilization efforts” and to “lead US 
government development of a strong civilian response capability including necessary 
surge capabilities.”  This has led to the establishment of the multidisciplinary and in­
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teragency structure housed in the State Department under the Coordinator for Conflict, 
Reconstruction, and Stabilization (State/CRS), whose primary objective is the harmo­
nization and implementation of postconflict reconstruction efforts. 

DOD has also moved increasingly toward an interagency approach to deal with 
postconflict reconstruction, and in doctrine has elevated stabilization operations to the 
same as warfighting. By way of illustration, in 2001, the term “interagency” was men­
tioned 13 times in the QDR, whereas “interagency” is mentioned 47 times in QDR 
2006. Extrapolating lessons learned from Iraq and Afghanistan, QDR 2006 places spe­
cific attention on stabilization and reconstruction efforts. This is a fundamental and 
categorical shift in the alignment of priorities if viewed over time and is likely to have 
a major impact on how the US military interprets and implements its role in the gen­
eration to come. The recent response of the US military to the conflict in Georgia and 
South Ossetia to distribute relief (on one side of the conflict) reflects this role DOD 
has identified for itself. 

The years to come will be instrumental in clarifying the architecture of the inter­
agency process and its relationship to the humanitarian community. The results will 
have a significant impact on humanitarian operations in the coming generations. 

Problems of Interagency, Utility of Independence 

The overarching question that now persists is how to respond to the humanitar­
ian needs of the civilian populations in situations of armed conflict in ways that are 
effective in terms of providing succor to affected populations, while guaranteeing the 
acceptance of humanitarian assistance as a neutral activity, aimed at supporting victims 
of conflict and without any political value. To what extent do different models of inter­
vention, be they rooted in political interagency interests or in notions of independence 
and full access, prove mutually reinforcing and to what extent do they undermine each 
other? For clarity’s sake, the following line of questioning focuses exclusively on hu­
manitarian assistance, as longer-term development assistance by its very nature is con­
ditional to the political interests of States that fund and of States and communities that 
implement. 

Evidently, no one organization or agency can respond to the entirety of humanitar­
ian needs. In the face of unmet needs resulting in the suffering of populations, who then 
is in a position to say how and by whom should humanitarian assistance be delivered? 
What are intervention criteria, given this reality? 

Second, how are humanitarian needs determined? And by whom are criteria de­
signed? Are they based on what agencies consider to be needs, or what agencies have 
in warehouses and/or consider appropriate responses? Do staff actually listen to those 
in need or do agencies actually think on their behalf? 
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Third, what happens when agencies move on? What are residual obligations to 
the recipients of aid and how are they determined? Availability of resources? Mission 
mandates? Political interest? In every case, agencies must consider the expectations 
created when operations started. The aid community is accountable to its constituents 
for the aid it delivers and must ensure that accountability is managed with the rigor and 
control as in any professional field. 

Moreover, how does humanitarianism assistance relate to local government struc­
tures or foreign occupiers, who after all are responsible for the delivery of health, secu­
rity, and welfare to all persons falling within their territory? Is that leadership role (as 
opposed to those who grant permission to foreigners to distribute aid) recognized and 
respected? For that matter, what are the obligations on agencies to provide sustainable 
resources to manage and run the programs they set up in an emergency? 

Lastly, in this debate is the question, who should provide assistance in situations 
of armed conflict, the most extreme manifestation of political disagreement between 
and within States? Is it possible to eliminate a conflict of interest between a military 
fighting a war and providing assistance at the same time? 

The answers to these questions are as complex, yet clarity around these core issues 
is vital to make humanitarian assistance effective and thus respected by governments 
and recipients alike. A one-stop shop for addressing humanitarian needs in times of cri­
sis is unthinkable. Crises will generate extra needs for which the voluntary and external 
humanitarian community and its supporters are required. Responses to humanitarian 
emergencies therefore will be a function of complementary activities by agencies and 
the factors that will determine those activities and relationships will include the nature, 
scope, and size of the emergency and the agency capacity and motivation to address 
the problem. 

That being said, humanitarian agencies—and this includes the ICRC—should 
accept the idea that the USG interagency, with its politically motivated approach as 
epitomized by the PRTs, is not going to fade away, even if PRTs are unpopular in some 
quarters because they combine political and military objectives with the delivery of 
assistance. Many Western countries are adopting and developing this model. As with 
all systems, however, some risks are inherent in the linking of humanitarian assistance 
with this approach. 

Humanitarian action should not be used as a substitute for sustainable political 
action. This lesson has been learned through all major evaluations of large-scale emer­
gency operations. The international community has tended in the past to overcompen­
sate for its political shortcomings through an increased humanitarian response. This 
does not help address the underlying political issues which the international communi­
ty has an interest in, if not a responsibility for, and also suggests that some humanitar­
ian needs are more important than others. International political failures in Rwanda in 
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1994, the Balkans in the 1990s, and in Somalia in 1992 all saw a surge in the provision 
of humanitarian assistance. At no time could such assistance address the root causes 
of the tragedies that encompassed those countries and failure to do so resulted in unac­
ceptable levels of human suffering. 

Related to this is the acknowledgement that humanitarian and other problems in 
a country at war are primarily the responsibility of the parties to the conflict. Hu­
manitarian action simply substitutes itself temporarily for the limits of governments 
to take care of its own population. This does not change the fact that governments are 
responsible for their populations and their decisions in all spheres must reflect their 
responsibilities towards their citizens. Such awareness, in contrast to that of respond­
ing to needs as a way of satisfying agency mandates or interests, would generate a very 
different assistance community. In the long term, only sustainable and proactive local 
government action will address the problems generated by conflict, and assistance re­
sources need to consider this when looking at choices for intervention. While not all 
agencies should or indeed could adopt an independent and apolitical perspective like 
the ICRC, all agencies should acknowledge the primacy of responding to human suf­
fering, irrespective of political interests. 

A further danger in adopting a political approach is that the armed opposition or 
parts of the population will perceive humanitarian agencies as instruments of a foreign 
and aggressive agenda. They will likewise consider them as legitimate targets in their 
war. Tragically, increasing numbers of humanitarian workers are killed in circumstanc­
es that suggest their role is perceived as promoting a conflicting political approach. 

Conclusion 

Humanitarian assistance addresses the basic needs of individuals and communities 
to cope in situations of extreme stress. Activities target those who are most in need 
and provide a range of life-saving, life-protecting, and recovery support to immediate 
victims of crisis. Actors who take on such work to benefit communities living in situa­
tions of armed conflict or political tension must provide such support unconditionally, 
whether or not a natural disaster exacerbates the level of suffering. Such contexts in­
clude the obvious countries like Sudan, Somalia, Iraq, Afghanistan, Georgia, but also 
more subtle contexts such as Abkhazia, Zimbabwe, Pakistan, and Nepal. 

In such situations, limiting delivery of humanitarian assistance to agencies that 
can demonstrate an absolute neutrality and independence is in the interest of all in­
volved, as securing the support of all parties is the only way to ensure impartiality. 
Only agencies with strictly humanitarian objectives can assure access to all people in 
need regardless of differing political interest. This necessarily excludes representatives 
of governmental interests, who will have political and partisan interests. 

Security of agency staff requires an acceptance that all staff involved in humani­
tarian assistance operate with that agenda. If governmental officials represent other 
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interests in similar activities, then the security of humanitarians is compromised, as hu­
manitarians may be perceived of pursuing interests that exceed humanitarian concerns. 
In a charged political environment, such concerns become security threats. 

The protection of the recipients of assistance depends on the perception that they 
are selected based on need alone. Should armed groups consider that certain communi­
ties receive assistance because of their collaboration with political or military entities, 
a real risk exists that they too will be charged as collaborators and their physical integ­
rity can be compromised. Should this occur, then the ones suffering only suffer more, 
the least desirable outcome of any humanitarian effort. 

Placing conditions on the delivery of humanitarian assistance, as is likely with 
government-supported assistance, introduces a dangerous precedent when lives are at 
risk. In the post-9/11 world, a number of countries have attempted to limit distribution 
of assistance in case aid might reach communities who may support antigovernment or 
even terrorist-type activities. Great care must be taken, however, while respecting po­
litical realities, to ensure that urgent humanitarian needs during times of armed conflict 
can be met in a neutral and impartial as well as a timely and effective way. 

Notes 

1. The ICRC is often considered to be sui generis: legally, it is neither an intergovernmental 
nor a non-governmental organization. It is a private association under Swiss law with interna­
tional mandates under public international law. 
2. International humanitarian law expressly confers certain rights on the ICRC, such as that 

of visiting prisoners of war or civilian internees and providing them with relief supplies, and 
that of operating the Central Tracing Agency (see Arts 73, 122, 123 and 126, GC III, and Arts 
76, 109, 137, 140 and 143, GC IV). In addition, international humanitarian law recognizes the 
ICRC’s right of initiative in the event of armed conflict, whether international or non-interna­
tional (Art. 3 and Arts 9/9/9/10 common to the four Geneva Conventions). The ICRC’s role is 
confirmed in Art. 5 of the Statutes of the Movement. In situations falling below the threshold of 
international humanitarian law, this article of the Statutes alone recognizes that the ICRC has a 
mandate to take action. 
3. In this document, “parties” or “authorities” should be understood to mean all entities (de 

jure or de facto) having obligations. 
4. See Art. 5.3 of the Statutes of the Movement. In its capacity as a specifically neutral and in­

dependent humanitarian organization, the ICRC examines whether it is better placed than other 
organizations to respond to the needs arising from these situations, such as visiting security de­
tainees in cases where information or rumour indicates there may be poor detention conditions 
or ill-treatment. 
5. They should contribute for example to decisions regarding priorities and regarding the 

implementation, management and assessment of programmes. 
6. Source for background information is taken from paper on “Interagency Leadership – The 

Case for Strengthening the Department of State by Lieutenant Colonel Shannon Caudill, USAF, 
Major Andrew Leonard, USA, and Sergeant Major Richard Thresher, USMC, 15 April 2008. 
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Panel 3—Interagency Efforts at the National Level
 
Question and Answers
 
(Transcript of Presentation)
 

Robert H. Dorff, Ph.D.
 
Mr. Geoff Loane
 

Moderated by Mr. Kelvin Crow
 

Mr. Crow 
Mr. Loane, I would like to completely abuse my position as moderator and ask you 
about your recent trip to the North Pole, but instead I am going to ask Dr. Dorff if we 
have reached the trigger point that you were talking about with a change in our think­
ing to the new reality, the new stresses of the new normal? 

Dr. Dorff 

That is one of the things that concerns me a lot. I do not think we have, at least in terms 
of the trigger event. I certainly would have thought that 9-11 was that and I had every 
reason to believe at the time that it was. But I think if we look around right now, I am 
not sure that we still have that momentum to generate the kind of consensus that I think 
Dr. Yates referred to earlier. And part of that is because, I think, there is still some con­
fusion to what 9-11 meant. I know that may sound strange, but if you think back, for 
some of us, including myself, cannot think back to Pearl Harbor, but through studies 
of Pearl Harbor you know that the American public really wanted just to go beat up on 
the Japanese right away. And it took some very astute political leadership, I think, to 
translate the trigger event into what led to the kind of action, both in the fighting of the 
war and how it was prosecuted, to then try to build the structures and so on afterwards. 
I think right now the challenge is that some of what got lost was in, I think, the focus 
on 9-11. In the short term that was fine, but in the longer term I think we had opportu­
nities to broaden that into a trigger event that really could have generated that broader 
discussion about how we really need to be organized. We will see, but right now if I can 
make the observation looking around the campaign trail today at the Presidential level 
I do not hear a lot of discussion about any of this. There are some very good people 
out there working, I just flipped up that one quick slide on it, about the reforms and the 
reorganizations that are needed, but I am just not sure that the oomph is still there to 
translate that thought into the huge effort it is going to take. 
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Audience Member 

I am observing that you suggest a trigger event. Your discussion of the National Secu­
rity Act of 1947 really shows how marginally it changed the structure. Post 9-11 we get 
two major pieces of legislation that changed structure. One was the intelligence com­
munity. We used that to bring a number of ideas together, but more importantly was the 
one that created DHS (Department of Homeland Security), and that frankly, is an even 
greater structural change than the National Security Act. The National Security Act 
brought together essentially three institutions, two institutions, split off one and made 
a third, and brought them together under one roof. The Homeland Security Act takes 22 
agencies of completely different cultures—some police cultures, one military culture, 
some intelligence cultures, not as many people, but certainly a whole bunch and 22 
organizations and says, “Work together.” That strikes me as a really tough job and in 
some ways actually more revolutionary than anything the National Security Act did. 

Dr. Dorff 

We should talk about this because I think in some respects you are right in terms of the 
22 organizations that existed that you put together and cats and dogs and so on fights 
that you might have with this, but I take a strongly different view. Taking 22 existing 
organizations and throwing them into one pot and declaring them the Department of 
Homeland Security was the easiest way out. Instead of really taking a look at what the 
true functions and capabilities that were needed were, we essentially rearranged some 
organizational charts and I happen to work with then special advisor to the President, 
later Secretary Ridge, as he was going through that process, and that was one of the 
things that really troubled him greatly because there was a rush to take all of these 
existing organizations and throw them together instead of maybe, again, pausing for a 
moment and asking ourselves what is it we really need to be able to do? And I would 
point to that, and my feeling on that, in precisely the same way, not just because Hur­
ricane Katrina was certainly the next disaster that brought that home, but the rush to 
figure out who is really in charge and what reporting line even. And after Katrina we 
have FEMA (Federal Emergency Management Agency) having this direct line back to 
the White House that is supposed to fix it comes back to this problem, I think, of vol­
untary cooperation, and in many respects I think Secretary Ridge felt like he never was 
able to get completely through that, that it was still almost like 22 organizations within 
one voluntarily cooperating with others. That is not to say it was not, it was hugely 
significant in that it shook up a lot of people in Washington, but I am not sure it was 
the kind of process of really taking the strategic imperative and translating that into 
the organizational need. And intelligence, I am not an intelligence expert, but people 
who are tell me that just creating yet another Director of National Intelligence, all that 
is doing, again, is layering another layer on top of it. So clearly we did something, but 
I think that was one where it may have been a push from Congress especially which 
politics drives all of this. Clausewitz tells us that too, but . . . 
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Audience Member 

But how is this any different really from 1947? 

Dr. Dorff 

I think it is very different. Thanks for following up with that because in fact, the insti­
tutions that did wind up showing up in the National Security Act of 1947, there really 
were not any of them as such that did exist before the war. Now, I was making the point 
that yes, the War Department, but in effect there was no JCS (Joint Chiefs of Staff), 
there really was not a Central Intelligence Agency. I think the precursor of all of them 
were things that were created, some of them in collaboration with some of our Brit­
ish colleagues in the war effort itself, so I think that was fundamentally different. And 
probably coming back to this question too, the transformation of an American public 
to now be thinking about national security as a peace time, not just a war time. That 
to me was an even bigger transformation although that is more attitudinal than philo­
sophical, but absolutely essential and why I am saying I do not think we have made 
the big transformation after 9-11 because other than the fear and everything that we all 
rightly had of being attacked again, has not really necessarily translated into dealing 
with some of the problems we both have been talking about which I think humanitarian 
and disaster relief in semi-, if not still non-permissive, environments, ones that are go­
ing to be caused by bad people who are every bit as much our enemies as some of the 
others are going to be the problems that almost all of us are really going to be dealing 
with in the future. 
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Day 2—Featured Speaker
 

Why Interagency Operations and Reform Are Hard To Do1
 

(Submitted Paper)
 

Richard W. Stewart, Ph.D.
 
Chief Historian, US Army Center of Military History
 

Yesterday we heard from a number of panels and speakers about how interagen­
cy coordination actually worked, or didn’t work, in a number of instances. Certainly 
Washington these days is focused on this issue with Jim Locher of Goldwater-Nichols 
fame, among others, generating books and papers about the need to reform the entire 
National Security structure to improve the planning and conduct of interagency opera­
tions and more efficiently focus the elements of national power on today’s crises. I’ve 
been tangentially involved in this Project for National Security Reform for several 
years, contributing to this collection of case studies on interagency operations in the 
past that came out from Praeger a few months ago entitled, alliteratively, Managing 
Mayhem. One fact seems to stand out from this study and the others presented so far 
in this conference is: coordinating actions through the interagency maze as it currently 
exists is HARD! And changing the rules through interagency reform to make coordi­
nating easier is, perhaps, even HARDER! So I wanted to take a few minutes this morn­
ing to discuss with you some of the reasons why I believe it is so hard to get things 
done in the interagency or to reform the process effectively and, at the same time, hold 
out hope for some eventual improvement in the interagency process. 

Two conferences ago here at CSI I presented my analysis of CORDS, an on the 
whole successful interagency experiment in Vietnam to coordinate all aspects of US 
support to pacification during the last five years of that war.  I was asked in the question 
and answer session what I thought of the prospects of some kind of interagency unifi­
cation act like the military’s Goldwater-Nichols act. My answer then was fairly brief. 
I stated that based upon what I had seen in the documents about the two-year struggle 
between Washington and Saigon, and between DOD and the State Department, and 
all the squabbling that it took to create that single manager headquarters in a foreign 
country despite the fact that there was a clear and present danger that we were going to 
fail in pursuit of a major policy of our government, that such institutional interagency 
reform in Washington seemed highly unlikely. In fact, I believe that I said something 
along the lines of, “a 20-year struggle with a lot of very political, savvy people in 
Washington who will die in many ditches” before that happens. Perhaps I was a little 
too emphatic, since change in Washington does occur, albeit slowly, and today there 
are some signs that politicians and think tanks are beginning to recognize that some­
thing needs to be done along the lines of interagency reform. Although, I submit that 
20 years for any major changes to occur is still not too far off as a guess. I wanted to 
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take a moment in this setting today to step back from the fray and explain why I still 
think that finding a permanent interagency solution like a “Goldwater-Nichols Act for 
the Interagency” is, if not impossible, at least very, very hard. 

Why Is It Hard? 

First, we have to realize that our Federal government was established initially to 
perform only a few basic functions without being a threat to our liberty. One of the 
fundamental reasons why interagency cooperation and coordination is so hard is sim­
ply this: the founding fathers who established the basic structure of our government 
were more interested in preventing an efficient government than they were in creating 
something that would function smoothly, efficiently, and to their minds potentially ty­
rannically. The very concept of separation of powers ensures that the legislative branch 
checks the power of the executive branch and that the judicial branch watches both of 
them. And even within the executive branch the various cabinet officials do not report 
to any single powerful coordinating body but directly, as individuals, to the Presi­
dent. The National Security Council, an important organization that tries to coordinate 
policy and ideas through a series of policy committees, the deputies committee, and 
the principals committee, cannot direct a cabinet-level official—an official appointed 
by the President and confirmed by Congress—to do anything without the direct inter­
vention of the President himself. That explains both why interagency coordination is 
so hard and why entire departments can so easily ignore policy initiatives with which 
they happen to disagree. And, of course, the art of “slow-rolling,” of public agreement 
and private noncompliance, is as much a Washington art form as the careful calibrated 
“leak.” Only the office of the President truly has the power to enforce policy across 
the executive branch. No cabinet officials, men and women of considerable personal 
power and experience, can be forced to fall in line and do what any other cabinet 
official might want them to do without knowing that they can use direct access to 
the President to slow a policy or initiative with which they disagree. I think that the 
founding fathers preferred gridlock to an overly powerful, efficient, and potentially 
oppressive governmental structure. (Remember, these are the same founding fathers 
that originally had the man who garnered the second highest number of electoral votes 
in a presidential election become the Vice President, thus ensuring some measure of 
conflict at the highest level of the executive branch.) This underlying dynamic ensures 
interagency friction and presents an institutional and cultural barrier to all well-inten­
tioned attempts to force different parts of the interagency to work together. 

Those in favor of a “Goldwater-Nichols Act for the Interagency” are also deluding 
themselves somewhat in believing that what worked fairly well for the military ser­
vices—remarkably similar cultures when you get down to it—will work for the other 
parts of government. Let’s take a quick look at the obvious success of the Goldwater 
Nichols Act. Looking back, it is easy to say what a great idea this was. Create more 
unity among the services, consolidate some functions, force them to pull together and 
fight joint, live joint, breathe joint, think joint: what a great idea. However, this Act was 
passed in 1987 against very strong opposition of almost all of the service chiefs.2 And, 
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I submit, it is still a work in progress. Joint doctrine is still being written to implement 
the joint warfighting aspects of the Act. The services have begun, slowly, to fight a 
little more jointly, but even in IRAQI FREEDOM the Marine’s I MEF and the Army’s 
V Corps attacked toward Baghdad essentially on two separate avenues of approach. 
Cooperation between the forces is probably at an all time high (except at budget time in 
Washington) but even the two ground forces still basically fight their own campaigns 
with three separate air forces (the Air Force, Naval air, and Marine air—sometimes 
answering to a single-air asset manager; sometimes not) flying in support. 

Two other key aspects of changing separate military cultures are joint schooling 
and joint assignments. After 20 years we are just now starting to make a dent in unify­
ing higher level staff work, and joint assignments are only now seriously being viewed 
as essential for promotion. The Navy up until 2005 was still being granted waivers 
every year on joint education and joint assignments required by Goldwater-Nichols for 
promotion to flag rank. They saw no reason, in their heart of hearts, to value “joint­
ness” nearly 20 years after Goldwater-Nichols became law. And as for joint education, 
I can tell you after my year at the National War College, that the Army, Air Force, and 
Marines take such education seriously as part of a progressive and sequential joint edu­
cation system with education opportunities throughout an officer’s career. The Navy 
still seems to send people to the premier strategic, joint, educational opportunities—the 
Senior Service Colleges—almost by default: they pick those officers who are between 
assignments and have nothing better to do. I submit that their culture is still a long way 
from truly valuing “joint” education. 

So we can see that the road to full implementation of Goldwater-Nichols has been 
slow. And this was merely an attempt to force more cooperation and unity of action 
upon military cultures that, when you get right down to it, are more similar than dif­
ferent. They were all uniformed services; with a deep emphasis on leadership skills; 
extensive career-long education and training programs; focused on mission accom­
plishment, self-sacrifice, and “can do;” with progressively challenging leadership and 
management assignments and with nearly identical pay, promotion, pension, and per­
formance rating systems. Perhaps most importantly, the services were all within the 
same cabinet department. Nothing had to be enforced or negotiated across cabinet 
lines. So Goldwater-Nichols, despite fierce service opposition, was an overall success­
ful attempt to harness and focus remarkably similar entities that were already within 
the same command structure and had been since at least 1948. And even then it still 
took years to pass the necessary legislation mandating change and decades to imple­
ment that change with much still undone. 

If accomplishing greater service unification was and is a challenge, how much 
greater is the challenge of coming up with a structure that can provide for unity of 
effort in national security from such wildly different cultures as that of the State De­
partment, USAID, Justice, USDA, Treasury, and the hodge-podge that is Homeland 
Security, an organization still trying to straighten itself out? 
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Look at the size of the resources differences. The State Department consists of a 
total of about 57,000 employees, of whom 37,000 are foreign nationals, 11,400 are 
Foreign Service Officers and 8,700 are Civil Service employees. Subtracting the for­
eign nationals, this means that the State Department has about 20,000 US national 
employees at most, less than 1 percent of the size of DOD’s 1.4 million Active Duty 
personnel and 700,000 civilians.3 The total State Department budget in 2006 was only 
$10.4 billion and of that $2.3 billion went to pay for dues to the United Nations and 
other international organizations and support to Peacekeeping operations overseas, 
leaving about $8 billion to conduct America’s foreign affairs and pay its employees. 
This is well under 2 percent of the $700 billion+ DOD budget.4 And number of em­
ployees and budget does matter when called upon to support unplanned contingencies 
or additional missions such as Provincial Reconstruction Teams or ministerial assis­
tance teams whether in Haiti, Iraq, or Afghanistan. 

State has certainly never had the numbers of employees or the budget to be able to 
devote dozens, let alone hundreds of its personnel to support contingency operations 
or even planning cells. Nor has it had the culture, the organizational structure, or the 
mindset to plan extensively, organize large programs, manage extensive resources, or 
even to interact effectively with the well-staffed regionally oriented Combatant Com­
mands.5 At the risk of over generalization, the State Department culture is one of small 
meetings and discussions, extensive negotiations, and one-on-one understandings, of 
compromise and nuance, intellectualizing problems, and sending “cables” of insights 
and observations in hope of influencing larger events. They are at home in embassies 
and consulates, at receptions and seminars, at fora and colloquia. (These are all valu­
able skills, and should not be discounted, but they are very different skills and reflect a 
very different culture than that of the military.) 

As Lieutenant General David Barno, former Commander of the Combined Forces 
Command–Afghanistan said in a recent interview: 

there’s a vastly different culture there. In the military, you kind of grow up in the 
teamwork culture where accomplishing a mission, which is to get something done, is 
the overarching order of the day. In the State Department, to caricaturize it a bit, it’s 
a culture of ‘observe and report,’ and the highest-value outcomes are the well-done 
reporting cables back to Washington. 6 

And those written cables are examples of highly individualized skills, not team­
work efforts.7 Is it small wonder that numerous officers since 1998 have referred to this 
divide as: “Defense is from Mars, State is from Venus.” (I guess that leaves USAID 
and their NGOs and PVOs as intergalactic denizens likened by one military observer 
as “those guys . . . from that bar in Star Wars.”8) 

As a symptom of those vastly different cultures, I know I was extremely struck by 
the now famous remark made in November 2007 by a State Department employee at 
a public meeting with the Foreign Service Director General during which a number 
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of employees were told that they might be directed to go to Iraq in conformance with 
their oath of office to serve anywhere in the world. The employee stated, in a horrified 
tone, that an assignment to Iraq was a “potential death sentence” and “Who will raise 
our children if we are dead or seriously wounded?”9 The implication was strongly that 
he didn’t sign up for this sort of thing! It doesn’t take many instances of that to shake 
the confidence of military personnel—whose every posting these days is a “potential 
death sentence” since soldiers don’t generally get sent in large numbers to serve in 
Luxembourg, Aruba, or Tahiti, but in some such “garden spots” as Somalia, Kosovo, 
Haiti, Iraq, and Afghanistan. 

If the State Department culture is somewhat different from the military one, then 
let us compare the truly different culture, training, and orientation of the US Agency 
for International Development (USAID). USAID is even smaller than the State De­
partment (and has, for all intents and purposes, been rolled up under State although 
many don’t admit it) with an even smaller budget. USAID has only about 1,800 full 
time government employees, augmented with only 700 contractors and 7,500 foreign 
nationals working overseas in the 90 some odd missions. The budget for their various 
programs, separate from civilian salaries, is on the same scale as the State Department, 
a mere $10 billion, or less than 2 percent of the DOD budget.10 

Unlike their predecessors during the Vietnam War, many of whom were assigned 
directly to various postings in villages and districts involved in government capacity 
building and direct contacts, USAID representatives in foreign cultures now spend 
most of their time on development and humanitarian aid projects as contract managers 
by facilitating the operations of nongovernmental and private volunteer organizations 
(NGOs-PVOs) and other contractors. If they can be said to have an institutional cul­
ture, it probably would be one more closely characterized as “Save the Children” than 
either State or military cultures of national security. The people who make up USAID 
are often suspicious of, if not downright hostile toward, that 800 lb. DOD gorilla that 
shows up briefly in distressed countries that may have had USAID missions for 20 or 
30 years, throws around massive resources, establishes huge depots of supplies and 
armed camps, only to depart in a few months or years only having muddied up the wa­
terhole, so to speak, leaving USAID and their associated NGOs and PVOs to pick up 
the pieces. The military’s often good intentions do not enter into their equations since 
good intentions or not, our military presence inevitably distorts and complicates any 
situation from perspective of aid-givers and development personnel. 

But there is little doubt that USAID people do live in a separate culture. To give just 
one example of, shall we say the lack of operational or planning “mindedness,” we in­
terviewed a member of the staff of Combined Forces Command–Afghanistan in March 
of 2007 and asked him about his working relationship with USAID. He related to us a 
story of USAID planning for the Phase I Ring-Road opening ceremony in Afghanistan 
for which USAID was the lead. President Karzai, Ambassador Khalilzad, and USAID 
Chief Natsios were all to attend the ceremony in December 2003. USAID put together 
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an elaborate ceremony with parking, speaking agendas, food, etc., and when asked by 
CFC-A HQ what they needed, the USAID planning staff responded that everything 
was squared away—no problem. The military staff officer later told us: “Hey it was 
all squared away, [but the] bottom line was, there was no security [planned] for this 
event. I mean, clearly a strategic level type event, but USAID had done no coordina­
tion for security. We essentially went into a crisis action mode several days before the 
ceremony.”11 There was simply no culture of planning, and no real understanding of 
how to conduct operations in hostile or semihostile environments. 

And as for other potential interagency partners—Justice, Education, USDA, Home­
land Security or Treasury—one is hard-pressed to assign them “cultures” but—to per­
haps again over general—each of them are very Washington-centric in their scope and 
programs, and focused more on policy generation, wrapped up with heaping doses 
of legalese, than on operational mission accomplishment in austere environments on 
extended deployments. (Pieces of Homeland Security are the exception, especially the 
Coast Guard, Customs, and Border control, but DSH, as a whole, is a confused mish­
mash of bureaucracy with a variety of mostly nonoperational cultures.) If one is look­
ing for organizations filled with experienced planning staffs, deployable teams, and 
“can-do” action officers, one has trouble finding very many examples outside DOD. 

In addition to cultures that do not stress planning, deployments, and mission 
accomplishment in hostile overseas environments, there is the additional complication 
in the varying levels of training and education available to the military as opposed to 
any other parts of the government. The military structure for training its officers is well 
known to most in this room. Over the course of a 20-plus year military career, an offi­
cer—starting with a variety of sources of commissioning each of which stresses team­
work and leadership—returns every few years to an advanced course, or Staff College, 
or War College, or Pre-Command Course to gain months of peer contact, progressive 
education and training, and inculcation with doctrine. 

Compare the military training and education system—focused on career long 
training in leadership, staff development, doctrine, planning, etc.—with the civilian 
leadership and development structure. I will now discuss the leadership and education 
systems of the other players in the interagency . . . . (long pause) Well, that’s about it. 
No, it’s not quite that bad. State has the Foreign Service Institute although many of its 
courses focus on cultural studies and languages. But State and the other agencies have 
the twin problems of limited training dollars and, more importantly, the challenge of 
who will staff the empty slots in the agencies and embassies while the incumbents are 
going to school? Unlike the military with its hundreds of thousands of soldiers and ci­
vilians, neither the State Department nor any other agency has a large training budget 
or a flexible personnel account. For example, let’s look at the Army’s TTHS (Trainees, 
Transients, Holdees and Students) account where, on average, at least 50,000 soldiers 
who are assigned to schools, in training, or on medical hold can reside for months and 
even years at a time. Think of it: a “float” of 50,000 soldiers in transit, awaiting as­
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signment, in schools, or on medical hold. You have fewer that 20,000 Foreign Service 
Officers and Civil Service employees to staff the Department of State headquarters 
in Washington and all of the embassies and consulates world-wide. It is very hard to 
siphon off even a few hundred a year to undergo a series of lengthy professional devel­
opment and leadership programs that would in any way be comparable to the military 
system. In point of fact, the entire State Department, including Foreign Service Of­
ficers, Civil Servants, political appointees, contractors and foreign national employees 
overseas, is smaller than the 62,000 soldiers on average that were in the Army’s TTHS 
account in 2007.12 So, the Army has more soldiers in “limbo” than the State Depart­
ment has employees. It is hard to overlook this dramatic brake on any attempt to ex­
pand the educational and training structure of the State Department that would help 
them be more effective interagency partners. And they probably have a better training 
system than many other Federal agencies outside DOD. 

In short, because of the actual structure of our government, our vastly disparate 
cultures, resources, missions, goals, focus, training opportunities, and size of the differ­
ent players in the interagency process, getting them to coordinate anything is a miracle. 
Forcing them together into anything like a unified structure akin to Goldwater-Nichols 
is nearly unconstitutional and will be very difficult, if not actually impossible. Even 
if legislation occurs that generates better methods to manage the flow of plans and 
concepts through the National Security Council system, this will do little to change the 
actual management of operations or the blending of widely disparate cultures. 

Now, having pronounced interagency reform at the national level nearly impossible, 
let me take a moment and show some areas of light that may indicate that interagency 
operations can occasionally work. Perhaps the prime examples of this phenomenon 
are in instances of overseas operations where the various interagency partners—State, 
CIA, USDA, USAID, and DOD—are working together as a team, focused on an im­
portant mission, and are able to ignore or downplay many of the rigid lines of authority 
within the beltway. With the right personalities, in the right setting, focused on the right 
mission, interagency can work despite the lack of a true Washington consensus. Prime 
examples of this from history include CORDS in Vietnam and even, on a much smaller 
scale, the PRTs in Afghanistan and Iraq. These small interagency and international 
teams—providing little more than band-aids for the gaping wounds of these countries 
due to the lack of a robust organization and limited resources—are managing to work 
together on the mission of providing some reconstruction aid to war-torn areas. How­
ever, cultural differences even then often create tension between military commanders 
and their civilian interagency counterparts working on their teams. 

Another example of where the interagency worked despite the lack of a formal­
ized structure is that of Task Force Bowie in the early days of Operation ENDURING 
FREEDOM (OEF) in Afghanistan. Though less well-known than Task Force Dagger 
or Task Force 11, the “White” and “Black” SOF task forces at that point in time in 
OEF, Task Force Bowie, commanded by experienced Special Forces officer Brigadier 
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General Gary Harrell, was an experimental Joint Interagency Task Force, or JIATF. 
This JIATF, created at the behest of the CENTCOM commander, brought together 
CIA, FBI, NSA, and Special Operations personnel to focus on the generation of action­
able intelligence in a “fusion cell.” This fusion cell, consisting of representatives of 
all the major intelligence and Special Operations players, sat in one room, and shared 
intelligence from a variety of sources with virtually no barriers in an attempt to put 
together timely, actionable intelligence in the search for high value targets (HVT) in 
Afghanistan from December 2001 through June 2002. This example shows that when 
the mission is critical enough, and the personalities mesh, interagency cooperation, in­
deed integration is possible. But successful cooperation and integration are still heav­
ily reliant on just that: the right mission and the right personalities—personalities that 
won’t play the “I’m going back to Washington on this issue and you can’t stop me” 
game—and the right organization. The mission and personality issues, I submit, cannot 
be legislated, but the organization can, and in the future perhaps model structures can 
be developed where interagency individuals can actually be assigned to an organiza­
tion, not just temporarily loaned, with all that means. The military officers would write 
the evaluations of the civilians assigned to them or, depending on the mission, the 
senior civilians would write the evaluations of the military personnel assigned to them. 
It must work both ways and the personnel assigned must have the right skills, the best 
training, and the right “bias” for action and mission accomplishment. Only then can 
an interagency task force be positioned for success on the battlefield or during crisis 
operations. 

So, in conclusion, what can we do in the next two decades as we wait for potential 
institutional change to begin the long process of cultural change within the various 
agencies of the government? We can start by focusing on improving the quality of peo­
ple within all the agencies of our government by expanding training and educational 
structures, opportunities, and funding. We can then begin throwing personnel from 
all agencies of the government together more often in training and planning exercises 
and assignments, building more interagency task forces focused on specific issues and 
plans, and creating the modalities of working together effectively on the ground over­
seas to make up for a basic and continuing lack of interagency coordination back in 
Washington. This will require more resources (money and people) in agencies through­
out the government outside of DOD, more formalized educational requirements for 
DOS, DOJ, the Treasury, etc., so that their people can be trained in leadership, manage­
ment, and planning procedures on a par with their military counterparts. 

In short, we need to work on the practical workarounds that will force us to work 
more closely together and not wait until we have a “Goldwater-Nichols” for the inter­
agency. Even if such legislation was passed today (highly unlikely) it would not have 
a serious impact on changing the cultures of government in any less than 20 years. The 
stakes of the current global struggle are too high to wait for legislative grand schemes, 
but we can focus on fusing the interagency cultures as we have done over the past 40 
years in DOD: create more interagency assignments, more interagency educational 
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opportunities, and recognize the need for more money and people for the other parts 
of the interagency outside DOD. Only then can we slowly create the functional struc­
ture that makes the interagency work during critical national security operations. The 
stakes are too high to do otherwise. 
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Question and Answers
 
(Transcript of Presentation)
 

Richard W. Stewart, Ph.D.
 
Chief Historian, US Army Center of Military History
 

Audience Member 

I found your discussion of the President having to play fascinating. I just call the atten­
tion of everybody to a book that first came out in early 1960 or maybe 1959 by Richard 
Neustadt called Presidential Power. In that he pointed out that not even the President 
has the power to order things to happen. In fact, it begins with an anecdote about Presi­
dent Truman waiting for President Eisenhower to take office and President Truman 
says “Poor old Ike; he’ll find it is nothing like the Army. He will say do this and do that 
and nothing will happen.” I submit it has not changed all that much. 

Dr. Stewart 
I also submit though that even in the Army, and here I look for correction from the se­
nior folks in this audience, even in the Army the number of times when a senior general 
can say, “Do this and do that,” and instantly everything falls into place are few and far 
between. There is still a lot of consensus building of discussion of putting folks’ minds 
in the right place to not only get them to do what you want but for them to believe in 
doing what you want, which is a very different process. But you are right about Presi­
dential power and yet, if he cannot do it, no one else can. If he is not actively engaged . 
. . we saw that in some of the case studies the other day. In Grenada it was Reagan who 
was involved not once or twice . . . but was involved in several parts of the process and 
pointed them each time in the right direction. With CORDS it was the President who 
over 18 months could not direct. He knew he was not going to get away with directing. 
He slowly built the consensus and allowed other people to try out their experiments 
first. They failed, then he began pushing until he finally got what he wanted. He did 
not direct; he built the consensus. The President has power; the only person who is the 
decider in the interagency. There must be a better way to give him a better staff so he 
can make better decisions perhaps. That comes down to the structure of the National 
Security Council. That is probably the best area for structural reform in my opinion. 

Audience Member 
Your initial remarks about the philosophical underpinnings of American government, 
the emphasis on constraining effective government led me to pause and think for a 

171 



second. It seems that many other regimes, some with authoritarian philosophical un­
derpinnings, do not do any better in the interagency. To what extent is it just about 
bureaucratic dynamics as opposed to philosophy? 

Dr. Stewart 
Good question. You can never discount bureaucracy. A lot of my doctoral work was 
done on ways in which an arms bureaucracy was created and tried to do things and 
it fell into the same bureaucratic traps you run into today. The power of bureaucratic 
structural organization, turf fights, budget wars, all of those things are there whether 
it is autocratic or, in our case, a more democratic state. But I am indicating that the 
founding fathers perhaps pushed more in that direction than authoritarian regimes who 
want to get things done after all, who want to have more efficient governments, and I 
am not sure that a lot of the players of our government are still that convinced of that 
efficiency. Because again, they have their own missions, their own focus, they know 
what is important, but according to law they have to do “X” and suddenly the military 
comes along and says, “We would like you to help us with ‘Y’.” That is fine but I do 
not have a lot of resources. I will help you a little bit with “Y,” but if it takes away from 
“X,” you are not going to get my full attention and “X” is mandated by a series of, not 
just the structure of government, but the laws that have been created since that time 
which always restrained the active players. 

Audience Member 
It would seem then that the US founders were closer to getting what they actually 
wanted and prescribed than some of their authoritarian counterparts who wanted effec­
tive regimes and were able to pull it off. 

Dr. Stewart 
Amazingly so, but remember these are the same great people that when they set up the 
electoral college had the person getting the largest number of votes becoming Presi­
dent, but the person who ran second becoming Vice President, even trying to guarantee 
gridlock in the executive branch. It was only after trying that a couple of times that 
they realized that this is not going to work at all that they backed away from it. So the 
default position was definitely that. 

Audience Member 
AFRICOM (United States African Command)—I would like to hear your thoughts 
on that. Do you see this as a forcing function to create a force interagency effort in its 
study or experiment? As we look at it and see it from where we stand we certainly see 
a lot a challenges it has. I would be interested in your thoughts on AFRICOM and how 
they are trying to organize that command. 
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Dr. Stewart 

I have only been watching AFRICOM from a distance. It seems like an interesting 
experiment with a lot of words that sound really good. Oh, we are going to have more 
interagency partners and all that. They have had trouble getting people to volunteer 
from the other interagency organizations, haven’t they? I wonder why? It is because 
they know they are going to be outnumbered 500 to 1, that they are going to end up 
being rated by some people of a very different culture, and that their own organization 
will then look upon them with a certain measure of suspicion when they return. Again, 
it is all things that we saw in the military culture back in the early 1980s when you were 
assigned to work for an Air Force officer or a Navy guy was assigned to work for you. 
You were supposed to defend your service and not get too carried away with this other 
organization having a mission. I submit that with AFRICOM they are going to have to 
be very careful to both provide good advice but not blend too much with that culture. If 
they increase the numbers of interagency players within their organization, that might 
help, but where are these numbers are going to come from? You need 100 USAID 
(United States Agency for International Development) people in your headquarters to 
make a difference in Africa. Okay. That is 1/18th of the entire staff of USAID. Are you 
going to get it? No, all good intentions but it founders upon the problem of different 
cultures, different resources, different numbers, different mission. A number of folks 
within USAID in State have not bought into the idea that a military regional command 
for Africa, which up until now has been pretty much their turf, is going to help the 
situation. Some of the African nations who initially said this sounds like a good idea 
are beginning to back away from that as well. So I think there is a lot of work; like 
every good historian, ask me in about 10 years and I will tell you how things are going 
today. 

Audience Member 
My question is, what capabilities would you like to see in the interagency? Let’s talk 
about State and USAID in particular. I am not sure DOJ (Department of Justice) is go­
ing to be sending a lot of folks out with muddy boots anytime soon. Do we just want 
State to be able to plan better and come to meetings on time or is there a specific set 
of capabilities that we are actually talking about there? I know my students very much 
enjoy complaining about the State Department. You can derail any seminar for a good 
hour with that topic. But the idea that there is something more important for them 
to do besides diplomacy, more important than maintaining relations with our NATO 
(North Atlantic Treaty Organization) allies or something, it strikes me as a bit of a false 
dichotomy. There is actually very important work that they are supposed to be doing, 
and the problem is that we do not have enough folks to dig wells which is, apparently, 
nobody’s job. So my questions is, what exactly are the capabilities in the interagency 
that we are lacking and you would like to see? 
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Dr. Stewart 

You are raising an excellent point because we cannot go around making fun of the State 
Department and trying to say that the mission they are doing is not important; it is. And 
that is what their resources are focused on and that is an important thing for them to do. 
They have to continue to do that and, in fact, I submit they need more resources to do 
that mission. But planning and schooling and assignments would be a good start. Cer­
tainly, the difference between journalists and historians—with journalists three days 
is deep research, and with historians, three years you are just beginning to define the 
problem. With State a couple of days at a seminar, that is planning for them. That is 
all it is. Whereas military staff in Washington and out here as well, can spend months 
and years updating plans, revising, coming up with new assumptions, new facts. So 
there is a difference in perception about what planning is. But more planning, more 
in-depth planning, having enough people trained and skilled in planning and the plan­
ning methodology that are able to set aside 10 of them with widely varying skills in a 
room in the State Department for six months and work on various local and regional 
plans. And remember, with every local plan you have, you are going to have a number 
of ambassadors who will deny all knowledge that this will at all be helpful or work. 
You need more people doing that, more training in how to do that, more appreciation 
within their own organization from their senior folks that this is an important thing to 
do which at the moment is not there. Even if you start the planning cells today it will 
take 10 or 20 years for a change of culture. During Vietnam, having State and USDA 
and USAID people ready to go out on various missions in the countryside, check on 
facts, deal with people, and attempt to build government capacity—who better to set 
up a village development program than maybe a State Department person who knows 
about how government is supposed to work? That would be useful, but at the moment 
they do not have the people, they do not have the time, and they do not have the train­
ing to teach those particular skills. We keep talking that building government capacity 
is a great thing; we ought to be doing more of that. Okay, who is going to do that? The 
captain and major had a civics class in high school, but he is not trained on how all 
elements of putting together a government work, or someone from State Department 
or USAID even who have at least a notion of participatory democracy and structures. 
You will not find too many of the old State Department types like an ambassador I ran 
into at Fort Bragg who will go out to the landing zones during Operation DRAGON 
ROUGE in the Congo with a .45 strapped to his hip, an operational State Department 
guy ready to take on all comers in pursuit of his diplomacy. That is not going to work 
probably. But a little more operational mindedness and mindset will help as well, but 
that too comes in time and through assignments and through exposure. You cannot 
expect someone to jump in on a hot landing zone right from day one from the State 
Department and expect them to function. Does that answer your question? It is sort of 
rambling a bit. Thank you. 

Audience Member 
We hear a lot on the subject from Thomas P. M. Barnett who talks about the SysAdmin 
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Force. Now the interagency is going to come in and do the stability and reconstruction 
and the State Department has a lead on that by NSPD-44 (National Security Presiden­
tial Directive 44) and there is an expectation among the students, majors, that some­
body else is going to come in and take over this country after the invasion is done, after 
the occupation is done. 

Dr. Stewart 
I wonder where they get that idea. 

Audience Member 
Which to me seems to be an unrealistic expectation. Nobody is going to come in and 
take it over for the reasons that you mentioned; nobody else has the capacity to do it. 
During World War II, Roosevelt did not want to give the reconstruction mission to 
the Army. The Army stepped forward and seized it, basically building a military gov­
ernment force and making plans for the occupation of Germany against Roosevelt’s 
wishes. 

Dr. Stewart 
With the MPs (Military Police) in the lead, but that is another story. 

Audience Member 
Right. I guess my question is, when you talk about culture, when is the culture in the 
Army going to change so that we realize that this is going to be our mission, we need 
to be the lead on it, and we need to step forward and take the lead and finish off the 
invasion through the occupations that we begin? 

Dr. Stewart 
Good question. It is not a mission that for many years we were at all comfortable with. 
I remember talking with the civil affairs planners with DESERT STORM when they 
said, “Well, after we occupy these large chunks of Iraq, what are we suppose to do 
next?” They were told, “Well, do not worry about it because there are not any civilians 
there and we do not have to plan for them,” even though the Tigris and the Euphrates 
Valley had been occupied with civilians for some time. The ability of the Army and 
DOD to deny that there is going to be a problem or that in six months, to use as an 
example, we will be pulling out anyway so it will be somebody else’s problem de facto 
is remarkable. I think recent experience has once again filled that particular glass up to 
be about half full with the fact that we need to be able to do this thing. The difficulty 
is when we have the capacity, when we have the doctrine which we are getting devel­
oped, when we have the people who are beginning to be trained to know how to do 
this, the fear by a number of folks and senior Army leadership is, since we know how 
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to do it, we have the people, we have the capacity, we are there, we are always going 
to get it, no way around it. In other words, it will stick to us like glue when we, in our 
minds, should be training to do other things. I think that is a false argument. I do not 
think it matters whether we want to or not, we have it, we are going to get it the next 
time, we might as well work on a more robust civil affairs structure although I submit 
that most of them still need to remain in the Reserves rather than Active Duty. I would 
argue that with anyone who would like. More robust civil affairs structure, a clearer 
doctrine, which I believe is beginning to be developed now on our stabilization and 
reconstruction even within the military and we capitalize upon this wonderful amount 
of experience we have received from our captains, majors, and everybody in the Army 
at all levels on how it actually works on the ground in an unstable environment from 
Iraq and begin capturing that experience, instilling the practical tips of how it works in 
addition to the doctrine of how it should work and putting the two together and bounc­
ing them off each other for awhile. So I think we are heading in the right direction. I 
think we have to head in that direction in order to actually make things work, not just 
for the rest of our time in Iraq and Afghanistan, but for the next one, and we do not 
know where the next one is going to be. But we need to be prepared for it even if it 
looks very different than Iraq or Kosovo or Bosnia. 

Audience Member (From the Blogosphere) 
He says that you had mentioned it would take 20 years for the “silver bullet” to become 
effective and his question is, the incentives are not in line be it for DOD military, tax 
free, etc, and for State Department and civilians, it is not tax free in the combat zones. 
So is there any short-term actions, either legislation or regulatory changes that could 
effect or entice incentives-wise civilians to go do this rather than the State Department 
saying it might be a death sentence? 

Dr. Stewart 
And there is a disparity, it goes back to the cultural question. The people in charge of 
the State Department, I do not think, have been pushing for this change in part because 
if you suddenly incentivize this and have a thousand extra people volunteer and you 
suddenly have to triple your budget for this particular thing, where is the money going 
to come from? From a Congress that keeps zeroing out your budget line? Congress will 
not turn down a military appropriation for any length of time. They will do it postural 
for awhile but not for any length of time because they know the American people will 
look at that and say, “This guy voted against protecting our troops.” The legislature 
or the Congress can turn down any number of bills that expand or improve the State 
Department, one of which is funding, any time they like. So the incentives should be 
there. I would hope the State Department leadership and others within the interagency 
are working to incentivize that because there needs to be more money to ensure that 
their children are being taken care of and that they have better health care when they 
get back. A number of State Department folks have gone over there and gotten shot at 

176 



and gotten wounded, come back and the State Department says “Well, I guess that is it 
for you. Sorry about that.” They do not really give that same level of health care that 
in the military we are used to thinking of automatically. It is not there in their culture. 
That culture needs to change. That mindset needs to change from the highest levels 
of leadership down to their operational level, down to the troops in the field so they 
do fight to get those resources to take care of their people, to make them believe that 
this is a career-enhancing assignment, and that we will protect them financially and 
physically while they are there and when they come back and promote them and look 
upon this as a good thing. These are the people that are the rising stars within the State 
Department rather than with someone who moves on to the next diplomatic reception 
in Monaco. Does that answer the question? 

Audience Member 
Yes Sir. 

Dr. Stewart 
It is a big issue and it will be going on for a long time, even if the legislation was 
passed today. Especially if it is not passed, you need to start those things anyway and 
not wait. 

Audience Member 
I have a question relating to the 20 years that you think it might take to make the insti­
tutional adjustments. 

Dr. Stewart 
That is just a pull out of the hat, because that is how long it has taken for Goldwater- 
Nichols to begin to make substantive change but . . . 

Audience Member 
Right Sir, I understood long term. It made me think of the Army objective force which, 
I think, in its original conception was supposed to take about 30 years to transform 
from what we had in early 2000 until what we are moving toward in the objective 
force. Obviously, that has been greatly accelerated lately due to the external stimulus of 
the long war. The question I have is, are there any useful models we can use to possibly 
apply a way to make those institutional changes in a shorter amount of time from say 
the military form of movement from the late 1970s or early 1980s, or does it always 
take a large external stimulus to change the inertia from organizational behavior and 
governmental politics that preclude those changes in a shorter time period? 
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Dr. Stewart 

One of the interesting things about the discussion yesterday was even when there is 
sometimes a tremendous stimulus which you would assume 9-11 was, sometimes it 
does not have the long-term effect that you would think it would have. So when you 
are dealing with cultures like with nation building, it takes generations. You have to 
sow the seeds; you have to be patient. It is a hard thing to shortcut. If you start coming 
up with shortcuts, you think you have achieved something but then when you move 
on or when your successor decides that it is not as important, that change begins to 
evaporate. So there needs to be a systematic, long-term, consistent cultural change 
beginning, probably, with mid-level officers here and mid-level officers at the State 
Department in order to get the right sustained change over time. I submit you cannot 
go a lot faster than that. The 30-year thing for the future combat systems is interesting 
although I think 15 years of that has to do with dealing with the contracting office and 
the acquisition community. Do not get me started on that. Compared to that community 
the interagency is an efficient team. Thank you. 

Audience Member 
Sir, my background has been a combat engineer for my first decade of service in the 
Army, but I had the opportunity to work for the National Geospatial-Intelligence 
Agency on my last assignment in the Washington, DC, area. This was my first ex­
posure to the strategic intelligence world. I was wondering if you were aware of, or 
monitoring, the review of the IC (Intelligence Community) and how they are encour­
aging their employees to do two-year tours or joint jobs within the IC. You referenced 
Goldwater-Nichols but the IC is also moving in that direction as well. I just wanted to 
get your comments on that. 

Dr. Stewart 
Interesting, I did not know about that. That is an interesting initiative which, again, 
shows that instead of waiting for somebody in Washington to come up with the better 
structure they have recognized that there is a problem and are beginning to make some 
incremental changes. It does start with people; culture is just a collection of people 
trying to learn to do things differently. So they are beginning to change the culture one 
person at a time. That is a good initiative. Even then, of course, as you run into it any­
where in the intel world there are not just regulatory, but legislative barriers sometimes 
in the sharing of information between different communities. So even with people be­
ing trained up and disposed to share, they have to be very careful that they do not end 
up in trouble for it. But it is a good initiative and I am glad to hear about it. I will check 
into that. It sounds like something interesting. Thank you. 

Audience Member 
It seems to me that Army officers are very well adapted to dealing with the kind of situ­
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ations you are talking about, coordinating disparate elements, non-Army. They grow 
up in a combined arms framework where they have to coordinate all kinds of things 
and as they grow and interact with battalion, brigade commander, division commander, 
they get better and better at this kind of coordination, and it certainly is showing up 
in Iraq where captains and lieutenants, taking on completely strange jobs working at a 
village or working on what have you, adapted very well. This should be built on and 
no doubt will be built on in the future, so I do not think that things are all that bad. It 
seems to me, however, that the superstructure of the Department of Defense gets in 
the way because Army is just one of the services and they have all the other services. 
Things have to be done equally and command jobs parceled out equally pretty much. 
The Army has done a lot of training of the other services. You will find years ago the 
Army’s method of analyzing doctrinal problems and systems problems was picked up 
by other services. They all finally got a TRADOC (United States Army Training and 
Doctrine Command) kind of thing. I do not know what to make of this, but I think there 
is a lot to be hopeful for as we go along, and maybe incremental change and adaptation 
by people is going to solve some of these problems. 

Dr. Stewart 
I can only hope you are right, Sir. Certainly the amount of time it took to adapt to new 
environments and new situations in Iraq was surprisingly swift when you think about 
a huge institution based upon, if you ever knew the old combat-based requirements 
system and the old doctrinal developments model, it could sometimes take five years 
to turn out a new chunk of doctrine, whereas Iraq turned things around a lot quicker 
than that, a lot more agile than that. But again, they were building in some cases on 
a very experienced deployed officer core from Bosnia and Kosovo, and even though 
there is not a direct mixture, they were amorphous enough situations that a different 
set of skills were tapped to deal with those environments and then they became a little 
more flexible and in Iraq had to be even more flexible. Still I submit that when we go 
to Afghanistan there will not be another full culture shift, but there needs to be a certain 
amount of adaptation as well to deal with that situation. 

Audience Member 
Which I think they are doing. 

Dr. Stewart 
Yes Sir, I think so, but again, talk to me in about five years on that. We will see how 
well the institution captures that experience, puts it into something that is both reason­
able and not locked into one time or place but is more generalizable, and then transmits 
that to the next generation of officers. That is always the key to a training institution 
such as this and such as the command schools—how well do they capitalize upon cur­
rent experience and get it back into the system so that the next generation knows that 
as well as the new skills they have to learn? 
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Audience Member 

Secretary Gates has used a number of vehicles and venues to try and emphasize in­
creased resources for Department of State. I would like your comments on whether you 
think that will even have an impact on Congress or whether they will respond? 

Dr. Stewart 
You would think it would have an impact on Congress when the Secretary of Defense 
says, “Look, this is important enough for me to give a 100 million dollars out of my 
budget to the State Department today, saying please take this money, use it because I 
know you need this capacity; go for it.” I am not even sure if Congress allowed him to 
reprogram that money but he probably got away with it. But it did not seem to shame 
Congress at all. They are almost unshameable in that regard. I do not see any huge 
expansion, some incremental expansion. They have authorized a couple hundred more 
Foreign Services Officers, for example, and that is a start. But a hundred million dol­
lars, again, a good start, but up in Washington you cannot institutionalize anything for 
a hundred million dollars. You cannot set structures in place. You can use that to fill 
current shortcomings maybe, but you need a sustained funding flow of 100, 200, 500, 
a billion dollars a year in order to set the structure in place and expand it permanently. 
When talking about training soldiers you cannot just recruit another 10,000 soldiers. 
You need to figure out how much that is going to cost over the course of their career 
for schooling, housing, development, doctrine, and expansion of the training base to 
deal with them. The State Department has to do that and it must have dedicated fund­
ing. It is a good gesture; it is a good start. It needs to be followed up by Congress with 
something sustained. 

Audience Member (Internal Circuit Television) 
What are your thoughts on this historical application of the US Information Agency 
and whether it needs to be expanded or resurrected in today’s information environ­
ment? 

Dr. Stewart 
Excellent question because the US Information Agency, the US Information Service, 
the name changed over the years, was now looked upon by historians as one of the 
great institutions of the Cold War that helped us not just build confidence in our system 
of government, but bucked up wavering allies, helped us win the information war, as 
it were, for the Cold War, the hearts and minds war for the Cold War. And if right now 
we are in a struggle for some hearts and minds around the world, getting our message 
out, why are we ignoring this public communications thing that we have assigned to 
the State Department, but again not giving them the resources to do it when you need 
something like the US Information Agency, run by people with the confidence of the 
administration, with a consistent message (once we find out what that is), and thus use 
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over time to tell the world our side of the story? It will be seen by some as propaganda, 
fine, but by repeating our message in a number of venues I think that we are missing 
a bet by not resurrecting something like the US Information Agency. Yes, keeping it 
within the State Department, but giving them the resources to make it actually work. 
This is a valuable tool. It is not PSYOP (psychological operations), but information 
that in the long run will help, I believe. 

Audience Member 
We have talked about resources and the fact that they are not getting any and they do 
not have enough, I would like your opinion on the argument that the State Department 
and these other organizations are not effectively communicating their needs and that is 
why they are not being met. They are either not speaking the right language and we can 
provide a translator for them, or they are not making it a priority that what they need . 
. . is there a way to intertwine it with the 700-billion-dollar DOD budget that you are 
talking about and state it in terms of what they can do to support the overall military 
effort worldwide? 

Dr. Stewart 
You have made a good point because for any argument to succeed you both need an 
effective and skilled arguer on one side, but then a set of ears on the other side that 
is willing to listen and then turn that into some degree of action. At the War College, 
we had Carlos Pasqual drop by who was one of the heads of the initial stabilization 
organizations that they tried to set up at State. A more articulate, passionate, devoted 
individual for his organization and its goals and needs it would be hard for you to meet. 
For two years he met with Congress, which I submit probably wined and dined them, 
but also talked to them at committees, individually, in an attempt to get them to real­
ize this was a long-term need of the nation not just of the State Department. Like two 
weeks after he talked to our War College class—I do not think we had anything to do 
with it—he resigned in disgust because his information was being thrown out there on 
the ground and none of it was sprouting. So if he is an example of some of the others 
at State, they are very skilled, they are very articulate, they know the levers of power 
that they can try to pull, but it has to fall upon ears that are willing to listen and Con­
gressmen with bases in their districts; they will listen to a military spokesman. Where 
is the State Department base in Peoria, Ohio? It is not there. It is a very weak arguing 
position to begin with so State has a problem right from that; not their fault but the way 
that it is. 

Audience Member 
Real quick follow-up. Is there any benefit in tying it to an overarching goal? Some­
thing that gets more response that they can basically hitch their wagon to and try and 
receive some of the benefit of that? 
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Dr. Stewart 

Yes, probably so. They have not been able to do so successfully so far because it seems 
that in the budget there is only a certain amount that people are willing to give out on 
the budget and I do not believe we should stint the DOD budget necessarily because 
that is critical to our national survival, but Congress needs to come up with more cre­
ative ways to put a little more in the other side of the house. So far they have not shown 
a huge inclination to do so. 

Audience Member 
At any given time there is some amount of DOD manpower detailed to the other agen­
cies be it State or intel agencies. What is your observation or assessment of the extent 
to which that manpower facilitates interagency coordination or perhaps cooperation, or 
is it making a difference at all? 

Dr. Stewart 
I have nothing quantitative to deal with it. From the people I have talked to it seems 
to make a difference within the offices to which they are assigned, but like everyone 
else, everywhere else within the State Department, there are desks and subdesks, and 
subcommittees and divisions and all that. Within a small organization a handful of 
military folks will begin having an impact upon them. But remember it is military in 
their culture; we have to learn to adapt to their culture and that is good for us, but they 
are not really adapting much to the people that we have working for them. I submit the 
only way around that is for them to have enough people so that some of their people 
can be assigned more than just one POLAD (Political Advisor) at CENTCOM. Come 
on now, you need a hundred folks from State, CIA, a variety of agencies assigned to 
various headquarters, and then go back to their headquarters and spread the word about 
the new culture they have run into. So yes, military folks assigned in a wide variety of 
things do help us as a community, I think. I think it helps us more than it helps them, 
but it at least exposes them to another viewpoint. They need to come and become part 
of our culture as well for long-term change. 

LTG Caldwell 
As we watch what our Chief of Staff of the Army is doing, where his effort was to 
elevate the importance of stability operations to be equally as important as offense and 
defense and he publishes a doctrinal manual to do that. He approves it and publishes it 
and then he goes on and has us working on stability operations where, again, it will be 
codification of the requirement for the military to be able to, in fact, do many of these 
type activities that perhaps the interagency would want them to do, but with the inabil­
ity of them to have the resourcing, recognize that we are going to pick up a lot more 
of this. As we look back over history, and again, we continually peak things, are we 
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on the right track to try to learn these lessons we have observed over the last six years, 
five years in combat, or are we doing what has been done before and we are really not 
on the right path yet? I know you can look back in 5 or 10 years and give me a much 
better answer, but today, what would you say? 

Dr. Stewart 
It appears that we are on the right track now in a sense of trying to enshrine some doc­
trine, do some training, try to capture the experience of what is going on now, but then 
we did the same thing in the 1960s with Vietnam. Down at Special Operations Com­
mand I had file cabinets filled with all the new initiatives, counterinsurgencies, special 
warfare, PSYOP, the blending of this and that, tremendous training effort. In 1975, 
apparently someone came and said, “This is no good and we are just going to throw it 
away. We are never going to do that mission again.” If this mindset occurs again after 
we have pulled most of our forces out of Iraq and Afghanistan, if this occurs again then 
we will have failed because then we will have taken our collective experience, the wis­
dom that we have gained from doing this hard stuff, and decided that it is never going 
to apply again and dropping it as opposed to preserving it and nurturing it and continu­
ing to train on it even while the need is not there. Is that not what armies are to be, the 
best in being ready for any mission that can occur no matter what it is? But for that we 
cannot just consign that mission to a couple of guys down at Fort Bragg or Civil Affairs 
branch. They can handle this military governance thing. We do not have to think about 
it. The Army has to continue to think about it as an institution long term because we 
cannot say that mission is not going to happen again. I suppose that is a fancy way of 
saying, “Ask me in five years.” It is a way to say we have to be serious about capturing 
it now which I believe we are doing, but when the emergency is not there how then do 
we invocate it and continue to capture it and use it and learn from it. That is the test and 
that will be a test 5 years from now . . . 10 years from now. 

Audience Member 
I was just reading the new FM 3-07, Stability Operations, which is excellent, and in 
Chapter 5 they talk about “transitional military authority.” If you look at the previous 
version of FM 3-07 it was not there, no analogous chapter. If you read FM 3-07, Chap­
ter 5, much of it is a lift out of FM 27-5, Military Governance, that we published in 
1940 before we were even in World War II. It was based on our progressive era experi­
ences after the Spanish American War, and the occupation of the Rhineland after World 
War I. My question to you is, as a historian, a military historian, why does the Army 
forget its history? Why are we relearning what we once knew? 

Dr. Stewart 
That is an excellent question and one that I have continually wrestled with as an officer 
and as a civilian and as a historian because it . . . maybe I am predisposed to history, to 
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think historically, to ask the question occasionally that is asked even in the Pentagon, 
has this ever happened before? Maybe I ought to look into this. If I could get people to 
ask one question when they are beginning to plan for an operation, that would be the 
one because at least it would get them thinking about the possibility that there might 
be information out there that might be discoverable and might be useable. The transi­
tion part, in particular, is interesting. Everyone talks about lack of Phase IV planning 
for Operation IRAQI FREEDOM, right? Oh, we did not do any Phase IV planning. I 
was in the 352d Civil Affairs Command at the time with planning for postoccupation 
operations in Iraq, and we had six phases in our particular plan. We had Phase IV yes, 
which was immediate postemergency reconstruction activities, but we went on in our 
plan and continually thought about Phase V, how do we begin to pull out of this and 
turn things over to Iraqi officials, and then Phase VI, close things out completely, sort 
of lock and head out the door as a civil affairs military government type organization? 
That entire plan with all six phases which dealt with transition was not used at all by 
CENTCOM when they decided to basically throw the plan out and start all over again. 
Not only do we not use history from Spanish American War, World War I, Rhineland 
occupation, and by the way they did not look at that report from 1920 when it was pro­
duced until 1940. So there was 20 years where they had collective amnesia. Not only 
did they not look at the far past, to look for appropriate historical examples, they do not 
even look at the more recent past, and the more recent possibilities, their own historical 
thinking and plans that they are generating now because they cannot be bothered to 
think about that old stuff. I remember briefing General Potter once from Special Op­
erations Command on the Haiti Operations and I wanted to give him some sense of the 
problems that the Marines ran into in Haiti in the 1920s and 1930s. I had just started on 
my presentation full of historical beans and he says, “Look at those years, 1919-1938, 
that was 50 years ago; sit down.” Maybe that is more Dick Potter than anyone else, but 
the fact is, he was not willing to listen to old historical experience because to him it had 
no application to today’s current situation. If we could go back to inculcating in our 
officer corps, not just in the Army but in other services as well, some of the historical 
mindedness that was so much a mission, so much a part of TRADOC in the 1980s and 
1990s. You remember Sir, a battle analysis and a tied year long process, a historical 
analysis as well as teaching by the Combat Studies Institute in an attempt to inculcate 
in every officer a sense that history is alive, that history is useful, that you need to learn 
it and know where to find it, and know it has continuing validity. Pretty important les­
sons. If we could go back to some of that perhaps that would help. Again you got me 
on my soap box. Thank you. 

Audience Member (From the Blogosphere) 
Sir, the military command and control structure is often alien and often too inflex­
ible for many other government and nongovernment organizations to be successful in 
working together. How can we in the military adjust to accommodate without deterio­
rating our own effectiveness? 
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Dr. Stewart 

A good question, especially that first word alien. To some people, and it is not just 
the uniform either though, that changes over time. To some people and organizations 
within our own government, let alone foreign governments, we come across as beings 
from another planet. It is not just how we look, but by the very way in which we use 
time. 1500. When you are talking to military folks be efficient, but remember always 
think of your audience before you begin to speak. Some of them may not know what 
1500 is. Use civilian language occasionally. Acronyms, you cannot abolish acronyms 
from your vocabulary, God knows we learn in acronyms; we have acronyms in our 
soup every day it appears. But if we could learn that after using an acronym to any au­
dience, military or otherwise, to then say what that acronym means we would go a long 
way toward other people beginning to understand the alphabet soup that we drop on 
them. So some of it is mindset, thinking about your audience before you go on and on, 
making sure that they understand what you are talking about so they feel included in 
the discussion and not simply being bombarded with alien terms and doctrinal terms; 
that would go a long way, I think, to reducing some of that alienness that you bring up. 
That is an important point but remember, when we are dealing with the interagency 
we are not dealing with other people in uniform. Even with the Navy sometimes I had 
trouble making myself understood and vice versa. But with other civilian agencies, 
they really are coming from a different organization. Take a moment, look them in 
the eye, talk to them using the English language which is a wonderful and marvelous 
tool of communication rather than military acronyms short, concise, and to the point 
that work in a certain environment. When you are briefing your patrol before a night 
operation, that is one thing. Learn to switch gears, change your language, change your 
approach, and speak English when you are speaking to the civilian audiences which 
you have to deal with in the interagency; that will be a good start. Thank you for your 
attention this morning. 
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Panel 4—Interagency Case Studies 
(Submitted Paper) 

Approaching Iraq 2002 in the Light of Three Previous Army Interagency 
Experiences: Germany 1944–48, Japan 1944–48, and Vietnam 1962–73 

by 

Lieutenant General (Ret.) John H. Cushman, US Army 

The theme of this Symposium is “The US Army and the Interagency Process.” 

Since 2002, forces of the US Army have been engaged in an interagency mode in 
Iraq. The theme of my talk is that if the senior officers of the Army who were respon­
sible in 2002 and 2003 for the Iraq effort had been students of Army history they would 
have understood the full dimensions of what the Army was getting into. And they 
would have been in a good position to stand their ground with a Secretary of Defense 
who, not understanding that situation, forced on them a faulty plan for the invasion of 
Iraq. 

The US-led Coalition’s two-month conquest of Iraq’s armed forces in March-May 
2003 was superbly done. But, in view of its wholly inadequate planning for postcon­
quest conditions, the full Iraq invasion was the worst planned US military operation 
at least since the Spanish-American War. The United States has suffered grievously 
therefrom. 

I will use three historical examples—Germany 1944–48, Japan 1944–48, and 
Vietnam 1962–73—to make my case. My primary sources are, for Germany The US 
Army in the Occupation of Germany 1944–46, by Earl F. Ziemke; for Japan, a 1949 
Ph.D. thesis at Syracuse University The Occupation of Japan: A Study in Organization 
and Administration, by a later distinguished scholar, Ralph J. D. Braibanti; and, for 
Vietnam, my own experience and Pacification: The American Struggle for Vietnam’s 
Hearts and Minds, by Richard A. Hunt. 

United States planning for and conduct of the 1941–1945 war against Germany 
and Japan took place in an organizational structure quite different from that of Iraq 
2002. There was no Department of Defense, simply a War Department, and a Navy 
Department. The Joint Chiefs of Staff were an ad hoc planning and directing arrange­
ment, using existing very senior officers, created to parallel that of the British Chiefs 
of Staff Committee. Detailed planning and orders for execution were accomplished 
by the Army and Navy staffs, including the Army’s Air Staff. Unity of command in 
overseas theaters was achieved simply by double-hatting. For example, in Europe, 
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General Eisenhower was the commander of all US Army forces, including their lo­
gistics, and also supreme commander of the allied (including US) forces. He had two 
separate staffs. 

It was not until late in 1943 that it was finally decided that the Army in the field 
would be responsible for posthostilities governance of occupied territory. But in 1940, 
as war clouds began to gather, the Army War College prepared a draft military govern­
ment manual (civil affairs and military government are related but distinct notions; 
think of military government as “civil affairs conducted on enemy territory,” and civil 
affairs as “military government conducted in friendly territory”). At the same time, a 
War College committee prepared a manuscript on the administration of enemy terri­
tory. 

Uncertain about which of its staff sections should have the responsibility, the Army 
General Staff wrestled with the problem. Within six months after Pearl Harbor an Army 
School of Military Government was up and running at the University of Virginia at 
Charlottesville, Virginia. Soon the Army had established a Military Government Divi­
sion in the newly created Office of the Provost Marshal General. 

In mid-1942 various civilian agencies of the government began to take note of 
what the Army was doing. As operational planning took place for the November 1942 
invasion of North Africa, free-wheeling discussions began in the high levels as to how 
civil affairs/military government (CA/MG) were to be handled in that theater. At the 
direction of Assistant Secretary of War Robert Patterson, the Provost Marshal General 
and the Charlottesville school came up with a “synopsis” of the matter. It said that: 

• In the first phase, military necessity would govern and US armed forces would be 
responsible for CA/MG. 

• In the second phase, a civilian authority would probably supplant the military, but 
until then government of occupied territory would be in Army hands. 

The announced gist of the synopsis was “to assert and maintain War Department 
leadership in military government and at the same time invite and employ a wide co­
operation with other departments and agencies of the government.” 

Accompanied by a letter from Secretary of War Stimson, this Synopsis was widely 
distributed in the government. In October 1942 it was brought before a full meeting of 
President Roosevelt’s cabinet. 

There, quoting from Ziemke, 

Several members, who apparently would have liked larger roles for themselves and 
their departments, voiced suspicions; and the Secretary of the Interior Harold L. Ickes 
expressed outright alarm at what he saw as a germ of imperialism. The President 
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seemed to think it was a good idea but had doubts about the (Charlottesville school’s) 
faculty. 

That day the President wrote a memo to Secretary Stimson which said that the 
matter was something that should first have been taken up with him, that governing 
civilian territory was predominately a civilian task which required “absolutely first 
class men.” 

Again, from Ziemke: 

. . . the President’s memo converted an interdepartmental squabble into a monumental 
misunderstanding and a dire threat to principle of unity of command. The Army doc­
trine that made the theater commander the military governor at least until hostilities 
ended was apparently unknown to the President and could not be fitted into his concept 
of military government . . . . (He) considered civil administration, no matter where it 
was conducted, a civilian responsibility and was totally unimpressed by the argument 
of military necessity. 

Taken somewhat aback, Secretary Stimson sought to avoid precipitating a Presi­
dential decision that could force the Army out of military government and create in­
tolerable command problems in a theater of operations. Rather than respond to the 
President in writing, he made an oral report of the objectives of the Army school at 
cabinet the following week, disclaiming the Army’s desire to control occupied areas 
after the war ended. 

On November 8, just two days later, US and British forces landed in Algeria and 
Morocco, and matters became very real. Assuming that administration in French North 
Africa could be left entirely to local authorities, the President had assigned policy for­
mulation and execution to the State Department and provision of relief supplies to the 
Lend-Lease Administration. But soon, again per Ziemke, 

Lieutenant General Dwight D. Eisenhower (theater commander) . . . protested that 
until North Africa . . . was secure, everything done there directly affected the military 
situation. His chief civil administrator, Minister Robert D. Murphy, could not be a 
member of the theater staff and at the same time be independently responsible to the 
State Department. 

The Chief of Staff, General Marshall, agreed and on 28 November informed Eisen­
hower that Murphy would not function independently and the State Department would 
not assume control of civil matters until the military situation permitted. The Secretary 
of State, Marshall said, was in complete agreement . . . . 

Marshall had rescued the principle of military necessity . . . the North African cam­
paign, in its first weeks, had set a pattern for civil affairs and military government that 
would persist throughout the war . . . . Thirty thousand tons of civilian supplies were 
needed every month . . . and both the military and civilian agencies agreed that on the 
drive into Tunisia the Army would have to assume complete responsibility for civilian 
relief. 
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By February 1943 it had become evident that a more substantial arrangement for 
managing CA/MG was needed in the War Department. The Civil Affairs Division, 
with Major General John H. Hilldring its director, was established on 1 March. 

General Hilldring was to report directly to the Secretary of War on “all matters 
except those of a military nature” and to represent the Secretary of War to outside agen­
cies. For the future, War Department officials contemplated placing full responsibility 
for civil affairs in the staff of the theater commander “until such time as the military 
situation will allow other arrangements,” and the Civil Affairs Division was charged 
with making certain that all plans to occupy enemy or enemy-controlled territory in­
cluded detailed planning for civil affairs.” 

On April 10, 1943, the Joint Chiefs of Staff confirmed the Civil Affairs Division as 
“the logical staff to handle civil affairs in nearly all occupied territory.” (Presumably an 
element of the Department of the Navy staff would handle civil affairs in some small 
part of occupied territory.) 

Where would the people with the necessary expertise for the wide range of mili­
tary government tasks come from? General Hilldring’s solution was to staff the Char­
lottesville school, and a second school established at Fort Oglethorpe, Georgia, with 
expertise from other agencies or with people brought in from their civilian pursuits. 
He would meet in-theater needs, which were forecast into many thousands, by train­
ing officers and by direct commission of civilian expertise, including some into field 
grade. And he did just that. 

The issue of when the Army would relinquish management of civil affairs was yet 
to be resolved. In March 1943 the President placed former New York governor Her­
bert Lehman’s Office of Foreign Relief and Rehabilitation in charge of planning and 
administering US civil relief in liberated areas. The President remained convinced that 
civil affairs was a civilian job, and in June 1943 he proposed to put an Assistant Secre­
tary of State in charge of a committee that would give central direction to all economic 
operations in liberated areas, with a subordinate in each theater, nominally responsible 
to the theater commander, who would receive his orders from the State Department. 

The invasion of Sicily that summer demonstrated that divided command in the 
field would not work. The Army commander on the scene had both the resources and 
the ability to direct operations; a civilian did not. In November 1943 the President 
wrote Secretary Stimson: “. . . it is quite apparent that if prompt results are to be ob­
tained the Army will have to assume the initial burden . . . until civilian agencies are 
prepared to carry out the longer range program.” 

So that is how it turned out in World War II for the “US Army and the Interagency 
Process” with respect to civil affairs and military government. In Washington the War 
Department was a key agency, but not necessarily dominant, in policy making; other 
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agencies of the government had interests and much to offer. But in the field the theater 
commander’s responsibility for executing CA/MG, within policy, prevailed in war and 
continued with little outside participation for a time even after hostilities ceased. 

In December 1943, General Eisenhower was named Supreme Commander; SHAEF 
(Supreme Headquarters Allied Expeditionary Force) would be his staff. An interim 
planning staff had been busy; that month it published a Standard Policy and Proce­
dure for Combined Civil Affairs Operations in Northwest Europe, which assigned full 
control of and responsibility for civil affairs and military government to the military 
commanders, from the Supreme Commander on down. Well before Normandy, a G5 
Section, SHAEF, under a British lieutenant general, began to function. 

In England the US structure for CA/MG had already been forming. A Civil Affairs 
Center at Shrivenham and another at Manchester would receive and further train the 
hundreds, then thousands, of officers and enlisted men gathered into the Army, trained, 
and sent from the United States. They would form these people into self-sustaining 
CA/MG detachments of various sizes which were then assigned to every command 
level, from army group to division. At each level a G5 section would direct their activi­
ties. Large or small, a detachment would carry out the essential CA/MG actions—gov­
ernment, public safety, public health, public welfare, utilities, communications, labor, 
transportation, resources, industry, commerce, agriculture, legal, fiscal, supply, and 
information. 

The expertise for these tasks came largely from men brought in from civilian life, 
many of them directly commissioned as captains or at ranks as high as colonel. Thou­
sands of others were trained from scratch by the US Army. Ziemke tells in rich detail 
how these teams received their direction and then operated as the Allies entered Ger­
man territory. 

As the end of the war came into sight, authorities at the highest level began to dis­
cuss how to bring a civilian into Germany’s postwar government, possibly as General 
Eisenhower’s deputy; Eisenhower was willing, and even had his own civilian candi­
date. The War Department’s choice for that job was Major General Lucius D. Clay, the 
highly regarded director of the military production program. Clay, supported by Presi­
dent Roosevelt, was nominated for his third star. In April 1945 he reported for duty as 
Deputy Military Governor of the United States Army European Theater of Operations, 
Eisenhower’s “other hat.” 

In July 1945, SHAEF dissolved. The unified command USFET (US Forces Euro­
pean Theater), headquarters in Frankfurt, Eisenhower in command, came into being. 
The Office of Military Government, United States (OMGUS) was created, with Gen­
eral Clay in charge. Clay began to reduce its military strength, to bring civilians in, and 
to bring about the orderly transfer of government to German control. 
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In March 1947 General Clay succeeded General Eisenhower as theater command­
er and military governor. In 1949 he was replaced by John J. McCloy, named the US 
High Commissioner for Germany. 

* * * 

The occupation of Japan was markedly different from that of Germany. 

On August 10, 1945, the Japanese made their first offer of surrender. On 
September 1 the Eighth US Army began to enter Japan unopposed. The next day Gen­
eral Douglas MacArthur, as the Allies-designated Supreme Commander Allied Powers 
(SCAP) received the surrender aboard the USS Missouri. The substance of an Initial 
Post-Surrender Policy (approved by the President on September 6) was provided to 
him on August 29. That policy read: 

Although every effort will be made, by consultation and by constitution of appropriate 
advisory bodies, to establish policies for the conduct of the occupation and control of 
Japan which will satisfy the principal Allied Powers, in the event of any difference of 
opinion among them, the policies of the United States will prevail. 

As SCAP MacArthur was nominally responsible to the 13-member (including the 
United States, the United Kingdom, the USSR, and China) Far Eastern Commission 
(FEC) in Washington, DC. However, the FEC, which established an Allied Control 
Council in Tokyo, did not meet until February 1946 and had minimal influence on 
policy formulation. 

Major General Courtney Whitney, in his book MacArthur: His Rendezvous with 
History, tells of MacArthur “pacing up and down the aisle of his C-54” as he dictated 
en-route to Japan. The 

. . . notes I took formed the policy under which we would work . . . First destroy the 
military power; then build the structure of representative government; enfranchise the 
women; free the political prisoners; liberate the farmers; establish a free labor move­
ment; encourage a free economy; abolish police oppression; develop a free and re­
sponsible press; liberalize education; decentralize the political powers. . . . 

MacArthur went right to work. Until September 2, 1945, his one headquarters in 
Manila, SWPA (Southwest Pacific Area), was a US unified warfighting command; it 
also served MacArthur in his role as commander of US Army Forces Pacific, including 
Sixth and Eighth Armies and other Army engineer, logistical, and administrative com­
mands. On that date, GHQ SWPA became GHQ SCAP, responsible for the occupation 
of Japan. If MacArthur was to carry out his program, he must bring in substantial new 
expertise for management of occupation affairs, and his headquarters must adjust its 
working methods. 
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The solution, arrived at in the next six months, was to create within a single head­
quarters two interconnected staffs, one for Japan’s governance and one for military 
matters. General MacArthur, as SCAP, would be the ultimate authority for the former 
function. As concurrently commander of the US Far East Command (and directly com­
manding the US Army element of FEC), he would be the ultimate authority for the 
latter. Depending on the issue involved, the same officer would often serve on one 
staff or the other, his paperwork arriving for decision at the appropriate authority, or 
MacArthur himself. (I am told by my neighbor in Washington, Lieutenant General 
Edward L. Rowny, US Army, Retired, who served on MacArthur’s staff in those days, 
that this was indeed how it worked, and very well.) 

On September 6, 1945, General MacArthur received these instructions from the 
Joint Chiefs of Staff: 

The authority of the Emperor and the Japanese Government to rule the State is subor­
dinate to you as Supreme Commander for the Allied Powers. You will exercise your 
authority as you deem proper to carry out your mission. Our relations with the Japa­
nese do not rest on a contractual basis, but on unconditional surrender. Since your 
authority is supreme, you will not entertain any question on the part of the Japanese 
as to its scope. 

Dr. Braibanti, in his Syracuse University doctoral dissertation gives many exam­
ples of how General MacArthur used this authority with great skill to bring about the 
transformation of Japan, including its adoption of a new constitution. 

MacArthur decided right away to leave in place the Japanese structure of govern­
ment with its prefectures and subordinate echelons. Annex 8, 28 August 1945, of Op­
erating Instructions No. 4, 15 August 1945, provided that MacArthur would 

. . . issue all necessary instructions to the Japanese Emperor or to the Imperial Govern­
ment and every opportunity would be given the Government and the Japanese people 
to carry out such instruction without further compulsion. If necessary, however, (he) 
will issue appropriate orders to (US) Army and Corps commanders . . . to secure com­
pliance with (SCAP) instructions. 

Eighth Army deployed a total of 46 military government teams, one team at each 
prefecture, each team with its subordinate detachments. As was the case in Europe, 
each team encompassed the full range of governmental functions. Operating for the 
most part under I Corps at Kyoto and IX Corps at Sendai and their assigned division 
and supervised by army, corps, and division G5s, this was the field structure that, along 
with the Tokyo SCAP establishment, carried out the occupation of Japan. 

* * * 

In 1962 President Kennedy’s ordered increase in the US advisory effort and troop 
support began to arrive in Vietnam. In 1973 the last US troops were withdrawn and the 
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Congress forbade any further US military involvement. Throughout those years, US 
authorities sought the right recipe for civil-military action through which the Govern­
ment of Vietnam (GVN) could take back the countryside from the communist Viet 
Cong. 

I grappled with this problem myself, in 1963–64 when I was senior advisor to the 
21st ARVN (Army of the Republic of Vietnam) Infantry Division in charge of a four 
province area in the deepest regions of Vietnam’s delta, its headquarters in Bac Lieu. 
President Diem had recently launched his ultra-ambitious strategic hamlets program, 
which called for fortifying hamlets, and occasionally for moving people into new ham­
lets. But the strategic hamlet program had tried to do too much too fast and was in a 
shambles. 

The fundamental reality was that out there in the countryside there were two gov­
ernments competing for the loyalties and control of the same population. One was the 
GVN, the official government of Vietnam, with its province chiefs, district chiefs, 
and village and hamlet chiefs, its tax collectors, its armed forces down to civil guard 
companies, self-defense corps platoons, and hamlet militia, its schools and information 
machinery, and so on. The other was the Viet Cong with its own structure of province 
and district and other chiefs, its own tax collectors, its own schools, entertainers, and 
propaganda squads, and its own armed forces down to the hamlet militia, farmers by 
day and fighters by night. The VC side had its own doctrine, that of revolutionary war, 
and in the countryside it was winning. 

I decided that our advisory team would work with the division commander and his 
four province chiefs to develop a doctrine of our own that would reverse the situation 
and win back the countryside. I was fortunate in having two very good colleagues, 
Lieutenant Colonel Robert M. Montague, a deputy senior advisor, and Richard Hol­
brooke, later famous but then a brand new foreign service office who was working in 
my area as a USAID representative. 

Working with a grizzled old major on the division staff, among other Vietnamese 
officers who spoke pretty good English, we developed the “oil spot” concept. Major 
Yi, who gave the concept its name, told us that it was how the French had operated in 
Algeria. 

Pacification by “oil spot” meant that we would start at the fringe of an area un­
der GVN control and, using a civil-military organization and civil-military action, we 
would patiently pacify one contested hamlet at a time. We were rather successful; 
when I left Vietnam in April 1964 we had a division school in operation and systematic 
hamlet pacification underway in each province. (Those interested in the details can 
read about it in my article, “Pacification Operations in the ARVN 21st Infantry Divi­
sion,” Army Magazine, March 1966, and also in pages 108–116 of Strange Ground: 
Americans in Vietnam 1945–1975, An Oral History, by Harry Maurer, Henry Holt and 
Company, New York, 1989.) 
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The 21st ARVN Division initiative was not replicated elsewhere. It was later meld­
ed into a joint GVN–MACV (Military Assistance Command,Vietnam) program called 
HOP TAC (Victory), the execution of which then suffered from faulty management 
and, with coup after coup, from government disarray. As ARVN and local province 
forces were increasingly buffeted by the growing Viet Cong, by mid-1965 the Republic 
of Vietnam was losing the war. 

President Johnson then committed US Marines, an Army air cavalry division, and 
two airborne brigades to save the situation. Embarking on a “strategy of attrition,” 
General Westmoreland, COMUSMACV (Commander, US Military Assistance Com­
mand, Vietnam), asked for more. In July the President announced that he would send 
44 combat battalions to Vietnam, increasing the US military presence to 125,000; it 
would triple by end-1966. President Johnson, meanwhile, was casting about for ways 
to improve the progress of pacification. Various avenues were explored; none satisfied 
him. 

On March 26, 1966, the President (per Richard Hunt) 

. . . appointed Robert W. Komer as special assistant for supervising pacifi cation sup­
port from the White House. . . Komer’s powers were substantial. He was authorized 
to draw support from the secretaries of state, defense, treasury, agriculture, and health, 
education, and welfare, from the administrator of USAID and from the directors of 
CIA and USIA. . . . The President made it clear that . . . Komer ‘will have access to 
me at all times’. . . . 

Komer handpicked a small group of people experienced in pacification to work for 
him. Lieutenant Colonel Robert Montague was his executive officer . . . (also) Richard 
Holbrooke of State. . . . Komer set out to solve problems, prodding offi cials in Wash­
ington and Saigon . . . earned the nickname ‘Blowtorch.’ 

In September 1967, having just taken command of the 2d Brigade of the 101st Air­
borne Division, which had been alerted to deploy by air to Vietnam in December, I vis­
ited Vietnam with the division commander in an orientation party. In Saigon I spent an 
evening with Robert Komer, who was living out the consequences of his appointment 
18 months earlier. Since May, Komer had been there as Deputy COMUSMACV for 
Civil Operations and Revolutionary Development (CORDS), with the rank of ambas­
sador and with authority to manage all US participation in the GVN-US pacification 
effort. Bob Montague was his executive assistant. 

Bob Montague and Dick Holbrooke, both brilliant men, had with their accom­
plished colleagues in Washington created CORDS—a Cadillac version of the Model 
T pacification machinery that the three of us had built in Bac Lieu three years before. 
[When President Nguyen Van Thieu in 1968 set up the GVN’s Central Pacification and 
Development Council (CPDC) with a staff that reported to the Prime Minister and kept 
close ties with CORDS, he appointed our old 21st ARVN Division commander, Major 
General (then Colonel) Cao Hao Hon, to take charge of it.] 
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Richard Hunt: 

CORDS unique feature was to incorporate civilians into a . . . single chain of com­
mand that consolidated control of all pacification support. (Komer) exercised com­
mand of all pacification personnel from Saigon to the provinces (and down into the 
districts). . . . CORDS interleaved civilian and military personnel throughout its 
hierarchy. . . . Of the province senior advisors roughly half were civilians, and half 
were military, although the less secure provinces and districts tended to have a mili­
tary head. . . . Civilians wrote the performance reports of their military subordinates, 
and army officers evaluated the Foreign Service officers under them. . . . The CORDS 
staff, called MACCORDS . . . functioned as a regular staff section under the MACV 
chief of staff. . . . 

General Westmoreland . . . transferred the responsibility for advising and supporting 
the RF/PF (Regional Force companies and Popular Force platoons commanded by the 
province chief in his capacity as sector commander) from the J3 (Operations) section 
in MACV to a directorate within CORDS. No single change was more important to the 
eventual course of pacification. It allowed CORDS to increase substantially the num­
ber of advisors and at last gave the pacification program access to forces that could 
provide sustained local security. 

Commanding the 2d Brigade, 101st Airborne Division, north of Hue during and 
after Tet 1968, I watched province and district chiefs and their RF/PF units weather the 
intense fighting of that period, supported by their advisors and the CORDS structure 
and by the ARVN 1st Infantry Division and by my brigade. The system rebounded. 
When in March 1970 I returned to Vietnam’s delta as senior advisor to the Command­
er, ARVN IV Corps/Military Region 4, pacification in the region was thriving and 
CORDS was going strong. (See my “Senior Officer Debriefing Report” of 14 January 
1972, Headquarters, Delta Regional Assistance Command . . .) 

* * * 

Thirty years later as the Joint Chiefs of Staff and the Commander, US Central 
Command, were addressing the Iraq situation, Vietnam was a distant memory and 
CORDS had been forgotten. 

From my January 15, 2007, paper “Planning and Early Execution of the War in 
Iraq: An Assessment of Military Participation” (http://www.westpoint.org/publica­
tions/cushman/ForArmyWarCollege.pdf). 

At CENTCOM there was little post-hostilities planning; Mr. Rumsfeld’s key princi­
pals had told General Franks to ‘leave Phase IV [the post-Hussein-defeat phase] to 
us.’ Mr. Rumsfeld himself waved off help offered by the State Department. ARCENT 
set up a post-hostilities planning cell, but not until Secretary Rumsfeld named retired 
Army Lieutenant General Jay Garner to take charge of an Office of Reconstruction 
and Humanitarian Assistance two months before the invasion did real planning begin. 
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Garner would in effect work for the Secretary of Defense, creating divided in-theater 
command. Hastily collecting a staff, he deployed to Kuwait just days before D-Day. 

As operations began, plans for constituting key ministries of an Iraqi post-Hussein 
national government and for putting in place provincial governments were essentially 
unformed. Provisions ensuring that there would be an Iraqi army and police force did 
not exist. The troops were not told what to do when the Iraqi Army was defeated. Post-
hostilities operational concepts were not developed and made known. PSYOPS plans 
and capabilities were rudimentary at best. Gaping holes remained. 

We know the rest of the sad story. In 2003 I had written an article for the November 
US Naval Institute Proceedings. Its title, “President Bush Deserved Better.” Excerpts: 

On 8 September, a somber President George W. Bush told the nation that accomplish­
ing his goals in Iraq would take a lot more money and a lot more time than the public 
had been led to believe. He deserved better from his military. . . . 

(W)hile Secretary Rumsfeld and the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff must be 
held primarily accountable for the second phase ineptness and the resulting problems, 
I also hold General Franks accountable. The Rumsfeld–Franks partnership extolled 
by Secretary Rumsfeld during the major combat phase had failed thereafter—and at a 
huge cost. . . . 

Only in January 2003 did Secretary Rumsfeld appoint retired Army Lieutenant Gen­
eral Jay Garner as head of the Office of Reconstruction and Humanitarian Assistance 
to deal with postwar Iraq. It was late already, but that month, General Franks should 
have said something like this to Army General John Abizaid, his newly arrived and 
highly capable Arabic-speaking deputy commander: 

The postwar planning effort is not going well. If it falls short, I will be 
responsible. So I am going to tell Secretary Rumsfeld that you will plan 
the second phase, which will begin seamlessly as soon as we defeat Sad-
dam Hussein’s army. As my deputy, you will take over General Garner’s 
operation and become the temporary military governor of Iraq. Get busy 
planning for a military-civilian operation, basing your organization on the 
solution applied by General Creighton Abrams that was successful—but 
too late—in the Vietnam War. 

We will find a civilian to play the part of Robert Komer, who fi rst headed 
the Civil Operations Rural Development Support effort in Vietnam. You 
will make your own estimate of post-victory conditions, which will be 
chaotic. Here is one idea I want you to consider. There are 18 provinces 
in Iraq. Organize 18 province teams under three regions, one of which 
will be Baghdad and vicinity. I will get the Army War College to name 18 
smart students to do full-time planning and to stand by to move to their 
province seats with their teams, complete with communications and local 
security from US troops. 

Next week, I will move you and a small planning staff to Carlisle Bar­
racks, near Washington, DC, for convenient interagency planning. Start 
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gathering data on Iraq and doing research on former occupations of coun­
tries. Be ready to brief me on your concept by mid-February. I will fight 
for suffi cient resources. 

I ended the article with “General Franks should have acted along these lines and 
insisted that Secretary Rumsfeld accept his approach. Think of the difference it would 
have made.” 
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A Mile Deep and an Inch Wide: Foreign Internal Defense 

Campaigning in Dhofar, Oman, and El Salvador
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Mr. Michael J. Noonan
 
Foreign Policy Research Institute
 

Good morning. It is a great pleasure to be here today and an honor. It is my first 
time to be here at Fort Leavenworth, especially as a soon to be former captain. It is 
always nice to be able to talk to your betters in uniform. The title here of my presenta­
tion—I do not mean this in derisive way or in a dismissive way, “A Mile Deep and an 
Inch Wide” really refers to, as we will see in the case studies, a very small footprint 
approach to foreign internal defense where you do not have a large buildup or a large 
presence of troops. This is a possible model for what some people call phase zero in 
operations. Before I start all that I would like to say a line from Mark Twain. “The three 
most difficult things are, climbing a wall that leans towards you, kissing a woman that 
is leaning away from you, and addressing an audience that knows more about your 
subject than you do.” And certainly in the case of Dr. John Fishel, I am sure he has 
probably forgotten more about El Salvador than I have probably read. 

Like some of the other presenters I am also trained in the dark arts of political 
science, coming before an August crowd of military historians (Slide 1). At FPRI (For­
eign Policy Research Institute) a lot of my colleagues are trained historians. As a politi­
cal scientist I promise not to put any two by two tables in this presentation. Political 
scientists are generally an Aaron Simpson in the crowd. We tend to be lumpers. These 
kind of political scientists like to dichotomize things and there are lumpers and split­
ters. We like to aggregate things and then slice it up. Whereas I think historians like to 
split things up. I think in this presentation perhaps we can look at these discrete cases 
and get to more lessons learned issues as discussed before. A second caveat is that this 
research is in progress and this is part of a larger project. So this part is largely gathered 
from secondary source information with some primary source information. Due to the 
30-year rule as was explained yesterday, there is more information coming out on the 
Dhofar case, and I have been able to assemble a lot of that as well as do some archival 
research in the United Kingdom, but this is sort of an initial macro view of these cases. 
The same is true of the case with El Salvador. George Washington University has an 
archive of information that deals with El Salvador that is fairly complete, but there are 
other resources out there that I am trying to gain access to, going into the historian’s 
office at the John F. Kennedy Special Warfare Center and School. I think only one aca­
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demic [inaudible] has gained access to this information for his dissertation on Central 
American strategy. The third caveat is that I think my experience in Iraq may have af­
fected my analysis on this so I certainly welcome any push back. But my experience in 
Iraq was much different than the two cases that we are going to be talking about today. 
These were much smaller, much more discrete, and the advisors on the ground were on 
a much longer string without the type of support that my team and I were able to get. 

The first question is, why look at these two cases? (Slide 2) I think the first and 
obvious point is the contemporary operating environments. You have al-Qaeda and 
affiliated movements, whether one thinks that this is an existential threat or more of a 
strategic nuisance. In 2001, discussions of al-Qaeda, we talked about this movement 
being spread across 60 countries and could tap into a sea of a billion Muslims through­
out the Muslim world stretching from Morocco to Southeast Asia, from Central Asia 
down to the eastern littoral of East Africa. The second point gets to discussions of ir­
regular warfare versus major combat operations. I do not know if anybody has seen it, 
but I recommend you take a look at Colonel Andrew Bacevich. He has a piece in the 
latest Atlantic where he talks about that in the United States Army there are two schools 
of thought. I think he oversimplifies, but there are definitely strands of truth in each 
one of the schools. One school is pushing for irregular threats in the future saying that 
obviously because the enemy gets a vote, the enemy is not going to organize conven­
tionally against us. Then we will see a continuance of irregular threats in the future as 
opposed to another school that thinks we should wait. The Army should really focus on 
big picture stuff and major combat operations. Colonel Gian P. Gentile at the US Mili­
tary Academy is considered the archetype of this school. Some people say that John 
Noggle is the archetype of the other school. So this sets up a Harry Summers-Andrew 
Krepinevich type of debate between people like Noggle who thinks that an irregular 
future is the path and people like Colonel Gentile who say let’s hold on a second and 
not lose sight of things that actually could be an existential threat to the country. Finally 
on this point, we have seen since the Long War began you had Operation ENDURING 
FREEDOM–Philippines, Combined Joint Task Force–Horn of Africa, and the Pan Sa­
hel Initiative working with armies in the Sahel region south of the Sahara in Africa 
going against groups like Abu Sayyaf in the Philippines, the Salafist Group for Preach­
ing and Combat in Algeria moving down into the Sahel regions. It takes advantage of 
geopolitical dead space where lack of formal governments allows for an infestation 
or breeding like in the tribal areas of Pakistan today. These cases look at historical 
harbingers of those types of environments. The second point here, resource constraints 
in an economy of force as I believe one of the speakers said yesterday, I think it was 
Lieutenant General Caldwell, the defense budget is not going to be getting bigger over 
time therefore the supplemental is funding so many activities and operations today that 
as we move forward, particularly depending on what happens in November, there will 
be resource constraints and an optempo issue with the Army that will cause us to . . . I 
have little faith that there is going to be any sort of large Iraq or Afghanistan types of 
operations in the future. However, in order to shape the international environment, case 
studies like El Salvador and Dhofar might give us an alternative path. Lastly, these two 
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cases deal with very politically sensitive operating environments which cause the type 
of force employment that we will discuss later on. 

For internal defense you can see here from the DOD dictionary, I will give you a 
moment to read the definition here (Slide 3). As you can see this is a subset of coun­
terinsurgency. It is not a big picture. During publication 3-07.1 Joint TTPs (Training, 
Techniques, and Procedures) Foreign Internal Defense tells us that there are three va­
rieties of foreign internal defense. Indirect—which is basically training and equipping 
of foreign forces in a nonpermissive environment; direct—which is a direct support but 
not combat support for host nation governments; and finally, combat operations where 
you are actually going out on combat operations with the host nation in order for them 
to gain time to build up their own force structure to handle the lawlessness, insurgency, 
or subversion within the society. 

Somebody said yesterday there is an obligatory Clausewitz slide. Well, in talking 
about counterinsurgency in foreign internal defenses, this is my obligatory David Ga­
lula slide (Slide 4). I will give you a moment . . . these are just some points that I find 
interesting from Galula. Now, in counterinsurgency operations there are basically two 
approaches. There is the enemy-centric approach where you are trying to attrit the en­
emy down and then there is a population-centric approach where you are working by, 
with, and through the host nation in order to address the political, economic, and social 
conditions on the grounds. As Galula quotes the Chinese General, “Counterinsurgency 
is kind of an 80/20 split.” Only 20 percent of it is military and you can debate these 
numbers, but the important fact is that the other 80 percent, or whatever percentage you 
assign to that, is the main part of his operations, the political, economic and cultural 
underpinnings of the grievances on the ground that is feeding the insurgency in that 
country. 

The advisors and advising, basically there are two approaches for advisors or ad­
vising (Slide 5). First, you have materiel advisory and support where you are basically 
providing weapon systems and training on those weapon systems in order to increase 
the host nation’s capabilities. And secondly, there is nonmateriel advising and support, 
small unit training, and developing cohesion. A number of scholars such as Stephen 
Peter Rosen wrote articles in the Washington Quarterly back in 1982, particularly on 
insurgency environments. The second form of advising is much more important be­
cause all armies overseas for the most part see themselves as sand. They want to be 
armies; they want the equipment that makes them have a martial spirit and martial out­
look. They want such things as artillery, tanks, and other things. Dealing with my Iraqi 
counterparts this would always be the crux of the matter. They wanted the big toys 
that made them more of a military unit. Seeing Coalition M1 Abrams and Bradleys or 
Strykers—you could see the glint of jealousy or envy in their eyes and them wanting 
these things. But in an insurgency environment you had a need for the more important 
things—radios, boots, good weapons, and good small arms in order to engage against 
the insurgents. Lastly, on selection, there is a big debate within the literature about 
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what is more important, whether it should be a functional knowledge—expertise and 
small unit tactics—or whether you need a deep cultural base in order to relate with 
the forces that you are working with, by, and through on the ground. We will get into 
this in the two case studies. Secondly, on selection for advisors, this is the volunteer 
versus the volun-told dichotomy. I think it is a big issue today with the transition teams 
in the Army. The team that I was with was largely a Reserve Component unit. We had 
three Active Component soldiers on our team. The teams that replaced us were Active 
Duty soldiers and there was some debate there among them about why people were 
there. In the Army today there is a big debate, and we will get to this later on, about 
the people that you select for advising and what type of backgrounds and personalities 
those people have. Finally, you have an organizational cultural essence issue. This gets 
back to the discussion before about an irregular or a major combat operation focus 
of the force. Organizational essence was what Morton Halperin came up with in his 
book Bureaucracy in American Foreign Policy. It says the organizational essence is 
the dominant outlook of the profession itself. Talking about Vietnam, one of the things 
that he said was that the creation of Special Forces was the biggest threat to the Army’s 
organizational essence since the split off of the Air Force in 1947. This dominant out­
look within the profession itself plays back on to things like who should be advisors or 
whether the advisor mission should be an important mission or not. 

The first case we will deal with is what I call the Dhofar War, probably more tech­
nically the Dhofar Rebellion, in Oman (Slide 6). Oman had an interesting background 
for this part of the Middle East. It had a treaty of friendship with the United Kingdom 
dating back to about 1798. So it was not a colonial possession of the United Kingdom, 
unlike the Trucial States which are the modern day United Arab Emirates or Southern 
Arabia with Aden that later became the People’s Democratic Republic of Yemen, and 
then later just became Yemen when North Yemen and South Yemen united. The Dho­
far Rebellion—an important historical antecedent to this was Sultan Sa’id bin Taymur 
who rose to power in 1932. He had a very backward looking approach so Oman had 
been stuck in the 17th century. He was a very tyrannical leader. He did not allow edu­
cation. He did not allow foreign travel. He did not allow people to smoke cigarettes 
in the kingdom which originally was called Muscat. The Dhofar region which is the 
southern region to the southeast had always been an occupied portion of the country. 
The people there are different from those in the north. They have an Ethiopian or So­
malian background. The language on the ground is different. They spoke a version of 
Aramaic and they were looked down upon by the north. There is an old Omani proverb 
or saying that says if you come across a Dhofari and a snake on the road, kill the Dho­
fari first. So they were looked down upon by the Arabs in the northern parts of Oman. 
Starting in the 1950s and 1960s the Sultan had built a palace down in Salalah which is 
in the southern part of the country. He had married a local Dhofari woman. You can see 
from the topographical map there, it is a very rugged terrain. There is basically only 
one road that leads up from Salalah to Durmat that reaches the rest of Oman. He did 
not allow any kind of agriculture throughout that coastal plain that you can see in front 
of the Jebel Dhofar which is a mountain range that runs down to the Yemeni border. 
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At its highest part it is about 3,000 feet. As you can see, it is a very rugged terrain that 
is perfect for guerilla activity. Oman at this time had a population of about 700,000 
people and Dhofar had a population of about 50,000. Ten thousand of the Dhofaris 
were Jebeli living up in the mountains, and in the 1960s a group emerged called the 
Dhofar Liberation Front which is a Marxist organization that wanted development and 
aid for this part of Oman. The Sultan had really applied his resources to Muscat in 
the Arab portions of the country so this rebellion starts to break out. It starts out very 
slowly going after some oil concessions and other things that were exploring up toward 
Saudi Arabia and then eventually leads on to going after the Sultan’s Armed Forces. 
So in 1965 the Sultan invites the British in and they do some initial operations from 
the Trucial States going through Dhofar that were very ineffective and small and did 
not last for a long time. The Sultan’s Armed Forces, however, at this time were very 
small, there were a few thousand soldiers drawn mainly from Arabs in the north, and 
Baluchis from Pakistan. Until 1958 the Sultan had been in possession of Gwadar in 
Pakistan until he gave up that possession. The British Army had assigned seconded 
officers to the Sultan’s Armed Forces. The commander of the Sultan’s Armed Forces 
was a British officer and all the way down to battalion level you had as many as three 
British Army captains for every company in the Sultan’s Armed Forces, but it is a very 
small organization. So from 1965 to 1970 is a Phase I of the counterinsurgency opera­
tions in Dhofar. This period is an abject failure. One of the interesting things about the 
Dhofar case is that it is two separate periods. It is a nice case to look at because there 
are discrete time frames that can show a lot of progress depending upon approaches of 
counterinsurgency. The first portion of operations, from 1965 to 1970, were very inef­
fective because it was a very attrition-based strategy. They tried to go after the Dhofar 
Liberation Front which in 1968 becomes the People’s Front for the Liberation of the 
Occupied Arabian Gulf (PFLOAG). This organization was supported by the People’s 
Democratic Republic of Yemen which had gained independence from Britain in 1967, 
and they were armed fairly heavily from the Soviet Union and China and they were 
much better equipped than the Sultan’s Armed Forces. They had Kalashnikovs (AK­
47), they had RPKs (Kalashnikova light machinegun), and they had RPGs (rocket pro­
pelled grenades), whereas the Sultan’s Armed Forces was equipped with Lee-Enfield 
rifles and Bren guns. Phase II is 1970-1972. In 1970, the commander of the 22d Spe­
cial Air Service Regiment, looking for work for his regiment, goes to Colonel Johnnie 
Watts, goes to Dhofar and does a hasty assessment on the ground and he comes up 
with a five part plan for winning the war there. This plan is based on civil reorganiza­
tion, agriculture and economical development, intelligence gathering, physiological 
warfare, and military operations and training of local forces. However, because Sultan 
Sa’id bin Taymur was still in power, he really wanted to keep this operation very low 
key. He did not want an acceleration of British support there. So his son, Said bin Qa­
bus launches a coup d’état against his father in the summer of 1970 and takes power. 
The son trained at Sandhurst, had served in the Cameronian Rifles, and had done a 
tour in the United Kingdom looking at modernization issues. With his rise to power 
he decides to change the approach on the ground there. The first thing he does is to 
address the social, political, and economic concerns. He offers general amnesty to all 
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the subjects who opposed his father. He incorporates Dhofar formally into Oman as 
the southern province. He decides to provide effective military opposition to the rebels 
who did not accept the amnesty offer. He started a vigorous nation-wide program of de­
velopments, and finally he started diplomatic initiatives with the aim of having Oman 
recognized as a genuine Arab state and to isolate the People’s Democratic Republic of 
Yemen. At this point he invites the 22d SAS (Special Air Service) to come into Oman. 
They start to do civil action programs, and they began to raise local civilian regular 
defense groups called Firqats which is Arabic for company. Those groups start to work 
in the Jebel. I will speed things up here since I am running out of time. In any event 
he takes a very population-centric approach between the SAS and with the Sultan’s 
Armed Forces. They start working with the Jebelis. They start building wells and doing 
things like cattle inoculation. They do a cattle drive to bring cattle to market there. And 
in combination with the Sultan’s Armed Forces they began to push the supply lines of 
the PFLOAG back toward Yemen with a series of defensive lines—the Hammer Line, 
the Hornbeam Line, and Damavand Lines. In 1973, the Iranians come in because of the 
broader geopolitics of the region. In the 1960s, the British Prime Minister declared that 
the British were going to start to leave the Gulf. However, you have this very important 
geostrategic position of Oman on the Straits of Hormuz. The Iranians wanted to ensure 
that they had a peaceful neighbor across the straits. The Jordanians start to send in 
troops. Oman is admitted into the Arab League, and eventually into the UN. As these 
population-centric and more effective military operations take place, you have increas­
ing numbers of surrendered enemy personnel, and the insurgency itself peters out. In 
1975, there is an offensive and basically that breaks the back of PFLOAG which at this 
time had dropped the Occupied Arabian Gulf portion from its name and basically went 
into a small handle and more of a brigand situation there. 

British involvement there, you had about 300 seconded officers and air crew, field 
surgical team, etc. (Slide 7). You had the British Army training teams which were 
Special Air Service squadrons that served there, and then you had British contractors 
as well who worked with the Omanis, particularly pilots as defense expenditures in­
creased and the Sultan’s Armed Forces were modernized. 

I will try to do this fast and furious here with the El Salvador case (Slide 8). El 
Salvador at the time was a country of about 5.4 million people, very high population 
density, about 239 people per square kilometer, the highest population concentration 
in North or South America, and basically a one commodity economy of coffee which 
basically was responsible for about 80 percent of GDP (gross domestic product). The 
problem, however, is that 60 percent of the population owned no lands and were basi­
cally seasonal migrant workers on the coffee plantations. About 4 percent of the popu­
lation owned about 65 percent of the lands. Beginning in 1932 as the Great Depression 
set in and the economy there got worse, you had a despotic form of government take 
place between the landowners and the military in the country. In 1932, 30,000 peasants 
are killed in an uprising by Augustin Farabundo Marti. Fast-forwarding, 1969, you 
have a war with Honduras which is important because the El Salvadoran forces really 
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saw themselves, as I said before, as a standing military force and saw the external threat 
as more important than internal strife. In 1977, FMLN which is the Farabundo Marti 
National Liberation Front begins kicking off minor operations throughout El Salvador 
due to human rights violations by the military. General Carlos Romero becomes Presi­
dent. Because of these human rights violations the Carter administration cuts off all aid 
to El Salvador. However, in 1979, with the Iranian Revolution, with the rise to power 
of Daniel Ortega and the Sandinistas in Nicaragua, the Carter administration decides 
to start backing the El Salvadorian government again. Because of these death squads 
about 30,000 people were killed and this fueled the FMLN insurgency in El Salvador. 
With President Reagan coming into office, he begins to seize three important geopoliti­
cal things in Central America at the time. He wanted a base in Honduras, he wanted to 
roll back the Sandinistas in Nicaragua, and he wanted to ensure that the government in 
El Salvador did not fall. So he begins to introduce advisors there. 

Because Vietnam was very much in the short-term memory at the time, Congress 
and the administration worked out an arrangement where there would only be 55 ad­
visors on the ground. This is from 1981 and these numbers shift over time (Slide 9). 
Special Forces soldiers from 7th Special Forces Group and other personnel came in 
to work with six El Salvadorian brigades. Five of the teams were Army or Special 
Forces teams and one team was a Marine Corps team working with an El Salvadorian 
brigade. In order to fight the insurgency however, they had to increase the size of the 
El Salvadorian forces. In 1979, there were 11,000 soldiers in the ESAF (El Salvadoran 
Armed Forces) and this number grew to about 50,000 soldiers by the end of the 1980s. 
The USA Today version of the strategy there was KIS, this is from Tommie Sue Mont­
gomery, “Keep it simple, sustainable, small, and Salvadoran.”  In other words, we 
did not want them to get deeply involved in El Salvador. The military focus on Fulda 
Gap in Europe ensured that the military itself would not pay a lot of attention to this, 
and this space and top cover from the Embassy working with the Mil Group allowed 
these advisors to work with the El Salvadorans first to build capacity for the military 
and then to work on things like human rights and civil development in order to defuse 
some of the underlying causes of the insurgency. Over time, with the election of Jose 
Napoleon Duarte, and then with the election in 1989 of Alfredo Christiani who was 
with the National Republican Alliance, a very right-wing organization, they were able 
to build up the El Salvadoran forces to get to a draw situation with the insurgents on the 
ground which allowed, later on, a political resolution to the crisis finally with a peace 
treaty in 1992. 

We can talk about this in the Q & A session because I know I am drastically over 
time (Slide 10). 

Thank you for your patience. 
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Panel 4—Interagency Case Studies
 
Question and Answers
 
(Transcript of Presentation)
 

Lieutenant General (Ret.) John H. Cushman
 
Mr. Michael P. Noonan
 

Moderated by Mr. John J. McGrath
 

Mr. McGrath 

Okay, we will open it to the general public. Any questions or comments? 

Audience Member 
Mike, you talk about, in both of your cases, the role of Special Forces (SF) and British 
SAS (Special Air Service) and Army Special Forces Group in El Salvador. Can you 
talk a little bit today about the role of Special Forces in the Foreign Internal Defense 
mission and why perhaps we have abandoned it? 

Mr. Noonan 
That is a very interesting question. I think a lot of it depends on who you talk to in the 
Special Forces community. I gave a talk down at the Asymmetric Warfare Group last 
year and I pushed on this. It appeared that Special Forces was a functional area until 
1986 when we created a branch. Then there is a line of argument advanced by people 
like Richard Downy and Anna Simons and others and Hy Rothstein who is also a Spe­
cial Forces veteran, saying that they conventionalized their force and that they were 
more interested in how to deal in more direct action and special reconnaissance mis­
sions and less focused on foreign internal defense and their other core mission which 
is unconventional warfare. I think there is a lot of push back even within the Special 
Forces community today. It really depends on who you talk to. Some people, like Colo­
nel Dave Maxwell, will say no, we have not abandoned this. We actually do a lot of for­
eign internal defense missions. We work a lot with the Iraqi or Afghani Special Forces 
elements. But then there are so many anecdotes out there that say hold on a second. Hy 
Rothstein calls it “Delta envy.”  Working in Afghanistan they wanted to do more direct 
action type stuff, more door kicking stuff and have backed away from indirect things. 
I think one of the interesting things was that the Special Operations Command handed 
off a large part of its civil affairs capability back into the Army Reserve and only kept 
a small . . . they expanded it, there used to be only one civil affairs battalion on Active 
Duty. Now there is a group headquarters, but because of the promotion processes the 
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more kinetic realm of Special Operations Forces has been ascended. A few things got 
bumped up like the Special Missions Units, the JSOC commander, the Joint Special 
Operations Command which is responsible for these classified elements. It used to be 
a two-star command. Then General Stanley McChrystal was given a third star and was 
told that this was going to be a temporary situation. Then his replacement, Admiral 
McRaven was also given a third star. On top of that, Special Forces officers, because 
they are in their own distinctive branch cannot not rotate back out to more conventional 
units in order to gain rank. If you look at the most recent brigadier generals appoint­
ment lists, people on there with an SF or SOF background are mainly guys coming 
from this more kinetic community. So there is big debate on that, but what I am seeing 
at least, anecdotally, leads me to believe that kinetic is the way to get ahead and has 
dominated the culture a bit. 

Audience Member 
They certainly have no interaction with the training effort at Fort Riley and SOCOM 
does not support the Marine side of training advisors either. So that is an interesting 
development from that respect. 

Mr. Noonan 
It is also an interesting element that as they have become a branch they have so many 
LNOs (liaison officers) that have to be assigned outside their headquarters that people 
that get outside that tract are told they are persona non grata back in the Special Forc­
es community, particularly some of the people who worked in Asymmetric Warfare 
Group. 

Audience Member 
My question is for General Cushman. Looking at your case studies it strikes me that, 
we did a lot of talking yesterday about trigger events, and it strikes me that of your 
three case studies they are all in established institutionalized crisis—the end of World 
War II and the hot part of the Cold War, whereas Iraq was a response to a new set of 
emergencies or perhaps one that had just been recognized. I wonder if you could talk 
a little bit about that as an issue of whether the length of time between September 11th 
and the invasion of Iraq may have played a role in perhaps the lack of consideration 
being given to postwar outcomes and long-term expectations of the changing security 
situation. 

LTG Cushman 
I think that the amount of time between 9-11 and the invasion of Iraq had very little 
to do with the decision as to whether it would be a theater commander’s job or the job 
of some civilian agency as it turned out to be. It just had nothing to do with that. In 
my opinion, the lack of comprehension by Mr. Rumsfeld and the other senior people 
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around him, caused the follow-on posthostilities work to be done by the theater com­
mander. They just did not remember their history. There is an even longer time since 
World War II, but the history is there and they just did not pay attention to it. I think it 
was the job of the institution. The Army as an institution was handed over by the Chief 
of Staff to keep that history alive. We all know what happened with respect to Vietnam. 
All the lessons learned in Vietnam disappeared. I was here at Leavenworth in 1953, 
1973, and 1976 and we could not get out of the Vietnam experience fast enough. We 
quickly decided to go back into warfare European style. Did that answer your ques­
tion? 

Mr. McGrath 
General Cushman, could I ask an aside to that? Do you think force structure might be 
a factor because the World War II Army was large total mobilization, and even during 
Vietnam there was a draft Army much larger than the 2003 Army. 

LTG Cushman 
Well, I think that the size of the Army was too small. General Shinseki, when he re­
tired, said, “Beware a twelve division strategy with a ten division Army.”  The Army 
was allowed to shrink and it should have been increased. That is a decision by manage­
ment of the Department of Defense. 

Mr. McGrath 
So could the host conflict military government considerations be factored in because 
they wanted troops to do it? 

LTG Cushman 
Well, I think that if they used the troops that are there, even with the size of the Army 
that existed in 2003, properly employed, would have made a huge difference. The fact 
is there were no instructions to the forces that finished the invasion with the possession 
of Baghdad. The troops were not told what to do. They let the looting just go on. There 
were no plans to secure any government facilities. There were no plans for anything 
you properly would plan for. There was just a total void of effective planning. Now 
some planning was done. Third Army was quickly moved out of the sphere and pulled 
back to Kuwait. V Corps under General Sanchez was put in as the occupying force 
totally unprepared for the mission they were assigned. And of course, the 1st Cavalry 
Division was not deployed. They did not deploy the 1st Cavalry Division and should 
have. That would have made a difference. Planning was just dismal for the follow-on 
phrase, and the one person to blame most for that is General Franks because he had no 
conception. He was happy to get rid of that job. He had no conception of the historical 
significance of World War II and Vietnam, in my opinion. 
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Audience Member 

Sir, this is for General Cushman. Do you see the current doctrine placing the military 
in a support role to the interagency and nation building? Do you see that as a failure? 
If so, how could that be improved? 

LTG Cushman 
Does current doctrine place the US military in a support role? Is that the current doc­
trine? 

Audience Member 
That is in the Joint Publication 3-0 and 5-0. It says that we will support interagency 
for defense support, public diplomacy and also for nation building such as in Iraq and 
Afghanistan. 

LTG Cushman 
I think it is a bad doctrine. I had no idea that was the doctrine. Of course, all I know is 
what I read in the newspaper. I am sorry I have not seen that one in the paper. 

Audience Member (from the blogosphere) 
The question is how do you manage competing agendas and how in your specific case 
studies did they do it? 

LTG Cushman 
Say that question again. What are the competing agendas? 

Audience Member (from the blogosphere) 
In your case study when you did the comparison with Vietnam and then to Iraq. How 
did the management of the competing agendas, I guess probably in your specific case, 
potential of the service Chiefs versus the JCS versus General Franks, the agendas that 
were in competition? 

LTG Cushman 
Well, one agenda was—as I see the question—one agenda was that this is going to be 
a short war and we turn it over to the Iraqis without any problem and go on home. And 
the other agenda was that this is going to be a posthostilities war that has to be taken 
care of and planned for. The agendas were managed in such a way that the first agenda 
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won out. And I do not know how the person that made the final decision on that was the 
President, given advice by people he had put into positions of authority. He listened to 
his Secretary of Defense and what I say is that the military, the uniformed military with 
their experience in history that they should have understood, should have said, “This is 
a bad idea.” My whole pitch is that they did not have an agenda and they should have 
had one that said, “Do not do it this way. Do it the way the history tells us to do it.” 
And that is to give the theater commander responsibility for posthostilities planning. 
As far as I can tell, nobody in a position of authority, the four-star arena responsible for 
Iraq, ever made that pitch. Someone may have thought it, but they did not make it. 

Mr. Noonan 
Just real quickly, in El Salvador and in Dhofar, one issue was that, in El Salvador in 
particular, all of the advisors assigned there were pretty much fluent Spanish speakers. 
That being said, there were still agendas being played by the units that they supported. 
By keeping the advisory mission so small although the 55 limit was breached on many 
occasions because they would rotate in units from Panama and Fort Bragg to get above 
that cap for short periods of time because they kept the advisor and the Mil Group so 
small and the aid that they distributed was about a billion dollars over the decade, but 
by keeping it small they were able to use that as an excuse for things the El Salvadorans 
wanted, but they did not think was fitting into the campaign plan and put that off. So 
the small part of it was the flexibility of that and the size of the organization allowed 
them to offset some of the competing agendas there and in Oman, again, it was a small 
group. Because there were British officers commanding the Omani units and because 
of the SAS’s background and their intervention force mystic surrounding them since 
the post Second World War period you had a lot more synergy and unity of effort on the 
ground so in that 1970-1975 period they were really on the same page with the Sultan, 
whereas in the 1965-1970 period if you go back into some of the archives, I looked 
through some of Peter Thwaites records at King’s College, Sultan Bin Taimur would 
get so down into the weeds that he would talk about imposing taxes on officers who 
brought hunting rifles into the country. He was that far into the weeds on issues. So that 
change in leadership was a perfect case because you have these two distinct periods 
and in the second period you have somebody that was bought into and is totally on the 
same page with those people so that there was not really that many agendas that needed 
to be pushed aside there. 
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by 
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History has hailed the US experience in the reconstruction of Germany in the af­
termath of World War II as a “success story” that epitomized the capabilities and vi­
sion of a democracy in a postconflict environment. The economic recovery of Europe 
(enabled to a large degree by the Marshall Plan), along with the development of West 
Germany as a liberal democracy, provided convincing evidence that the reconstruction 
and stabilization efforts of the United States and her allies achieved success. During 
the course of this reconstruction effort, the US military found itself working closely 
with many nongovernmental organizations (NGOs) to restore the basic necessities of 
daily life to the German (and other former Nazi-occupied) people. This paper examines 
the intricacies of this military-NGO relationship, and presents several salient charac­
teristics that defined the nature of the interaction. Of these, the leadership and direction 
provided by the US government emerges as particularly critical in achieving an inte­
grated effort. This guidance served to mitigate many of the organizational and logisti­
cal challenges faced by those working to alleviate the humanitarian crisis and set the 
stage for the eventual reconstruction of Germany. Overall, the humanitarian relief and 
reconstruction work carried out by the US Army and nongovernmental organizations 
in postwar Germany provides testament to the value of the relationship developed be­
tween these two entities, and the circumstances under which they developed these ties 
offers interesting insights regarding the ability of two different organizational entities 
to work in the same geographic space to achieve their goals. 

This study will begin with a brief overview of the general state of thinking regard­
ing crisis-response and developmental environments, followed by an examination of 
the situation in postwar Germany, and in Europe in general, to set the context for the 
relationship. Next, a discussion of the goals and objectives of both the US military and 
the various NGO actors establishes the conditions for “success” in the humanitarian 
mission that both undertook. The third section will explore the interaction itself, iden­
tifying the characteristics that marked the relationship. The penultimate portion of the 
paper investigates the challenges that organizations on both sides faced, and the con­
clusion explores the role of US governmental leadership in setting goals and forging 
the structure around which the military-NGO relationship could develop. Ultimately, 
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this paper seeks to investigate the salient characteristics of the relationship between US 
military forces and NGOs that resulted in the successful handling of the humanitarian 
crisis and set the stage for reconstruction efforts in postWWII Germany. 

Immediate and Long-Term Efforts: From Crisis-Response to Development 

Much of the existing literature focusing on postwar environments emphasizes the 
need for capacity building and places the challenge in a developmental context.3 Yet 
often, it is the effectiveness of the preceding immediate humanitarian efforts to save 
lives and alleviate human suffering that sets the stage for these societal building activi­
ties. Such humanitarian relief takes place as soon as hostilities cease (or in some cases, 
while the security situation is still tenuous), and scholars view these efforts as largely 
short term and usually unsustainable in scope.4  PostWorld War II developments, such 
as the Geneva Conventions of 1949 and the additional protocols of 1977, have articu­
lated the rights of victims of armed conflicts to receive assistance and protection with 
the purpose of satisfying their immediate needs,5 thus lending further credence to the 
short-term nature of the involvement. However, often the initial response is just a stop­
gap measure, intended to mitigate the suffering in order to allow a more sustainable, 
long-term effort to get underway. 

The concept of separate military and civilian domains within the humanitarian and 
reconstruction environments is also a prevalent theme of the literature, both during the 
World War II era and today. Recent writings have emphasized the concept that the mili­
tary has “taken on new and significant political roles”6 that place it within the realm of 
what NGOs regard as civil space. Missions in the 1990s and early 21st century have 
seen the military engaging in tasks such as providing shelter for displaced persons, 
supervising the return of refugees, organizing and monitoring elections, and supporting 
civilian reconstruction—many of the same functions performed by their nongovern­
mental counterparts.7 This overlap has created tensions and misunderstandings about 
the propriety of military involvement in these types of situations. 

Yet these debates are not new. Recent years have seen larger numbers of civilian 
relief workers and organizations engaged in postconflict operations, and a better ar­
ticulated concept of humanitarian space has emerged. Yet many of the issues and chal­
lenges that exist today between soldiers and civilian aide workers were also present in 
the postWorld War II period. Each perceived their roles to be distinctly different and 
separate, and this self-identification of roles persists in each organization today. The 
US military in 1945 had just waged four years of high-intensity combat and was not 
eager to pick up additional missions as an occupying force—missions that the Depart­
ment of War believed would be best honchoed by the Department of State. 

But we must take care not to overstate any parallels present between postwar Ger­
many and more recent humanitarian and reconstruction efforts. Certain specific ele­
ments of the postwar situation in Germany may mirror more modern situations, yet 
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their very context is different due to the vast changes in the international environment 
over the past 60 years. As many recent commentators have observed, parallels between 
current US operations in Iraq and those in postwar World War II Germany are difficult 
to make, because the contrasts tend to outweigh the similarities.8 The danger in at­
tempting analogies is that the investigation often creates links out of context, potential 
ignoring critical shaping aspects in a desire to capitalize on similarities that make sense 
of the situation and potentially illuminate the way forward. 

But if, as the saying goes, history “rhymes, but never repeats,” perhaps a micro ap­
proach—in this case, examining the specific dynamics of a carefully defined aspect of 
the military-NGO relationship—may offer some insights into the elements necessary 
for a fruitful partnership. It is in this vein that this study moves forward. 

Context: The Crisis Situation in PostWar Germany 

Almost six years of war left Germany utterly and completely devastated. By the 
time of her unconditional surrender to Allied forces in May 1945, experts estimat­
ed that more than 20 million Germans were homeless or without adequate shelter, a 
food shortage and coal crisis was looming, and a further 5.2 million displaced persons 
(mostly liberated civilians and prisoners of war) were moving throughout SHAEF-held 
territory.9  Of these issues, the lack of food was perhaps the most acute. And the situa­
tion was indeed grim: American officials estimated that the caloric intake of German 
civilians living in the British and US-occupied zones in the fall of 1945 was only 1250 
a day (on average), compared to 3,000 calories a day in Great Britain and between 
3,000 and 4,000 calories a day in the United States military.10  Some deemed even this 
figure too high: a report by Colonel Joe Starnes the week that the war ended indicated 
that the “average basic ration is less than 1,000 calories.”11 A typical week’s ration for 
a German citizen in May 1945 consisted of the following: “bread, 3 pounds; meat, 4 
ounces; butter and fat, 2 ounces; sugar, 7 ounces; macaroni and spaghetti, 5 ounces; 
potatoes, 6 pounds.”12 This added up to just under 1,000 calories a day. By the fall of 
1945, the infant mortality rate approached 65 percent in many places, according to the 
US Deputy Military Governor General Lucius Clay.13  He further noted that “by the 
spring of 1946, German observers expect that epidemics and malnutrition will claim 
2.5 to 3 million victims between the Oder and Elbe.”14 

Yet losses in the rest of Europe were also severe, and the hardships suffered there 
(many at the hands of the Nazis) created a situation in which many of the Allies had 
little desire, inclination, or capacity to assist the German population. In the US, the 
Morgenthau Plan—a punitive “pastoralization” of Germany to ensure that she never 
again took hostile action—initially gained favor among governmental leaders as the 
preferred method of administering the occupation, and reparations were a key compo­
nent of this strategy.15  But even if the desire to help was present, the French, British, 
and other Europeans had very little to offer the German people, as they themselves 
struggled to feed and shelter their own citizens. The displacement of millions of Euro­
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peans, caused both by the war and by the migrations of those that wished to position 
themselves on different territory as the lines between the Soviet east and the demo­
cratic west became clear, added to the humanitarian crisis. 

The people of Europe faced a daunting task just meeting one of their most basic 
needs: food. Due to the devastation of the war, sufficient food was simply not available 
in theater, save for that brought in by Allied armies for use by their troops.16 Worries 
about the ability of European farmers to harvest adequate crops in the fall of 1945 
became compounded by a worldwide food shortage that shrunk the available supply 
and added to the crisis.17  In the United States, President Truman’s Cabinet Food Com­
mittee worked with the multinational Combined Food Board allocated resources in an 
attempt to mitigate hunger in Europe.18 

Yet the intent of this aid was primarily for the newly liberated areas of Europe, not 
for the German people. Furthermore, the Allied government-supported agencies sup­
plying aid to refugees, displaced persons, and those in the newly liberated territories 
did not view assistance to German citizens, seen as the perpetrators of the war, as part 
of their mandate. Eventually, in February 1946, President Truman did approve the cre­
ation of a Council of Relief Agencies Licensed for Operation in Germany (CRALOG) 
and allowed this umbrella organization to operate under the direction of the US Mili­
tary Government.19 Yet CRALOG’s creation came nine months—and one winter—af­
ter the cessation of hostilities in May 1945. 

And the worldwide food situation did not improve over the next few years. By 
1947, a report by the Cabinet Food Committee spelled out the story in convincing 
detail: because of poor crops abroad, because of a sharp drop in US corn production, 
Europe now faced a food shortage of 4.5 million tons in grain alone.20  By 1947, the Of­
fice of Military Government, United States (OMGUS) had the responsibility for sup­
plying food to the displaced persons in Germany, a population of roughly 552,000,21 

which further strained the availability of food for ordinary German civilians. 

The humanitarian crisis that Germans faced from 1945–1948 was one of unprec­
edented magnitude.22 And on top of the physical hardships endured by the German 
people, they also faced worldwide censure and condemnation for their role in the war. 
This left many people in Allied nations unable to identify with their plight, or even to 
demand that they be forced to continue to live at bare sustenance levels.23  Goodwill 
toward Germans was not readily apparent in many quarters, and this reluctance to aid 
a former enemy further complicated the humanitarian situation. 

Yet some segments of American society did view the German people with com­
passion, and they worked to provide a means by which humanitarian aid could flow 
to ordinary German citizens. American voluntary agencies wanted to provide help to 
the war-stricken population for a variety of different reasons, ranging from pure hu­
manitarianism, to a desire to help ethnic brethren and relatives, evidenced by German­
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Americans. Religious organizations, particularly those with members of their faith in 
Germany (Lutherans, Catholics, and Mennonites, for example) were also interested 
in rendering assistance, as were organizations such as the American Friends Service 
Committee (AFSC) that had a record of operating in Germany, having helped German 
children in the aftermath of World War I.24  Nongovernmental agencies were critical 
in shaping public perception of Germany, helping it to overcome the negative image 
of being the country of Nazism.25  Once this stigma was no longer at the forefront of 
American minds, the need to provide aid for a starving people became more readily 
apparent. Such was the environment in which the US Army and NGOs performed their 
work. 

“Success” in the Reconstruction Effort 

Setting the criteria for “success” in any endeavor that involves multiple actors is al­
ways difficult, which is perhaps why in the realm of postconflict reconstruction, a clear 
definition is often absent. Most early researchers who examined the US occupation of 
Germany have evaluated it as successful, noting that America achieved her objective 
of an independent, liberally democratic, economically viable, and nonaggressive West 
German state.26  Later scholars challenged this overall positive assertion, arguing that 
certain occupation policies contained notable shortcomings.27  Still, the overall im­
pression of American reconstruction activities in Germany during the postwar period 
remains favorable, at least in retrospect. At the time, there was much more angst about 
the course taken, and much more uncertainty about the eventual outcome.28 

The US government initially set its criteria for postwar success through a series 
of directives and agreements, beginning in the spring of 1945 while the war was still 
ongoing. First, in April 1945, Joint Chiefs of Staff (JCS) 1067 set the policy for the 
occupation, although scholars generally believe that a discrepancy existed between of­
ficial policy and the views of those who carried it out.29  JCS 1067 was, in fact, a harsh 
document, intent on producing the “hard” peace favored by Henry Morgenthau and 
devoid of any mention of humanitarian assistance for the German people. In fact, the 
paper provided General Eisenhower with the “Basic Objectives of Military Govern­
ment in Germany” as follows: 

a. It should be brought home to the Germans that Germany’s ruthless warfare 
and the fanatical Nazi resistance have destroyed the German economy and 
made chaos and suffering inevitable and that the Germans cannot escape re­
sponsibility for what they have brought upon themselves. 

b. Germany will not be occupied for the purpose of liberation but as a defeated 
enemy nation. Your aim is not oppression but to occupy Germany for the pur­
pose of realizing certain important Allied objectives. In the conduct of your 
occupation and administration you should be just but firm and aloof. You will 
strongly discourage fraternization with the German officials and population. 
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c. The principal Allied objective is to prevent Germany from ever again be­
coming a threat to the peace of the world. Essential steps in the accomplish­
ment of this objective are the elimination of Nazism and militarism in all their 
forms, the immediate apprehension of war criminals for punishment, the in­
dustrial disarmament and demilitarization of Germany, with continuing con­
trol over Germany’s capacity to make war, and the preparation for an eventual 
reconstruction of German political life on a democratic basis. 

d. Other Allied objectives are to enforce the program of reparations and resti­
tution, to provide relief for the benefit of countries devastated by Nazi aggres­
sion, and to ensure that prisoners of war and displaced persons of the United 
Nations are cared for and repatriated. 

Furthermore, paragraph 5 of JCS 1067 clearly stated that Military Government 
officials were to restrict themselves to promoting the production and maintenance of 
only those indigenous goods and services “required to prevent starvation or such dis­
ease and unrest as would endanger the occupying forces.”30  Planners envisioned no 
mass scale relief efforts to assist the German population; instead, they directed their 
attention to the care of displaced persons and the imposition of order within the US 
zone of occupation. Thus, JCS 1067 did not supply any stated humanitarian relief and 
reconstruction objectives of the US as an occupying force. 

Yet those responsible for running the military occupation received additional guid­
ance from the Potsdam Agreement, issued in August 1945. In the few months that 
passed between the end of the war in Europe in May and Potsdam in late July-early 
August, doubts had emerged about the ability of the communist USSR and the demo­
cratic West to sustain their wartime partnership into the postwar era, and the document 
reflected some of the strategic maneuverings between the Allies. Ultimately, under the 
rubric of economic unity, the West used the Potsdam communiqué to consolidate their 
three zones and create a capitalistic and democratic West Germany.31  But more impor­
tantly from a developmental standpoint, the spreading East-West divide and develop­
ing Cold War that became clear at Potsdam eventually allowed the US to shift its policy 
regarding the long-term viability of the German state. This marked the starting point of 
American leadership’s strategic turn away from the Morgenthau plan and their move to 
an acceptance of a “softer” attitude toward defeated Germany. Secretary of State James 
Byrnes officially announced this change in American attitude in a speech at Stuttgart 
on September 6, 1946, when he emphasized (among other things) the need for an im­
proved level of industry for Germany.32 As Franklin Davis notes, from an American 
policy standpoint, the Stuttgart statement “oriented the Occupation Army away from 
a repression of German militarism and dispelled once and for all any concept of the 
Army in Germany as a force to exploit the purely military values of the victory in Eu­
rope.”33  So approximately 16 months after the formal cessation of hostilities, the role 
of the occupying US forces finally formally transitioned into one that could engage in 
relief operations for the benefit of the German people. 
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In addition, from a legal perspective, there existed support for use of the military in 
a limited humanitarian role. In fact, and some law experts argued that international law 
dictates that an occupying force provide adequate feeding of civilian populations under 
their control, and thus the care of the German civilian population should ultimately 
become a mission of the US military.34  Military doctrine of the time tends to support 
this view, and by 1946, Defense Department officials argued before Congress that 
international law obligated them to import and distribute food to prevent “disease and 
unrest” among the German population.35 The pacifying effects that an adequate caloric 
intake provided the occupied citizenry was something that the military recognized and 
appreciated, as ultimately it facilitated the job of preserving the security environment. 

Initially, then, the relief mission was thus an implied task required to complete the 
stated goal of maintaining order. But while military involvement in providing food aid 
to the German population may have originated with these practical operational con­
siderations, evidence suggests that military leaders in theater were among the first to 
recognize and call for the need for an expanded effort to avert a humanitarian disaster. 
For example, the Military Governor of the US Zone (Germany), General Clay, writes 
in his memoirs that, “From the first I begged and argued for food because I did not 
believe that the American people wanted starvation and misery to accompany occupa­
tion. . . .”36  Clay further notes that in November 1945 he “made a hurried trip home” 
to discuss the food shortages with government officials and “ask personally for their 
assistance in increasing the food supply.”37 While Clay’s efforts were largely unsuc­
cessful (due to the world grain shortage and the desire to ensure that Allies received 
preferential treatment over former enemies), they do indicate a military awareness of 
the critical humanitarian need. 

So as the mission of the US military morphed by default and necessity into one that 
included a formalized humanitarian role beyond that required to maintain the peace, 
the definition of “success” changed along with it. By taking on this role, the US oc­
cupying forces now had to measure their efforts against a new standard. Given this, a 
contemporary definition of relief “success” may prove useful here: Francis Fukuyama 
describes the first phase of successful nation-building as the United States solving im­
mediate problems of physical infrastructure through the infusion of security forces, 
humanitarian relief, and technical assistance.38 

This contemporary definition also provides a useful bridge to a discussion of the 
goals of humanitarian relief organizations involved in postwar Germany. In December 
1945, a group of American voluntary relief agencies formed a united body—CRALOG 
—that received formal recognition from President Truman in February 1946. While 
each voluntary aid organization maintained its own individual mission and mandate, 
through participation in CRALOG, those operating in Germany agreed to a standard­
ized set of four goals: “to provide a channel through which interested Americans could 
send relief to Germany; to avoid duplication among the agencies; to provide liaison 
with government and military authorities as well as German welfare agencies; and to 
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provide facilities for other agencies and individuals, not members of the Council, to 
participate in this humanitarian undertaking.”39 

These generalized goals created the framework under which voluntary aid orga­
nizations operated. Yet some also opted for a more specialized, “niche” approach. For 
example, the Cooperation for American Remittances to Europe (CARE) had a stated 
mission of selling food remittances to interested individuals, groups, and organizations 
for designated beneficiaries. This person-to-person aid (with its striking similarities 
to micro-finance ventures promoted today) appealed to many Americans who wanted 
reassurance that their donation made a tangible difference to an individual recipient’s 
life. As General Clay explains: 

The physical and psychological effects of this aid were immense. Much larger quanti­
ties of bulk food, largely grain, brought in with appropriated funds, lost their identity 
through processing before they reached the consumer. He knew something of the huge 
extent of this aid, but it remained impersonal. On the other hand, when a CARE pack­
age arrived, the consumer knew it was aid from America and that even the bitterness 
of war had not destroyed our compassion for suffering.40 

Voluntary aid organizations often reported on the amount of food and supplies 
provided from the monies raised from donors, and this became a measure of their “suc­
cess.” Although many recognize now that this is a crude guide, at best, since it focuses 
on quantifiable rather than qualitative measures, it was nonetheless an accepted stan­
dard of the time. Using these criteria, CARE’s Executive Director reported in February 
1948 that “since the actual operation commenced, we have supplied between 52 and 
53 million dollars worth of food and other packages.”41 This relief represented a vast 
impact on the lives of many Germans and kept many from starving during the initial 
rough postwar years. As such, it warrants mention in a discussion of the criteria of 
voluntary relief agency “success.” 

Characteristics of the Military-NGO Relationship 

Postwar interactions between civil relief workers and military authorities occurred 
in an environment marked by clear (if often debated) policies and regulation, coordi­
nated by a Presidential-appointed central authority. The government mobilized phi­
lanthropy, like other aspects of national life, in the interests of “efficiency and speedy 
victory.”42 The President’s War Relief Control Board, established by Executive Order 
of President Roosevelt on 25 July 1942, oversaw the overall coordination of the efforts 
of public charities with regard to the provision of relief, reconstruction, or welfare aris­
ing from the war or its immediate aftermath (the order was valid until six months after 
the termination of hostilities, “unless revoked by Presidential order.”)43  Not only was 
the Board active throughout the war, but President Truman saw fit to have the functions 
of the Board continue into peacetime, and on 16 May 1946 he renamed it the Advisory 
Committee on Voluntary Foreign Aid.44 
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The development of the War Relief Control Board created some controversy. It 
essentially forced the mergers of many independent agencies, citing efficiency con­
cerns, and made licensing decisions among ethnic-orientated agencies with different 
viewpoints that also caused contention.45 The Board sought to clearly identify aid 
agencies with the United States government and its citizens, and so required charitable 
organizations to change their names to include “American” in their title to identify the 
source of the aid.46  So, the French Relief Fund became American Relief for France; the 
Queen Wilhelmina Fund changed it’s moniker to American Relief for Holland, and so 
forth.47  Such partisan identification clearly linked the aid organization to the foreign 
policy objectives of the US government, but this identification was one that most made 
willingly,48 in an atmosphere of national mobilization. This wholehearted identification 
with the aims of the national government is a unique feature of the time, and a response 
to the call for a national wartime effort. The ideological appeal was clear-cut and well-
defined, which aided the government in its appeal for support and its establishment of 
a centralized framework for aid work. 

The United States government was also instrumental in founding an international 
coordination effort for humanitarian relief. On 9 November 1943, 16 months after 
President Roosevelt established the War Relief Control Board, the United Nations 
Relief and Rehabilitation Agency (UNRRA) began its operations. A collaborative ef­
fort involving 44 Allied nations, the purpose of UNRRA was to “plan, co-ordinate, 
administer or arrange for the administration of measures for the relief of victims of 
war in any area under the control of any of the United Nations through the provision 
of food, fuel, clothing, shelter and other basic necessities, medical and other essential 
services”49 Although UNRRA eventually operated in occupied Germany (primarily 
operating displaced persons camps), the organization did not render assistance to eth­
nic Germans.50 

This distinction was critical, and Richard Wiggers sees it in the overall context 
of a lack of American desire to care for a population seen not only as the enemy, but 
also as perpetrators of horrible crimes against humanity.51  Slowly, as the dire nature of 
the situation became clear through independent reports, US relief agencies and others 
began to advocate greater amounts of assistance for the German people. Yet President 
Truman remained initially reluctant, noting that it was difficult to feel “great sympa­
thy” for the Germans, “who caused the death of so many human beings by starvation, 
disease and outright murder.”52 

Public pressure, coupled with an increasing understanding of the criticality of the 
situation in Germany and the emerging geopolitical outlines of the Cold War, slowly 
changed the minds of US leaders. Notably, however, this did not occur until about 
12 months (and one harsh winter) into the occupation period. The mindset of US lead­
ership toward the Germans at the cessation of hostilities (and thus the beginning of the 
postconflict period) was one of retribution and punishment, and as mentioned above, 
this influenced the guidance given to those in charge of the occupation. But some 
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historians have argued that all along, the American Occupation Forces did “frequently 
perform their duties at variance with the policies expressed by the civil authorities at 
home.”53 This dissonance between stated government policy and actions of the mili­
tary government on the ground in Germany is a critical aspect of the postconflict relief 
operation. Acknowledgement that the military performed tasks designed to alleviate 
human suffering suggests recognition that those soldiers on the ground were perhaps 
best poised to assess and address the operational situation. 

In 1946, Congress authorized emergency aid for Germany, Japan, and Austria 
under the Government Aid and Relief in Occupied Areas (GARIOA) program. This 
money came with Congress’ stipulation that OMGUS use the funds only to import 
“food, petroleum, and fertilizers” to prevent “disease and unrest” in Germany.54  In 
1946, GARIOA provided almost $9 million in aid and supplies.55  Military authorities 
worked with aid organizations (both foreign and local national) to distribute this as­
sistance and, in this way, developed their relationship. 

Prior Planning: Immediate Humanitarian Needs 

As indicated above, discussions regarding the role of charitable organizations in 
postwar Europe began long before the surrender of the Third Reich. Indeed, a long war 
(and a mobilized public) provided ample time and opportunity to engage in planning 
regarding the postwar challenges that the European continent as a whole would face. 
American agencies paid time and attention to both the immediate humanitarian needs 
faced by the European people (many in newly liberated territory in the wake of the 
advancing Allied armies) and to the longer-term reconstruction challenges that these 
war-torn societies would encounter. 

The President’s War Relief Control Board set the priority of effort. Although it 
came under “continued and increasing pressure from persons and organizations who 
desire to assist in the reconstruction of damaged towns, institutions, monuments, etc. 
in Europe,” the Control Board took the position that “in view of the present conditions 
in Europe, private relief resources should be utilized for the direct relief of human suf­
fering rather than for reconstruction.”56 While some might argue for a simultaneous 
rather than a sequenced effort, the Control Board’s determination was unambiguous. 
Letters from private citizens and organizations reached the White House and State 
Department and other government agencies, requesting guidance as to how to proceed 
in reconstruction efforts for Europe. Citing the Control Board’s policy, government 
officials replied that this was premature, and that the sole focus of current relief efforts 
should be on the alleviation of human suffering.57 

The human aspect of the postwar situation was indeed critical, and many offered 
ideas for providing and facilitating this relief as well. For example, a national commit­
tee headed by Henry J. Kaiser organized a United National Clothing Collection in the 
spring of 1945—a unified effort on the part of United Nations Relief and Rehabilita­
tion Administration (UNRRA) and all the voluntary war relief agencies of the United 
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States.58 The campaign’s publicity department (it was a very well organized effort) 
issued a release to inform Americans that the nationwide drive would occur between 
April 1-30, 1945, to “secure the maximum quantity possible of good used clothing for 
free distribution to needy and destitute men, women, and children in war-devastated 
countries.”59 This drive was strictly to benefit the newly liberated areas of Europe, so 
it did not encompass Germany. 

Yet after the war, other organizations did take the needs of the German people into 
account. For example, concern over the immediate humanitarian needs spawned the 
creation of the Cooperation for American Remittances to Europe (CARE) by “some 
twenty leading American charitable organizations.”60  Created “largely at the insistence 
of the President’s War Relief Control Board,” CARE had a stated mission of selling 
food remittances to interested individuals, groups, and organizations, for designated 
beneficiaries throughout Europe.61  By June 1946, CARE had concluded a formal 
agreement with OMGUS that specifically delineated the obligations expected of both 
sides. On paper, the relationship appeared to be an unequal one:  CARE listed 4 points 
under their obligations, and in return articulated 12 items (some with subcomponents) 
under the paragraph titled, “Exemptions and Facilities Accorded to CARE.”62 This 
was a reflection of the environment: OMGUS administered the US Occupied Zone, 
and thus were the entity responsible for executing the occupation plan’s rules, includ­
ing those dealing with humanitarian assistance. 

Yet aid and economic assistance was not a business that the military desired to re­
main involved in beyond what was necessary for as an emergency, stop-gap, measure. 
During the war, in February and March 1945, President Roosevelt sent Judge Samuel 
Rosenman to investigate Europe’s reconstruction needs. The Rosenman Report iden­
tified the need to remove the military from responsibility for civilian supply as soon 
as operationally feasible, citing concerns that the continuation of such involvement 
would “mitigate against ultimate economic recovery.”63 The report noted that General 
Eisenhower, SHAEF Commander, had made the same recommendation regarding the 
termination of military responsibility for civilian supply in the newly liberated territo­
ries—namely, that it occur at the earliest practicable date.64 The Army’s eagerness to 
get out of the humanitarian business did come with the recognition that initially, they 
were the only organization who could perform some essential tasks. For example, the 
Rosenman report readily acknowledged that war created conditions in which the “only 
effective medium for the initial provision of civilian supplies” is the Army.65 

Soon after the Rosenman report, President Truman instructed the Secretary of War 
to plan for the termination of military responsibilities for shipping and distributing 
relief supplies for liberated areas of Europe as soon as the military situation permits.66 

He also clearly indicated that he expected a relationship between military and civil 
authorities to develop: 

In addition, I think that the general policy of the Army, upon such termination, should 
be to continue to assist the national governments involved and the appropriate civil­

227 



  

ian agencies of our own Government and UNRRA to the extent the military situation 
permits. This should include, where possible, and to the extent legally permissible, the 
transfer of supplies which are in excess of essential military requirements.67 

Thus, initial relief planning efforts from both the US governmental and voluntary 
agencies had expectations of close interaction and working relationships developing 
between the military and NGOs. 

Prior Planning: Reconstruction Efforts 

While the focus of this study is immediate humanitarian efforts, it is worth men­
tioning that longer-term reconstruction planning also occurred—and not just in the 
governmental realm. Private organizations and agencies engaged in strategic planning 
regarding reconstruction on the European continent. For example, the Director of the 
International Relations Board of the American Library Association penned a letter to 
the Secretary of State in May 1945 expressing that the Association was “anxious to 
renew and extend their relationships with European libraries,” including the restora­
tion of the “flow of books, pamphlets and serial publications from the United States to 
Europe, and from Europe to the United States.”68  He further notes that the American 
Library Association “has now in stock piles in the United States nearly half a million 
dollars’ worth of carefully selected books and periodicals (purchased with Rockefeller 
Foundation money)” with which to bring European libraries up-to-date in “American 
publications and American scholarship and thought.”69 The identification of the need 
to provide the necessary materials to resume educational opportunities speaks to the 
recognition of a long-term effort to rebuild war-torn societies, and is thus firmly in the 
realm of reconstruction activities. 

For Germany, as well as for the rest of Europe, the ultimate reconstruction effort 
occurred with the announcement of the Marshall Plan (or the Economic Recovery Pro­
gram, as it was formally known) in 1947. This also signaled the end of the emergency 
relief effort and the transition to foreign aid for development. 

Goal Alignment 

During the humanitarian assistance phase, several characteristics of the relation­
ship between the US military and voluntary aid agencies quickly became evident. First, 
thanks to the establishment of the President’s War Relief Control Board, there existed 
an alignment of goals between aid agencies and governmental policies. The recogni­
tion of this commonality was important in that it established the framework for op­
erations within the theater of operations. Of course, the path was not smooth, and 
disagreements arose regarding the best means to achieve the end. 

For example, the Control Board regulated “appeals to the public for funds and 
other contributions for foreign relief”70 and thus arguably stifled the free speech of 
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agencies that would have otherwise asked the public for donations. And by setting 
the conditions under which private relief agencies could operate, the Control Board 
ensured that it controlled the means by which each goal was tackled. For example, it 
“. . . has refrained from giving its approval for campaigns to raise funds for the restora­
tion of cities abroad. It has taken the position that the solicitation of funds for war relief 
at this time should be confined to emergent projects, that is, for the direct relief of hu­
man suffering through provision of food, clothing, medicaments, et cetera.”71 

NGOs’ reaction to this control was overall rather muted. For example, CARE docu­
ments from the time show that the organization developed within the system emplaced 
by the Control Board, and sought to align their goals with those of the Board in order to 
achieve success by emphasizing the areas of overlap. CARE emphasized that by design, 
they filled a “need for an individual to individual and group to group package service” 
that the American voluntary relief agencies “were not equipped to handle.”72  Like any 
good business plan, the CARE concept sought to find a niche to fill. Once it identified 
this, its supporters then lobbied an initially reluctant government to grant it recognition 
and allow it to operate in pursuit of this goal.73  In doing so, it did not change its stated 
mission, nor did it alter its vision regarding the essential functions of this mission. The 
organization’s concept of providing a method for interested Americans to purchase re­
mittances to send food overseas to designated or undesignated individuals and groups 
remained intact. The organizers of CARE marketed their plan effectively and, in doing 
so, helped the US government to see that their goals aligned. 

Another compelling force for goal alignment was CRALOG. The requirement to 
register with CRALOG prior to operating in theater ensured that the ends pursued by 
voluntary agencies coincided, with the intent of reducing inefficiencies and duplication 
of effort. Of course, the means by which each agency decided to pursue the goal was 
still matter of discussion. 

Coordination and Deconfliction of Effort 

Once the actors established agreement on goals, or ends, a discussion over means 
(procedures and processes) naturally ensued. The State Department handled many in­
quiries from citizens and groups regarding providing assistance to the civilians liber­
ated in Europe. The standard response was that the provision of supplies was a military 
responsibility and that the interested party should contact the President’s War Relief 
Control Board to determine how best to render assistance.74 Although the provision of 
supplies was indeed a military responsibility at the end of the war, it was one that the 
Department of War wanted divested as soon as possible. 

In fact, interagency disagreements permeated the discussion of the means of ex­
ecution for the postwar relief aid plan. A central issue was who held ultimate responsi­
bility for the provision of civilian supplies, and this was a matter of intense debate be­
tween the Secretary of War and the Secretary of State. President Roosevelt directed the 
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Secretary of War to provide initial relief supplies in newly liberated areas necessary to 
“avoid disease and unrest.”75  In a letter dated 21 May 1945, President Truman directed 
that the War Department cease taking responsibility for these relief efforts “as soon 
as the military situation permits” and after consultation with the State Department.76 

What ensued was a series of letters back and forth between the Secretary of State 
and the Secretary of War, discussing the terms of the handoff arrangement. State ex­
pressed reluctance to take on the mission immediately, as they had very few resources 
in theater that would allow them to effectively oversee the effort. For its part, the 
military wanted to relinquish this mission—and its ensuing financial obligations—as 
rapidly as practicable.77  Ultimately, the military wound up retaining responsibility for 
these aid functions longer than they felt necessary given the President’s directive, and 
they did so under protest. 

Initial military plans for the occupation of Europe overlooked the need for coordi­
nation with voluntary aid organizations. For example, the Basic Preliminary Plan for 
Allied Control and Occupation of Germany 1944–45 does not include any nongovern­
mental organizations in an extensive matrix of those organizations with which military 
divisions or headquarters sections should coordinate.78 This oversight persisted into 
the administration of the military government and occupying force in Germany. In­
deed, as late as the fall of 1946, many in the US government opposed allowing volun­
tary aid organizations to even enter into Germany. A case in point is the reaction of the 
Office of Political Affairs as they expressed nonconcurrence with a proposal from the 
American Friends Service Committee (AFSC) to allow 10 Americans into a town in 
Bavaria to provide relief to displaced persons and to facilitate relations between them 
and the German population.79 The Director of Political Affairs indicated his concern 
with this plan, noting: 

The door, admitting the entrance of relief personnel, cannot be readily closed once 
it is opened. The British opened the door at an early stage and now fi nd themselves 
with more than 600 non-German volunteer workers in the British Zone working in the 
interests of the German population.80 

The worry about “opening the floodgates” of relief workers is clear, and the Direc­
tor goes on to note that “every non-German individual who comes into the Zone oc­
cupies space and utilizes facilities which are at a great premium and definitely needed 
by the German people themselves.”81 

The discussion about the best means to use to execute the relief plan produced 
many challenges for both the relief organizations and the military. For example, CARE 
initially struggled to obtain authority to purchase surplus “10-in-1” rations from the 
Army, which the organization needed in order to establish their individual food pack­
age plan. These rations could feed 10 combat soldiers for 1 day or 1 combat soldier for 
10 days—a total of 30 meals or 45,000 calories.82 The military initially wanted to sell 
these surplus rations to UNRRA, apparently to dispose of them in the “simplest way 
and in one transaction.”83  CARE ultimately achieved success here, and managed to 
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purchase 2.8 million to successfully launch their remittance program and also inaugu­
rate their operations as a private nonprofit agency.84 

Scholars of humanitarian assistance often cite a clear recognition of areas of re­
sponsibility as a key element necessary for the successful execution of the aid mis­
sion.85 Yet this was not immediately achieved in US governmental operations in 
postwar Germany, and still the organizers found ways to overcome this difficulty. As 
noted above, disagreements most certainly existed, and interagency and interorgani­
zational debates challenged smooth transitions and timelines. Yet as this occurred, the 
force on the ground, in theater, with resources—the US military government—stepped 
in to address the gaps created (and often self-inflicted). As a recent RAND study on 
US nation-building experience in Germany notes, “The US Army’s focus on “getting 
things moving” was key to minimizing humanitarian suffering and accelerating eco­
nomic recovery in its zone in the immediate aftermath of World War II.”86 

Reliance on Local National Groups (Aid Organizations) 

Another key characteristic of the relationship between the US military and Ameri­
can-based voluntary aid organizations was their reliance on another actor; namely, 
German relief agencies. In fact, the lessons learned by the War-Torn Societies Project 
from its experience of working in war-torn societies87 have a familiar ring: “Local 
solutions and responses to rebuilding challenges are often more effective, cheaper and 
more sustainable” than any of those imported by foreign counterparts.88 The Military 
Governor, General Lucius Clay, fully recognized and appreciated this distinction: 

While German welfare agencies deserved high praise for their work in the winter of 
1945–46 with meager resources, there was a growing consciousness of their need for 
help from the United States. I was convinced that German organizations were com­
petent to distribute supplies and that United States aid sent directly to these agencies 
would prove most effective.89 

In retrospect, General Clay felt even more strongly about the role played by Ger­
man organizations, “While it is true that without American food, bought with Ameri­
can money, loss of life in Germany would have been appalling, the major relief burden 
was carried by the German state governments and private welfare organizations.”90 

Fortunately, in postwar Germany, there was a network of private welfare organiza­
tions that the Allies could work with to provide this emergency relief. The organiza­
tions did have to undergo a vetting process to ascertain that they did not have ties to 
the Nazi Party, but then could operate under the direct supervision of local German 
authorities. Many were religious organizations, and they worked with the administra­
tors of the Lander (State-level authorities) to distribute aid, particularly when it began 
arriving from abroad.91 
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Understanding and Appreciation of Roles 

Mutual recognition and understanding go a long way to reduce friction, and this 
was evident in the relationship between US soldiers and American civilian aid work­
ers in Germany. The gap was not a wide one to breech, since conscription in the US 
ensured that most aid workers had a relative, neighbor, or friend serving in uniform. 
Furthermore, many voluntary aid organizations were led by former members of the US 
military. For example, CARE’s Executive Director during the immediate postwar peri­
od was former Army Major General William Haskell.92 The benefits derived from this 
rather widespread understanding of military had the effect of minimizing any potential 
institutional culture divides between civilians and soldiers working in Germany. 

Clearly outlined expectations also assisted the smooth progression of the mili­
tary-NGO relationship. On behalf of OMGUS, General Clay signed a concise two-
page agreement with the American Council of Voluntary Agencies that captured the 
understanding of the necessary procedures that both sides would follow.93  Notable in 
this agreement was the liaison functions that the voluntary relief agencies performed, 
which provided evidence of the close nature of the cooperation between the military 
and these organizations. 

The CARE program operated in a similar close fashion with the military govern­
ment, which provided “general supervision of the CARE program” and received the 
attachment of three CARE representatives “to observe and assist in the operation of 
the CARE program.”94  Such close collaboration, so problematic today, was a feature 
of the postwar landscape in 1946 Germany. 

Challenges 

The mutual understanding of roles also allowed both organizations to overcome 
challenges. For example, perhaps one of the greatest concerns for the aid organiza­
tions operating in Germany was the living and working conditions for the volunteers 
themselves. Many did without rations, living on bread and a meager ration of “one or 
two sardines on a small triangle of cheese”95 and contracted illnesses. According to a 
Quaker relief worker, the “lack of food and the consequences of not getting enough” 
created a “constant worry.”96 These conditions made arrangements for military provi­
sions all the more necessary. The military agreed to provide “billets, mess, and trans­
portation”97 but, in return, could set limits on the number of aid workers allowed in 
country and receiving this type of support. This unequal relationship was not accepted 
by all agencies; for example, aid workers with the American Friends Service Com­
mittee (AFSC–Quakers) “lived on the German economy and shared to considerable 
degree the hardships of the German,”98 as noted above. This conscious choice created 
a unique role for the AFSC, and it differentiated their efforts from those of other aid 
organizations. 
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A final thought in relation to roles deals with budgets and donor accountability. As 
Barakat and Chard point out, in the nonprofit arena, a donor culture of “financial ac­
countability tied to the management of short, fixed-term budgets by means of measur­
able indicators of expenditures” often exists and presents challenges to those agencies 
operating in a postconflict environment. And although the agencies operating in post-
World War II Germany did so long before this analysis, there is substantial evidence 
to indicate that donor concerns were very similar in the late 1940s. For example, the 
precise CARE method of ensuring that donor remittances went to the named individual 
involved the “proper presentation of credentials” and then CARE transmitted a receipt 
of delivery to the donor.99 The need to formally notify the donor that his or her aid 
money was converted to a food package that reached the intended friend or relative 
was clear. 

In fact, if CARE could not find the designated beneficiary, they promised to notify 
the donor and refund his or her money. 

Conclusion 

Times have undeniably changed since the postWorld War II era. In the humani­
tarian and reconstruction arena, nongovernmental organizations have expanded their 
work, and their definition of the international environment in which they conduct busi­
ness. Concepts of impartiality, neutrality, and independence have become critical to 
the operations of most aid organizations, and in some cases, this has created clear lines 
between military and nongovernmental actors. 

Can the characteristics of the relationship be duplicated, or are they a product of 
a specific time period and set of circumstances? A powerful argument exists for the 
uniqueness of the experience, with its specific configuration of social, political, and 
economic factors creating an environment conducive to such communication, coopera­
tion, and coordination of efforts. But to what degree do leaders affect the political (and 
arguably the economic and social) sphere, thus shaping and ultimately creating this 
environment? If we accept the notion that individual actors (leaders) can influence and 
affect the political environment, then perhaps lessons learned from a particular type 
of environment can provide useful insights into the conditions that breed successful 
operations, from both a governmental and a nongovernmental perspective. 

The skill sets that both soldiers and aid workers possess are critical to the humani­
tarian relief endeavor. The understanding of each other’s mission, and a willingness to 
search for aligned goals and common ground, also assists the relief work on the ground. 
An ability to communicate with each other further facilities the relationship, although 
it cannot (and will not) overcome different points of view regarding the means of mis­
sion accomplishment. Context matters, and drawing analogies imprecisely can create 
imperfect solutions. But when viewed on a microscale, certain elements of a “success­
ful” relationship in a humanitarian relief environment can perhaps provide guidance to 
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those looking to improve such interactions in the future. Whether or not there should be 
a normative basis for the relationship is a question that deserves discussion. It is in this 
spirit that this study offers these thoughts regarding the interaction of the US military 
and NGOs in Germany during the postconflict phase of World War II. 
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The day after Thanksgiving, 1960, a group of American and West German digni­
taries arrived at the refugee camp in Heidingsfeld, bringing with them quantities of 
turkey for a proper American feast. Colonel Jack Dempsey from Leighton Barracks in 
nearby Würzburg told the assembled crowd that he was “grateful that he was stationed 
in the miracle city of Würzburg, which sank into ashes 15 years ago yet stands again 
and has become one of the most beautiful cities in Europe.” More boldly, Dempsey 
suggested that the American day of giving thanks mirrored the situation of the Eastern 
European refugees living at Heidingsfeld. After all, he reminded his audience, what 
was Thanksgiving but a day when “a group of European immigrants gave thanks for 
the end of a difficult time?”1 

The fact that this speech happened at all, and that it took place fifteen years after 
the end of the war, highlights the extraordinary set of crises that befell Central Europe 
after 1945. The war generated millions of refugees, many of whom would never return 
home. At the same time, the Cold War created an institutionalized emergency across 
the region and led to the creation of a network of military installations on both sides of 
the Iron Curtain. In this paper, I will demonstrate that these two developments have to 
be understood together. 

This paper has three arguments. First, that the United States Army played a critical 
and little appreciated role in the management of the postwar refugee crisis in Germany. 
Second, that US strategic priorities often conflicted with the needs of German and in­
ternational agencies and organizations charged with managing refugees, a conflict that 
escalated as the Cold War standoff in Central Europe worsened. Finally, that troops on 
the ground in occupied Germany often acted on their own initiative in refugee affairs, 
sometimes directly contradicting or contravening US policy on the matter. 

We cannot understand the history of the American military presence in West Ger­
many without examining the refugee problem. Histories of the Cold War US Army 
and histories of West Germany have tended to gloss over this critical issue.2 The refu­
gee problem complicated American efforts to establish bases in post-sovereignty West 
Germany because many of the spaces suitable for quickly establishing such posts were 
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already occupied by the displaced. At the same time, West German responses to the 
American presence were in turn conditioned by these living reminders of the costs of 
war and the looming Cold War division of Europe. 

Perhaps the best reason for the relative absence of refugees in histories of the 
period is one of sources. Simply put, the Army and the American military govern­
ment (OMGUS) had good reason to move refugees onto the books of other agencies, 
both German and international. Refugees proved a logistical nightmare, one that the 
Army was more than happy to shift elsewhere. The result was a lack of clear authority 
and confusion that sometimes mirrored the chaotic conditions that created the refugee 
flows in the first place. 

Several distinct streams of refugees existed in Germany after 1945. Large numbers 
of Germans from across the ruins of the Third Reich found themselves homeless, a 
problem exacerbated by Germans fleeing the Soviet occupation of the eastern zone 
of the country. Even before the end of the conflict, ethnic Germans began to flee their 
homes in Eastern Europe, beginning a bloody exodus from countries recently subject 
to the Nazi empire. Between legal and extra-judicial expulsions, nearly 14 million “ex­
pellees” made their way west, often under terrible conditions. More than 2 million of 
these refugees ended up in American occupied Bavaria alone.3 As OMGUS attempted 
to establish viable German institutions to manage civilian affairs in occupied Germany, 
one of the first acts was to create state-level refugee agencies tasked to feed and care 
for the growing stream of refugees. 

At the same time, occupied Germany played host to a new kind of refugee. More 
than 5 million people, many of whom were survivors of German slave labor or con­
centration camp facilities, were classified as “Displaced Persons” (DPs). These DPs 
enjoyed the protection of the new United Nations and could, in theory, depend on the 
international community for their lodging and provisioning.4 

The changing relationship between American authorities and refugees can be seen 
in the administrative structure established to deal with them and their concerns. Under 
OMGUS, which lasted from 1945 until West German sovereignty in 1949, a Prison­
ers of War and Displaced Persons Division existed as a distinct functional division 
reporting to the Executive Office. German refugees did not formally concern OMGUS 
officials after the establishment of German agencies to oversee their needs. After 1949, 
when the Office of the High Commissioner for Germany (HICOG) replaced OMGUS, 
the calculus of refugee affairs had changed. Now, even with the DP problem still a 
major issue across West Germany, refugee affairs shifted names and, importantly, re­
sponsibilities. Now, the office of the HICOG Political Advisor had a Displaced Popu­
lations Branch, as did the Public Affairs Division and each of the Resident Officers in 
the field. This shift from Displaced Persons to Displaced Populations was more than 
semantic.5 As West Germany emerged as a sovereign Cold War ally and frontier state, 
American concern shifted from the specific needs of the DP population to that of the 
overall refugee problem. 
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The remainder of this paper will examine this shift, and the implications that it had 
for Germans, Americans, and refugee populations, in the Bavarian district of Lower 
Franconia (Unterfranken). Within a few months of war in 1944 and 45, the district 
of Lower Franconia transformed from a sedate, rural part of Central Germany into a 
possible Cold War flashpoint. The region, about 12% of the landmass of Bavaria, oc­
cupied a critical junction along the emerging inter-German border. Unterfranken’s 124 
kilometer border with what is today the German state of Thuringia was, after 1949, an 
international frontier. That border fell squarely along the southern edge of the most 
famous strategic route in Cold War Europe: the Fulda Gap.6 This space between the 
Vogelsberg and Spessart hills offered the easiest approach to Frankfurt, and both sides 
of the emerging Cold War sought the advantage along this corridor. 

Lower Franconia became one of the most highly militarized districts in Bavaria, 
home to a division headquarters and a number of smaller facilities near or along the 
border. Two of the places where American basing policy and the refugee crisis col­
lided were the district capital of Würzburg and the small town of Wildflecken about 
seventy kilometers northwest. In these communities, and in many others across Central 
Europe, refugees, refugee agencies, and the American military presence shared close 
quarters, with results that helped to shape West Germany’s Cold War future. 

Würzburg lay in ruins in 1945. On March 16, a massive RAF assault obliterated 
nearly 80% of the city center, killing about 5,000 people in 20 minutes. A month later, 
American troops crossing the Main River met stiff resistance and many of the remain­
ing buildings fell during fierce fighting in the streets. This series of disasters, along with 
the low-level civil war in Franconia at the end of the war, created waves of displaced, 
terrified, and starving humanity. At the end of the war, Würzburg had a population of 
only about 6,000, bolstered by nearly 5,000 refugees. While the population rebounded 
to nearly 70,000 within two years, the number of refugees did not decrease markedly 
for almost five years.7  Clearly, the refugee problem was going to be a long-term one, 
and local officials scrambled to find places to house this influx of extra mouths. 

The American footprint in the city was tiny, with a small headquarters in one of the 
few intact buildings along the river. This meant that the occupation forces did not need 
the abandoned Wehrmacht airfield on the Galgenberg Hill above the city. The Bavarian 
Refugee Office, headed locally by an energetic and respected bureaucrat named Josef 
Winter, began housing some of the refugees in the buildings along the airfield, which 
had likely survived the bombing because of their relative distance from the center of 
the city. Between Galgenberg and a smaller camp at Heidingsfeld south of the city, 
refugees could be drawn out of the enormous construction zone in the city center. 

There were significant formal contacts between the occupation forces and the mass 
of refugees in Würzburg and the region. In 1947, more than 6,700 refugee children 
from around Unterfranken were treated to Christmas parties hosted by the occupation 
government. The Americans made much of the fact that most of the refugees involved 
came from places under Soviet domination, noting that the entertainment for these 
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parties included “Ukrainian Cossack dances, Baltic choirs, Polish dances, folk music, 
and the showing of the colorful garments of the different nationalities.”  On a more 
prosaic level, the budget of the Würzburg Military Post indicates that the Americans 
helped to finance the recovery of local industries by paying for a range of materials to 
be delivered to DP camps and other refugee installations. The glassmaker Otto Weigan, 
for instance, provided 10 DM glass eyes for inhabitants of local DP camps.8 

To the north, in the tiny farming community of Wildflecken, a very different story 
unfolded. Wildflecken had been a rural backwater until 1936, when the German Army 
identified it as an ideal spot to conduct training in hilly and wooded terrain. They built 
an 18,000 acre training facility there, with a ring of buildings on a hill above the vil­
lage. During the war, the remote location made it an ideal site for a hidden armaments 
plant, which included hundreds of slave laborers. The town and the nearby base es­
caped bombing, and Wildflecken’s war ended with the arrival of a lone American jeep 
in early April 1945.9 

The Americans left a small garrison in Wildflecken, largely to guard the munitions 
plant and demolish the network of bunkers that ringed it. In taking charge of the base, 
they also inherited supervision over the workers living therein. Between May and Oc­
tober, the Army began the process of consolidating a warren of facilities for laborers 
into a few large camps, divided by putative ethnicity. Wildflecken, with a tremendous 
amount of unused space, became one of the largest such catchment facilities in Eu­
rope, with nearly 15,000 Poles in residence by the time the Army gave over control 
to UNRRA on 1 October 1945. The American Kathryn Hulme, the camp’s Assistant 
Director, recalled that: 

When we entered the camp, Army was in control in the form of a Captain, but he took 
off at the end of the first week, leaving us a handsome large office equipped with ma­
hogany desks empty of all documents, reports or even carbon copies of letters which 
might have given us a clue to what had gone on in the camp prior to our arrival.10 

While the Army turned over formal control of the DP camps to UNRRA, it was 
forced to take a more active role in their maintenance than had been expected. Despite 
initial plans to provision the facilities from locally available stocks, the devastated 
German economy proved unequal to the task. As early as 1946, most DP calories came 
from occupying, and mostly American, supplies. “Preferential feeding for DPs,” one 
report noted, “has always been US Army policy. It gave them 425 calories above the 
basic ration for Germans.”11 The strategy of clearly favoring DPs over both Germans 
and German refugees created enormous resentment among local populations. It also 
did not work particularly well on the ground, where conditions and personal behavior 
made the situation far more complicated. 

Scarcity created competition between UNRRA and the Army, with the results typ­
ically favorable to the latter. UNRRA could claim preferential treatment, but small 
American garrisons in places like rural Franconia faced similar supply problems and 
were unlikely to yield to the demands of the refugee agency. Ephraim Chase, a young 
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American UNRRA employee at the DP camp in Dillingen, captured this problem nice­
ly with regard to the perpetual problem of lumber: 

. . . often when our trucks arrived at the saw-mill to gather the products of the previous 
two or three days we would find that someone beat us to it. The XYZ Engineers, we 
would learn, appeared on the scene a day or an hour ago and removed every splinter of 
wood on the premises leaving a tell-tale notice behind to the effect that from now on 
everyone else is to keep out of here. At first we felt frustrated, but gradually we became 
inured and mastered the game of matching wits. Compromise and gentlemens’ agree­
ments were effected, and the supply of lumber resumed its steady flow. So that we 
shall have a quantity of lumber left over to meet emergency repairs during the winter 
months and for the camp shop to make simple furniture.12 

DPs were also supposed to receive priority when it came to hiring for civilian la­
bor. In mid-1947, US Army Labor Service Companies employed about 40,000 DPs.13 

While this number was high, there is significant evidence to suggest that many units, 
when given the option, chose to hire non-DP refugee labor. The company guarding 
the facility could easily employ Poles from the camp as civilian laborers but chose to 
hire almost entirely from the ranks of other refugees. In March 1946, twelve of twenty 
civilian workers came from either the Soviet zone or from Poland/Silesia. Only three 
came from the Rhön region.14 

Despite a policy that officially favored DPs, many American officers found them, 
and their UNRRA supervisors, tiresome and untrustworthy. Despite wartime optimism 
on the part of the Allies, many Eastern European DPs had little desire to return home. 
By the time Eisenhower ordered an end to forcible repatriation in September, 1945, al­
most 2 million DPs remained in Western Europe, more than half of whom were Poles.15 

As relations between former allies deteriorated, Eastern Europeans came under in­
creasing scrutiny as potential security threats. Nothing caused more problems between 
UNRRA and the Americans than the periodic camp inspections. OMGUS consistently 
emphasized the need to speed up repatriation. As a corollary, American suggestions 
or demands for camp administrators focused on making the camps physically safe but 
minimally comfortable in order to encourage repatriation without the risk of the sorts 
of epidemic diseases that might both create a public health nightmare and slow down 
repatriation. Relations between inspectors and UNRRA officials generally proceeded 
efficiently, if not warmly. Friction, however, was all but inevitable, spurred by the 
kinds of rumor and innuendo that acted as a motor for camp life. 

In late 1945, the camp received frequent visits from one General Watson and his 
staff. UNRRA reports from the period suggest that Watson became an almost legend­
ary figure among camp residents, prone to simply appear and begin questioning DPs 
and UNRRA officials. In September, rumors circulated that Watson believed that “all 
Poles should be treated as Germans.” Whatever the conversation among the residents, 
Watson’s relationship with the camp director, the Frenchman George Masset, did not 
go well either. In the very least, the General could be brusque, tone-deaf to the needs 
of the camp, and fixated on the idea of repatriation. 
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Watson tended to descend on the camp, leaving trouble in his wake. On an inspec­
tion in mid-September, he pointedly criticized the amount of litter in the camp, the 
frequency of bathing, and the existence of a Polish Committee, which he believed 
indicated that the camp ran along “Soviet lines.” On several occasions, he told camp 
administrators that he expected repatriation to be sped up to 1,500 a week. 

As might be expected, both the Wildflecken Poles and UNRRA expressed outrage 
at the tone and content of these inspections. Masset sent an angry letter to his superiors, 
reporting that the Wildflecken Poles now believed that the camp “is occupied more 
rigorously than were concentration camps during the war or German cities since the 
peace.” How, asked Masset, did the Army expect sanitation to improve with limited 
resources and a hygiene situation that already was “more clean and healthy than many 
European cities of 15,000 inhabitants?”16 

He took the additional step of writing to the UNRRA offices in Bad Kissingen 
unofficially to protest what he saw as outrageous behavior on the part of the American 
officers. Continuing to emphasize the connections between DP camps and concentra­
tion camps, Masset angrily noted that the General: 

[gave] hell to a DP worker who was dressed in the striped coat of Buchenwald! None 
of General Watson’s commands and orders were made privately; at all times he was 
surrounded by a crowd of 200 to 300 Poles, many of whom understand English. You 
cannot imagine the state of this camp today.17 

In 1950, a series of seismic shifts in the Cold War order changed the face of refugee 
policy and with it the relationship between the Army and refugee agencies. Truman’s 
Troops to Europe decision and the beginning of the Korean War forced a reorientation 
of basing policy and created a vast need for usable space. At the end of 1950, there 
were 86,000 American soldiers in Europe. A year later, this number climbed to almost 
232,000.18 The demand for housing for these personnel and their dependents brought 
the refugee question to center stage. 

In April, 1949, according to the city government, of 5,245 refugees living in Würz­
burg, 3,444 had some sort of private accommodation. 1,052 lived in the Galgenberg 
camp, while 749 were at Heidingsfeld.19  Into this tense and difficult situation came 
the Americans. Following the reversal of the US drawdown in Europe, the US Army in 
particular needed facilities that could be made ready quickly. The most efficient way to 
accomplish this was to take over old Wehrmacht and Luftwaffe facilities, which served 
no purpose in a disarmed West Germany. The problem was that thousands of refugees 
were already living in these abandoned bases, supported by state-level bureaucracies 
like the Bavarian Refugee Office. 

By early 1951, the Americans identified the Galgenberg facility as suitable for 
conversion to an American base. When local Refugee Office officials pointed out that 
there were more than 1,000 refugees living in the surviving barracks on the facility, the 
Resident Officer in Würzburg responded that money had already been budgeted and 
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there was no way to delay the beginning of construction. By summer, virtually all of 
the building firms in and around the city were engaged in the largest postwar construc­
tion project in the region, the building of the Skyline barracks complex. 

By October, the few refugee families left on the base received notice to vacate 
within ten days, awaiting the arrival of American families and the opening of a base 
school. The remaining residents either found homes and livelihoods in the private sector 
or moved to the Heidingsfeld facility, which remained open until the early 1960s.20 

The goal of the Land-level refugee administrations was not to keep moving people 
from camp to camp. Their hope was to allow refugees the time to secure employment 
and find their own housing. At the same time, Federal money was available to help the 
Länder build new homes for West Germany’s homeless. This process was achingly 
slow, making it imperative to keep camps operating as long as possible. In 1950, there 
were 9,635 refugees living in 35 camps administered by the Bavarian Refugee Office 
across Unterfranken. As settlement plans advanced, that number declined, slowly but 
surely, to about 5,000 at the end of 1952. About 3,000 families moved elsewhere in 
Bavaria, while others moved into newly constructed homes across the Land. Many of 
the apartment blocks built with funding from the Bavarian Refugee Agency remain in 
Würzburg, reminders of the haste and confusion of the city’s conversion into a Cold 
War garrison town.21 

The problems of conversion in Würzburg were serious, but nothing like the crisis 
over the future of the Wildflecken facility. While UNRRA turned over its operations to 
its successor the International Refugee Organization (IRO) in 1947, the camp remained 
in operation and, if anything, the pace of repatriation slowed. In January of that year, a 
team of Polish Army officers visited the camp to conduct a nationality screening. Fear­
ing forcible repatriation, the inhabitants rioted and only the timely arrival of American 
troops saved the Polish officers from being beaten to death by an angry mob.22 

At the same time, the Wildflecken facility came to the attention of the Bavarian 
Refugee Office. The DP camp occupied a small corner of the base, while the villages 
that had been cleared to build the camp in the 1930s had been continuously occupied 
by workers and remained reasonably intact. Beginning in 1946, the Refugee Office 
began to settle ethnic German refugees in the surviving houses in Werberg and Reus­
sendorf. Werberg, now settled by farmers from Romania, Poland, and Czechoslovakia, 
emerged as a model community that seemed to highlight all of the virtues of thrift and 
hard work that the Bavarian Refugee Office wanted to publically display. “For expel­
lees, the chance to have a place of their own is not common,” wrote the Main-Post 
in 1950, “But here, thanks to their energy and drive a large number of refugees have 
found a new home on the grounds of the former base at Wildflecken.”  The senior refu­
gee official for Lower Franconia, Anton Beck, expressed his confidence in the proj­
ect. ‘Despite the fact that Werberg has taken up nearly all of my time in the past few 
months . . . it brings me great joy to see the first loaf of bread baked, the first calf of the 
season, or a father’s pride when he shows off a newborn resident before the town.’23 
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In July 1950, six days after the North Korean invasion of the South began, the 
IRO transferred jurisdiction over the last 600 DPs at Wildflecken to German authori­
ties. Not only did the UN leave, but American policy toward refugees began to change 
in line with the unstated preferences of many of the troops on the ground. In the new 
security situation of Central Europe, DPs were a minor irritant compared with the po­
tential problems of integrating millions of ethnic German refugees. The refugee issue 
now topped lists of concerns for the Americans in their vision of the continued devel­
opment of Lower Franconia. When the mayor of Wildflecken went to Hammelburg to 
meet with the American Resident Officer in January 1951, he and the other assembled 
mayors were castigated for their obstruction on the refugee question. Many local may­
ors, the Resident Officer suggested, would rather ‘foster division between locals and 
refugees than to lead the way toward integration.’24 

The Americans had good reason to be interested in the improvement of local con­
ditions and the resolution of outstanding refugee issues. As early as 1948, the Military 
Government informed local officials that they had approval to build a training facility 
on the grounds of the former Wehrmacht base above Wildflecken. The initial plans 
came with severe restrictions, notably that both the DP camp and local settlements 
could not be disturbed. Since even the reduced DP camp monopolized most military 
buildings on the site, and since the communities like Werberg and Reussendorf sat 
squarely in the middle of the proposed maneuver grounds, these restrictions were sim­
ply untenable. Six months later, the official requisition forms for the facility contained 
no such limitations.25 

So began a nearly three-year conflict between local government and the American 
military over the fate of the communities around Wildflecken. While the Americans 
continued to promote the speedy clearance of the DP camp, they argued with local offi­
cials over the scale of the camp. At issue were the small towns dotted across the 18,000 
acres of the facility. Dr. Maria Probst, a Landtag and later Bundestag delegate living in 
Hammelburg took special interest in the fate of these small towns, forcing meetings in 
Bonn over the issue and holding a series of rallies in the region to bring together farm­
ers threatened with dispossession.26 

The looming crisis over the base expansion had the effect of hastening the integra­
tion of those recent arrivals into the rural communities where they found themselves 
after the war. A 1950 meeting in Reussendorf issued a statement in the name of “old, 
new, and neighboring” inhabitants of the area urging the Bavarian government to dis­
tribute the territory inside the base to local farmers.27 The local Landrat went even 
farther, darkly suggesting that the experience of dispossession might well unite the 
local population behind “politically extreme ideas.”28 

In the summer of 1951, the Bavarian government publicly suggested that the 
Americans concentrate their building program on Wildflecken. They expressed par­
ticular concern over the possibility of an American base in nearby Hammelburg, with a 
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larger population and more refugees subject to resettlement. The Münchner Merkur ap­
plauded the move, suggesting that a base at Wildflecken would be minimally invasive, 
could take advantage of all the amenities built by the Wehrmacht during the construc­
tion program of the 1930s, would displace far fewer people, and, most importantly, 
would get rid of the DP camp. “Three groups would be helped: the Hammelburger who 
will not be made homeless, the displaced, who won’t have to keep living in camps, and 
the public good, which will be saved from this smuggling center.”29 

The local government in Brückenau reacted furiously to the letter, pointing out, 
entirely correctly, that most of the luxuries (like a swimming pool and a modern town 
hall) didn’t actually exist, that 55% of those who would likely be displaced by the base 
were, in fact, Flüchtlinge, and that Wildflecken was so close to the border that enemy 
agents could easily watch proceedings at such a facility. But the Landrat reserved his 
greatest indignation for the suggestion that Wildflecken was the center of a smuggling 
enterprise. “Coffee and cigarettes will no longer be smuggled by DPs from Wildfleck­
en, since they all left four months ago. A ‘smuggling center’ is no longer there to be 
dissolved.”30 

Delicate negotiations over the precise demarcation of the new American facility 
proceeded through 1951, which added to the anxiety of residents who complained that 
they were being kept in the dark. In the end, even compromise was not enough to save 
the towns. Reussendorf had to be abandoned by its nearly 300 residents. Werberg, the 
model refugee town of a half-decade before, survived, but only after losing most of 
the farmland north of the settlement. While the town remained intact, it was no longer 
economically viable. By 1960, only 12 farms remained. Three years later, when the 
base expanded, the town vanished completely.31 

As the towns faced the prospect of ruin, Bavarian government funds sponsored a 
crash building program designed to give resettled residents apartments in Wildflecken 
and in the community of Neuwildflecken on the grounds of the abandoned munitions 
plant. By October 1952, just as the cold rains of another Central European autumn ar­
rived, the new town was passably ready. Despite the lack of a school or town hall, sixty 
new homes had been completed in Neuwildflecken, cause for a public celebration.32 

The invitation evoked the hilly country of the Rhön and the bucolic comforts of the 
new settlement. Such celebrations were common events in a country going through the 
early stages of an astounding economic transformation. For the citizens of Neuwild­
flecken, this was a transformative event, creating a new community in the shadow of 
an occupying army. 

The story of the relationship between the Army and the refugee crisis in post-1945 
West Germany is an important one. The Army had little or no interest in taking direct 
responsibility for refugees or refugee affairs and worked through German government 
agencies or the United Nations. Particularly in the case of UNRRA, which was depen­
dent on the Army for supplies, this meant in practice a close working relationship that 
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was often fractious. Efforts by the Bavarian government to manage their own refugee 
affairs consistently ran into difficulties because of the divided sovereignty arrangement 
in postwar Germany. 

Relations between the Army, refugee agencies, and the refugees themselves mir­
rored the broader transformation of the American presence in Germany after the war. 
In the wake of the war, policy emphasized the importance of creating comfortable 
conditions to ensure the safe return of DP populations. As it became evident that DPs 
were likely to be a long-term presence, Army personnel on the ground began to turn 
on them, a shift that anticipated the larger change in focus that accompanied West 
Germany’s emergence as a state at the end of the decade. 

These relationships, marked by necessary cooperation and increasingly by frustrat­
ed disagreement, did more than decide the short-term fate of thousands of refugees in 
the years after the war. They shaped the emerging society of a Cold War frontier state 
and the American military presence that remained there for decades to come. While 
the Wildflecken training area was turned over to the Bundeswehr in 1994 and the last 
barracks in Würzburg are in the process of closing, the American presence there in the 
second half of the twentieth century shaped the lived experience of the Cold War for 
Americans and Germans. As this paper has argued, we cannot understand the creation 
of that Cold War order, or its centrality in the history of the divided century, without 
seeing in the context of the German refugee crisis. Through collaboration, negotia­
tion, and confrontation, the interests of refugees, refugee agencies, and the US Army 
intersected in the limited space of places like the Fulda Gap. The result was a country, 
a region, and an Army transformed. 
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Panel 5—Post-War Germany
 
Question and Answers
 
(Transcript of Presentation)
 

Major Tania M. Chacho, Ph.D., US Army
 
Adam R. Seipp, Ph.D.
 

Moderated by Curtis S. King, Ph.D.
 

Audience Member 

You said in the beginning that you had indicated that the military was unwilling to 
help the refugees. Do you think that was more of a diplomatic issue? Did we have the 
resources to do that? 

Dr. Seipp 
Well, it is sort of a fine distinction because the displaced persons were clearly to be 
helped by the Army. As Major Chacho pointed out, that was something that was es­
tablished early on. This left a tremendous number of refugees, an unknown number 
of refugees, outside of that circle. So what I am suggesting you end up with is that on 
the ground aid was being given more or less indirectly to these refugees, but it was the 
distinction between former enemies and former allies. So it was relatively easy to make 
the distinction in theory, but in practice it got much more difficult, particularly if you 
were trying to govern in a city that was 50% refugees. So 50% of the population had 
to be left to its own devices. I agree with you that if the decision had been made that 
we are going to help everybody this would have probably been a complete resource 
disaster, but the stark distinctions that were made on paper did not really hold up out in 
the field. So yes, it is a very good point. 

Audience Member 
This is a question for Major Chacho. Reference the United Nations (UN) and the vari­
ous powers in Europe, I am wondering what was the headquarters relationship? You 
had SHAPE (Supreme Headquarters Allied Powers Europe) sitting on top of the west­
ern sector. Was there a UN office that plugged directly into SHAPE or worked in co­
ordination with SHAPE and then pushed stuff down to the British sector, the French 
sector, and the American sector?  I am just trying figure out how the command and 
control went for UN agencies and also how active was the UN in the Soviet sector? 

257 



MAJ Chacho 

Those are great questions. I guess the short answer to what the command and control 
relationship looked like was that it was really a patchwork that occurred and initially 
since the sectors were divided up as you pointed out, the British, French, and US, there 
were aid agencies that plugged directly into each of those sectors. In my paper I have 
an interesting little vignette about the initial US reluctance to allow aid agencies into 
the US sector. There is a quote from the political advisor, so a State Department offi­
cial, indicating, “Hey, we were concerned that once we opened the door, like the British 
next door had done, a lot of aid agencies would come in and start running around, and 
we did not really know what that command and control relationship looked like. So we 
were reluctant to actually do that.” He had said that they had up to 600 people running 
around their sector . . . unbelievable. Can you imagine that? They cannot control these 
people who are out there administering humanitarian aid. From the UN perspective 
it was a little bit different and it evolved throughout. I really do not have very much 
information on the Soviet sector, but to say that there was even less UN presence in 
there than there was in the allied sectors which you know eventually emerged into West 
Germany. The information that I had from the National Archives just alluded to the fact 
that things were much worse in the Soviet sector without actually getting into specifics. 
I think part of that was due to the way the political situation developed . . . that infor­
mation just was not readily available. So beyond just general statements there was not 
really much that they could do there. Then as far as the command and control relation­
ship, it was interesting in that the UN also plugged in at different levels. There were 
liaisons there, but it was often just one or two people at various levels, and they found it 
actually more beneficial and just more operationally efficient to plug in at lower levels 
below SHAPE than to actually plug in at the headquarters itself because at the lower 
levels, you know at that time of course, the headquarters was in France, so to be able 
to plug in at the level of the Provincial Governors who were actually in control of the 
situation, they found it easier to actually facilitate the distribution of aid and that is just 
from what I found during this research and perhaps that there was eventually more of a 
relationship built. But the preponderance of information that I found was really pushed 
down to the operational-level, at the level that we could make a difference. There was 
the strategic agreement in place and then going down almost to the tactical level with 
that gap to use military terms, in that operational level as to where they were plugging 
in in-between. That might have developed beyond 1947, but quite honestly, I stopped 
in my research there so I am not quite certain how that relationship moved forward. 

Dr. Seipp 
Can I speak to this quickly? There is actually an interesting connection here between 
ideology and practice, and that is that the Soviets had a refreshingly direct way of deal­
ing with the refugee problem as they tended to deal with most problems. The vast bulk 
of the refugees in the Soviet zone, of course, had fled from the Red Army, in advance 
of the Red Army. You do not really want to admit that you have created refugees or 
they were people who were kicked out by governments friendly to the Soviets who 

258 



by definition are not refugees. So the Soviet saw themselves as having absolutely no 
refugee problem in Eastern Germany. There was briefly a refugee agency and some 
coordination with UNRA (United Nations Relief Agency) but it was designed to get 
people home. The refugee agency in East Germany was actually closed down in 1946. 
As of 1946, East Germany effectively legally had no more refugees. They had resettled 
people, but they had no refugees, whereas the Americans had adopted the famous “we 
come as conquerors, not as occupiers” mentality. Whether it was true or not, the idea 
was we are coming as a force of rebuilding and a source of liberation. The Soviets re­
ally did not quite have the same idea behind their occupation of Eastern Germany so 
that became really important in questions of relief in the rehabilitation. 

Dr. King 

I could briefly add, you touched upon my area of history of Russia and Soviet history 
that looking at it from the economic point of view they had no qualms about using 
the Morgenthau Plan and stripping East Germany of all the equipment that they could 
too. 

Audience Member 
You answered a little bit of what my was question was in reference to, the policy that 
the Soviet Union had for refugees. Were they adhering to the policy they had made 
with the alliance for repatriation of refugees or DPs (Displaced Persons)? 

Dr. Seipp 
This is a great question. I did not want to get into this part in the paper because it is 
a wee bit complicated, but one of the big problems, and I mean huge, was that, those 
of you who know your map of Eastern Europe after the war, a big chunk of Eastern 
Poland was annexed to the Ukraine and Poland was essentially picked up and moved 
westward absorbing a large chunk of what had been Eastern Germany. So overnight, 
millions of Poles became Ukrainians legally. The American policy had been that any­
one who was a Soviet citizen could be forcibly repatriated. This fluctuated widely, 
but all of a sudden Poles were being reclassified as Ukrainians, and that riot I talked 
about in 1947 was when the Polish Army showed up and started saying, “You are now 
Ukrainian. You are going back.”  The Poles at Wildflecken rioted so this issue of who 
was a Soviet citizen, whether they wanted to be or not, or whether they knew it or not, 
was incredibly important in the question of the DPs and it was a major sticking point 
in trying to convince Poles to go home. 

Audience Member 
Thank you for two excellent papers. I have a question actually for both of you. You 
each mentioned using German aid organizations to help funnel some of the aid through 
because of their local connections and all that. Were the German aid organizations ro­
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bust enough to handle this burden? I do not know what state they were in after the end 
of World War II and I am interested to hear. Secondly, and perhaps more importantly, 
to what degree in the post-war era were they trusted? Were they seen as being reliable 
agents who would account for this material, use it properly, and not just use it to enrich 
their friends or the Black Market? 

MAJ Chacho 
Certainly, I will address that first. It is very interesting. There was the political process 
that was going on, the de-nazification. So once that vetting process had gone through 
and you had the stamp of approval that you were a trusted German that did not have the 
connections with the Nazi Party that perhaps some of your neighbors did, my research 
showed that the relationship was actually fairly open and robust. The problem that the 
German aid organizations had was that they had a certain resource; they had manpower 
that was available and able and willing to work and be employed, but they had no fur­
ther resources beyond that. So of course, what the United States did as the occupying 
force and in fact, the aid agencies coming in from the United States just included strict 
accountability procedures similar to what CARE had done in tracing each individual 
package. And it is interesting because CARE would spend more money trying to track 
a person with this package because they might have been relocated or they might have 
been displaced. This package would go all the way around. It might be worth five dol­
lars and they just spent $55 trying to deliver it to the person to assure that that account­
ability was in place. I found that the same sort of degree of accountability was there 
which is not to say that there was not some siphoning off into the Black Market and 
there were certainly incidents of that that had come forward, but one of the benefits of 
having this military hierarchy in place in the military government was that there was 
a streamline procedure that if anything was found that was directly in violation of the 
military code that was in place, that was quickly shut down. The effects of that were 
so brutal upon that area that if they shut down the aid distribution in a certain town 
that could literally mean that hundreds were on the doors of starvation. There was an 
incentivized program to ensure that everything was distributed properly. It did not 
always work certainly. There were problems, but that is how I found the relationship 
ultimately wound up working out. I do not know if with regards to displaced persons if 
that was similar or not so I will defer to my colleague. 

Dr. Seipp 
The answer to the first question is it really depended on where you were. In Lower 
Franconia you had two very important and energetic refugee officers who managed 
to do with very limited resource a lot of good. But overall I think you can say that the 
efforts of the varying refugee offices really on into the 1950s until the Equalization of 
Burdens Law were hampered by consistent underfunding and most of their projects 
would end up on the face of it to failure. The second question is actually really interest­
ing in a way that gets out some of the more, some questions that are applicable in other 
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circumstances. The people who had the expertise to handle refugee affairs who were 
German tended to have been somewhere in what you might call the social work hier­
archy of the Third Reich, and there were really very few parts of the Nazi dictatorship 
that were more affected by what you might call the criminal elements of German law, 
that is racial policy, than social work. If you think about it, one’s existence as a human 
being was measured by categories that had not really existed before. So for instance, 
social workers were mowed down by de-nazification because these were people who 
had very specialized training, but they had been for twelve years enforcing some vari­
ant of German racial law. And in fact, if you look at the people who were important 
in refugee affairs they tended to be drawn from a kind of curious, and as far as I know 
absolutely unstudied, part of the vast Nazi bureaucracy, called the Reich resettlement 
office. Basically, if you lost your house because the German Army needed a base or if 
you had lost property to the German state, these are the people who resettled you and 
it was awfully easy to transform those people into refugee officials after the war. But 
it could not be social workers because social workers were among the first casualties 
of de-nazification. If you look at the civil affairs documents in the National Archives 
there is again and again complaints about we do not have any social workers we can 
work with because they are all in jail or they are awaiting de-nazification or there is 
absolutely no way they are going to get out of de-nazification. And it really points to 
just how difficult de-nazification and the process of political evaluation made doing 
refugee work. 

Audience Member 
(Audio too quiet. Cannot hear speaker.) 

Dr. Seipp 
For DPs the Americans were kind of late-comers. Belgium and France and then slight­
ly later Australia were in dire need of agricultural and industrial labor after the war. 
They were more than happy to take in DPs that made it clear they did not want to stay. 
The Americans started taking DPs in 1948—the Displaced Persons Act—so late in the 
game by those standards. For ethnic German refugees it took longer. By 1949, when 
West Germany got sovereignty the Americans were now more willing to take in ethnic 
Germans as long as they had sponsors in the United States initially. And the other part 
of your question about getting the Germans in on it, there is a significant gap here into 
the early 1950s before the West German State passed a whole raft of absolutely revolu­
tionary social legislation—the Equalization of Burdens Law that created a tax structure 
that was designed to help integrate refugees so this is really a ten year process just to 
get to the point where the West German State is saying we are now stake-holders in 
the permanent resettlement and economic integration of these refugees. And it actually 
takes decades to be accomplished. 

261 



Audience Member 

Dr. Seipp answered one half of the question I was going to ask. I was going to ask of 
Major Chacho, the UN had only been set up that summer of 1945. Where did the per­
sonnel come from that made up this UNRA administration?  Were they seconded mili­
tary personnel or diplomats, and mainly, what nations were they drawn from?  Thank 
you. 

Dr. Seipp 
Yes, they were not seconded military. As far as I know no one had come directly from 
any of the militaries except possibly the French. The largest numbers of UNRA em­
ployees, field workers, initially were French with a significant number of Britons and 
Americans. Most of the senior administrators were French because they tended to have 
more of the language skills and they could get there more easily. It is an amazing story 
because these people were set up, there were schools in the United States, Britain, 
and France and they were put in the field very fast. For instance, the woman I quoted, 
Kathryn Hulme, had been a tour guide in Europe before the war. During the war she 
worked in a shipyard in the United States. She got over there claiming to speak German 
and it is clear from the UN archives that she did not speak German so there was really 
no way for her to communicate. But if you read the reports there is a kind of blue sky 
effect. These people were there and they were being asked to invent everything. They 
more or less successfully did it and that is absolutely remarkable. 

MAJ Chacho 
I do not have too much more to add to that beyond them moving outside of the UN in 
that kind of population pool in voluntary aid organizations, the same types of things. 
Those who had been involved in some type of work, but often times their background 
was that they had organized some kind of town clothing drive and thought they could 
help. There was the need and if they raised their hand and said they were willing. Once 
that opened up in the later years, 1947 and on, they were on the next ship out there and 
they were landing and had discovered this type of environment. That is why it was so 
critical to actually have the relationship with the US military because one of the key 
concerns was if Germans are subsisting on about 1000 calories a day, where are aid 
workers going to get food? It was not like you can go down to the local market so they 
have to turn to the US military and work out some sort of agreement to allow them to 
eat in mess halls or to provide shelter and things like that. 

Audience Member (Blogosphere) 
We have a lot of programs dealing with JIIM (Joint, Interagency, Intergovernmental, 
and Multinational) and individual advancements and interagency postings. In your re­
search did you find any place where officers that were involved with governance, hu­
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manitarian assistance, that they were rewarded later on and they became compelled or 
they were ostracized because they had this “stigma” of being humanitarian assistance 
type people? Soldiers have always filled the void, but I was wondering if there was 
any career impact that you were aware of? 

MAJ Chacho 
That is a great question, and quite honestly, I did not look at that specifically. I did not 
follow those officers and see what their career impact looked like. To a large degree 
the Army was going through a demobilization period then so people were looking to 
transition to civilian life and some of the officers that I have cited here found that that 
transition was made easier if they worked with a humanitarian aid organization. They 
naturally transitioned into that type of a role. But it does raise an interesting point re­
garding what the institution rewards or not. I cannot say with any degree of scholarly 
background and citation, but the impression I got from the research in the National Ar­
chives was that officers and the military at large were looking to divest themselves of 
this responsibility as quickly as possible, as evidenced by the Secretary of War’s cor­
respondence with the Secretary of State, “You take this. This is humanitarian. We will 
do military governance. We understand that we need to do that, but surely there has to 
be someone else out there who can step up and take on this other mission.” That was 
the impression that I got from the institution writ large, but I do not have any specific 
examples as to whether it helped or harmed an officer’s career which is very interesting 
especially given the current situation and environment we find ourselves in. 

Audience Member 
I am struck by the fact that you mentioned delivering Thanksgiving turkeys fifteen 
years after the war and we still have Palestinian refugees being supervised by the Unit­
ed Nations 60 years after 1948 so I do not think we should find fifteen years of UN 
refugee activities being unusual. 

Dr. Seipp 
Sure. And part of what happened in the 1950s, as the Cold War heated up, refugees 
were being publicized because the new refugees were coming from East Germany. 
Before 1961, when the Berlin Wall was built there was a wave of migration from the 
east and it obviously benefited both the Americans and the West Germans to highlight 
that people were leaving East Germany. In an odd way the second half of the 1950s 
was a great time for refugees in terms of public attention, but the camps would remain 
in constant operation until the early 1960s when, frankly, the Berlin Wall helped close 
off the taps and the refugees that were in the camps could then be parceled out, but yes, 
I think that is a great point. 
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Introduction 

Since becoming the sole super power at the close of the Cold War, the United 
States is accustomed to taking the lead role in international military coalitions. As 
such, much interagency coordination is required between the US Army and US gov­
ernmental agencies. But what of small, regional conflicts that do not directly impact 
US national security? In such a case, a US ally might take the lead in forming a coali­
tion and the US Army, in a supporting role, then faces coordination with other external 
agencies. This type of “extra-agency” process is exactly what took place in late 1999 
during operations in East Timor and it might well portend future operations with their 
attendant issues. 
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Background 

As a brief history, the Island of Timor lies about 400 miles north of Darwin, Aus­
tralia. Portugal colonized the eastern half in the early 1500’s while the Dutch colo­
nized the western portion along with the surrounding islands comprising present day 
Indonesia. From 1515-1975 East Timor was known as Portuguese Timor, a relatively 
neglected outpost. When a military coup in Portugal in 1974 forced them to abandon 
their colonies, it precipitated a short civil conflict in East Timor, culminating in a claim 
to independence on 28 November 1975.1 

Before the world had a chance to recognize the prospective new nation, Indonesia 
invaded on 7 December 1975, citing concerns about communism and regional unrest. 
Indonesia annexed East Timor the following year over international protest and ruled 
with a heavy hand. Upon taking office in 1998, Indonesian President Habibe agreed to 
hold a referendum on self-determination in East Timor. That vote took place on 30 Au­
gust 1999. The referendum passed overwhelmingly with over 98% voter turnout, yet 
it sparked a violent rampage by local militias backed by the Indonesian military that 
displaced over 300,000 civilians and destroyed East Timor’s infrastructure.2 The cry 
went out for international intervention. Thanks to a successful response, East Timor 
formally and finally declared independence on 20 May 2002. 

The Coalition 

Because of its proximity and good relationship with the Indonesian government, 
Australia was the natural choice to lead such a coalition. To be sure, coalitions have 
been the rule rather than the exception in military history. However, it is one thing to be 
a member of one and an entirely different matter leading one, for they require political, 
economic, and social objective coordination, as well as agreed strategic plans.3  In this 
case there was not much time to act. 

UN Security Council Resolution 1264 authorized forces to assist in the mainte­
nance of peace surrounding the August referendum (see Addendum A). When violence 
broke out, the International Force East Timor (INTERFET) under Australian Major 
General Peter Cosgrove deployed on 20 September. Operation WARDEN was the first 
phase, whereby peace was restored, and the second was Operation STABILISE, main­
taining peace. A total of 11,000 troops from 22 nations participated until 23 February 
2000 when INTERFET handed the mission to the United Nations Transitional Author­
ity for East Timor (UNTAET).4 

Participating nations funded the INTERFET mission as did the United Nations 
through a substantial donation from Japan. This was in lieu of troops. Aside from Aus­
tralia and the US the participating nations were Brazil, Canada, Denmark, Egypt, Fiji, 
France, Germany, Ireland, Italy, Jordan, Kenya, Malaysia, Mozambique, New Zea­
land, Norway, Philippines, South Korea, Singapore, Sweden, Thailand, and the United 
Kingdom.5 
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The INTERFET rules of engagement were threefold, simple and strong. The first 
goal was to restore peace and security in East Timor. Second was to protect and sup­
port the United Nations Mission to East Timor (UNAMET) in carrying out its tasks. 
Third was, within force capabilities, to facilitate humanitarian assistance operations.6 

Because of the scale of destruction wreaked by the militia following the referendum, 
this was a considerable task. 

Australian Perspective 

The 1998 Asian currency crisis sparked a government-directed internal review 
within the Australian Department of Defence. The situation plunged Indonesia, their 
neighbor to the north, into a financial crisis at the same time as they were transitioning 
to democracy and trying to stamp out long-running civil conflicts in Aceh, Irian Jaya, 
and East Timor. Geographically, Indonesia spans about 90% of Australian trade routes 
and has ten times the population so a stable Indonesia was clearly in Australian inter­
ests. Their defense planners correctly predicted that at least one of these three hot spots 
would require outside intervention in the near future and began retooling their military, 
which had not been deployed in any numbers since Vietnam.7 

As the lead in the coalition, the Australian government had to devise its own inter­
agency process. Their answer was to bring together representatives from the Depart­
ment of Defence, Foreign Affairs, Trade, the Attorney General, as well as the Prime 
Minister. The Department of Defence formed the East Timor Policy Unit, and Foreign 
Affairs formed the East Timor Crisis Centre, both of which advised the central govern­
ment. Seeing that there was limited interagency coordination below the level of cabinet 
minister, the government established in interdepartmental East Timor Policy Group to, 
according to Intelligence Officer John Blaxland, “help develop an integrated policy 
approach to the issues at hand, with senior officers from key government departments 
involved.”8  (See Addendum B for the current organizational chart of the Australian 
Department of Defence.) 

This was all a new experience for the Australian government as it would have 
been for almost any government. INTERFET represented the first UN-mandated peace 
operation outside of Africa and not headed by the United States. Yet having partici­
pated in international coalitions before, the Australians recognized that a multilateral 
response garners greater international support.9  How would they choose to shape their 
response in taking the coalition lead? 

An interesting contrast is how the Australians perceived the US approach to 
military operations, especially in light of the US perspective of INTERFET that is 
shared later. First, they perceived the Americans as prepared to accept casualties. This 
stemmed from working with them in Vietnam. Second, they saw US tactics as “heavy 
handed.” Third, they saw the US goal as achieving success through destroying the 
enemy’s resistance, usually resulting in collateral damage. The Australian goal was 
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to attain their political and military goals through “bending their opponent’s will,” as 
opposed to brute force.10 

This approach the Australians call Information Operations. The term essentially 
means psychological operations backed by a competent military force in order to get 
the opposition in a “disadvantageous position.” The goal is psychological rather than 
physical by trying to convey the idea to the opponent that “continued resistance is irra­
tional.”11 As a self-described mid-level power, it seems a natural conclusion that Aus­
tralian military planners arrived at such an approach. Interestingly, such an approach 
involves civil-military affairs, in which the US has great expertise. 

The nature of Information Operations is an interagency approach since it brings the 
diplomat and the soldier together. In the United States, it is the equivalent of pairing 
the Department of Defense with the Department of State. Again according to Blaxland, 
“Australian defence planners and diplomats had to work together to reconcile military 
plans with foreign policy.”12  How they would coordinate with other members of the 
coalition remained to be seen. 

What gave INTERFET teeth was the fact it was a peace-enforcement and not a 
peace keeping mission, under Chapter VII of the UN Charter. It allowed for “coercive” 
military use, yet there were 15,000 Indonesian troops on the island backing the local 
militia, versus about 5,000 ground troops for INTERFET. General Cosgrove boldly 
validated the Information Operations approach with a decisive show of force, landing 
the troops quickly and keeping supporting ships close to shore. He correctly identified 
that the militia would crumble once the Indonesian troops left. The latter had trained 
with the Australians, knew their capabilities, and knew they were serious about the 
mission. As a consequence, they withdrew within two weeks and the INTERFET mis­
sion reverted to peace keeping.13  Sometimes extra-agency can mean coordinating with 
a potential adversary through joint training exercises. 

US Perspective 

The US mission within INTERFET was simply to provide the Australians the sup­
port they requested. This included four areas: communications, intelligence, civil-mili­
tary operations, to include dealing with non-governmental organizations (NGO’s), and 
heavy lift helicopter capacity. The US Army took responsibility for the first three. Since 
the US was not the lead nation in the coalition, it affected their assessments as to what 
equipment to bring for the mission since they had to wait for the Australian requests 
and the Australians could not anticipate everything they needed ahead of time.14  From 
the start there was a different perspective on this operation. At the diplomatic level, the 
US suspended military to military relations with Indonesia during the operation. 

The US Forces INTERFET (USFI) were commanded by Major General John Cas­
tellaw, USMC, and headquartered in Darwin, Australia. The US Forces East Timor 
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(USFET) were commanded by Colonel Randolph Strong and located in Dili, the capi­
tal of East Timor. At the height of operations, the US Army had 230 troops on the 
ground. The largest of the three missions was communications and USFI formed Task 
Force Thunderbird, made up of an element from the 11th Signal Brigade. Soldiers were 
spread in six locations across East Timor, with an additional element in Darwin to sup­
port USFI headquarters. The Australians provided force protection.15 

Obviously the primary extra-agency coordination was with the Australian Depart­
ment of Defense through their military. This extended to the intelligence mission as 
well. Six US Army personnel comprised Trojan Spirit II, downloading classified in­
formation from satellite. Another eight conducted counter intelligence. The remainder 
of the US intelligence personnel was integrated into the INTERFET C2 staff.16 The 
Australian military has a similar staff structure to that of the US. 

The mission for the civil-military operations was to coordinate and facilitate the re­
lationship between INTERFET, UN agencies and NGO’s. The CMOC team consisted 
of 15 personnel from four nations (see Addendum C for CMOC organizational chart) 
with the US in the lead.17  Not only did the US personnel have to adapt to Australian 
leadership, they had to integrate soldiers from other nations into the team. Expertise 
on the team included specialists in engineering, law, water purification, and power 
generation. 

The US Civil Affairs teams worked primarily with humanitarian assistance, but 
they were largely on their own. There was an Information Operations cell at INTER­
FET Headquarters in Darwin, but it was ad hoc in nature, so there was little integration 
of Civil Affairs. Within the Australian military, Civil Affairs is a secondary assignment 
for artillery battery commanders and their forward observers.18 This is why the US 
troops were invited to share their expertise, but it also made the mission more chal­
lenging. 

The arrangement also made for odd working relationships relative to rank. The 
Australian battery commander in the CMOC was a major, and the senior US officer 
was a lieutenant colonel. Since the US Civil Affairs mission was coordination and not 
command and control, the US CMOC commander supported the Australian major at 
the regular INTERFET briefs. The US CMOC commander reported directly to Colonel 
Strong, the USFET commander.19 

In his role as USFET commander, Colonel Strong wore several figurative hats. 
Perhaps his primary role was a diplomatic one as he represented General Castellaw at 
daily meetings with General Cosgrove to sort out issues with the US forces and how 
they were accomplishing the mission.20  US soldiers did not strictly deal with the Aus­
tralian Army, however. Their extra-agency coordination ran virtually the entire gamut 
of the Australian Department of Defence. 
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For example, when Colonel Strong and his troops arrived in Darwin prior to de­
ploying to East Timor, the Australian Northern Command (NorCom) welcomed them. 
They provided facilities for US soldiers in newly renovated barracks, and the US unit 
had the honor of being the first organization to occupy a recently constructed bunker as 
a Command Post (CP). Meanwhile, the Royal Australian Air Force (RAAF) provided 
Post Exchange (PX), dining, barber, and other services on their nearby base.21 

The assignment of liaison officers was a key military to military technique that 
facilitated good communication between key USFI and INTERFET staff. One aspect 
that made this easier was the years of experience conducting joint exercises between 
the US and Australian militaries. The US Army, Pacific conducts about 35 exercises 
per year as part of their Expanded Relations Program (ERP) with other Pacific nations. 
One example was Crocodile ’99 that took place at the same time as the East Timor 
operation. Within the operation, five Australian signal officers had graduated from US 
programs, were familiar with US equipment, and this made them a perfect fit to work 
together with Task Force Thunderbird.22 

At times alternate methods had to be found to accomplish the mission, as was the 
case with the Australian Navy. During the sealift of signal equipment from Darwin to 
East Timor, Her Majesty’s Australian Ship (HMAS) Jervis Bay, a catamaran, was as­
signed but did not have the capacity to carry the largest items. Since they were also too 
heavy for available aircraft, other container ships were found.23  Of course the extra-
agency extended beyond the Australian Department of Defence. 

The Australian government supplied all contributing nations with a computer in 
order to access the INTERFET Local Area Network (I-LAN) set up for the operation. 
This included over 20 computers along with hub, router, cable and other necessary 
equipment. The US AAR found that this was an unnecessary drain on already short 
resources, and that in the future participating coalition members can supply their own 
computers.24  Nevertheless, this issue highlights the difference for US planners when 
they are not leading a coalition. 

Another area of coordination was with the Australian medical community. Those 
concerned with mental health issues wanted to learn more from their American coun­
terparts about the US Family Support system for deployed soldiers. At the time Austra­
lia had an informal program only, and it became apparent to US participants that other 
armies around the world are recognizing the need for such a support network.25  Even 
when not in the lead, US coalition participation can be a teaching as well as a learning 
tool. 

Extra-agency coordination is not merely confined to the government of the coali­
tion leader. When Lieutenant Colonel Uson, the CMOC Commander, arrived in Dili on 
3 October, his first meeting was with the UN Office for the Coordination of Humani­
tarian Affairs (OCHA). For the first time, the UN Secretary General designated OCHA 
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as the lead NGO coordination agency.26  Of course even when the US is in the lead of 
a coalition, such extra-agency coordination is necessary, but not being in the lead adds 
an extra layer. 

The same holds true for NGO’s, which are agencies unto themselves. One example 
of an issue that arose during Operation STABILISE came in the form of a letter from 
James Patterson of Medecins Sans Frontieres (Doctors Without Borders—see Adden­
dum D). As of 19 October, the Australian 3rd Combat Engineer Regiment had moved 
into a hospital in Maliana, and the letter requested they move so the hospital would be 
seen as “neutral” by the local populace.27 The letter came to the US officer in charge 
of the CMOC. 

Such extra-agency coordination can also include entities within the nation in which 
the operation takes place. For example the CNRT was identified before the operation 
as an umbrella organization of Timorese communities. They were seen as a political 
organization by the UN and various NGO’s who had to maintain their neutrality and 
therefore did not deal with them. Yet, the CNRT cooperated with the civil-military op­
erations and collected over 30,000 names in the town of Christo Rei within a span of 
two weeks for the purpose of building a census.28 

Perhaps no issue is more important to US planners, especially if they are not lead­
ing a coalition, than force protection and East Timor was no exception. Different na­
tions have different standards for force protection, and these must be reconciled, some­
times under the stress of operations. From the US Commanding General briefing on 18 
September, there were two components to US force protection. First, security for US 
forces was a US responsibility unless otherwise stated. Second, US personnel were not 
to go beyond the wire of secured areas unless the situation changed.29  From a Civil 
Affairs perspective, the latter guidance presented practical problems. 

According to one US member of the CMOC, much information had to be gathered 
from various NGO’s and the local populace to determine conditions on the ground. 
However, the travel restrictions inhibited the Civil Affairs team travel such that they 
were reduced to collecting information from the Australian Civil-Military Operations 
teams that were freer to travel.30 The irony is that these are the same teams that the US 
personnel were sent to augment! 

Force protection has many aspects, the most obvious of which is physical. As not­
ed, standards varied by nation and in some cases within different services of the same 
nation. As a condition of US support when carrying out their missions, US personnel 
insisted on US force protection standards. While not every coalition member agreed 
with these standards, they agreed to comply. It appears this issue was negotiated on the 
ground and not part of any extra-agency coordination. Until Dili was deemed secured, 
US soldiers worked ashore during the day and slept on ships anchored in the harbor 
by night.31 
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Force protection can also mean medical precautions, and again the US led the 
coalition in high standards. In one case flooding from a monsoon wiped out the Aus­
tralian mess facility. Deeming the area to be unsanitary until properly cleaned up, US 
soldiers went to consuming MRE’s while their allies reportedly suffered from gastro­
intestinal problems. US soldiers also deployed with malaria pills, mosquito netting and 
other items to combat tropical diseases. During the exercise only one US soldier came 
down with such an illness while there were 191 other reported cases among coalition 
personnel.32  Here it is only fair to note that in some of the AAR comments, US soldiers 
were at times bewildered by the severity of the force protection restrictions, but this 
hearkens back to the more traditional interagency process in conjunction with the US 
Department of Defense. 

Overall Operation STABILISE functioned very smoothly, especially given the 
short time span under which the participants had to deploy. If there was one area of 
friction among the allies, it was the redeployment schedule. The Australians wanted the 
US to stay longer than their December pull out date. From a US perspective, the main 
criterion for exiting was that all non-US personnel were trained and could handle the 
functions performed by the US.33  Even so, US soldiers had 179 days on their orders as 
a precaution for a longer operation. As it was, UNTAET took over in February 2000. 

Australian Lessons Learned 

As first time coalition leaders, the Australians learned many lessons about the in­
teragency process. Of course these lessons can also apply to other nations. According 
to Dr. Alan Ryan, a Research Fellow at the Australian Land Warfare Studies Centre, 
“If Australia is to make an effective coalition contribution, foreign policy and defence 
planners need to work together to develop a clear-eyed appreciation of Australia’s most 
likely partners; ensure adequate preparation and training for combined operations; and 
undertake a thorough re-evaluation of Australia’s force structure.”34 The same applies 
for US extra-agency planning. 

A specific lesson learned from the INTERFET operation was that the Australian 
Defence Headquarters developed a model to look at the requirements of future warfare. 
This model includes seven elements and was written about by Australian Brigadier 
General Steve Ayling and Ms. Sarah Guise of the Australian Department of Defence. 
The seven components are command and control; intelligence, surveillance and recon­
naissance; tailored effects; force projection; force protection; force sustainment; and 
force generation.35  Only a couple of these elements will be examined here as they 
pertain to extra-agency coordination. 

For command and control, the Australian model emphasizes the importance of the 
national commander/force commander relationship. Each coalition participant nation 
should agree to predetermined limits, yet allow each nation to maintain control of its 
own troops. This is significant since it differs from the NATO model of unified com­
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mand that the US is more used to operating under. The Australian argument is that their 
model is more appropriate for the Asia-Pacific arena since there are so many nations 
with differing political objectives.36 And the more nations that participate lend more 
legitimacy to a given operation. 

A main objective of the Australian model is to move away from the ad hoc nature 
of the INTERFET operation to a more permanent regional security framework. This 
includes more sharing of intelligence among coalition partners, staged deployment, if 
possible, versus direct deployment, and negotiating logistic and force generation re­
quirements ahead of time.37 This implies much extra-agency coordination with allies 
in peacetime. 

Much self-examination came out of INTERFET on the Australian side. According 
to an Australian Defence White Paper, they have identified eight conditions for par­
ticipating in future coalitions. First is the effect on Australian strategic, political and 
humanitarian interests, in addition to those of their allies. Second is a clear mandate, 
goals and an end point. Third is the achievability of the mission based on the given 
resources and circumstances. Fourth is the degree of international support. Fifth is 
the cost, including the effects on the Australian Defence Force (ADF) for other tasks. 
Sixth is the training benefit for the ADF. Seventh is the risk to personnel. Eighth are 
the potential consequences for Australian interests and relations.38 These are criteria 
the US can apply as well. 

US Lessons Learned 

The US conducted its own analysis of Operation STABILISE. One reason for the 
success was that Australia is such a strong and capable US ally. According to David 
Dickens, director of the Centre for Strategic Studies at Victoria University in Welling­
ton, New Zealand, the Australian government has a strategic decision-making capac­
ity: “Canberra was capable of making strategic decisions, gathering and interpreting 
intelligence and staffing military and diplomatic organizations with experienced pro­
fessionals.”39  In other words the agencies of the Australian government are internally 
efficient. 

Another important factor according to Dickens is that the Australians had good 
defense relationships with other nations, especially the US. They knew whom to call in 
Washington and what to ask in terms of strategic and tactical intelligence, protection of 
communication sea lines, and strategic lift capability.40 This made the US more willing 
to work with the Australians, to include assets outside of what the Army provided, such 
as the Aegis-class cruiser USS Mobile Bay. This ship was vital to the INTERFET show 
of force during the landing in East Timor. 

From the American side it was a great advantage that they could seamlessly “plug 
into” the Australian intelligence system. Since Australia’s military is fully compatible 
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with NATO, it was a comfortable match. However, this does raise the question as to 
whether the US can realistically only support nations that feature such interoperabil­
ity.41  If they cannot, it might limit future operations. 

There is little doubt that there is a wide technological gap from an operational 
standpoint between the US military and most other militaries around the world, so the 
question remains as to with how many nations the US can conduct future operations of 
a similar nature to East Timor. Dickens performed such an analysis as of 2002, dividing 
potential US coalition allies into various tiers. Only two nations, Australia and Great 
Britain, made it into the top tier. Does this mean that East Timor was a one-time rare 
event? His recommendations to increase the number of top tier nations is for the US to 
maintain close military cooperation with like-minded nations and to develop and nour­
ish more such relationships.42 

Another lesson for US military planners is opportunities such as that presented in 
East Timor represent great potential for non-combat arms Army officers. Major Gen­
eral William Ross, then the Commanding General of the US Army Signal Corps, called 
Colonel Strong’s assignment as USFET commander a “history making event” that 
could lead to more such opportunities.43 All Army officers, regardless of branch, must 
be prepared. 

From a troop on the ground perspective, perhaps Colonel Strong’s own words pro­
vide the best example of US lessons learned. According to Strong, “I think we learned 
the lesson that it is okay to be in a support role to an ally. The US doesn’t always have 
to be in the lead.”44 With small, regional conflicts in various parts of the world seem­
ingly more the norm than the exception, the US might have more opportunities to test 
Colonel Strong’s words. 

Analysis 

In September of 1999, there was no Operation IRAQI FREEDOM to occupy the 
bulk of US Army planning and assets, yet the Army only sent a couple of hundred 
soldiers to East Timor. Vital US interests were not at stake, yet there was value in 
participating in and supporting the multinational effort approved by the UN in order 
to further national goals and objectives in a time of peace. With the US Army now 
focused on the Middle East in time of war, planning for similar operations takes on 
greater importance. 

Normally when the US leads a coalition, a close working partnership is neces­
sary between the Army and US government agencies in attaining national goals. This 
has happened often enough in recent years that a good working relationship and pro­
cedures are fairly firmly in place and institutionalized in such Army officer training 
as the Command and General Staff College. When such coalitions are built, primary 
coordination with allied government agencies is done through the US government and 
is thus invisible to the Army. However in the case of a coalition led by another nation, 
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direct extra-agency coordination with allied government agencies and the Army comes 
into effect. 

The case of East Timor, while not common enough to establish trends, neverthe­
less identified at least six issues associated with Army operations that require such 
cooperation. The first of these is the possibility that the lead nation in the coalition 
might be taking the lead for the first time, as was the case with Australia. The Austra­
lian government did an admirable job of bringing together an interagency task force of 
various cabinet ministers, yet by their own admission there was limited coordination 
below that level. While the Australians performed exceptional self-analysis of their 
performance after the fact in order to institutionalize some of their procedures, the next 
coalition might well be led by another nation. 

The second issue, and key to being prepared for any deployment, is a needs as­
sessment prior to the operation. When the US takes the lead, that process is relatively 
clear. In the case of East Timor, US Army planners had to wait for the Australian needs 
assessment, communicated through their Department of Defence. Again, since they 
were new to leading such an operation, the needs assessment took time to compile and 
the short timeframe in which to deploy exacerbated the problem for US planners. This 
presented dilemmas as to what equipment to bring. 

The third issue raised by Operation STABILISE is the interoperability and capa­
bility of the lead nation’s military. Fortunately in this case the Australian military is 
extremely capable and operates on the NATO model. Through many joint exercises 
and training conducted prior to East Timor, the US and Australian Armies had a good 
working relationship and were familiar with each other’s strengths. This allowed for 
Australia to invite US Army Civil Affairs soldiers in order to augment an area in which 
they are not as organically strong. However as pointed out by David Dickens, the Aus­
tralian army is one of the very few in the world that is as compatible with the US, and 
this points all the more to the importance within the US Army of continuing to conduct 
similar training and nurturing relationships with other potential coalition leader na­
tions. 

Whether we recognize it or not, even when leading a coalition, the US Army al­
ready performs extra-agency coordination with such entities as the UN, NGO’s and 
agencies within the host country of a given operation. The difference and key fourth 
issue from the East Timor operation is that such extra-agency coordination is no longer 
directly between those agencies and the US Army, but the US Army becomes a conduit 
for coordination with the agencies of the lead nation. This is an important distinction 
and it might take more such operations for US planners to get used to and feel comfort­
able with it. 

Even in coalitions that the US leads, force protection has been and will continue 
to be a major issue. This includes everything from physical protection such as body 
armor to sanitation and medical procedures. Standards will continue to vary by nation, 
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but one critical difference in operations where the US is not the lead is that political 
decision makers might be even less inclined to accept casualties. There is no question 
that force protection issues negatively impacted the mission in East Timor that in all 
other regards was a great success. US soldiers confined behind the wire could not al­
ways get out and gather the information they needed. This will require better internal 
coordination in the future since the force protection standards were not imposed by the 
Australians. 

The final issue is that of redeployment. In East Timor the US Army and Australian 
government had different ideas about when the operation was complete. When the US 
criteria for mission accomplishment were fulfilled, the Army had to negotiate with 
their Australian counterparts to let them go home. Ideally in future operations, this will 
be worked out ahead of time. 

With the US Army stretched by current operations, now is the time to cultivate 
allies that can take the lead in future operations. Such cultivation will get the Army 
used to working with governmental agencies of other nations. This includes but is 
not limited to needs assessment, military capability and interoperability, extra-agency 
coordination with outside entities, force protection, and redeployment. The Army will 
know that it has arrived as an expert in the extra-agency process when that process can 
be moved from an ad hoc system as it was in East Timor, to an institutionalized one as 
it is when the US takes the lead in multinational coalitions. 
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Panel 6—The Interagency Process in Asia 
(Transcript of Presentation) 

Joint Military-Civilian Civil Affairs 

by 

Nicholas J. Cull, Ph.D.
 
University of Southern California
 

Thanks. As a foreigner living in this country I have a strange relationship with the 
flag. This is the first time I have actually wondered how much warmer I would be if I 
wrapped myself up in it. Barry Zorthian would like to have been able to come out to 
make this presentation himself but was unable to. He was one of the witnesses, not for 
my national security review piece, but for the book that I have just completed. 

The title of my presentation today, “The Armenian Word for Chaos” is one of the 
jokes from Vietnam. It comes from a journalist who said what does this word JUS­
PAO mean and was told it was the Armenian word for chaos, an in-joke because Zor­
thian was from an Armenian-American family and he was in charge of JUSPAO (Joint 
United States Public Affairs Office). The presentation I am giving you today is derived 
from research that went into my book which came out a couple of months ago from 
Cambridge University Press so if you are looking for footnotes this is where you will 
find them. I will first of all talk about my core terms—public diplomacy and how I see 
that fitting into the world of counterinsurgency. Then I will look at the way in which 
public diplomacy worked in Vietnam and something about its interagency context and 
interagency cases. I will go through each of the presidential phases of the Vietnam War 
and pick out one case of interagency public diplomacy work as an example to work 
through. I will finish up by talking about some of the lessons of this period for the 
present. My theme is one that you have already heard something about, the perennial 
difficulties in interagency work, especially in the field of information. When we get to 
the question period I hope that we will be able to get into how we work this problem 
today because it is a big problem and the system such as it is today clearly still is not 
working as it should. 

So first of all, what is public diplomacy? My own definition is that public diplo­
macy is quite simply foreign policy through engagement with a foreign public rather 
than through engagement with a foreign government. The term public diplomacy was 
created in the Vietnam era because the United States Information Agency wanted to 
be able to talk about what it did. It wanted a word other than propaganda so that it 
could say, “We Americans do public diplomacy. Those Communists do propaganda,” 
and filled the term public diplomacy with benign meaning. But it is an old term. There 
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are many ways in which states have always engaged with foreign publics. The most 
important way of engaging with a foreign public, and the one that everyone forgets, is 
to listen to that foreign public. The one everybody thinks of first is advocacy—influ­
encing a foreign public through speeches, through all the ways in which we are used 
to governments addressing foreign publics. But also we have cultural diplomacy, we 
have exchange work and international broadcasting. Each of these is distinct. We can 
talk about the distinctions later on if you wish, but they come together in a range of 
practices which I think can be characterized as all properly civilian, overt, and over­
seas. Whenever we are doing one of these things in a way that is not civilian, is not 
overt, and is not overseas, we have a different term for it. But the boundaries, one of 
the problems with diplomacy in Vietnam is that the boundaries blur. I am feeling like in 
The Longest Day when everyone is trying to get their clickers to work. Successful pub­
lic diplomacy, I would argue, needs first of all, the right bureaucratic structure. Each 
element within public diplomacy needs to be preserved as distinct; it needs to have its 
own credibility. It needs a voice in policy making. It is not enough just to have the pub­
lic diplomacy element hauled in once you have decided on your policy. You have to be 
in on the takeoffs of policy, not just the crash landing. Historically public diplomacy is 
seen as an optional extra and is very much an underfunded element of statecraft. And it 
needs the right leadership. We know public diplomacy is at its most effective when the 
person in charge of it has some bureaucratic clout, not so that they can win all the time 
in the interagency discussion, but at least so they can hold their own. And you need the 
right policies. The best public diplomacy in the world cannot sell a bad policy, cannot 
make a bad policy good. The only way in which public diplomacy, I think, can help 
with a bad policy is by considering that policy early enough that the error of the policy 
can be pointed out with relationship to its likely impact on international public opinion. 
This all too seldom happens. 

So counterinsurgency, I think, takes place in sort of a parallel space. It is an ancient 
phenomenon as you all know well. It is hard to do well and very easy to do badly. I like 
to tell my students that there are no ballads of Prince John. The imagination always runs 
the other way with the insurgent. The counterinsurgency requires a minimum of force 
and the subordination of military objectives to the political. It requires a splitting of the 
enemy from its host population and therefore is often played out in terms of reputation, 
image, and frames, and a quest to capture the frame, to capture the political future of 
the area in which the insurgency is taking place. This means that public diplomacy is 
tied into and parallel to this whole process. It means that counterinsurgency overlaps 
with public diplomacy and public diplomacy overlaps with counterinsurgency. They 
come to be about the same thing, about who can engage most effectively with a foreign 
public. 

How was this done in Vietnam? I will now give you a little recap of the founda­
tions of the Vietnam era public diplomacy. The American tradition of public diplomacy 
is basically this: when we have a crisis we have to do something about it in terms of 
public diplomacy, but once that crisis is over, quick, let’s close it down because we do 
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not like to think of governments having a role in the media. This was the case with the 
American Revolution, Civil War, First World War—as soon as the crisis was over the 
public diplomacy element was demobilized. That was not the case in the Cold War. 
Because of the Soviet threat, the public diplomacy apparatus was maintained and fi­
nanced under the 1948 Smith-Mundt Act. But the floor within the structure of the Cold 
War is that public diplomacy has a limited role in the formation of policy. It is a junior 
partner in the interagency Psychological Strategy Board structure, and there is a very, 
very confused patent of agencies in Washington, DC. When Eisenhower comes in in 
1953 he tries to tidy up the structure creating what he would like to have been a one-
stop shop for all American information work. Overt information work had ceased. The 
United States Information Agency (USIA) winds up not being as tidy as Eisenhower 
would have liked, thanks to the intervention of Senator Fulbright. The floor in Ameri­
can public diplomacy at its creation is that there is no distinct public diplomacy role in 
the NSC (National Security Council), no mandated seat. The Director of USIA gets to 
sit in on NSC meetings at the invitation of the President and when presidents have other 
priorities, as was the case with Kennedy, Johnson, and thereafter, then increasingly the 
public diplomacy factor gets marginalized, gets pushed out. The interagency structure, 
maybe you spoke about this yesterday, is coordination by the Operations Coordinating 
Board. Was this spoken about yesterday? No, oh well. I talk about it a bit in my book 
and there are others that have written about it. But the major change that happens in 
this period is, I think, the Cold War comes to be seen as a zero-sum propaganda war 
with the Soviet Union in which the image of the United States becomes something that 
has to be protected. The credibility of the United States becomes something that has to 
be protected with military force, and of course, once you have made that decision, then 
force has to be placed on top of force in order to maintain that investment and to protect 
that investment credibility. The point I am making here is that image was an important 
part of America’s Cold War strategy but without being an important part of Cold War 
policy making. So there is a bit of a mismatch going on. 

When we get to Vietnam the issues play out like this: first phase of course, Eisen­
hower’s mission characterized most famously with Ed Lansdale’s CIA mission to help 
Ngo Dinh Diem in the aftermath of the Geneva Agreements. Now, there is an inter­
agency group. Lansdale tends to be ad hoc with USIA and American military advisors 
in Vietnam helping him in his work. His big campaign is to encourage North Vietnam­
ese people, especially Catholics, to migrate to the south and he called this campaign 
“The Virgin Mary Has Gone South.” This was part of a project to build an identity for 
South Vietnam. The problem is that the more American aid is seen as being responsible 
for helping Diem the less nationalist he seems. America actually begins to undercut 
the only person who can bring order to South Vietnam. But undeterred by this, USIA 
expands its network in Vietnam. During the course of the 1950s, we see the setting up 
of regional offices and more and more investment going into the country. Ironically, 
even though USIA is putting in all this investment, it cannot use its usual materials 
in Vietnam. Usually USIA would talk about the benefits of democracy and celebrate 
freedom and so forth, but they find that in Vietnam they cannot do that. So what they 
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are worried about is that the people will draw a contrast between the virtues of America 
and the realities of America’s client in South Vietnam. So they have to go very lightly 
in the content in South Vietnam. 

Here is a case study from that period. The USIA team wanted to undermine the 
credibility of the enemy and thought one way of doing this was by thinking up a de­
rogatory title that would undermine their credibility in front of their own population. 
So some bright spark in USIA came up with the name Viet Cong for the NVA (North 
Vietnamese Army). Army public affairs used it. Everybody got together to give this 
term currency. The problem is, of course, that the name emphasizes a national agenda, 
the Viet component. They would have been better off, as the British did in Malaya, 
dismissing the enemy as bandits or even calling them the Chi-Cong, undermining them 
as being Chinese. But every time the term Viet Cong was used, it played into the self-
conception of the enemy as being nationalists. In 1962, USIA offered a $50 prize for 
coming up with a better name; this is for locals, to come up with a better name than 
Viet Cong. That prize remains unclaimed so if anybody wants to have a go. . . . 

The second phase—Kennedy. Kennedy’s goal was very much to present a credible 
image of the United States counterbalancing the successes of communism in Cuba. 
Vietnam looks like a better place to demonstrate the potency of the American system, 
America’s ability to win a revolution than Laos. Because of this credibility goal of 
Kennedy’s presence in Vietnam, he needs press coverage and this puts the public af­
fairs element in Vietnam into the front line of the campaign. The point man at this time 
is the public affairs officer in Saigon, former Time magazine journalist John Mecklin. 
The operating doctrine is one of giving guidance to the American press and aiding the 
government of Vietnam in its psychological warfare effort. The problem is that Diem is 
keen to protect his sovereignty and resists management and resents the American press 
reporting of the situation in Vietnam. The United States feels that it ought to be able to 
take command of the situation, but cannot and you know the rest of the story, support 
for the coup in 1963, gambling on finding a substitute Vietnamese leader. 

But here is a case of how this situation played out, the case of the Invisible Ship. 
February 1962, the State Department issued a cable, 1006. This was the instruction to 
provide maximum feasible cooperation, guidance, and appeal to the good faith of cor­
respondents, particularly the American correspondents in Vietnam, so to try and draw 
the correspondents into the effort. The problem is that both USIA and the military press 
officers implemented this as a limit on what they could tell journalists and saw this as 
a mandate to guide in a particular direction. This led to the absurd situation in 1963 of 
the US mission refusing to acknowledge the presence of the aviation transport vessel, 
USS Core in the Saigon River. Everybody could see it there, but it was officially de­
nied, and it made the mission simply seem incredible. Both the press officers of MACV 
(Military Assistance Command, Vietnam) and the USIA press teams became part of the 
oppositional culture. The government people trying to spin the story of Vietnam and 
the journalists presented themselves as heroically connecting to the young officers in 
the American Army to get the real story out. 
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Next phase—Johnson. Now, Johnson has a clearer public diplomacy strategy and 
the information element in Vietnam settles down to this two-pronged attack—selling 
the government of Vietnam to its own people and trying to sell the war to the outside 
world. Now, Johnson decides that in order to give coherence to the information effort 
in Vietnam, you need a single information czar, and so in April of 1965 he creates the 
Joint United States Public Affairs Office (JUSPAO) in Vietnam. Here, Army Public 
Affairs is placed under civilian leadership. The vision of JUSPAO is that there will be 
one person in command. The differences in institutional culture, which were beginning 
to emerge between what journalists like Mecklin felt was proper and what the Army 
Public Affairs people thought was appropriate, could be eliminated just by having one 
voice in charge. Now, there were non-USIA personnel within JUSPAO. There were 
Army people filling JUSPAO positions, and also people coming in from the CIA (Cen­
tral Intelligence Agency), but the whole organization is given a civilian flavor. USIA is 
eager to take command of JUSPAO to build on its success leading psychological oper­
ations in the Dominican intervention in April of 1965. The real reason USIA is so eager 
to assert itself and take command in JUSPAO is not necessarily to do with the sense 
that the agency was best fitted to the task. It is a bureaucracy. What do bureaucracies 
want? They want more—they want more resources, they want more significance. The 
Director of USIA, Carl Rowan, was very keen to be relevant to President Johnson, and 
I think, was over-eager to commit USIA to the Vietnam War. Your access to the Presi­
dent at this time is really based on, “What are you doing in Vietnam?” The problem of 
USIA’s role in JUSPAO is that it compromises the civilian element of USIA work and 
you get USIA, a civilian agency, leading off on psychological warfare operations. The 
key figure in all this is Barry Zorthian, and I will give you a little bit of background on 
Barry Zorthian. He is an Armenian-American. He was a graduate of Yale and a Ma­
rine. He remained in the Marine Reserve. But his career had been at Voice of America 
where he was a campaigning program director who resisted McCarthy-ite purges and 
this gave him great credibility in his work with journalists in Vietnam. They really saw 
him as one of their own and respected him. He was able to negotiate a voluntary code 
with the journalists, a sort of self-censorship and then to sell this voluntary code to 
the Army. So Zorthian was sort of a go-between. He is able to open America’s effort 
in Vietnam to the press and work to seek out good news, particular campaigns he is 
involved in without playing up Viet Cong atrocity and promoting the State Department 
white papers that document the levels of North Vietnamese infiltration. The problem 
is that as Zorthian becomes so efficient he quite swiftly outstrips the ability of the 
Vietnamese to talk about their own war. And we run into this problem of American 
ventriloquism when the Vietnamese people themselves start to hear about their own 
war in American accents. 

Here is an example of where Zorthian broke down. While he is technically in con­
trol of the messages coming out of Saigon, there were still units in the field that felt 
that they knew how to appeal to the enemy, and this is a typical theme in a propaganda 
leaflet, what they call the nostalgia theme, trying to get the soldier to think of his girl 
friend at home. The only problem is this is what an American thinks the girl friend 
at home looks like. When a Vietnamese saw that picture they saw a prostitute. So 
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this leaflet was saying not, “Wouldn’t you rather be at home?” Instead it was saying, 
“Wouldn’t you rather be at war fighting these Americans who are turning our women 
into prostitutes?” So it was a counterproductive element in the campaign which shows 
the need to have some sort of authority, to have some sort of management structure 
with cultural knowledge. The government of Vietnam and some American military 
briefers resisted Zorthian’s authority and he is trying all the time to get them to say 
more, to get them to trust more, to open out the war as much as he can. And I think he 
makes considerable progress. 

Here is, however, one of the other cases where things go terribly wrong. March 
1965, Peter Arnett and the use of nonlethal gas in operations in South Vietnam. The 
Army declines to comment on the story and the Associated Press runs the story in its 
Tokyo bureau. The problem is this term: nonlethal gas. Probably if it had been a tear 
gas story it would have not attracted the attention it did, but the idea that the United 
States is involved in gas warfare in Vietnam causes outrage in the West. It becomes a 
major propaganda story in the East, and Zorthian argues that this is the classic example 
of the damage that can be done from an initial misstep, the initial mishandling of a 
story. If the Army had commented and had explained, “What on earth is Peter Arnett 
talking about? This is the sort of tear gas that has been used all over the world for many 
years. There is nothing sinister here.” But they did not get their voice into the story and 
so had no control over what happened next. 

The fourth phase is the next reorganization of the interagency element regarding 
public affairs and that is the creating of a greater structure. The first time they try it is 
1967 when William Porter is brought in. He was the Deputy Chief of Mission, given 
the rank of Deputy Ambassador and put in charge of an office of civilian operations. 
This is then reformed again to create the CORDS (Civil Operations Rural Development 
Support) bureaucracy. The objective here is to get interagency working for revolution­
ary development. But it disrupts that sort of perfect structure that Zorthian thought 
he had back in 1965. JUSPAO and the USIA elements are mixed in with USAID (US 
Agency for International Diplomacy), CIA, and the government of Vietnam. Porter 
and his successor trump the information czar in their approach to information. But this 
is the peak of the public diplomacy budget. A lot of the public diplomacy at this time 
was seeking to publicize what Johnson called “the other war,” the fact that the Ameri­
cans were building hospitals, were doing positive developmental projects for the Viet­
namese people. But of course, America’s behavior in Vietnam is the real message, and 
images of the extraordinary level of destruction in the Vietnam War and of the behavior 
of American troops in Vietnam on things like search and destroy missions started to 
become the real story and are much more potent than the official newsreel pictures of 
a new hospital being opened or kids being given typhoid shots. The blow of the Tet 
Offensive you know about and the counterinsurgency operations following Tet. The 
implementation of the Phoenix Program worked and yet they negate the original objec­
tive of the entire war which was for something to be seen to be done swiftly, easily and 
we become bogged down in something quite beyond what was originally intended. At 
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the moment of Tet, Zorthian leaves Vietnam, and he leaves with a profound sense of 
disillusionment in what he has been a part of. 

A case from this period would be the interagency effort around the Vietnamese 
election of 1967. JUSPAO and CORDS made the election a priority really to prove to 
the world that democracy was possible in Vietnam. They had special publications, spe­
cial films. The Vietnamese traditional theater troops—Van Tac Vu theater troops—did 
shows around the election, there were loudspeaker flights trying to get people out to 
vote, and special tours for journalists and jurists from around the world to come and 
inspect the quality of the elections. However, the campaign, both domestically and 
internationally, raised unreasonable expectations. There was corruption and some re­
criminations. The losing candidate ended up being jailed. I can see in the wake of the 
coming election the winning candidate might well wish to jail the losing candidate, but 
this is not the show piece of democracy. The problem is there is no viable government 
in Vietnam to be chosen by these elections. 

By the time Nixon is in power the game is withdrawal and managing the nega­
tives of the war. USIA’s leadership by this time is very wary of its connection to Viet­
nam. It sees its presence in Vietnam as a negative. The staff does not like going there, 
not unlike the problem we see today in Iraq. And USIA is also being shut out—even 
inside Vietnam—of important issues. Zorthian’s successor, Ed Nichol, is left out of 
the planning around the Cambodian operation. Senator Church introduces an amend­
ment to restrict American public diplomacy around the Vietnam War, forbidding the 
United States from actually conducting any propaganda in support of President Thieu. 
It is supposed to be to avoid assisting that element which seems very strange, in great 
contrast to what had been done earlier on. And USIA worked to essentially pull out of 
the Vietnam operation. By this time there were about 100 US Army personnel work­
ing within the JUSPAO structure. As their tours of duty came to an end, USIA merely 
did not notify the Army that those people needed to be replaced. And so they allowed 
JUSPAO to wind down until it was no more significant than any other USIA post. Out­
side of Vietnam, USIA merely stopped talking about the war. They found that if they 
wanted to reach and engage a foreign audience they talked about something else. They 
talked about blue jeans, John Wayne, recycling, anything other than the Vietnam War. 
The American troop withdrawal in 1973 closed this military-civil aspect of the Viet­
nam War and, interestingly from my perspective, ended the American image problems 
around the Vietnam War. Okay, some people around the world still say, “What about 
Vietnam? That was not any good for you people, was it?” But if you look at the polling 
data within just a few weeks of the withdrawal of American troops there is a big up-tick 
and you do not see a perpetuation of anti-American feeling based around Vietnam. In 
fact, the rebound happens very, very swiftly, surprisingly swiftly. 

A case from this period would be the Easter Offensive, the NVA attack on Easter 
of 1972, and of course, was successfully repelled. We see all the JUSPAO elements 
working very well together and connecting to Voice of America which extended its 
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Vietnamese service. JUSPAO used its network to post regular updates all around Viet­
nam so people could go to central places and see what was happening, read the results 
of the battles, and the particularly effective operation was the rapid turn around of the 
names of the captured POWs so these could be recorded and then broadcast immedi­
ately into North Vietnam where people were able to listen on little radios that had been 
pretuned to American frequencies and had been dropped coincidentally some months 
previously, but they were all still working. This was a terrifically effective campaign. 
And of course, no problem here with coordination of story because it is an obvious 
story, the defeat of the North Vietnamese Army. It is like the old saying “a rising tide 
lifts all boats.” A really good information campaign needs a good story and if the 
story is there everything works well. The problem is when you do not have the story. 
My analysis of what happened in Vietnam is that the wrong policies were followed, 
aid undermining Diem, the presence of the Americans negated the policy objective of 
shoring up and protecting South Vietnamese independence and the cure of the Ameri­
can intervention became worse than the disease. But of course, we also have the wrong 
tactics with the United States initially underplaying counterinsurgency tactics and the 
military becoming such a large part of the problem. And we see the wrong public 
diplomacy being used. The public diplomats in Vietnam tried to sell a different story 
to the world, but they were stuck with the message of America’s deeds and stifled the 
Vietnamese voices. 

I see that lessons were learned, but I think they were the wrong lessons. I think that 
the United States comes out of Vietnam fixating on domestic opinion, planning that 
its next war should be short with tightly managed domestic coverage and ignoring the 
role of local media images. There is a problem of the Vietnam War on TV, but here I 
am not talking about American TV, I am talking about the Vietnamese TV that the US 
Army installed in Vietnam. This is like the problem of that little flyer of the girl in a 
bikini, but writ large. America paid for TV sets to be put into Vietnamese villages to be 
watched communally. These were so popular in the villages that were controlled by the 
Viet Cong, they would come out of the jungle at night and sit around watching Batman 
and reruns of Combat! and other shows they really liked, but when it was the variety 
shows depicting Vietnamese society, what was showcased was the bastardization of 
Vietnamese culture. It played directly into their interpretation of what was happening 
in Vietnam. You could not conceal the impact of the Americans on Vietnamese society 
and cannot match the national claim made by Ho Chi Minh. 

My conclusion is that there is great danger at this juncture between images and ac­
tion and that an interagency process leaves more than just a pooled resource. It needs 
an internal consistency of word and deed to making sure that what you claim to be the 
objective of your policy is worked through in the course of your action. I think there 
is a big problem here of multiple audiences. Not only the multiple audience having to 
have information campaigns and public affairs work that played within Vietnam, but 
also the play to the world. There was no single world audience. Johnson became very 
frustrated that every time he bombed North Vietnam the Europeans would be very 
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upset with him, but the Asians would really be very supportive and think, “Yes, this is 
the way to go!” Then whenever he talked to the North Vietnamese the Asians would be 
very worried—the Philippines, South Korea. “What is President Johnson doing?” The 
Europeans would think, “This is great!” So he was caught in a juggling act with inter­
national opinion. You can see the parallels to present problems in Iraq and Afghanistan 
where we see lessons of counterinsurgency being successfully applied, but have to ask, 
“The lessons are being applied, but what is the end state? Is the political center viable? 
Are we winning a war or is there somebody there to win the war for?” I have already 
mentioned this lesson. Well, the opinion recovered quickly post-1973. However, the 
tragedy of the damage done in Vietnam and the damage internally within the United 
States lived on. I think in some ways, both Vietnam and the United States are still liv­
ing it. That is all I wanted to say. Thank you very much. 
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Panel 6—The Interagency Process in Asia
 
Question and Answers
 
(Transcript of Presentation)
 

Major Eric M. Nager, US Army
 
Nicolas J. Cull, Ph.D.
 

Moderated by Lieutenant Colonel Scott Farquhar, US Army
 

Audience Member 

Sir, you talked about the problems of multiple audiences. Given the error of instanta­
neous communication, whether it is video or YouTube or the Internet or text, how do 
we get the message that we need to craft for specific audiences that do not contradict 
or appear to be contradictory to different audiences? 

Dr. Cull 
The first thing you have to do is acknowledge that we now live in a different world 
where a message crafted for Kansas will be heard in Kandahar. I think we have now 
moved beyond the phase where a president will go out and say let’s have a crusade 
and then be surprised that there are Muslins listening who do not like that terminology. 
What I think we are seeing now in terms of public diplomacy is messages for Kandahar 
being crafted on the assumption that Kansas is listening in, and in a number of coun­
tries around the world public diplomacy has become a performance for domestic con­
sumption to give your domestic audience the prestige of the admiration of the world 
or minimize the absence of the prestige. The real reason the Chinese ran the Olympics 
was not to impress us. It was to impress their own population because it is their own 
population that might overthrow them. So much of what happened in the Bush admin­
istration was . . . take for example, Karen Hughes when she went overseas. She took 
the press with her on her listening tour, but she did not take the world’s press. She took 
the American press because she wanted to show that she was doing something to fix 
America’s image problem. I think the first thing we need to have is a public diplomacy 
that is actually based on engaging its target audience and is created with the courage to 
defy the four-year political cycle. Otherwise we will be stuck in a perpetual echo cham­
ber of domestic politics. There are some countries that are prepared to do that and are 
able to do that in other places where it is harder to do, but I think you put your finger 
on a really important issue. It stresses the need for information to be thought about in a 
new way. We do not have the luxury of the divisions of audience we had in the past. 
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Audience Member 

I have a question for Major Nager. You had mentioned that there is a need for greater 
allied involvement in humanitarian assistance, and I was wondering about the potential 
role of Japan for that kind of help? When the US is so stretched what potential is there 
for Japan to help out? 

MAJ Nager 
It is included in my paper, but I did not mention it today in the presentation. Japan 
substantially funded the INTERFET (International Force for East Timor) Exercise in 
East Timor. So even though they did not send troops, they gave a substantial financial 
contribution which they also did, of course, in DESERT STORM/SHIELD. So until 
they get their constitutional issues resolved where they feel more comfortable send­
ing soldiers overseas, to contribute economically through NGOs (nongovernmental 
organizations) may be the best way to contribute, but they did contribute financially 
in that case. 

Audience Member 
Is that the most we can really hope to expect in the near term? Funding is nice, but 
sometimes it is helpful to have other things. 

MAJ Nager 
I think we want greater involvement with troops and soldiers and I hope we will work 
in that direction. 

Audience Member 
I had a question about the seven components of future warfare. Could you expand on 
those a little bit? 

MAJ Nager 
The Australian lessons? 

Audience Member 
Yes. 

MAJ Nager 
All right. I could tell you the other ones. I was just drawing upon a couple that I thought 
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were most pertinent to this discussion. Some are them are just applying to Australia. 
They did not apply as directly to the United States. I can tell you what all seven of 
them are if you would like. They talked about command and control, intelligence, sur­
veillance and reconnaissance, tailored effects, force projection, force protection, force 
sustainment, and force generation. I will give those to you again afterwards if you are 
really interested. I only examined a couple of them as they pertained to extra-agency 
coordination which is my focus in this paper. But I would be happy to share those with 
you afterwards. 

Audience Member 
I was wondering if in your research prior to the Timor Exercise if any of the lessons 
learned from Bosnia had any impact on how they conducted that operation? 

MAJ Nager 
Not that I read in my research. I took this from an Australian standpoint first and how 
the US plugged into that, so in my research I did not come across anything specifically 
mentioning that. 

Audience Member 
My question is for Dr. Cull. Is there an Assistant Secretary for Public Diplomacy now 
in the State Department? 

Dr. Cull 
There is an Under-Secretary. What happened was in 1999 USIA was closed down and 
the public diplomacy elements were integrated into the Department of State. And in­
stead of the USIA Director, the lead person in public diplomacy is supposed to be the 
Under-Secretary of State for Public Diplomacy and Public Affairs. So that on paper is 
how it is supposed to work, but it has not been an ideal situation. There is also a Deputy 
Assistant Secretary of Defense for Support for Public Diplomacy who is Michael Du-
rant, a historian of the Middle East which reflects where they expect the public diplo­
macy might need to be supported. 

Audience Member 
I have not heard it brought up yet and this may be the appropriate time. I am curious 
about how language can be a barrier to the interagency process. I know since we are 
talking about public information, this may be the appropriate place to talk about that 
because it was a problem. 
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Dr. Cull 

I think it is an excellent point, and you see how language and institutional culture are 
both problems. 

Audience Member 
I thought it was interesting in the study that was done in the Washington Quarterly 
about allied nations to the United States that could take the lead in the coalition as of 
2002, and the only two listed were Australia and Great Britain where there was no lan­
guage barrier. They did not talk about language barrier in that article, but it is a factor 
as well. 

Dr. Cull 
We even find that within the UK forces that you can have a language barrier. They 
found at one of the landings in the Falklands that paratroopers would not get out of a 
landing craft because the Marines were being told “now” and if you want a paratrooper 
to move you say “go.” Nobody said “go” so they just stood there until they heard the 
right word to move a paratrooper. So it can even happen within a service. I think the 
way that we begin to address this is by using the same sort of public diplomacy tools 
to get nations to understand each other, using exchange of persons, particularly, and 
increasing mutual experience. It is a slow process, but I think you have hit on an im­
portant problem. 

Audience Member 
Having worked in the US Embassy one of the biggest challenges we found was the 
constraints that were put on the US Embassy personnel to speak on the record to the 
press corps. Contrary where in the military, of course, we have taken a total change 
now where the soldier down at the lowest level is authorized to speak to the press corps 
provided that they have permission. I just wanted to see from a historical context how 
is that affecting our ability to get the message out there in a consistent fashion when 
the military can speak on the record, but yet in a US Embassy there is only one person 
who is authorized to speak on the record and that is the Ambassador. 

Dr. Cull 
I think that is the least of the asymmetries, frankly, and the big problem is how much 
bigger the budget for military public diplomacy is than public diplomacy in the State 
Department. The State Department retains the title of leading public diplomacy and 
officially all the DOD can do is support public diplomacy, but we see such an asym­
metry. Something really has to be done about that, and I have been impressed by what 
Secretary Gates has said and done. I think he really understands the problem in a nu­
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anced way, but goodness knows what will happen in January. But that is always the 
way of things. I think you need to have control of the message and I can understand 
why the State Department has this restriction. One thing that they are trying to do is to 
make sure that talking points are made available in real time and according to the news 
cycles of the rest of the world so that American diplomatic personnel overseas are able 
to respond accurately and swiftly to issues being raised by the foreign media because 
for too long America has worked on a domestic news cycle and has ignored the fact 
that by the time America wakes up a story that was a rumor 12 hours ago is being re­
ported as fact. And American denials and American rebuttals come very late in the day. 
That is now starting to be addressed by the creation of regional hubs up in Doha, a hub 
in Brussels, and I believe there is talk about doing one even farther east, but I cannot 
remember where that is going to be. 
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Panel 7—Interagency Process in the United States
 
(Submitted Paper)
 

Cold War Interagency Relations and the Struggle 

to Coordinate Psychological Strategy
 

by
 

Robert T. Davis II, Ph.D.
 
US Army Combat Studies Institute
 

Introduction 

At the beginning of April 1951, in the midst of the Korean War, President Harry 
Truman issued an executive order establishing a Psychological Strategy Board “for 
the formulation and promulgation, as guidance to the departments and agencies re­
sponsible for psychological operations, of over-all national psychological objectives, 
policies, programs, and for the coordination and evaluation of the national psychologi­
cal effort.” The creation of the Psychological Strategy Board (PSB) was an attempt to 
solve years of interagency wrangling over the direction and scope of US information 
operations in the early Cold War.1  For two years the Psychological Strategy Board 
functioned as a planning and coordinating body, but ultimately the Eisenhower admin­
istration would find the PSB no more satisfactory than previous attempts at planning 
and coordination and dissolve the board in the summer of 1953. This paper will review 
the US government’s attempts during the Truman administration to find a solution to 
the problem of a coordinated information strategy in the context of interagency cooper­
ation, or its lack thereof.2  By way of introduction, a brief review the previous wartime 
attempts at information operations that developed in the United States, particularly the 
Creel Committee and the Office of War Information, is provided. 

Antecedents:
 
The Wartime Psychological Warfare Effort in World War I and World War II
 

During World War I, President Woodrow Wilson established what is regarded as 
America’s first official propaganda agency. This agency was the Committee on Public 
Information, but better known as the Creel Committee, since it was headed by journalist 
George Creel. The Creel Committee was nominally headed by a committee made up of 
Creel, Secretary of State Robert Lansing, Secretary of the Navy Josephus Daniels, and 
Secretary of War Newton Baker. This was meant to provide a modicum of interagency 
cooperation, but as a practical matter, Secretary of State Lansing chose to have little 
to do with the committee, and the secretaries of the two military services largely left 
Creel to his own devices. The Creel Committee had responsibility for both censorship 
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and propaganda production, but Creel himself tried to stress that he did not perceive 
his roll as censor-in-chief. Though the Creel Committee did have both domestic and 
foreign divisions, the vast bulk of its resources and energy during the war were devoted 
to maintaining domestic support for the war effort.3 When the war ended in November 
1918, Congress moved quickly to dissolve the committee. Revelations in the interwar 
period about the nature or the wartime propaganda effort, not least by Creel’s own 
book How We Advertised America (1920), as well as the activities of the Communist 
International and the European fascists governments did a good deal to generate hostil­
ity in the United States to the notion of government-sponsored propaganda. 

As the world moved toward war in the later 1930s, American concern about again 
being drawn into a conflict, including potentially by allied propaganda, contributed 
to the limitations under which President Franklin Roosevelt operated. Roosevelt, for 
all his desire to convince the American populace of the need for preparedness and 
his own views on supporting Britain and France, proved cautious about replicating 
the perceived excesses of the government propaganda effort in World War I.4 And 
as a former Assistant Secretary of the Navy during the Wilson administration, he was 
well familiar with the activities of the Creel Committee. President Roosevelt’s own 
approach to presidential leadership further complicated matters. He had a penchant 
for fostering bureaucratic rivalries to preserve presidential prerogatives.5  In keeping 
with this practice, Roosevelt authorized the creation of a number of different agen­
cies tasked with information activities in the two years before American entry into the 
war. These included the creation of an Office of Government Reports (est. September 
1939), a Division of Information of the Office of Emergency Management (est. March 
1941), an Office of Coordinator of Information (est. July 1941), a subsidiary Foreign 
Information Service (est. August 1941), and an Office of Facts and Figures (est. Octo­
ber 1941).6 The growing need to counter German propaganda aimed at Latin America 
in the summer of 1940 occasioned the appointment of Nelson Rockefeller as the Co­
ordinator of Inter-American Affairs in August 1940. Rockefeller’s brief gave him wide 
latitude in the direction of US information operations within the region.7 This confus­
ing profusion of agencies remained in place until the exigencies of wartime prodded 
Roosevelt to consider a more centralized public information effort.8 

Once the United States had entered the war, Roosevelt was pressed by advisors to 
create a more orderly arrangement of US information activities. Nonetheless, President 
Roosevelt refrained from duplicating the Committee on Public Information, essentially 
opting to split its functions between two new organizations, an Office of Censorship 
and an Office of War Information (OWI).9  In addition, in June 1942 he expanded the 
writ of William “Wild Bill” Donovan’s Office of Coordinator of Information (OCI) 
into the new Office of Strategic Services (OSS), although the Foreign Information Ser­
vice, formerly part of OCI, was transferred to the Office of War Information. Of these 
three, both the Office of War Information and the Office of Strategic Services played 
a role in the production of wartime propaganda (psychological warfare, or what we 
would now refer to as strategic communications) for foreign dissemination. Continu­
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ing friction over responsibilities led President Roosevelt to issue further clarification 
on responsibilities in March 1943. These instructions stated that the Office of War 
Information was responsible to “plan, develop, and execute all phases of the federal 
program of radio, press, publication, and related foreign propaganda activities involv­
ing the dissemination of information.” When these programs were to take place in 
areas of current or projected military operations, they were to be “coordinated with 
military plans through the planning agencies of the War and Navy Departments, and 
shall be subject to the approval of the Joint Chiefs of Staff.” Reflecting traditional 
military views of command responsibility in wartime, the directive also stated that, 
“parts of the foreign propaganda program which are to be executed in a theater of 
military operations will be subject to the control of the theater commander.” Finally, 
the authority and functions of the Office of War Information were not to compete with 
Nelson Rockefeller’s bailiwick in Latin America.10 Appraising the actual contribution 
of OWI and OSS to the war effort is a very difficult proposition.11  In any case, in the 
waning months of World War II, many of the psychological warfare and information 
operations capabilities (what we would now refer to as strategic communications) that 
the United States government had developed during the war were wound down. In 
commenting on the need to study psychological warfare at the end of the war, General 
George S. Patton well reflected the ambiguous position of many regarding psychologi­
cal warfare when he stated, “Such a study must be made. Psychological warfare had an 
important place in the European campaign. It can accomplish much good. It can also 
be extremely harmful.”12 

With the approach of war’s end, the Office of Censorship, the Office of War Infor­
mation, and the Office of Strategic Services would all be shut down. In the case of the 
Office of Censorship, Director Byron Price had long advocated that censorship be cur­
tailed as soon as the threat to national security decreased. He proposed that the Office 
of Censorship be closed as soon as fighting ended. Price’s views were endorsed by the 
Censorship Policy Board as early as 20 November 1943. After the defeat of Germany, 
Price cancelled program restrictions on the radio code. He subsequently won President 
Truman’s endorsement to declare the end of censorship on the same day that victory 
over Japan was announced. The work of the Office of Censorship formally ended on 
15 August 1945. Byron Price’s plan for a voluntary censorship code was generally 
perceived to have worked admirably well. The editors of the trade journal Editor & 
Publisher stated, “We have never heard anyone in the newspaper business contradict 
the statement that Byron Price conducted the Office of Censorship in a competent, 
careful and wholly patriotic manner.”13 

While there had probably never been any question of the Office of Censorship 
continuing its activities in peacetime, a reasonable case could be made for the retention 
of the Office of War Information. Unlike the Creel Committee, which had focused the 
great majority of its propaganda output toward domestic support for President Wilson’s 
policies, from 1944 on, 90 percent of OWI’s budget was geared toward international 
propaganda activities.14 At the end of August, President Truman signed an executive 
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order that transferred the foreign information functions of the Office of War Informa­
tion and the Office of Inter-American Affairs to an Interim International Information 
Service established within the Department of State. Under this order, the remaining 
functions of the Office of War Information were to cease on 15 September 1945. As of 
31 December 1945, both the Office of War Information and the Interim International 
Information Service were abolished.15 The War Department retained its Public Rela­
tions Bureau, the function of which was increasingly geared toward defending Army 
appropriations during the massive postwar demobilization. The dawning of the Cold 
War, however, would soon revive the interest of the US government in pursuing a more 
aggressive approach to public affairs, public diplomacy, and psychological warfare. 
Difficult questions about where responsibility for these functions should be vested 
hampered to implement this program for the next several years. 

Postwar Psychological Warfare Planning and the SWNCC 

In early 1946 a number of events contributed to a hardening of US attitudes regard­
ing the Soviet Union.16  Soviet activities in Romania, Bulgaria, northern Iran, and pres­
sure on Turkey all suggested little willingness on the part of the Soviets to work within 
the framework of the United Nations. A toughly worded speech by Joseph Stalin to the 
Soviet people on 9 February that warned of the impending final crisis of the capitalist 
world and called for the Soviet people to be prepared for conflict seemed to some in 
the West as a warning of more aggressive Soviet intentions.17  On 22 February 1946, 
George Kennan cabled his famous “long telegram” from the US Embassy in Moscow 
which helped to crystallize the attitudes of many in the US government about the need 
for a firm response to the expansionist impulse in Soviet foreign policy. In March 
1946, the Truman administration dispatched the USS Missouri to Turkey, ostensibly to 
return the body of the recently deceased Turkish ambassador, but also to send a clear 
message to the Soviets that the United States could not look with indifference upon 
Soviet attempts to pressure Turkey. On 5 March, Winston Churchill, former and future 
Prime Minister of Great Britain, delivered his “Iron Curtain” speech at Fulton, Mis­
souri. One of the chief advocates in the Truman administration of a firmer US position 
toward the Soviets was Secretary of the Navy James Forrestal (later the first Secretary 
of Defense). Forrestal had been much impressed by Kennan’s telegram. Shortly after 
Churchill’s speech, Forrestal wrote in his diary that the United States needed a program 
“to inform the country of the facts, of the complete impossibility of gaining access to 
the minds of the Russian people, of piercing the curtain of censorship which is drawn 
over every area they occupy.” Though Forrestal thought such a program desirable, he 
also realized that initiating such a program without infringing on the State Depart­
ment’s own responsibilities would be difficult.18  It would indeed prove difficult in to 
reach an accommodation between the Department of State and the nation’s military 
authorities on direction of US information operations for years thereafter. 

In 1946, members of the US government were working to find solutions to a num­
ber of problems in the international arena while the nation was still coming to grips 
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with its new world role. Part and parcel with this shift toward wider responsibility was 
a wide-ranging discussion over the best means of determining and directing US foreign 
and security policy. Any discussion of the struggle to coordinate foreign information 
operations in the early Cold War must keep this broader context in mind.19  Since late 
in World War II, the primary means of coordinating policy between the State, War, and 
Navy Departments was a series of semiregular meetings held by the three secretaries 
and interdepartmental meetings of their three principal deputies who met at the State­
Navy-War Coordinating Committee (SWNCC).20  In early March 1946, Secretary of 
War Robert Patterson approached Secretary of the Navy James Forrestal about the 
need for bringing together qualified military and civilian experts to assess the util­
ity of psychological warfare in World War II.21 Then, at the end of May 1946, the 
Assistant Secretary of the Navy for Air, John L. Sullivan, sent a memorandum to the 
State-War-Navy Coordinating Committee that suggested the formation of an ad hoc 
committee under the SWNCC “to study and report on the future status of psychologi­
cal warfare.” He recommended that the committee study psychological warfare with 
an eye toward developing a peacetime organization that would be prepared for rapid 
mobilization in wartime and suggest a suitable wartime organization. Ideally, these 
organizational arrangements would prevent the trial-and-error effort which had charac­
terized the implementation of psychological warfare in World War II.22 The Assistant 
Secretary’s suggestion was approved by the committee shortly thereafter, and an ad 
hoc committee formed to study the US government’s psychological warfare organiza­
tion. This ad hoc committee reported its findings in early December. Its assessment 
was that “psychological warfare is an essential factor in the achievement of national 
aims and military objectives” whether in time of war or threat of war (the latter to be 
determined at the President’s discretion). At the time, the SWNCC confirmed that the 
State Department had the primary interest in determination of psychological warfare 
policy because of its impact on the nation’s foreign policy. To improve intergovern­
mental coordination, the ad hoc committee advocated that a standing Subcommittee 
on Psychological Warfare should be established under the SWNCC. It was to be com­
posed of two members each from the State Department and the Central Intelligence 
Group, and one each from the War and Navy Departments.23 

While the State-Navy-War Coordinating Committee continued to discuss the ques­
tion of planning for psychological warfare during late 1946 and into 1947, develop­
ments in the broader Cold War and questions of the establishment of a more formal 
US national security apparatus occupied center stage. It proved difficult to formalize 
mechanisms for policy coordination of psychological warfare—or anything else for 
that matter—while the debate on military unification (and, ultimately, the creation of a 
national security council) was under way. However, international affairs continued to 
press government officials to better marshal US information operation capabilities in 
the service of government policy. On 12 March 1947, Truman addressed Congress to 
request aid for Greece and Turkey. The address, which has subsequently been known 
as the Truman Doctrine, signaled a clear shift in US policy toward the Soviet Union. 
In June, Congress agreed upon the legislation that became the National Security Act. 
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The National Security Act (NSA) was meant to help formalize the structure of inter­
agency cooperation, though in practice problems continued to plague US interagency 
relations for many years. The NSA authorized the creation of the new Cabinet position 
of Secretary of Defense to head a nascent National Military Establishment, established 
an independent Air Force (within the National Military Establishment), established the 
Central Intelligence Agency (adding a new bureaucratic competitor to the psychologi­
cal warfare debate), and established a National Security Council to advise the Presi­
dent. The National Security Act was passed at the end of June, and its provisions went 
into effect in mid-September 1947. 

President Truman attended the first meeting of the National Security Council on 26 
September, but was only a sporadic attendee of its meetings prior to the outbreak of the 
Korean War.24 Truman initially kept the NSC at a distance, at least in part because he 
did not want his participation in its deliberations to make it seem that he was bound by 
its decisions. In his stead, the meetings were generally chaired by the Secretary of State 
(George Marshall until January 1949, and Dean Acheson thereafter). The first meeting 
of the National Security Council was primarily an organizational meeting to discuss 
the policies and procedures of the NSC, as well as discussing the initial directive to 
the CIA. It would be over six weeks before the next meeting of the NSC convened. 
Given this lack of clear-cut presidential participation in the NSC’s deliberations, its 
initial role in the policy coordination process was somewhat limited. In the interim 
between the first and second meetings of the NSC, the State-Army-Navy-Air Force 
Coordinating Committee (SANACC, as the SWNCC had been reconstituted following 
the establishment of the Air Force as a separate service) decided there was an urgent 
need to create an ad hoc committee to investigate whether the United States should 
“at the present time utilize coordinated psychological measures in furtherance of the 
attainment of its national objectives.”25  Interestingly, a draft memorandum prepared 
by Forrestal’s staff for consideration by the SANACC anticipated the form that the 
Psychological Strategy Board would subsequently take.26  Nonetheless, in early No­
vember, the newly created War Council (another product of the National Security Act, 
made up of the Secretary of Defense, the three service secretaries, and the three chiefs 
of the military services) reached agreement that SANACC 304/10 (the 304 series of 
documents pertained to psychological warfare) should be revised to delete any refer­
ence to a domestic information program; “fix responsibility for the general direction 
and coordination of both black and white activities in the State Department”; and have 
the State Department carrying out white activities and the CIA the black activities. The 
War Council explicitly rejected the proposal of creating any new board or committee 
to supervise and coordinate the psychological warfare activities.27 

At the second meeting of the NSC on 14 November, the Council took under con­
sideration SANACC 304/11, the revised paper on Psychological Warfare.28 The study 
stated that the Secretary of State would be charged with the general responsibility for 
the coordination of psychological measures. The SANACC members wrote that they 
presumed the Secretary of State would delegate these responsibilities to the Assistant 
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Secretary of State for Public Affairs, who in turn would be assisted by representatives 
from the Army, Navy, Air Force, and Central Intelligence Agency. Secretary of the 
Army Kenneth Royall, speaking on behalf of himself and Secretaries Forrestal and 
Symington, stated that the National Military Establishment “did not believe it should 
have a part in these activities.” In the course of discussion, Secretary of State George 
C. Marshall expressed his concern about referring to information activities as psycho­
logical warfare. The Department of State was concerned that operational control over 
covert psychological activities ran the risk, should it become public knowledge, of 
undermining or outright discrediting US foreign policy.29 As a result of this discus­
sion, two separate streams of directives on information operations were developed, 
one which delineated State Department responsibilities, the other, Central Intelligence 
Agency responsibilities. The NSC approved the first two directives (NSC 4 and NSC 
4-A) at its meeting on 17 December 1947. NSC 4, “Coordination of Foreign Informa­
tion Measures,” charged the Secretary of State with responsibility for policy formula­
tion and “coordinating the implementation of all information measures designed to 
influence attitudes in foreign countries in a direction favorable to the attainment of US 
objectives and to counteract the effects of anti-US propaganda.”30  NSC 4-A, “Psy­
chological Operations,” authorized the Director of Central Intelligence “to initiate and 
conduct, within the limits of available funds, covert psychological operations designed 
to counteract Soviet and Soviet-inspired activities.”31 The State Department’s leading 
role in overt information programs abroad was further solidified with the passage of 
Public Law 402, The United State Informational and Educational Exchange Act of 
1948 (better known as the Smith-Mundt Act), signed into law by President Truman on 
27 January 1948.32 

The Communist coup in Czechoslovakia in late February 1948 energized Western 
officials, leading to a number of important Cold War initiatives.33 In this vein, Secretary 
of Defense Forrestal requested in late March that the NSC review the progress that had 
been made since the NSC 4 documents had been approved because the international 
situation made it “more important than ever that our foreign information activities be 
effectively developed.”34 The Joint Chiefs of Staff now supported the creation of a 
separate Psychological Warfare Agency which would operate directly under the NSC.35 

State Department remained resistant to losing any authority in this regard in peace­
time. For the next three years, the State Department successfully deflected attempts to 
alter the system established by the NSC 4 series.36  Indeed, in March 1950, President 
Truman approved NSC 59/1, “The Foreign Information Program and Psychological 
Warfare Planning,” which reiterated and extended State Department’s authority in the 
field of information operations.37  Superseding the NSC 4 series and NSC 43, NSC 
59/1 stated that the Secretary of State was responsible for the “formulation of policies 
and plans for a national foreign information program” not only in time of peace, as had 
formerly been the case, but also in times of national emergency and in the initial stages 
of war.38 To carry out these planning and coordinating responsibilities, the Secretary of 
State, in consultation with the other departments and agencies represented in the NSC, 
was authorized to name a director of a new organization within the State Department. 
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This office was initially known as the Interdepartmental Foreign Information Orga­
nization. The director, along with a board of consultants representing State, Defense, 
CIA, the JCS, and the National Security Resources Board, and a staff drawn from 
State, Defense, and CIA, was charged with the policy formulation and planning func­
tions delineated in NSC 59/1.39  Complementing this latest reorganization, President 
Truman inaugurated a “great campaign of truth” in an address to the American Society 
of Newspaper Editors, with the aim of launching a public diplomacy campaign against 
Soviet propaganda.40 This campaign was just getting underway when the Korean War 
began. The stress of coping with a difficult wartime situation would soon call the ap­
propriateness of the NSC 59/1 arrangement into question. 

When the Korean War broke out, the State Department initially retained author­
ity for the conduct of the foreign information program. Acting under the provisions 
of NSC 59/1, the State Department announced the establishment of a National Psy­
chological Strategy Board on 17 August, though in practice this Board was simply a 
renamed Interdepartmental Foreign Information Organization.41 This version of the 
National Psychological Strategy Board remained under the direction of the Secretary 
of State. Since mid-July, however, a new arrangement had been under discussion. Pur­
suant of provisions of NSC 59/1, a draft “Plan for National Psychological Warfare” 
under the imprimatur of Under Secretary of State James Webb had been submitted for 
the NSC’s consideration on 10 July, and subsequently circulated as NSC 74.42  NSC 74, 
which was by and large written before the outbreak of the Korean War, recognized that 
after the initial stages of any war, the US government would move to establish a na­
tional psychological warfare organization of independent status, with direct access to 
the president, and “the authority to issue policy directives to departments and agencies 
of the government executing psychological warfare measures.”43 As had been the case 
in all previous incarnations of a coordinating and planning authority for psychological 
warfare, the draft of NSC 74 called for a directing board with members from the agen­
cies which had been drawn from throughout the period since 1946–47. 

In one of the more interesting critiques of the status quo approach to organization 
presented in NSC 74, a letter to the NSC Secretariat submitted under the signature of 
Secretary of Defense Louis Johnson (Johnson had replaced Forrestal in March 1949) 
argued that, “effective psychological warfare requires perspective over and beyond 
that available to individuals who must consciously or subconsciously reflect the ac­
tions and policies, past and present, of the operating organizations which they rep­
resent.” He went on to argue that, “with rare exceptions, they do not have the broad, 
almost intuitive knowledge acquired in varied walks of life which go into the make-up 
of outstanding experts who have become leaders in their fields by practical applica­
tion of mass civilian psychology techniques.” For Johnson, the only way to avoid the 
narrow, departmentally focused mindsets which had characterized previous attempts 
at psychological warfare coordination was to create a board in which the majority of 
its members were drawn from outside of government. Finally, Johnson suggested—re­
flecting a long-standing strain of Department of Defense opinion—that rather than 
simply having “official access” to the President, the Board should be lodged directly 
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within the Executive Office of the President.44  Interesting though these ideas were, by 
the time they had been submitted to the NSC, they carried little weight. Secretary John­
son had—for a variety of other reasons—already been forced to resign by President 
Truman.45  In his stead, President Truman would recall George C. Marshall to duty. 

After the Inchon landings (15 September) and prior to Chinese intervention in the 
Korean War (late November), when General Douglas MacArthur’s pledge of “Home 
by Christmas” pledge still seemed realistic, the perception that the fighting in Korea 
would be relatively brief contributed to a sense that there was little urgency to develop 
the psychological warfare program.46  Following Chinese intervention, a much gloom­
ier view of the war emerged, which soon prompted Washington to become more inter­
ested in the problem of information management in wartime. In order to assert closer 
control over pronouncements by “officials in the field as well as those in Washington,” 
President Truman issued a memorandum on 5 December requiring all speeches, pub­
lic statements, and press releases on foreign and military policy to be cleared by the 
State Department and Defense Department, respectively.47  However, this was largely 
a negative policy that did little to address how the US could better craft an information 
campaign in the context of a Cold War turned hot. 

On 16 December 1950, President Truman signed a declaration of limited national 
emergency. As he had previously explained to key legislative leaders, he intended that 
this declaration “would have very great psychological effects on the American peo­
ple.”48  It also helped signal to government officials “the intensity of the current crisis 
demanded sweeping new initiatives.”49 The State Department and Defense Depart­
ment had, however, made little progress toward closing the gap between their respec­
tive views regarding the appropriate wartime organization of a national psychological 
organization.50  Even after the Psychological Strategy Board was established, this dif­
ficulty was never fully resolved.51 

When the NSC took up discussion of the national psychological effort at its meet­
ing on 4 January 1951, President Truman, probably frustrated with the lack of compro­
mise between the respective agencies, directed Sidney Souers, the Executive Secretary 
of the NSC, and the Bureau of Budget to study the matter and make a recommendation 
for the organization to him.52  By 18 January, Souers had produced a “Draft Direc­
tive on the National Psychological Effort” which he proceeded to discuss with State, 
Defense, and CIA officials. Not surprisingly, Souers compromised between the State 
and Defense Departments by placing his proposed Psychological Strategy Board under 
none other than the National Security Council (rather than the “independent status” 
which the State Department had envisioned or directly in the Executive Office of the 
President, which was favored by the Defense Department). Despite initially strenuous 
State Department objections, the Psychological Strategy Board would be established 
broadly within the lines advocated by Souers’ compromise.53 

President Harry Truman issued a directive establishing a Psychological Strategy 
Board (PSB) on 4 April 1951. The PSB was to serve as a planning, coordinating, and 
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evaluating agency, but it was not to carry out any operations itself. It would take sever­
al months to secure a director, staff, and offices. The PSB was comprised of the Under 
Secretary of State, the Deputy Secretary of Defense, and the Director of Central Intelli­
gence, a military adviser from the JCS, appropriate representatives from other govern­
ment departments and agencies as determined by the Board, and a Director (designated 
by the President), who served under the Board and directed the activities of its staff.54 

The PSB’s staff was organized into three offices: the Office of Plans and Policy, the 
Office of Coordination, and the Office of Evaluation and Review. One of the first sub­
jects taken up by the PSB staff was contingency planning for a potential armistice in 
the Korean War. Should armistice negotiations break down, it was considered impor­
tant that the fault be attributed to the communist participants. Subsequently, the PSB 
staff also tried to make an inventory of the US governments “weapons” for conducting 
psychological operations, and found itself caught up in the long-running wrangle over 
what should be the national psychological plan for general war.55  Constraints of time 
and space prevent a detailed discussion of the efforts made by the Psychological Strat­
egy Board to carry out its mandate, but this author hopes that the interested reader will 
consult the impressive literature on the subject which has emerged in recent years.56 

Eisenhower and Psychological Warfare 

Once he was elected president, Eisenhower would make the formation of a co­
ordinated national psychological effort one of his key objectives. Back in February 
1949, then General Eisenhower foreshadowed his own later views on the Psychologi­
cal Strategy Board during a NSC discussion of planning for overt psychological war­
fare operations in peacetime. The summary of the discussion records that Eisenhower 
“agreed that the Department of State was the proper organization to plan [in peace­
time],” but in a wartime situation the NSC itself, “which he saw as a defense cabi­
net during time of war, could effectively direct psychological warfare.”57  During his 
campaign for the presidency, Dwight D. Eisenhower frequently invoked the need for 
psychological warfare as the key component of the Cold War struggle with the Soviets. 
In a speech in San Francisco in early October 1952, Eisenhower said that in order to 
avoid the horror of war, it was necessary for the United States government to “use all 
means short of war to lead men to believe in the values that will preserve peace and 
freedom.” For Eisenhower the end goal was to convince the people of the world that 
“Americans want a world at peace, a world in which all people shall have opportunity 
for maximum individual development.” One of the key means of spreading this truth, 
for Eisenhower, was through psychological warfare, which Eisenhower defined as “the 
struggle for the minds and wills of men.” He charged the Truman administration had 
“never been able to grasp the full import of a psychological import put forth on a 
national scale.” Eisenhower argued that the United States needed a “united and coher­
ent” Cold War effort in which every department and agency of the government would 
participate. In order to help coordinate this effort, Eisenhower championed the ap­
pointment of a “man of exceptional qualifications to handle the national psychological 
effort” who would have direct access to the President. For Eisenhower, it was critical 
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to the success of such an effort would be the realization that, as a nation, “everything 
we say, everything we do, and everything we fail to do will have its impact in other 
lands”58 What role the Psychological Strategy Board would play was uncertain, given 
President-elect Eisenhower’s interest in reinvigorating the planning and coordinating 
role of the National Security Council. 

The future of the PSB was further clouded when, after his election, Eisenhower 
appointed C.D. Jackson, a wartime associate at Supreme Headquarters Allied Expe­
ditionary Force (SHAEF) who had experience in psychological warfare planning, to 
the post of Special Assistant to the President for Cold War Planning.59  In addition, 
Eisenhower formed a committee to investigate the foreign information activities of the 
US government with an eye toward improving their utility and coordination. President 
Eisenhower announced the formation of the President’s Committee on International 
Information Activities (better known as the Jackson Committee) on 26 January 1953. 60 

The Jackson Committee’s report was submitted to the President by the end of June, and 
discussed by the NSC during July and August.61 The committee members concluded 
that despite the numerous attempts at improving the policy coordination process in 
previous years that “a serious gap [existed] between the formulation of general objec­
tives and the detailed actions required to give effect to them.” According to the Com­
mittee, the PSB had “neither sufficient power to exercise effective coordination nor the 
techniques adequate to produce meaningful evaluations.” Furthermore, the committee 
considered it inappropriate to attempt to hive off “psychological” planning from wider 
national policy, in which every diplomatic, military, or economic action had “psy­
chological” implications.62  Having identified these failings, the Jackson Committee 
recommended the PSB be abolished, and it be replaced by a new body “capable of 
assuring the coordinated execution of national security policies.” This resulted in yet 
another organizational shuffle in the ensuing months. 

On 2 September 1953, President Eisenhower issued Executive Order 10483 estab­
lishing the Operations Coordinating Board (OCB) in order to coordinate and ensure 
the carrying out of national security policy. As a result of this directive, the Psychologi­
cal Strategy Board was to be abolished within 60 days, and its functions transferred 
to the OCB. The Operations Coordinating Board reported to the National Security 
Council. The OCB was composed of the Under Secretary of State, the Deputy Secre­
tary of Defense, the Director of the Foreign Operations Administration (abolished in 
August 1954), the Director of Central Intelligence, and a designated representative of 
the President. Thus, its compositions closely mirrored that of the earlier Psychological 
Strategy Board, though its writ was intentionally broader. Whether the OCB was any 
more successful than its predecessor is a matter of debate. 

Conclusion 

The Psychological Strategy Board represented an attempt to find a bureaucratic/ 
interagency solution to the coordination of America’s efforts to more successfully 
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wage Cold War. Mirroring the conclusions of the Jackson Committee, recent historical 
scholarship has taken a rather critical view of the PSB. According to Walter Hixson, 
“the PSB produced reams of studies, but failed to marshal the national security bureau­
cracy behind a coordinated effort.”63  In her recent study, Sarah-Jane Corke has argued 
that, “The bureaucratic machinery put in place between 1947 and 1952 had the unin­
tended consequence of further removing the planning, development and implementa­
tion of covert operations from broader questions of national policy.” She regarded this 
as particularly problematic because it “ensured that American psychological warriors 
had an unprecedented degree of autonomy” which meant that they did not always act 
in accord with the wider American national interests.64 Though it is beyond the scope 
of this brief overview to assess the PSB’s failure to affect broad-ranging interagency 
cooperation, this author presents the following modest observation. The PSB was es­
tablished in a period when the United States government had just begun to address the 
question of what is national security policy, and was doing so after 1950 in the context 
of a challenging war in East Asia. The emergence of national security policy, as op­
posed to foreign policy, posed a challenge to the traditional purview of the Department 
of State. That bureaucratic infighting remained unresolved even after numerous at­
tempts had been made to improve the planning, coordination, and execution of policy 
may be unfortunate, but it is hardly surprising. The failure of the PSB might not lie 
in its bureaucratic structure, but rather in the limits of what can be attained by any at­
tempt to better coordinate information policies or psychological strategy. There is also 
a legitimate question as to what can be construed under the umbrella of “all means 
short of war.” Finally, later day attempts at information management, whether in the 
Eisenhower administration, during the Vietnam War, or the modern day campaigns in 
Southwest Asia, have all demonstrated that the PSB’s limitations were certainly not 
unique.65 
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Scholars and members of the general public alike often display a warped view of 
the United States Army’s relation to American Indian tribes. This view emphasizes 
violent conflict rather than the implementation of national policy. The problem has 
existed for more than a century, at least since Frederic Remington picked the most 
dramatic incidents in his own and other authors’ articles to serve as subjects for illus­
trations. A generation ago, Robert M. Utley’s two classic histories of the Army in the 
American West appeared, each with the phrase, The United States Army and the Indian 
in the title. Today, the University of Nebraska Press paperback editions of Frontiers­
men in Blue and Frontier Regulars contain only the briefest hints that both books first 
appeared as part of Macmillan’s Wars of the United States series, commissioned in the 
early 1960s—a commission that defined the scope of the author’s investigation and 
necessarily excluded a mountain of documentation about “the Army and the Indian” 
that would take several historians’ lifetimes to work through.1 

This focus on conflict has led to some very odd assertions finding their way into 
print. One historian has observed casually: “Not surprisingly, many soldiers were de­
voted Indian-haters; relatively few were concerned with Indians’ rights or their gov­
ernment’s guarantees of protection to Indians under federal treaties.” Another relates 
that after General William T. Sherman’s narrow escape from an ambush in 1871, he 
“abandoned the [Grant administration’s] Peace Policy and Sheridan, as commander 
of the Division of the Missouri, was responsible for all military matters in the mil-
lion-square-mile expanse of the Indian insurrection.” An architectural historian writing 
about 19th century Army posts in Wyoming seems to separate the Army from the Fed­
eral government entirely: “The nature of the army’s conflict with the Indians changed 
as the army’s goal shifted from protecting emigration to facilitating the process of 
settlement. US government relations with the Indians changed as well. . . .” The Army 
has a “conflict”—the US government maintains “relations.”2 

The viewpoint that these and many other authors share might be called the Fal­
lacy of Army Autonomy. One would like to see all of them enrolled in an introduc­
tory course in American politics, to learn about the three branches of government and, 
subordinate to the executive, the cabinet departments, for it was within this framework 
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that the 19th century Army operated. Like any other agency of the Federal government, 
the Army followed policies decided at a higher level and depended for its budget on 
funds appropriated from year to year by the legislative branch. 

The Army itself is not altogether blameless in this matter. The 1956 edition of 
American Military History (ROTCM 145-20), the military history text used in Army 
ROTC courses, did not get around to mentioning the administration of Indian affairs 
until the chapter that discussed post-1865 events. Then, it did so in tones that suggest 
the screenplay for one of John Ford’s Cavalry Trilogy films: 

In 1849 the administration of Indian affairs had been taken away from the War Depart­
ment and entrusted to the Department of the Interior, whose agents either were inex­
perienced in the administration of Indian affairs or deliberately cheated their charges. 
Even under conditions of hostility, these agents furnished Indians with the latest mod­
els of repeating rifles and plenty of ammunition, either because it was fi nancially prof­
itable to do so or because they naively believed that the Indians wanted their weapons 
only to kill buffalo. 

Since this textbook concerned itself only with the Army, it did not mention that before 
1849, the Commissioner of Indian Affairs reported to the Secretary of War; or, indeed, 
that administrators of Indian affairs had reported to the Secretary of War since Wash­
ington’s first term as President. Having noted the 1849 transfer, the authors imply that 
all Indians are plains buffalo hunters.3 

The text of the 1969 edition underwent some revision. Gone were the malevolent 
or naive civilian agents. Instead, shoved even further back in the text, in a brief discus­
sion of conflict with the Apaches, was: 

Throughout the Indian wars there was constant friction between the War and the In­
terior Departments over the conduct of Indian affairs. A committee of the Continental 
Congress had first exercised this responsibility. In 1789 it was transferred to the Secre­
tary of War, and in 1824 a Bureau of Indian Affairs was created in the War Department. 
When the Department of the Interior was established in 1849, the Indian bureau was 
transferred to that agency. Thus administration of Indian affairs was handled by one 
department while enforcement lay with another. 

This is an improvement—the wording remains unchanged in the most recent edi­
tion of the text—but the balance of the chapter concerns itself with a series of uncon­
nected armed conflicts across the West. Granted, the Army between 1874 and 1898 
was smaller than today’s New York Police Department, or the total number of police 
(state, county, and municipal) in New Jersey. Granted, too, that the political structure 
of North American Indian societies—which operated by consensus rather than major­
ity rule, with extremely decentralized authority, and individual membership in any par­
ticular band apt to shift at a moment’s notice—makes comparisons to official dealings 
with other peoples difficult. Still, unpublished military and civilian documents in the 
National Archives reveal a side of Army life largely unknown to readers and writers of 
the chase-and-shootout school of Western military history.4 
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The more usual pattern of relations between the Army, the Indian Service (made 
up of the agents, teachers, physicians, blacksmiths, and other employees hired by the 
Office of Indian Affairs and assigned to tribal agencies throughout the country), and 
the American Indians themselves, grew largely out of the country’s need to replenish 
its treasury after the Civil War. The war had put the United States government deeply 
in debt, and a secure central corridor became necessary to transport the gold produced 
in California, Colorado, and Montana mines. In order to do this, the government extin­
guished the Indian title to lands in Nebraska and Kansas, moving tribes in those north 
to Dakota Territory, or south to the Indian Territory (present-day Oklahoma). Some of 
these tribes had moved west only a generation or two before from their ancestral terri­
tory east of the Mississippi River, during the era of Indian Removal.5 

Agents and other employees of the Office of Indian Affairs established offices 
(called agencies) at convenient locations to administer the different tribes, furnish 
them with health and educational services, and distribute rations and “annuity goods” 
such as clothing, blankets, and hardware under the terms of various treaties. Such ar­
rangements were common on Indian reservations throughout the United States. What 
occurred more frequently in the plains and the Southwest than elsewhere was the es­
tablishment of military posts near the agencies. These posts were necessary to restrain 
the young men of some of the newly confined plains tribes, to avert conflict between 
tribal factions (some of which stemmed from divided allegiances that dated back to 
the Civil War), and to prevent the rustling of Indian horses and cattle or the cutting 
of reservation timber by neighboring white settlers. As Brigadier General Alfred H. 
Terry wrote when the Crow Indians of Montana asked that white intruders be removed 
from their reservation: “Every consideration of good faith, humanity and public policy 
requires that . . . the vagabonds and roughs of the frontier should be taught that they . 
. . must obey the law . . . an obligation which they now deride.” During the last third 
of the nineteenth century, therefore, soldiers had many opportunities for first-hand 
observation of American Indians and the white civilians who were appointed to govern 
them.6 

Since Richard Ellis published his article, “The Humanitarian Soldiers,” in 1969, 
it has become a commonplace that many Army officers were keen observers of west­
ern Indians and devoted a good deal of thought to the condition of those who were 
restricted to reservations. More recently, Sherry Smith has devoted a large part of her 
book, The View From Officers’ Row, to this matter. Yet Ellis’s article and Smith’s book 
rely largely on officers’ private letters and diaries and on published sources. What does 
Army officers’ official correspondence tell us about how they handled everyday rela­
tions with tribal leaders on the reservations? Let’s look at some of the letters they wrote 
about the plains tribes on their reservations in the western part of the Indian Territory 
during the 15 years after the Army’s last campaign on the southern plains, the Red 
River War of 1874–75.7 

Land for these reservations became available in 1866 after the United States gov­
ernment imposed a series of punitive treaties on Southeastern tribes that the govern­
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ment had forced west a generation earlier. The punishment was for those tribes having 
backed the losing side in the Civil War. The 1866 treaties stripped the Five Tribes of 
their land holdings west of the 98th Meridian. Large tracts of this western land were 
then set aside as reservations for tribes of the Southern Plains.8 

This western half of the Indian Territory was the site of three principal Army posts. 
The oldest of these, Camp Supply, on the North Fork of the Canadian River in the 
northwest corner of the territory, dated from General Sheridan’s autumn campaign 
against the Southern Cheyennes in 1868. Fort Reno was also on the North Fork of the 
Canadian River, far downstream from Fort Supply, at the eastern edge of the Cheyenne 
and Arapaho reservation. Fort Sill stood near the Comanche and Kiowa Agency in the 
southwest corner of the territory.9 

Just east of Fort Reno and the Cheyenne-Arapaho reservation, on the other side 
of the 98th Meridian, lay the Unassigned Lands, popularly known as the Oklahoma 
District, about 2,950 square miles—which works out to nearly 12,000 quarter sections 
of farm land.10 This large tract in the geographical center of the Indian Territory soon 
attracted the attention of promoters—called Boomers, from the land boom they hoped 
to create—who urged throughout the early 1880s that the Unassigned Lands be opened 
to settlement. From 1879 through 1885, the Boomers mounted annual, even semian­
nual, “invasions” from towns in southern Kansas. Just as often, soldiers from Fort 
Reno and other Army posts would round them up and deliver them to a Federal court in 
Fort Smith, Arkansas, or Wichita, Kansas, where the judge would levy a fine—the only 
legal penalty for trespass on Federal lands—the invaders would protest their inability 
to pay, and the court would turn them loose to repeat the process. But the Boomers had 
before them the example of the Black Hills gold rush of 1875 and 1876, and they knew 
that a popular invasion of Indian lands was likely to make the Federal government 
disavow its treaty obligations.11 

They were right. Through the early months of 1889, a lame duck session of the 
50th Congress wrestled with legislation to open the Unassigned Lands to settlement.12 

On 12 February that year, a delegation of about 20 Cheyennes and Arapahos called 
on Fort Reno’s commanding officer. “There is considerable uneasiness among these 
Indians,” the colonel reported, “they get all the wild reports about Oklahoma and the 
Territory from the Kansas papers, and are very anxious to get their views on the matter 
before the President and Congress.”13 

A Cheyenne named Whirlwind spoke for the delegation. He deplored the projected 
land grab and asked that the tribes be allowed to keep a contiguous tract “and let us 
have land enough so we can . . . support ourselves by stock raising and not have to rely 
on the uncertainties of farming in a droughty country.” In his prefatory remarks, he 
explained the delegation’s visit by saying that “in time of peace we have always found 
the military our most reliable friends.”14 
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A little preliminary oil never hurts when asking a favor, but how much factual 
basis did Whirlwind’s assessment of the Army and its officers have? Five years ear­
lier, Whirlwind had been to Washington and met with the Secretary of the Interior and 
had spoken out against grazing leases for white ranchers on the Cheyenne-Arapaho 
reservation.15  He and other tribal leaders in many parts of the west had observed the 
rudimentary Federal bureaucracy of the 19th century and had some idea, at least, of 
how it worked. What factors might have moved Whirlwind to call Army officers “our 
most reliable friends”?16 

First, there was food. Federal law—the same act of 1834 that created the Office 
of Indian Affairs—obliged the Army to feed any Indians who visited a military post.17 

Congress wrote this provision into the bill in response to reports of starvation among 
the tribes that were being moved forcibly from the southeast to the Indian Territory.18 A 
generation later, the Southern Cheyennes and Arapahos must have learned from visits 
with their northern kin about the Army’s feeding those of them who visited Forts Fet­
terman and Laramie, in Wyoming. In 1871, the Army distributed more than $150,000 
worth of rations to Arapahos, Cheyennes, and Sioux at those two posts on the North 
Platte—nearly three-quarters of the money it spent on feeding Indians that year.19 

More immediate in shaping the Southern Plains tribes’ attitude toward the Army 
must have been the events of 1875, just as the Red River War was petering out. Early 
that May, under the head “Hungry Indians,” the Army and Navy Journal printed a 
dispatch written a month earlier. The Comanche-Kiowa agency had run out of flour, 
Fort Sill’s commanding officer wrote, and he had ordered his own commissary to is­
sue rations to 294 Indians. Moreover, the civilian agency was issuing beef cattle that 
were too weak to be driven to the Indian camps for slaughter; instead, they had to be 
butchered where they fell and the meat carried to the camps. A second report from 
General John Pope, whose command included the Indian Territory, confirmed that the 
Wichita and Cheyenne-Arapaho agencies lacked provisions too and had since the pre­
vious summer. “It is idle to expect that these Indians will remain peacefully upon their 
reservations with the prospect of starvation in doing so,” Pope added.20 

One way to help feed the people was to allow them to hunt buffalo off the reserva­
tions. “Much of the sickness during the past summer among these tribes is attributed 
to the insufficiency of their rations,” Fort Sill’s commanding officer wrote in the fall 
of 1875.21 To allow hunting parties off the reservations, though, posed the problem of 
keeping the peace between them and any stray or organized white people they might 
encounter, whether cowboys or Texas Rangers.22 The solution was to provide military 
escorts for hunting parties. Escorts usually included one sergeant or corporal and half 
a dozen privates. Troops from posts in the western half of Indian Territory furnished 
such escorts as early as October 1875 for fall hunts by the Arapahos, Cheyennes, Co­
manches, Osages, and Wichitas.23 While the troopers protected the hunters from bel­
ligerent whites, the leaders of the hunting party were responsible for the escort’s safety 
“should they meet any bad Indians,” as the colonel put it.24  Some of the hunting parties 
stayed out until January.25 
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The question of escorts for off-reservation hunting parties recalls another, much 
more unusual, instance of escort duty. In December 1884, soldiers furnished an es­
cort for Quanah Parker and other Comanches on their way to the Big Bend country 
of Texas in search of peyote cactus.26  Not that the Army promoted Native American 
religion; its institutional interest was in keeping order, and since “civilizing the Red 
Man” was the business of the Department of the Interior’s Office of Indian Affairs and 
its civilian agents, Army officers were apt to dismiss agents’ nervous appeals for help 
in suppressing such manifestations of Indian culture as communal dances.27  In 1889, 
the same year in which Whirlwind called army officers “our most reliable friends,” the 
superintendent of Indian schools for the Cheyennes and Arapahos requested military 
aid in removing a band of about 200 “non-progressive, dirty and indolent Arapahoe 
Indians, who visit the school buildings begging . . . and every evening to a late hour 
hold their strangely grotesque dances, with drums and hideous yells, which are heard 
throughout . . . the school buildings. . . .”28 Asked to shift these Arapahos, the se­
nior Army officer present replied that the civilian agent was the proper person for the 
school superintendent to report to, and added: “In regard to the dances . . . reported, 
they are only the Indian method of amusement and take the place of ball room, theater, 
saloon, etc., of his more civilized brother.”29  Some years earlier, another Army officer 
had been closer to the mark when he reported, after attending the Sun Dance at the 
Spotted Tail Agency, Nebraska: “The annual Sun Dance is to the Indian about what 
the camp meeting used to be to the Methodists.”30  In both cases, though, recognition 
of the social side of an annual religious observance indicates a more relaxed attitude 
towards non-Christian practices than a civilian Indian agent with a civilizing mission 
could afford to entertain. 

To revert to the immediate question of feeding reservation residents: throughout 
the west, Army officers were present to observe the periodic distribution of food and 
annuity goods—cloth and clothing, hardware, and other items—and reported on the 
quality and quantity of what reservation residents received. In the summer of 1875, 
General Sheridan issued an order affecting the entire Military Division of the Mis­
souri, from Montana to the Rio Grande, that warned inspecting officers to watch out 
for “fraudulent transactions,” but natural causes like drought or freezing weather could 
affect the rations, especially beef on the hoof, as drastically as could contractors’ chi­
canery.31 Adverse reports from inspecting officers in western Indian Territory began 
to reach the Adjutant General’s office soon after the end of the Red River War, as most 
members of the plains tribes reported to their agencies and began to receive rations. 

Federal law had mandated these inspections since 1868, but during the three years 
after the Red River War, Sheridan’s Chicago headquarters received so many adverse 
reports from inspecting officers at Indian agencies that in 1878 he devoted part of his 
own annual report to the subject. He began by acknowledging the Department of the 
Interior’s responsibility for Indian affairs, “and if it were not for the results which so 
severely involve the military, this would be none of my business.” But “now that the 
game, upon which the Indians depended for their regular supply of food, is gone,” 
Sheridan continued, “we shall require a greater supply of rations, with perfect regular­
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ity in its issue, to meet the needs of these people.” He predicted that “wretched mis­
management” by the Office of Indian Affairs might lead to a new wave of Indian wars, 
for, he wrote, “almost any race of men will fight rather than starve.”32 

Sheridan’s published report bore the date 25 October 1878. Since that summer 
though, the general had been embroiled in controversy with the Interior Department 
about a plan to consolidate the agencies for the Comanches, Kiowas, and Wichitas at 
a site some 30 miles from Fort Sill. Apart from balking at the expense of building a 
new post, Sheridan observed that “the removal of Indian agencies away from military 
posts has for its main motive a desire to cheat and defraud the Indians by avoiding the 
presence of officers who would naturally see and report it.”33  Secretary of the Interior 
Carl Schurz bridled at “so insulting an insinuation,” and when Sheridan’s annual report 
appeared, he demanded a statement of the facts behind the “general arraignment” of 
the Office of Indian Affairs.34 

Fortunately for Sheridan, he had abundant material to draw from. An Army officer 
at Fort Sill the previous December had reported the issue of beef cattle that were “not 
equal to the requirements of [the] contract,” and that letter was the basis of a corre­
spondence file that grew to include more than 50 similar reports from many parts of 
Sheridan’s geographical command by the time Secretary Schurz asked for Sheridan’s 
facts.35  Just a month after the Secretary’s request, Sheridan issued a 10-page “Supple­
mental Report” with a 20-page appendix of quotations from letters that had been arriv­
ing in his office for the previous four years.36 

This bureaucratic flare-up does not figure prominently in recent biographies of 
Schurz and Sheridan, but it was one high point in the decades-long controversy be­
tween soldiers and civilians as to whether the War Department or the Interior De­
partment should administer federal Indian policy.37  It was the only occasion during 
Sheridan’s 14 years in command of the Military Division of the Missouri when he pub­
lished a supplementary report to substantiate charges of mismanagement by the Office 
of Indian Affairs. And this incident shows why Whirlwind could call Army officers the 
Indians’ “most reliable friends”—they could usually be relied on to question the ability 
and honesty of the employees of a different Federal agency. 

One series of visits by tribal leaders to Fort Supply’s commanding officer in 1883 
and 1884 may have produced some results. In July 1883, Colonel Joseph H. Potter re­
ceived a delegation of Cheyennes led by Stone Calf, Little Robe, and five others whom 
the colonel named, to protest grazing leases to large cattle interests on the Cheyenne 
and Arapaho reservation. The delegation complained of certain prominent Cheyennes 
and Arapahos who had signed the leases and alleged bribery by the Bent Brothers and 
an interpreter employed by the Federal government, among other interested parties. 
The delegates who came to see Colonel Potter “are very emphatic in speaking of these 
leases,” he reported to General Pope’s headquarters at Fort Leavenworth. “[T]his mat­
ter should be attended to as early as possible.”38 
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The grazing leases continued in force for the next 18 months. In December 1884, 
some of the same Cheyennes, Little Robe and Stone Calf among them, called again on 
Colonel Potter. This time Potter sent a personal letter to Lieutenant Colonel Michael 
V. Sheridan in Chicago, where Sheridan served as aide to his brother, the general. The 
letter is worth quoting at length. Potter told Sheridan: 

“I see by the papers, that the Senate is after the Interior Dept. in regard to the leases of 
Indian lands, and ’tis about time. I believe this lease business is a most infamous fraud. 
This whole Territory is fenced in—and covered with cattle. More cattle than grass. The 
Indians are set aside entirely. There are about eighty of them here now complaining to 
me. . . . They say that not one of them have agreed to or signed these leases, and those 
that did sign them were a lot of old bummers who hang about the agency and would 
sign anything for a handful of grub. These people say that they want to make farms 
and raise corn, . . . but that the cattle run over their fences and destroy all they have. 
One of them told me that a year since he had [125] head of cattle and that now he can’t 
fi nd twenty-five of them. All stolen by these cattle men. Small herds stand no chance 
here—whether they belong to Indians or white men. And the small owners have been 
forced to leave or sell out. . . . I have told these Indians . . . to go to their agent about 
such matters, but they say that they won’t do it any more, as they have often enough 
without any satisfaction. He tells them to take the lease money—and that is all. They 
say that they want some honest people to come here and look for themselves, but they 
don’t want them to come to the agency and listen to the agent and those at the agency 
only, but to come and listen to the Cheyenne people. . . . I for one think that these 
people are right, and that the Government ought to look into this matter. It may save 
trouble hereafter, and ’tis no more than justice. . . . They say that they want General 
Sheridan to know how it stands with them. They believe in him. Will you tell him 
so.39 

How Potter came to know Michael Sheridan well enough to entitle him to send a 
private letter is uncertain. They may have known each other in Virginia, during the last 
months of the Civil War.40  Nor is it clear whether Michael Sheridan called the gener­
al’s attention to Potter’s letter. It is certain, though, that by the middle of the following 
year there was sufficient disturbance to bring General Sheridan to the Cheyenne and 
Arapaho agency, and that on 18 July 1885, two years to the day after Potter’s reported 
the complaints of Little Robe, Stone Calf, and the others, General Sheridan telegraphed 
President Grover Cleveland to recommend that the Army take over the Cheyenne and 
Arapaho reservation until the matter of the grazing leases could be settled. Five days 
later, Cleveland issued a proclamation that declared the leases void and gave cattlemen 
40 days to move their herds off Indian land. General Sheridan reported soon after that 
he had interviewed many prominent Arapahos and Cheyennes, and that even those 
who had signed the leasing agreements “had become sick of the bargain.”41 The 40 
day deadline was impossible to meet. Not until the first week of November 1885 was 
the Cheyenne and Arapaho reservation free of outsiders’ cattle.42 

Of course, we know that there was no happy ending to this story, certainly not for 
the 210,000 dispossessed cattle: the hard winter that followed caused “frightful losses” 
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in the overstocked Texas panhandle, much as the winter after that did in Montana and 
Wyoming.43 The reservations in western Indian Territory were allotted to individual 
tribal members a few years later and disappeared from maps. Still, the interplay of 
Little Robe and Stone Calf, Colonel Potter and Michael Sheridan in 1883 and 1884 
gives a hint of why another Cheyenne, Whirlwind—one of the grazing lease-signers 
of whom the other two Cheyennes complained—could call Army officers “our most 
reliable friends.” No matter how much rank flattery it involved. 

Let me end with a little speculation. Tribal leaders who used to call at Army posts 
to talk to the commanding officer—and there were many of them throughout the West 
during the late 19th century—were expert at factional politics, as when Colonel Pot­
ter’s visitors characterized their opponents as “a lot of old bummers who hang about 
the agency and would sign anything for a handful of grub.” Little Robe and Stone Calf 
lived closer to Camp Supply and were slandering Whirlwind—the same Whirlwind 
who a few years later called Army officers “our most reliable friends”—who lived 
closer to the agency, as did some other chiefs. Although these leaders had traveled 
to Washington, DC, some of them more than once, they probably did not have a firm 
grasp of the intricacies of the Federal government’s executive branch. But they could 
certainly tell that the employees at their agency dressed differently from the soldiers at 
the nearby fort. In taking their complaints to the commanding officers at Army posts, 
were they practicing the same factional skills they used in intratribal squabbles? To 
make that case would require a lot more research and a much longer paper than we 
have time for this morning, but the evidence suggests as much.44 

Finally, is there a benefit to be gained from the study of these episodes of quiet, if 
sometimes tense, diplomacy and long-winded negotiation? A more extensive look at 
the Army’s activities during the last third of the 19th century reveals a different pic­
ture from that shown in most books or in countless western films. Knowledge of this 
seldom-mentioned chapter of military history might be of some help to people starting 
out in today’s Army, who will learn early in their careers that they are expected to ac­
complish not only tasks that may be distasteful or dangerous, but some for which they 
have received no training at all. It may help them to recall that an earlier generation of 
soldiers found itself dealing, all at the same time, with contentious civilian colleagues, 
angry and suspicious groups of people with unfamiliar customs and beliefs, and whose 
command of English varied widely, and clamorous, self-interested ordinary American 
citizens. 
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Panel 7—Interagency Process in the United States
 
Question and Answers
 
(Transcript of Presentation)
 

Robert T. Davis II, Ph.D.
 
Mr. William A. Dobak
 

Moderated by Ricardo A. Herrera, Ph.D.
 

Audience Member 

This is for Dr. Davis. I am wondering about the relationship between the CIA and the 
Psychological Strategy Board in the 1950s because I know this is a period where the 
CIA is famous or infamous for like Wisner’s Wurlitzer and I wonder if you could com­
ment on that. 

Dr. Davis 
Well, the CIA was happier with the Psychological Strategy Board than they had been 
with the earlier incarnations because the Director of the Central Intelligence Agency 
sat directly on Psychological Strategy Board and CIA seconded several of its officers 
for planning purposes, but the Psychological Strategy Board gets shut down as a result 
of the Jackson Committee’s reports. It is essentially abolished from about August of 
1953 and then after that Eisenhower creates this new policy making apparatus that 
functions during his administration where it is a direct feed into the National Secu­
rity Council process, so the CIA was not unhappy with the shift to the Psychological 
Strategy Board so far as I know between 1950 and 1952. But it is a moot point in the 
Eisenhower era because they no longer exist. 

Audience Member 
I have a question for Mr. Dobak. Going back to one of your early observations in your 
discussion, you noted the mythology or the so called fallacy of Army autonomy. I am 
wondering to what extent this fallacy was exploited politically perhaps in Washington. 
And the reason the question occurs to me is that having done comparable research 
on the Russian Army in the nineteenth century under somewhat comparable circum­
stances far from home, the Russian government found it quite expedient on a number 
of occasions, either for foreign policy purposes or for domestic purposes, to observe, 
“General so and so is off on his own again. Darn that guy; we did not intend to take that 
village.” I am just wondering to what extent there may have been some comparable 
maneuvering in DC. Thank You. 
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Mr. Dobak 

Well, the commanding general of every geographical region, Department of Dakota, 
Department of the Platte, Department of the Missouri which is Kansas, Colorado and 
New Mexico, and Department of Texas, those are the four departments within Sheri­
dan’s military division of the Missouri. There were other departments on the west coast 
and in the east. They all filed an annual report and these were published each year as 
part of the Secretary of War’s annual report in the Congressional Serial Set. So I am 
not sure whether that answers your question or not. Does that go part way towards your 
answer? There was, for example . . . now an outright atrocity like Sand Creek which 
sparked a Congressional investigation which also wound up printed in the Congres­
sional Serial Set. Colonel Baker’s attack on a camp of Piegan Indians in 1870, again, 
wrong Indians, which was also the subject of a Congressional investigation. But by and 
large, something large scale like the Sioux War of 1876 actually grew out of a recom­
mendation by an inspector of the Office of Indian Affairs in the fall of 1875, saying 
that the Crow Indians of Montana and several other tribes were tired of being attacked 
by Sioux who lived off their reservations. It was time to end this intertribal warfare 
by forcing the Sioux onto their reservations which led to a conference that included 
President Grant, General Sheridan, the Secretary of War, and the Secretary of the Inte­
rior who decided that it was time to go ahead and try to force the off reservation Sioux 
onto the designated Sioux reservations. This would, coincidentally, settle the matter of 
ownership of the Black Hills, and also a right of way for the Northern Pacific Railroad 
which was going to eventually build through the Yellowstone Valley of Montana. But 
as I said, these matters were settled at the President and cabinet level. Essentially after 
1869, the Army did not lift a finger without a go-ahead from the Secretary of War in 
Washington who had consulted . . . in response to a request from the Secretary of the 
Interior. 

Audience Member 
Yes, thanks. That also does establish for me that the governmental context is a bit dif­
ferent and the analogy I was wondering about is not fully there. Thank you. 

Audience Member 
Over the last seven years, I think a lot of people close to the US Army have gotten used 
to hearing about effects-based operations, measuring effects of things like strategic 
communications information operations. Let me make sure I get the right picture here, 
it sounds like the US government struggled just to define psychological operations. 
Was anybody interested in measuring how well the Voice of America and these other 
instruments worked at all in this time frame? 

Dr. Davis 
Yes, they absolutely were. The Psychological Strategy Board had three subordinate 
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organizations. One was Plans and Operations, pretty standard and it makes an easy 
military analogy. Another one was a Coordinating Committee to make sure once the 
plans and operations had been approved that people in various and sundry government 
departments were actually following up on that. And then there was a third body that 
was specifically tasked with measuring those effects. I have not looked at any of the 
records of these three sub-committees so I could not tell you what they determined in 
1951 or 1952 which would be very interesting of course. Did they think they could 
measure these things? They certainly wanted to. 

Audience Member 
Exactly. It is a struggle right now to figure out how well a message gets out in any 
particular province in Iraq. It is amazing to think that they were trying to do this on this 
very broad scale during the Cold War, but also very indicative of a certain mindset. 

Dr. Davis 
What I would say, when OWI (Office of War Information) was winding down at the 
end of World War II, when the Creel Committee came to an end at the end of World 
War I, the only thing you would see, and still historians today fall back on, “Well, I can 
tell you how many speeches they gave, how many films they distributed, how many 
leaflets they dropped over enemy lines.” And it is always like, “I can give you a quan­
titative how much did we do.” But I have never seen anybody develop a metric and I 
do not necessarily believe there is such a thing as a metric that will tell you how much 
you actually influenced. I do not think it exists, but it is certainly something people 
have struggled with in the past unsuccessfully. 

Audience Member 
Just to follow up on that point briefly, they did try after the Gulf War, during the inter­
views of the sixty thousand prisoners of war, to say, “Were you affected by this par­
ticular leaflet or that particular leaflet?” So they were trying to get the measure of what 
percentage of the folks that saw the “Please Desert” leaflet were affected by it. But you 
are right, they continually try to come up with metrics, they try to measure, and they 
fall back on how many they did, almost like the Air Force dropping bombs, “Well, 
since we dropped sixty thousand bombs, therefore, we were doing our job.” And never 
asking if they were dropped on the right target and what effect they actually had, Psy-
War is even more unspecific as that. But for Mr. Dobak, a quick question. Obviously 
Sheridan got out and he visited, he talked to his people and he followed up with some 
visits, the Bureau of Indian Affairs, not an organization with the greatest reputation in 
the world, had its inspectors out there also gathering information. Did Carl Schurz get 
out there and see for himself the truth of any of these allegations or was it simply a 
reflex, a fallback and defend my organization, that he would fall back on? 
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Mr. Dobak 

I do not think that Carl Schurz got out of Washington much, as far as I know, during 
his term as Secretary of the Interior. And of course, he had federal lands to supervise, 
Indian affairs was only one, although well publicized part of his duties, but he had all 
of the public lands to oversee; he had a lot of things to do besides Indians. 

Audience Member 
One of the things that struck me and this is for Mr. Dobak, in your research did you find 
any documentation of cultural guidance or tribal guidance to the soldiers about how 
to effectively interact with the different tribes or any kind of training or anything that 
would help better prepare them? 

Mr. Dobak 
No, not really. For one thing, each tribe spoke a different language. They certainly 
did not have linguistic language training. They relied on civilian interpreters. And as 
someone said, the kind of white man who could stay alive long enough to learn a native 
language was probably not the kind of guy who was interested in concepts like land 
ownership and not really well suited to interpret for treaty negotiations and stuff like 
that. Sheridan did send a young officer out to study Indian sign language and published 
a book about that, but for the most part, what conflicts there were were over by the time 
they had enough people to send on detail tasks like that, so really, no, is the answer. 

Audience Member 
Way back in Andy Jackson’s administration, before the Civil War when the Indian Re­
moval Act was signed and passed and the reservations were somewhat codified, was 
the Department of War responsible for Indian affairs and then it shifted to the Depart­
ment of the Interior? Was there a feeling that the person who goes out and fights the 
Indian cannot be the one who governs him and the reservations? 

Mr. Dobak 
The Department of the Interior was established in 1849, that is, after the great expan­
sion of the 1840s—Texas, the Southwest, Oregon country. If you look at the list of 
engagements of the regular Army during the period before the Mexican War, Indian 
fights in 1794, and then nothing until Tippecanoe in 1811, then a couple of fights dur­
ing the War of 1812, then a short war in Florida, . . . I mean as long as American terri­
tory stopped at the Continental Divide, there was no conflict with the Plains Indians. 
A little raiding on the Santa Fe Trail, but by and large, it was an easy decision to turn 
the Office of Indian Affairs over to the new Department of the Interior, just at the time 
when the United States had acquired the Pacific coast and increased traffic through the 
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Great Plains and the mountains brought about an increase in conflict. So I would say 
that it probably would have been better to have kept the Office of Indian Affairs as a 
civilian agency within the War Department, separate from the Army, but that is simply 
because I have seen how the information traveled from the Indian Agency to Washing­
ton, to the Commissioner of Indian Affairs, up to the Secretary of the Interior lateral 
over to the Secretary of War, then down to the Army and to the regional commands 
within . . . it would have cut out that much, that stop at the Secretary of the Interior. It 
would have speeded things up and made for less friction, I would say. But it is a little 
late for that judgment. 

Audience Member 
Just to follow up, were there some people in the Department of War and the Army 
that . . . I believe a lot of soldiers were detailed into these Indian Bureaus anyway be­
cause they could not be staffed, that there were some arguments about whether or not 
this agency should be in the Interior or in the Department of War? 

Mr. Dobak 
That argument . . . well I mentioned Colonel Baker attacking the wrong Indians in 
1870, bad timing because there was a fairly good chance of returning the Office of 
Indian Affairs to the War Department at that time, but after a gross mistake like that, 
the Office of Indian Affairs stayed with the Interior Department and right through into 
twentieth century. So that was a bad screw up, bad timing. But there was that debate 
back and forth. It is a constant subject like expanding the Army or contracting it. It is 
one of those things they love to talk about all through the last third of the nineteenth 
century 
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The Army has periodically played a role in the separation of powers within the 
federal system of government, most often as the means of enforcing federal supremacy 
over the states. Two obvious examples of this was the use of the Army during the Civil 
War against the secessionist southern states and President Eisenhower’s use of the 
Regular Army and federalization of the Arkansas National Guard to enforce the federal 
district court’s order enjoining Governor Orval Faubus from using the National Guard 
to prevent the desegregation of public schools in Little Rock. 

The Army has also played a role in the horizontal separation of powers between 
the branches of the federal government: the Army has imposed and enforced martial 
law within the United States and its territories, displaced the judicial branch, and even 
arrested judges who interfered with it. 

However, Army lawyers have only rarely stood on their own against other agen­
cies and officials within the executive branch. Since 2001, Army leaders, and Army 
lawyers, have resisted policy initiatives of the Bush administration on a number of 
occasions, involving a number of different issues, including the treatment of detainees, 
electronic surveillance within the United States, and military support to civilian law 
enforcement and homeland security officials. This paper will examine several episodes 
in the Army’s interaction with other components of the federal government. These 
episodes involve military commissions and habeas corpus: Andrew Jackson’s conflict 
with Judge Dominick Hall in New Orleans, Winfield Scott’s creation of military com­
missions in the absence of Congressional authorization during the Mexican War, the 
Army’s implementation of martial law in Hawaii during World War II, and the role of 
Army lawyers during the 1942 Nazi saboteur case. The paper will also discuss the mili­
tary commission process during the Global War on Terror and evaluate how the Army’s 
recent experience with military commissions and habeas corpus demonstrate a military 
legal culture, which may affect how the Army will participate in the interagency pro­
cess when policy that conflicts with that culture is proposed. 
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I. Martial Law And Military Commissions Prior To Ex Parte Milligan. 

It has been argued by many scholars that Congress was the dominant branch in the 
federal government prior to the Civil War, even in military affairs.2  However, the his­
torical record does not demonstrate that Congress exercised its dominance. The Army 
was left to find its own way regarding martial law and military commissions until the 
Supreme Court’s decision in Ex Parte Milligan, which was not issued until after the 
Civil War was concluded. 

On December 16, 1814, Andrew Jackson, as the Commanding General of the 
Seventh Military District responsible for the military defense of New Orleans, issued 
a General Order declaring martial law in the city. The order required any person enter­
ing the city to report to the Adjutant General’s office, prohibited anyone leaving the 
city without military permission, and established a curfew.3 Violations of the General 
Order were tried by courts-martial.4 

After the British were defeated and while peace negotiations were being conducted 
at Ghent, Jackson refused to rescind the order establishing martial law because he was 
concerned that the British might return.5  During that time, Jackson ordered several 
French-speaking residents of the city deported. When Louis Louallier, a member of 
the Louisiana legislature, published an article in the local French-language newspaper 
calling for trials by civil courts, Jackson had him arrested for “inciting mutiny and 
disaffection in the army.”6  In a March 5, 1815 letter to Lieutenant Colonel Matthew 
Arbuckle, Jackson directed that any person attempting to serve a writ of habeas corpus 
for Louallier be arrested and confined.7  Louallier filed a petition for writ of habeas 
corpus in the United States District Court.8  Judge Dominick Augustin Hall granted the 
petition and concluded that martial law was no longer justified. Jackson ordered the 
arrest and confinement of Judge Hall, who was jailed with Louallier.9 

Louallier raised several defenses, including the argument Jackson did not have 
the authority to establish military tribunals to try civilians without Congressional au­
thority.10 The court proceeded on the merits of the case, and Louallier was acquitted. 
Rather than having Judge Hall tried, Jackson ordered him to leave the city and not 
return until an announcement of a peace treaty or until the British left the southern 
coast.11  Hall was marched by troops four miles out of the city and left there. The next 
day, after confirming that the peace treaty was signed, Jackson rescinded martial law 
and released Louallier, who had previously been acquitted.12 

When Judge Hall returned to New Orleans, he ordered Jackson to appear in court 
and show cause why he should not be held in contempt for failing to obey the order to 
release Louallier and for detaining Hall. Jackson appeared in court with two attorneys, 
whom he retained himself, and submitted a written statement. His attorneys argued that 
the court lacked jurisdiction to punish Jackson. Jackson later appeared to answer inter­
rogatories, and the United States attorney13 acted as prosecutor, but Jackson refused 
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to answer any questions. Eventually, after several hearings, Judge Hall fined Jackson 
$1,000.00, which Jackson paid. 

Later, Jackson explained his justification for martial law: 

[When] invaluable [constitutional rights were threatened by invasion, certain basic 
privileges] may be required to be infringed for their security. At such a crisis, we have 
only to determine whether we will suspend, for a time, the exercise of the latter, that 
we may secure the permanent enjoyment of the former. [Is it wise to sacrifi ce] the 
spirit of the laws to the letter [and] lose the substance forever, in order that we may, for 
an instant preserve the shadow?14 

In 1842, Congress passed legislation which refunded the amount of the fine, with 
interest, to Jackson.15  However, despite contention between the Whigs and the Demo­
crats in Congress as to whether the bill should state whether Jackson or Judge Hall was 
right, the bill that was passed was silent on the issue. 

In an unrelated matter, three years later, in 1818, Attorney General William Wirt 
issued a legal memorandum on the authority needed to order a new trial before a mili­
tary court. The specific issue presented to Wirt was whether the Judge Advocate Gen­
eral acted properly in refusing to prosecute Captain Nathaniel N. Hall because he had 
already been tried by a court-martial on the same charge and the sentence had been 
disapproved by the President.16 

Wirt wrote that the President “has no powers except those derived from the con­
stitution and laws of the United States; if the power in question, therefore, cannot be 
fairly deduced from these sources, it does not exist at all.17 The Constitution made the 
President Commander in Chief, but 

in a government limited like ours, it would not be safe to draw from this provision 
inferential powers, by a forced analogy to other governments differently constituted. 
Let us draw from it, therefore, no other inference than that, under the constitution, 
the President is the national and proper depository of the fi nal appellate power, in all 
judicial matters touching the police of the army; but let us not claim this power for 
him, unless it has been communicated to him by some specific grant from Congress, 
the fountain of all law under the Constitution.18 

In 1847, Winfield Scott, who was a graduate of the College of William & Mary, 
and had practiced law before joining the Army and again when he was suspended from 
the Army after a court-martial, was appointed to command the army that would enter 
Mexico from the Gulf and march on Mexico City. Scott’s command was the first large 
American force to fight outside the United States and his force would be composed 
largely of volunteers. He was anxious to have a well-developed plan for administer­
ing discipline within his army and he was also concerned about administering justice 
fairly to Mexicans in his area of operations so that he would not provoke a backlash or 
insurgency, as the French had experienced in Spain from 1809-1813.19 
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Before Scott left Washington, he drafted an order establishing martial law in Mex­
ico, which applied to American soldiers and to the Mexican populace. He asked both 
Secretary of War William L. Marcy and Attorney General Nathan Clifford to review 
the order, but neither official either explicitly approved the order or expressed disap­
proval. Marcy requested that Congress enact legislation authorizing military tribunals 
in Mexico, but Congress did not act on Marcy’s request.20 

When Scott arrived in Mexico, he issued the order which he had prepared in Wash­
ington, proclaiming a state of martial law, as General Order No. 20. Scott ordered that 
certain specified acts, including common crimes and violations of the articles of war, 
be tried and punished by military tribunals in Mexico. Scott apparently believed that 
Congress had the exclusive authority to authorize military tribunals, because even after 
he had arrived in Mexico, Scott urged Congress to authorize the military commissions. 
However, Congress would not act: Secretary of War Marcy advised Scott that he had 
discussed the matter with the chairman of the relevant Senate committee and that the 
Senator did not believe that legislation was necessary because the right of the military 
commander to impose martial law “necessarily resulted from the condition of things 
when an army is prosecuting hostilities in an enemy’s country.”21  Scott’s system of 
tribunals worked unevenly in Mexico, but his system of military government accom­
plished his goal of creating the appearance of fairness which, Scott believed, prevented 
the development of a native insurgency against the occupying Americans.22 

In 1857, Attorney General Caleb Cushing authored an opinion as to the legality of 
“martial law” imposed in Washington Territory. He opined that the commander of an 
army occupying foreign territory is authorized to impose “martial law” in the occupied 
country as “an element of the jus belli,”23  Cushing concluded that the United States 
is “without law on the subject” of whether martial law may be imposed by the armed 
forces of the United States within the United States or its territories.24  However, he 
concluded that, under the Constitution, only Congress is empowered to declare “mar­
tial law” and to suspend habeas corpus: 

In the Constitution, there is one clause, of more apparent relevancy, namely the decla­
ration that “The privilege of the writ of habeas corpus shall not be suspended, unless 
when in case of rebellion or invasion the public safety may require it.” This negation 
of power follows the enumeration of the powers of Congress; but it is general in its 
terms; it is in the section of things denied, not only to Congress, but to the Federal 
Government as a government, and to the States. I think it must be considered as a 
negation reaching all the functionaries, legislative or executive, civil or military, su­
preme or subordinate, of the Federal Government: that is to say, there can be no valid 
suspension of the writ of habeas corpus under the jurisdiction of the United States, 
unless when the public safety may require it, in cases of rebellion or invasion. And the 
opinion is expressed by the commentators on the Constitution, that the right to suspend 
the writ of habeas corpus, and also that of judging when the exigency has arisen, be­
longs exclusively to Congress.25 
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However, Cushing recognized that the declaration of “martial law” is an extraor­
dinary occurrence, in which the “law” ceases to have force because of the exigency of 
military crisis: 

There may undoubtedly be, and have been, emergencies of necessity, capable of them­
selves to produce, and therefore to justify, such suspension of all law, and involving, 
for the time, the omnipotence of military power. But such a necessity is not of the 
range of mere legal questions. When martial law is proclaimed under circumstances of 
assumed necessity, the proclamation must be regarded as the statement of an existing 
fact, rather than the legal creation of that fact. In a beleaguered city, for instance, the 
state of siege lawfully exists, because the city is beleaguered, and the proclamation of 
martial law, in such a case, is but notice and authentication of a fact—that civil author­
ity has become suspended of itself, by the force of circumstances, and that by the same 
force of circumstances the military power has been devolved upon it, without having 
authoritatively assumed, the supreme control of affairs, in the care of the public safety 
and conservation. Such, it would seem, is the true explanation of the proclamation of 
martial law at New Orleans by General Jackson.26 

Four years after Cushing’s opinion, President Lincoln suspended habeas corpus in 
specified areas of the country. His Attorney General, Edward Bates, reached the con­
clusion that the President’s power to suppress insurrection “is political,”27 echoing the 
pragmatic language of Cushing’s opinion. Louis Fisher has written that “both Lincoln 
and Bates acknowledged congressional power to pass legislation that defines when and 
how a President may suspend the writ of habeas corpus during a rebellion.”28  In fact, 
in 1863 Congress passed legislation which allowed the President to suspend the writ of 
habeas corpus “whenever, in his judgment, the public safety may require it.”29 

The Army honored the suspension of habeas corpus and defied judicial orders 
granting a writ. In Ex Parte Merryman,30 Chief Justice Roger Taney, who was sitting 
as the circuit judge, issued a writ of habeas corpus to release John Merryman, who was 
being held in military custody for being a vocal opponent of the war and a suspected in­
surgent. Taney issued the writ, but the Army commander ignored the order to produce 
Merryman in court. Taney then issued papers for the commander to appear in court to 
show cause why he should not be held in contempt, but the marshal was not able to 
enter the fort to serve the papers. Taney had no means to enforce judicial process, but 
he issued an order to release Merryman, which went unheeded by the Army. 

In Ex Parte Vallandigham,31 the Supreme Court considered the habeas corpus peti­
tion of Clement Vallandigham, a former member of Congress and a leading Copper­
head, who was arrested in May 1863 for speaking out against the war. He was tried 
by a military commission and sentenced to confinement for the duration of the war. 
While he was in military custody, he filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the 
Supreme Court. The Court, recognizing that the Army did not comply with the writ in 
Merryman, held that it did not have jurisdiction to review the decisions of a military 
commission because, it wrote, a military commission was not “judicial”32 in nature but 
was an exercise of military authority. 
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Ex Parte Milligan,33 which was decided in the immediate aftermath of the Civil 
War, is the most significant case on the relationship of martial and civil law. Lambdin 
P. Milligan, a lawyer in Indiana, was arrested, convicted, and sentenced to hang for 
conspiring to free Confederate prisoners and lead an insurrection in Indiana. He was 
tried by an Army military commission even though the civilian courts had remained 
open in Indiana throughout the war. He filed a petition for a writ of habeas corpus in the 
Circuit Court for Indiana, which had two judges. The judges disagreed as to whether 
they had jurisdiction to grant the writ and, by agreement of the parties, the issues of 
whether the writ should be issued, whether Milligan should be released from custody, 
and whether the military commission had authority to try Milligan34 were certified to 
the Supreme Court. 

The Supreme Court held that the military commission which tried Milligan was 
illegal because the civilian courts of Indiana were open during the war and Milligan 
could have been tried by the civilian courts. The court wrote: 

It is claimed that martial law covers with its broad mantle the proceedings of the mili­
tary commission. The proposition is this: that in a time of war the commander of an 
armed force (if in his opinion the exigencies of the country demand it, and of which he 
is to judge), has the power, within the lines of his military district, to suspend all civil 
rights and their remedies, and subject citizens as well as soldiers to the rule of his will; 
and in the exercise of his lawful authority cannot be restrained, except by his superior 
officer the President of the United States. 

If this position is sound to the extent claimed, then when war exists, foreign or do­
mestic, and the country is subdivided into military departments for mere convenience, 
the commander of one of them can, if he chooses, within his limits, on the plea of 
necessity, with the approval of the Executive, substitute military force for and to the 
exclusion of the laws, and punish all persons, as he thinks right and proper, without 
fixed or certain rules. 

The statement of this proposition shows its importance, for, if true, republican govern­
ment is a failure, and there is an end of liberty regulated by law. Martial law, estab­
lished on such a basis, destroys every guarantee of the Constitution, and effectually 
renders the “military independent of and superior to civil power”—the attempt to do 
which by the King of Great Britain was deemed by our fathers such an offense that 
they assigned it to the world as one of the causes which impelled them to declare their 
independence. Civil liberty and this kind of martial law cannot endure together; the 
antagonism is irreconcilable; and, in the conflict, one of the other must perish.35 

The Court’s finding that the civilian courts in Indiana were open and that war was 
not being waged in Indiana was at least questionable: Confederate Brigadier General 
John Hunt Morgan raided Indiana in June 1863, causing the closure of the courts, and 
Indiana remained under the threat of further raids throughout 1864. 

The Supreme Court’s decision in Milligan was, ultimately, ambivalent. The full 
Court agreed that the executive had gone too far in trying Milligan in Indiana by mili­
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tary commission. A majority of the Court returned, once the war had passed, to tradi­
tional republican language and rejected martial law and military commissions in gen­
eral; the minority recognized that martial law could and would be used again in a time 
of “invasion and rebellion.” In fact, the United States continued to convene military 
commissions in the southern states throughout the reconstruction period.36 

II. Martial Law In Hawaii. 

The Army also convened numerous military commissions during the Philippine 
Insurrection. However, the legality of military commissions was not challenged again 
until World War II. 

On December 7, 1941, after the attack on Pearl Harbor, Joseph B. Poindexter, the 
Governor of the territory of Hawaii, issued a proclamation transferring all governmen­
tal functions to the Army general commanding the Hawaiian Department,37 pursuant 
to Section 67 of the Hawaii Organic Act, which authorized the Governor to suspend 
the writ of habeas corpus and impose martial law “in case of rebellion or invasion, or 
imminent danger thereof, when the public safety requires it . . . .”38  Lieutenant General 
Walter C. Short assumed the role of Military Governor39 and suspended the writ of 
habeas corpus (General Short was later succeeded by Lieutenant General Delos C. Em-
mons, who was succeeded by Lieutenant General Robert C. Richardson).40  Short is­
sued General Order No. 4, drafted by his Judge Advocate, Lieutenant Colonel Thomas 
H. Green,41 establishing a military commission and provost courts to replace the civil­
ian courts, which were closed.42  Nine days after the initial proclamation, on December 
16, 1941, the authority of the civil courts to hear civil matters was largely reinstated. 

Conflicts between Army authority and the civil courts in Hawaii were redolent of 
Jackson’s conflict with Judge Hall in New Orleans. The Army detained Hans Zimmer­
man, an American citizen, pursuant to an order which allowed the detention of persons 
“for the purpose of inquiring into . . . whether or not such activities are subversive to 
the best interests of the United States.”43  Zimmerman’s wife filed a petition for writ of 
habeas corpus in the United States District Court. At the hearing on the petition, Judge 
Delbert E. Metzger refused to take evidence or to require the Respondent—“Captain 
Walker of the United States Army, Assistant Provost Marshall”44—to respond. The 
judge stated that he believed the issuance of a writ of habeas corpus was justified, but 
ruled that the court was prevented by “duress” from granting a writ.45 

On appeal, the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit held that Mil­
ligan did not require the District Court to act upon the petition because the petition, on 
its face, did not allege grounds that would have justified the granting of the petition. 
The Court found that “in light of the unprecedented conditions under which present 
day warfare is waged,” the Hawaiian Islands were “peculiarly exposed to fifth-column 
activities.”46 The Court read Milligan to mean that, “[i]t is settled that the detention by 
the military authorities of persons engaged in disloyal conduct or suspected of disloy­
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alty is lawful in areas where conditions warranting martial law prevail.”47 The Court 
wrote: 

But taken by its four corners the petition discloses that Zimmerman was being sub­
jected to detention by the military authorities after an inquiry related in some way to 
the public safety, in an area where martial law was in force and the privilege of the 
writ had been lawfully suspended. The futility of further inquiry was apparent on the 
face of the petition.48 

Of course, the Ninth Circuit’s reasoning was circular: so long as martial law is 
declared, the government could hold Zimmerman without charging him, and the gov­
ernment itself was in control of when martial law will be terminated. As Judge Bert 
Emory Haney wrote in his dissenting opinion, the test of whether the conditions for 
martial law exist must be by reference to conditions outside of the mere proclamation 
of martial law: 

[M]ilitary government is not established by merely proclaiming it. It comes into being 
and exists solely by reason of the fact that strife prevents operation of the civil govern­
ment. Ex parte Milligan . . . 4 Wall. 127, 18 L.Ed. 281, where it is said: “As necessity 
creates the rule, so it limits its duration.” In other words, whether military government 
prevails is a question of fact depending on the existence of facts in the territory where 
it is supposed to be controlling, and a proclamation of the military that it exists is su­
perfluous and ineffective.49 

On January 27, 1942, General Order No. 57 provided that the civil courts could 
exercise their full civil jurisdiction “as agents of the Military Governor.”50  However, 
the courts could not summon a grand jury, conduct a jury trial, or grant a writ of habeas 
corpus.51 A proclamation of February 8, 1943 reinstated trial by jury and indictment by 
grand jury in the civil courts for violations of non-military law, except for proceedings 
involving military members or prosecutions of civilians for violating military orders. 
The proclamation specifically stated that “a state of martial law remains in effect and 
the privilege of the writ of habeas corpus remains suspended.”52 

After the February 1943 proclamation restoring power to the courts, Walter Glock­
ner and Erwin R. Seifer, both American citizens who were being detained by the Army, 
brought petitions for writs of habeas corpus before Judge Metzger. The US Attorney 
argued that the petitions should be dismissed because martial law was still in effect. 
Metzger denied the government’s motion on the ground that the threshold element of 
civil habeas corpus jurisdiction under Milligan was satisfied because the civil courts 
were “open” pursuant to the February 8, 1943 order, and Metzger ordered that the Army 
produce Glockner and Seifer. When the Army refused, Judge Metzger fined General 
Richardson (the Commanding General of the Hawaiian Department) $5000.00 for con­
tempt. Richardson then issued an order that specifically prohibited the District Court 
from conducting habeas corpus proceedings and ordered Judge Metzger to expunge the 
contempt citation or face proceedings in the military courts. The Justice Department 
intervened; General Richardson rescinded his order and Judge Metzger reduced the 
fine to $100.00, which was later canceled by a pardon.53 
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US District Judge J. Frank McLaughlin also resisted Army rule in Hawaii. Harry 
E. White was tried by and convicted of embezzlement by a provost court, which did 
not include the right to a grand jury and from which there was no appeal. His trial was 
conducted on August 20, 1942, after the Battle of Midway, and after General Order No. 
57 which allowed civil courts to conduct criminal trials, but prior to the proclamation 
reinstating the grand jury and jury trials. White filed a habeas corpus petition in the dis­
trict court. Judge McLaughlin held that White was denied his Fifth Amendment right 
to due process of law and his procedural rights under the Sixth Amendment. Judge 
McLaughlin held that the territorial governor, who was merely an officer of the execu­
tive branch, had no right to delegate the judicial functions of the territory to the Army, 
and that the Commanding General had no authority to impede the functioning of the 
civil courts because the threat of Japanese invasion and subversion had been virtually 
eliminated after Midway.54  Judge McLaughlin also granted the habeas corpus petition 
of Fred Spurlock, who was convicted by the provost court of assault, writing: 

[I]t is argued . . . [that the court’s] inquiry is limited to determining whether or not the 
power to declare martial law was properly invoked. This is referred to as the theory 
of absolute martial law and reliance is placed upon several supporting old cases. The 
doctrine is that martial law can be terminated only by the one given the original power 
to invoke it—the Executive. In short the proposition is that whether at any given time 
factual necessity supports the continuation of a state of martial law is a political and 
not a judicial question. The same idea is currently expressed in modern garb in the 
statement that in time of war the courts cannot question the judgment of the Execu­
tive—whether that judgment is based on facts or not. By such a specious doctrine did 
Hitler and his ilk rise to dictatorial power. If ever such was the law of this country it 
long since has been slain by the Supreme Court. Under our form of government the 
military even in time of war is subordinate to the civil power, not superior to it. During 
war the military to be sure is allowed a wide range of discretion, but whether it has 
abused that discretion is a judicial question.55 

In Ex Parte Duncan,56 Judge Metzger considered the habeas corpus petition of 
Lloyd Duncan, a civilian shipyard worker, who was tried and sentenced by the provost 
court for assaulting two Marine guards in violation of military General Order No. 2. 
The case reached Judge Metzger after the February 8, 1943 proclamation restoring 
most power to the civil courts, but which specifically continued the prohibition against 
the writ of habeas corpus. In the Duncan case—unlike the other Hawaii cases dis­
cussed here—it was stipulated that a Japanese invasion of Hawaii was unlikely. Judge 
Metzger held that martial law did not exist in Hawaii in 1943 because there was no ne­
cessity for military rule at that time and the actions of the provost court were void.57 

The Ninth Circuit reversed Judge Metzger’s Duncan decision58 and Judge 
McLaughlin’s decisions in White and Spurlock.59 The Supreme Court reversed the 
Ninth Circuit and held that the Hawaii Organic Act did not authorize the territorial 
Governor to deny Hawaiian citizens their constitutional right to a fair trial in civil 
court after the immediate threat of invasion had passed. The Court’s decision echoed 
the language of Milligan: 

347 



 

 

Courts and their procedural safeguards are indispensable to our system of government. 
They were set up by our founders to protect the liberties they valued. [Citations omit­
ted]. Our system of government clearly is the antithesis of military rule and the found­
ers of this country are not likely to have contemplated complete military dominance 
within the limits of a territory made part of this country and not recently taken from 
an enemy. They were opposed to governments that placed in the hands of one man the 
power to make, interpret and enforce the laws. Their philosophy has been the people’s 
throughout our history. For that reason we have maintained legislatures chosen by 
citizens or their representatives and courts and juries to try those who violate legisla­
tive enactments. We have always been especially concerned about the potential evils 
of summary criminal trials and have guarded against them by provisions embodied 
in the Constitution itself. [Citations omitted]. Legislatures and courts are not merely 
cherished American institutions; they are indispensable to our government. 

Military tribunals have no such standing. For as this Court has said before: “. . . the 
military should always be kept in subjection to the laws of the country to which it 
belongs, and that he is no friend to the Republic who advocates the contrary. The es­
tablished principle of every free people is, that the law shall alone govern; and to it the 
military must always yield.” [Citations omitted]. Congress prior to the time of the en­
actment of the Organic Act had only once authorized the supplanting of the courts by 
military tribunals. Legislation to that effect was enacted immediately after the South’s 
unsuccessful attempt to secede from the Union. Insofar as the legislation applied to the 
Southern States after the war was at an end it was challenged by a series of Presidential 
vetoes as vigorous as any in the country’s history. And in order to prevent this Court 
from passing on the constitutionality of this legislation Congress found it necessary to 
curtail our appellate jurisdiction. Indeed, prior to the Organic Act, the only time this 
Court had ever discussed the supplanting of courts by military tribunals in a situation 
other than that involving the establishment of a military government over recently 
occupied enemy territory, it had emphatically declared that civil liberty and this kind 
of martial law cannot endure together; the antagonism is irreconcilable; and, in the 
conflict, one or the other must perish.60 

In World War II, as in the Civil War, the Supreme Court did not exercise its juris­
diction to prohibit martial law while war was actually pending. The Court allowed the 
military to administer martial law, convene military commissions, and dispense justice 
without intervention by the courts. But once the emergency had passed, the Court 
opined on the necessity of civilian primacy and preached the virtues of republican 
government. 

III. The Nazi Saboteur Trial 

In fact, the Supreme Court’s decision during the war in the habeas corpus case 
brought by the defendants in the Nazi Saboteur case was not consistent with the sub­
lime principles stated by the Court after the war. 

In June 1942, German submarines landed eight Germans, wearing German uni­
forms (they changed into civilian clothes after they came ashore), in two groups—one 
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group on Long Island, and another group in Florida. All the men had lived in the 
United States; one claimed to be an American citizen. The men had been trained on 
sabotage and each had a box of explosives. One of the men soon turned himself in to 
the FBI, which was then able to capture the others. 

Justice Department prosecutors determined that it was unlikely that the men could 
be convicted of sabotage because they did not have specific plans for sabotage, and it 
was likely that they could only be convicted in federal court of offenses which carried 
a maximum penalty of three years.61 The Judge Advocate General of the Army, Myron 
C. Cramer, advocated trying the men by a military commission because of the light 
penalties available in civilian court.62 

Cramer and Attorney General Francis Biddle discussed the appointment of a mili­
tary tribunal to try the Germans, and Biddle met with Secretary of War Henry L. Stim­
son on June 29, 1942, to obtain Stimson’s consent for the military tribunal. Stimson 
wrote in his diary that he was surprised that “instead of straining every nerve to retain 
civil jurisdiction of these saboteurs, [Biddle] was quite ready to turn them over to a 
military court.”63 

Biddle suggested the appointment of a military commission to Roosevelt. Several 
factors supported the creation of a military tribunal. The Justice Department wanted 
closed hearings so that the fact that the FBI caught the Germans only after one of the 
Germans turned himself in would remain secret. Also, the Attorney General and the 
President wanted the Germans to be subject to the death penalty, which was not avail­
able for any defined crimes which the Germans had committed, and the President did 
not want the civilian courts to be involved. According to Biddle, Roosevelt told him: 
“I won’t give them up. . . .  I won’t hand them over to any United States marshal armed 
with a writ of habeas corpus. Understand?64 

On July 2, 1942, the President issued a proclamation which declared that: 

all persons who are subjects, citizens or residents of any nation at war with the United 
States or who give obedience to or act under the direction of any such nation, and who 
during time of war enter or attempt to enter the United States . . . through coastal or 
boundary defenses, and are charged with committing or attempting or preparing to 
commit sabotage, espionage, hostile or warlike acts, or violations of the law of war, 
shall be subject to the law of war and to the jurisdiction of military tribunals.65 

Roosevelt also issued an order under Article of War 38 appointing the tribunal of 
Army officers, the prosecutors, and the defense counsel. Biddle and Cramer themselves 
acted as prosecutors, and two Army Judge Advocates, Colonel Cassius M. Dowell, a 
career Army lawyer, and Colonel Kenneth C. Royall, an experienced trial lawyer from 
North Carolina who had been commissioned as a Colonel at the beginning of the war, 
to serve as defense counsel for seven of the eight defendants.66 The commission was 
empowered to establish its own rules of procedure.67 
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The prosecutors charged the Germans with four offenses: coming behind the lines 
of the United States to commit sabotage and espionage in violation of the law of war; 
assisting enemies of the United States in violation of Article of War 81; lurking as a spy 
in violation of Article of War 82; and conspiracy to commit these offenses.68 

Prior to the commencement of the trial, Royall objected to the President’s order 
establishing the commission on the grounds that, under Milligan, the Germans should 
be tried in the civilian courts, which were open and functioning. Royall also objected 
to the charges, because they were not offenses identified by a prior statute, and thus 
constituted common law crimes or crimes which were identified ex post facto (after the 
Germans committed the offenses). 

Article 38 of the Articles of War provided that the President prescribe the rules of 
procedure for military tribunals and “nothing contrary or inconsistent with these Ar­
ticles shall be so prescribed.”69  Under the Articles of War, the death penalty could only 
be imposed by unanimous vote, but Roosevelt’s proclamation allowed a two-thirds 
majority vote.70 

Royall and Dowell, as defense counsel, were in a quandary. They doubted that the 
procedure of the tribunal was constitutional, and they had a duty to their clients to de­
fend them zealously, but as military officers they also owed a duty to the Commander 
in Chief, who had appointed the tribunal. Prior to the commencement of the trial, they 
wrote to President Roosevelt, stating their concern that “there is a serious legal doubt” 
about the constitutionality of the tribunal. They were advised by an aide to Roosevelt, 
Marvin McIntyre, that they should act upon their best judgment.71 

By the twelfth day of the trial, Royall had decided to pursue an appeal to the fed­
eral courts, but he had been unable to find a civilian lawyer to appear in civilian court. 
He told the tribunal that he intended to himself file a petition for writ of habeas corpus 
in federal court in Washington. The defense counsel representing the other defendants 
announced their opposition to Royall’s strategy, and the tribunal refused to address the 
question of whether Royall had leave to appeal.72 

Louis Fisher described the unusual procedure which Royall, an experienced politi­
cian, followed: 

With time running out, Royall met ex parte with Justice Hugo Black at the Justice’s 
home in Alexandria, Virginia. When Black said he didn’t want to have anything to do 
with the case, Royall responded: “Mr. Justice, you shock me. That’s all I can say to 
you.” Turned down by Black, Royall tried unsuccessfully to reach Justice Frankfurter 
in Massachusetts. The following morning, he learned that Justice Owen Roberts was 
in Washington, DC, to attend the funeral of Justice George Sutherland. Royall went 
to Roberts’s office and waited for him to return. After listening to Royall outline the 
case, Roberts said: “I think you’ve got something that ought to be reviewed” and 
suggested that they meet the following day, July 23, at Justice Roberts’s farm outside 
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Philadelphia. Dowell, Biddle, and Cramer joined them. After discussing the matter, 
Roberts phoned Chief Justice Stone and got the go-ahead for holding oral argument 
on Wednesday, July 29. Roberts was able to reach all the Justices except two (Douglas 
and Murphy).73 

A highly unusual aspect of the appeal is that Royall went directly, ex parte, to the 
Supreme Court justices without first filing his petition for writ of habeas corpus in the 
lower courts. After the Supreme Court had agreed to conduct oral argument, Royall 
filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the United States District Court for the 
District of Columbia, which was denied, but no appeal of the District Court decision 
had been filed when the Supreme Court heard oral argument.74 

The Supreme Court heard oral argument in the case—styled Ex Parte Quirin—for 
nine hours over two days; the briefs had been hastily prepared and the Court had not 
had an opportunity to carefully read the briefs before argument.75 At the conclusion of 
the oral argument, the Supreme Court issued a brief per curiam opinion which upheld 
the jurisdiction of the military tribunal.76 

On August 1, 1942, the military tribunal convicted the eight Germans and sen­
tenced them to death. Roosevelt reduced the sentence to life imprisonment for the Ger­
man who had turned himself in and one other defendant. On August 7, the remaining 
six were electrocuted.77 

On October 29, 1942, the Supreme Court issued its full opinion in the case. The 
lynchpin of the Court’s decision was the distinction between “lawful” and “unlawful 
combatants.” The Court held that unlawful combatants may be tried and punished by 
military tribunals: 

By universal agreement and practice, the law of war draws a distinction between the 
armed forces and the peaceful populations of belligerent nations and also between 
those who are lawful and unlawful combatants. Lawful combatants are subject to cap­
ture and detention as prisoners of war by opposing military forces. Unlawful combat­
ants are likewise subject to capture and detention, but in addition they are subject to 
trial and punishment by military tribunals for acts which render their belligerency 
unlawful. The spy who secretly and without uniform passes the military lines of a 
belligerent in time of war, seeking to gather military information and communicate it 
to the enemy, or an enemy combatant who without uniform comes secretly through 
the lines for the purpose of waging war by destruction of life or property, are familiar 
examples of belligerents who are generally deemed not to be entitled to the status of 
prisoners of war, but to be offenders against the law of war subject to trial and punish­
ment by military tribunals. [Citations omitted]. Such was the practice of own military 
authorities before the adoption of the Constitution, and during the Mexican and Civil 
Wars.78 

In Quirin, the Supreme Court held that citizens of the United States could be un­
lawful belligerents and, as such, could be tried by military tribunal.79 The Court also 
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held that Milligan did not apply to the Germans because Lamdin Milligan had not been 
a member of the enemy armed force and was not subject to the law of war;80 therefore, 
even though the civilian courts were open and functioning in the states where the Ger­
mans landed and were caught, Milligan did not require that they be tried in a civilian 
court, where they would have received the benefit of civilian criminal procedural law. 
The Court avoided the question of whether the President had the power to allow the 
death penalty to be imposed by a two-thirds majority vote, when the Articles of War 
required a unanimous vote. The Justices agreed that a writ of habeas corpus could not 
be granted, but they disagreed as to why: some Justices believed that the Articles of 
War did not govern a military tribunal trying “enemy invaders,”81 and other justices did 
not believe that the Articles of War “rightfully construed” required procedures different 
from the procedures the tribunal followed.82 

The Supreme Court’s procedure and decision in Quirin has been widely criticized. 
In an interview in 1962, Justice Douglas said that it “is extremely undesirable to an­
nounce a decision on the merits without an opinion accompanying it. Because once 
the search for the grounds, the examination of the grounds that had been advanced is 
made, sometimes those grounds crumble.”83  Louis Fisher has pointed out that Jus­
tice Frankfurter asked his former student at Harvard Law School, Frederick Bernays 
Wiener, who was a Colonel in the Army JAG Corps, for his comments on the Court’s 
opinion. In three letters, Weiner provided sharp criticism of the opinion, arguing that 
the opinion improperly sanctioned ad-hoc military tribunals which, unlike the estab­
lished court-martial system, were immune from judicial review and which made up 
their own rules.84 

When two more Germans were captured in late 1944, Biddle and Cramer again 
prepared to personally prosecute them by a military tribunal in Washington. However, 
Secretary of War Stimson, who was himself one of the most distinguished lawyers 
in the country and was the former United States Attorney in New York, intervened, 
and urged Roosevelt to appoint a military tribunal in general accordance with the es­
tablished court-martial procedure. Stimson wrote in his diary of Biddle: “It is a petty 
thing. That little man is such a small little man and so anxious for publicity that he is 
trying to make an enormous show out of this performance—the trial of two miserable 
spies.”85 A military tribunal was convened at Governors Island, New York, and con­
victed the two men, but President Truman commuted their sentences to life imprison­
ment after the war, and they were later released.86 

IV. The Global War On Terror 

Through the Vietnam War, Army lawyers had limited conflict with the other agen­
cies of the Executive Branch. The Judge Advocate General’s Corps’ main function was 
to administer the Army’s military justice system. Although there were challenges to the 
military justice system, and even to the administration of military affairs by the Army, 
in civilian courts, the Justice Department defended the Army as a client, and there was 
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no significant conflict between the Army, civilian lawyers in the Department of De­
fense, and civilian lawyers at the Department of Justice as to military affairs. Colonel 
Kenneth Royall’s challenge to the Roosevelt’s administrations actions in the 1942 Nazi 
Saboteur case was singular. 

However, the culture of the Army JAG Corps changed in the last quarter of the 
twentieth century. The practice of law by Army JAGs became more complex during 
and after World War II. As Army forces were stationed around the world, Army law­
yers became accustomed to the practice of international law, particularly the negotia­
tion and interpretation of status of forces agreements and other treaties which governed 
the conduct of Army personnel and activities, such as the 1949 Geneva Conventions. 
By far, the most important change in military law was the adoption of the Uniform 
Code of Military Justice (UCMJ) in 1950. The UCMJ “civilianized” the courts-martial 
system, codified military crimes, created new procedural rights for defendants, and 
explicitly provided for military and civilian review of court-martial convictions. After 
the passage of the Military Justice Act of 1968, independent military judges presided 
over courts-martial, and the participation of Army lawyers as prosecutors and defense 
counsel was expanded, so that military proceedings became very similar to civilian 
criminal proceedings. In 1980, the Trial Defense Service was established, and Army 
lawyers assigned as defense counsel were removed from the chain of command which 
initiates courts-martial proceedings. 

Army JAGs also became more involved in advising commanders on legal aspects 
of military operations. In 1974, the Department of Defense promulgated Department 
of Defense Directive 5100.77, which required Army lawyers to ensure that “all US 
military operations strictly complied with the Law of War.”87 The Law of War program 
was initiated in response to violations of the Law of War in Vietnam, such as the My 
Lai massacre. The Law of War program required that military commanders be provid­
ed advice on the legal implications of their operational decisions. The implementation 
of the program in the Army resulted in the creation of a new legal field—“operational 
law”—and the authorization of positions for JAGs at most brigades throughout the 
Army. The Army JAG Corps now includes over 3400 lawyers.88 

At the same time that the Army was becoming more lawyered, after 1974, the pow­
er of the executive branch was being curtailed by Congress. In fact, the lawyerization 
of the Army was itself a result of Congress’ effort to limit executive discretion in the 
military justice system and in military operations. The limitation of command discre­
tion in military affairs enhanced the role and authority of Army lawyers, who became 
watchdogs of a legal culture within the Army. 

When the United States launched its invasion of Afghanistan in retaliation for the 
terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001, the American military detained numerous in­
dividuals who were suspected of being lawful and unlawful combatants, as described 
in Quirin, the 1942 Nazi Saboteur case. On November 13, 2001, President Bush issued 
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a military order, drafted by Timothy Flanigan, the Deputy White House Counsel and 
David Addington, the Vice President’s Counsel, intended to govern the “Detention, 
Treatment, and Trial of Certain Non-Citizens in the War Against Terrorism.”89 The or­
der applied to any noncitizen for whom the President has “reason to believe” either “is 
or was” a member of al Qaeda or a person who has engaged or participated in terrorist 
activities aimed at or harmful to the United States.90 

According to Charlie Savage, the decision to establish military commissions devi­
ated from the normal interagency process. Initially, the question of how to try indi­
viduals who had been detained in Afghanistan was considered by an interagency com­
mittee, headed by Pierre-Richard Prosper, the Ambassador-at-Large for War Crimes 
Issues. However, as Savage has described, the interagency process did not complete 
its work: 

Prosper’s group had met for the next month in a windowless conference room on the 
seventh floor of the State Department. It had brought together experts from around 
the government, including military lawyers and Justice Department prosecutors. The 
group had analyzed a range of options, weighing the pros and cons of each. The Jus­
tice Department advocated regular trials in civilian federal courts, as the United States 
had done after the 1993 World Trade Center bombing. But holding terrorist trials in 
a regular courthouse on US soil presented security risks. The uniformed lawyers had 
advocated using courts-martial, which could take place anywhere in the world. But 
courts-martial had well-established rules of evidence and procedure. Setting up a new 
system of military commissions, the third option on the table, would provide greater 
flexibility. There were problems, though: Some lawyers believed that the president 
might need to go to Congress for specifi c authorization. 

Then, before Prosper’s group could complete its work, Flanigan had abruptly short-cir­
cuited the interagency process. Without telling Prosper, Flanigan had secretly decreed 
that the answer was military commissions, and that the president had inherent wartime 
authority to create them on his own. Flanigan wrote up the draft order himself. In 
completing it, he worked with just two other government lawyers. One was Berenson, 
his junior subordinate, chosen because he had been the White House’s representative 
at Prosper’s group and so was already steeped in the issue. The other contributor was 
Addington.91 

According to Savage, Flanigan and Addington relied, in part, upon a memorandum 
written by Patrick Philbin, an attorney in the Justice Department’s Office of Legal 
Counsel, entitled “Legality of the Use of Military Commissions to Try Terrorists.” 
Philbin was Deputy Assistant Attorney General in the Office of Legal Counsel, where 
he worked with his law school classmate John Yoo, who had been the original advocate 
within the Bush administration for the legal theory that the President has inherent war 
powers that are not constrained by Congress, treaties, or other international law. Yoo 
and Philbin had both been law clerks for conservative Judge Laurence Silberman at 
the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit and for Justice 
Clarence Thomas at the Supreme Court. However, Philbin had little experience with 
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national security law and it is likely that Addington and Yoo provided significant input 
to the memo. The memo argued that President Roosevelt had demonstrated the inher­
ent power of the President to set up military commissions and prescribe the commis­
sion procedures during the 1942 Nazi Saboteur case, and the President’s power was 
vindicated by the Supreme Court.92 

On November 8, 2001, the Wednesday before Veterans Day, Department of De­
fense General Counsel William James Haynes II informed Major General Thomas J. 
Romig, the Army Judge Advocate General, that civilian lawyers in the administration 
had prepared a draft order on military commissions. Haynes told Romig that “he could 
send one representative to his office to help review the draft order, but he would not 
allow the officer to take a copy of the order away or even write down notes about it.”93 

Romig sent Colonel Lawrence Morris to review the draft order. The next day, Morris 
met with Romig in Romig’s basement. They were both concerned because the order 
did not incorporate the changes in international law, such as the 1949 Geneva Con­
ventions, or changes in military justice, such as the UCMJ, which had occurred since 
the 1942 Nazi Saboteur case. Romig, Morris, and Brigadier General Scott Black, the 
Assistant Judge Advocate General for Law and Military Operations, worked over the 
Veterans Day weekend, drafting suggested modifications to the draft order. Morris pre­
sented the proposed changes to Haynes, but none of the suggestions were adopted.94 

On the same weekend—on Saturday, November 10, 2001—Vice President Cheney 
convened a meeting in the Roosevelt Room of the White House to finalize the order. 
Defense Department General Counsel Haynes, Attorney General Ashcroft, and “sev­
eral top White House lawyers” were present. Ashcroft expressed his desire to allow 
Justice Department participation in the trial process, but was overruled by Cheney. On 
Wednesday, November 13, Cheney brought the order to his weekly private luncheon 
with President Bush.95  Jane Mayer has written that: 

On the Tuesday after Ashcroft’s Veterans Day showdown, Cheney presented the draft 
of the military commission order, which had been secretly written by his legal allies, 
to President Bush during their weekly private White House lunch. It was apparently 
the first time that Bush had seen it. The draft ran some four pages. The language was 
arcane and the subject matter more so. But after the lunch, Cheney advised Addington 
and the other lawyers that the President was on board. An hour or so later, with no 
further vetting or debate, and without circulating the draft to any of President Bush’s 
other top advisers on national security matters, the finished document was presented 
back to the President, this time for his fi nal signature. Deputy White House Staff Di­
rector Stuart Bowen told the Washington Post that he had bypassed all of his usual 
procedures, which called for more review, because of intense pressure to get it signed 
quickly from the lawyers who had secretly written the order. As a result, in the span of 
little more than a luncheon, Addington’s text became law.96 

The President delegated to Secretary of Defense Donald H. Rumsfeld the responsi­
bility for drafting the rules for the military commissions, and the military JAGs worked 
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with lawyers from the DOD General Counsel’s office and the Justice Department’s 
Office of Legal Counsel to develop the rules. Savage has written: 

Initially, Romig said, some of the political appointees were interested in a very draco­
nian system, which, among other things, could convict defendants under a low stan­
dard of proof; would deny them the right to have outside civilian defense attorneys; 
and could impose the death penalty without unanimity by the panel of offi cers judging 
the case. The JAGs objected strongly to these and other deviations from military law. 
One of the top JAGs threatened to resign if some of the harshest proposed rules be­
came final, arguing that they would force military lawyers to violate their legal ethical 
standards and possibly put them at risk of later prosecution for war crimes. 

In the end, the political appointees backed down from some of the most extreme pro­
posals they had been floating. When Rumsfeld signed an order fleshing out what the 
commission trials would look like in March 2002, the system was closer to what the 
JAGs wanted: Defendants could be convicted only if guilt was proven beyond a rea­
sonable doubt, outside defense counsel was allowed, and a unanimous vote was re­
quired for the death penalty. But the order, Romig said, was still not what the JAGs 
would have designed had they been allowed to create the commission system from 
scratch on their own. While less draconian than the political appointees’ initial plans, 
the military commissions were still legally objectionable in several respects. The com­
mission rules, for example, allowed secret evidence that would be kept hidden from 
a defendant and allowed the admission of evidence obtained through coercive inter­
rogations.97 

The effort of Republican administrations to marginalize military JAGs had been 
going on since the middle of the Reagan administration. During the Ford administra­
tion, in which Rumsfeld and Cheney served as White House chief of staff, Congress 
enacted intelligence reforms through the Foreign Intelligence and Surveillance Act, 
budget reforms which restricted the President’s power to impound the funding of pro­
grams which Congress had authorized but which the President opposed, and attempted 
to limit the President’s power to wage war through the War Powers Resolution. 

In 1986, during the second Reagan administration, Attorney General Edwin Meese 
received a report from the Justice Department’s Domestic Policy Committee, a conser­
vative think tank within the department. The report “noted approvingly . . . [that] the 
strong leadership of President Reagan seems clearly to have ended the congressional 
resurgence of the 1970s,”98 and it described a new approach to presidential power—the 
Unitary Executive Theory. The premise of the theory is that the President is the unitary 
authority within the executive branch; that the executive branch can be viewed as an 
organic being with the President as its brain.99  Under the theory, there can be no mean­
ingful dissent with the executive branch because the President’s will is unitary. 

The philosophy of a unitary executive branch conflicts with the trend within the 
Army JAG corps toward providing independent legal advice to commanders and main­
taining a fair military justice system. Attempts to reconcile the tension between the 
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independence of military lawyers with the political will of the President’s political 
appointees has been an issue since the debate over the Goldwater-Nichols defense re­
form act in 1987. At that time, Congress considered placing the service JAGs under the 
service’s politically-appointed civilian general counsels, but instead merely enhanced 
the general counsels’ prestige by explicitly recognizing them in statute and requiring 
that they be confirmed by the Senate. 

Shortly before the Gulf War, William James Haynes II, the political-appointee 
civilian General Counsel of the Army, clashed with Army Judge Advocate General, 
Major General John Fugh, over whose office should control operational legal issues 
that would arise during the war. Haynes, who was a protégé of David Addington, a 
close adviser to then-Secretary of Defense Cheney, pressed for greater control over the 
Army’s uniformed lawyers; Fugh resisted. In 1991, Cheney forwarded legislation to 
Congress seeking to place all military attorneys under the control of civilian political 
appointees. When Congress failed to enact the legislation, the Defense Department is­
sued an administrative order effecting the change.100 When Addington was later nomi­
nated to become the Department of Defense General Counsel, Senate Armed Services 
Committee chairman Sam Nunn stated that it appeared to him that the Cheney team 
wanted to empower political lawyers to force JAGs to “reach a particular result on 
a question of law or a finding of fact,” and that they wanted to create a politically 
appointed filter between the JAGs and top military decision makers. Addington was 
confirmed “only after promising that the Pentagon would restore the military lawyers’ 
independence.”101 

The issue was revisited when the George W. Bush administration took office, with 
Cheney as Vice President, Addington as his counsel, and Haynes as Department of 
Defense General Counsel. In early 2003, after the resistance of the JAGs to the ad­
ministration’s civilian lawyers’ plans for military commissions (as well as resistance 
to the civilian lawyers’ interpretation of the Foreign Intelligence Surveillance Act and 
the standards for treatment of detainees), Army General Counsel Stephen Morello at­
tempted to change the system for selecting the Army Judge Advocate General from 
the traditional system, in which a board of Army generals select the JAG. Morello 
proposed a system in which the uniformed Army would compile a short list of final­
ists, from which the political appointees in the Department of Army would select the 
JAG. The civilian leadership backed down after the generals resisted the proposal. In 
May 2003, Morello attempted to civilianize “a thousand of the army’s fifteen hundred 
uniformed lawyers into civilian positions.”102 

In late 2004, in response to an order by the Secretary of the Air Force placing the 
Air Force Judge Advocate General and his subordinate uniformed JAGs under the di­
rect supervision of the Air Force General Counsel, Congress included language in the 
2005 Defense Authorization Act, which was intended to prohibit the civilian leadership 
of the Defense Department from “interfering with the ability of a military department 
judge advocate general . . . to give independent legal advice to the head of a military 
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department or chief of a military service or with the ability of judge advocates assigned 
to military units to give independent legal advice to commanders.”103 

On October 29, 2004, President Bush signed the Defense Authorization Act, but 
issued a signing statement which specifically stated that the executive branch would 
construe the statute in light of “the unitary executive branch” paradigm, so that the 
legal opinions issued by the Defense Department General Counsel would “bind all 
civilian and military attorneys within the Department of Defense.”104  In early 2005, 
Defense Department General Counsel Haynes unsuccessfully attempted to implement 
the civilian selection of the top JAGs in all the services.105  In late 2007, the Defense 
Department proposed a regulation which would have required “coordination” with the 
civilian general counsels of each service prior to the promotion of any JAG officer. The 
regulation was widely perceived as an attempt to give the civilian attorneys a veto over 
the promotion of military JAG officers, and was ultimately withdrawn.106 

In the three major cases relating to military commissions—Hamdi v. Rumsfeld, 
Hamdan v. Rumsfeld, and Boumediene v. Bush—the Supreme Court vindicated the 
concerns which the JAGs had originally raised regarding the procedure which should 
be applied in military commissions. 

Yaser Esam Hamdi was born in Louisiana and raised in Saudi Arabia. In 2001, he 
was captured by the Northern Alliance in Afghanistan and turned over to the United 
States military. He was detained at Guantanamo Bay until it was determined that he 
was an American citizen; he was then transferred to custody in the United States.107 

Hamdi’s father filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the United States District 
Court for the Eastern District of Virginia on his son’s behalf, which alleged that Hamdi 
had been in Afghanistan doing relief work for only a short period prior to September 
2001, that he had not received any military training in Afghanistan, and that he was 
being held without charges by the military.108 The District Court appointed the federal 
public defender as Hamdi’s counsel and ordered that counsel be provided access to 
Hamdi. The United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit reversed, and direct­
ed the District Court to consider “the most cautious procedures first” and to conduct a 
deferential inquiry into whether Hamdi was an “enemy combatant.”109 

On remand, the government presented the affidavit of Michael Mobbs (“the Mobbs 
Declaration”) which stated that Hamdi had been captured in Afghanistan as part of the 
Taliban force and that he was carrying a Kalishnikov rifle at the time of his capture. 
Mobbs stated that Hamdi had been declared an enemy combatant.110 The District Court 
found that the Mobbs Declaration was “little more than the government’s ‘say-so’” and 
ordered the government to turn over for the judge’s review numerous documents sup­
porting the claims of the Mobbs Declaration. The government appealed, and the Fourth 
Circuit held that the Mobbs Declaration was sufficient, that Congress’ resolution au­
thorizing the use of military force was sufficient authority for the government to detain 
Hamdi, and that (based upon Quirin) the fact that Hamdi was an American citizen did 
not make any difference as to whether he could be detained without charges or trial.111 
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The Supreme Court applied the balancing test of Mathews v. Eldridge,112 a case 
involving entitlement to welfare benefits, and ruled that an American citizen who is 
detained by the government “must receive notice of the factual basis for his classifica­
tion and a fair opportunity to rebut the Government’s factual assertions before a neutral 
decisionmaker.”113 

Salim Ahmed Hamdan was captured in Afghanistan and detained at Guantana­
mo Bay. Hamdan’s case has been the vanguard of military commission cases since 
9/11. On July 3, 2003, the President determined that Hamdan was triable by military 
commission. In December 2003, Navy Lieutenant Commander Charles D. Swift was 
appointed as Hamdan’s defense counsel; Swift filed a demand for charges and for a 
speedy trial pursuant to Article 10 of the UCMJ, which was denied by the legal adviser 
to the Appointing Authority, who ruled that Hamdan was not entitled to the rights 
provided by the UCMJ.114  On July 13, 2004, after Hamdan’s civilian attorney, Neal 
Katyal (who had been recruited by Lieutenant Commander Swift to assist Hamdan) 
had filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the United States District Court for the 
Western District of Washington, Hamdan was charged with “conspiracy” as a member 
of al Qaeda and as Osama bin Laden’s driver and bodyguard from February 1996 until 
November 2001.115  Hamdan’s case was reviewed by a Combatant Status Review Tri­
bunal (“CSRT”), which determined that Hamdan’s continued detention was justified 
because he was an “enemy combatant” which was defined in the military order estab­
lishing the CSRT as “an individual who was part of or supporting Taliban or al Qaeda 
forces, or associated forces that are engaged in hostilities against the United States or 
its coalition partners.”116 

The US District Court for the District of Columbia, which received Hamdan’s case 
on transfer from the Western District of Washington, granted a writ of habeas corpus 
and stayed the commission’s proceedings because the commission procedure because 
it had the power to convict based on evidence the accused would never hear, in viola­
tion of Common Article 3 of the Third Geneva Convention. The Court of Appeals for 
the District of Columbia Circuit reversed the District Court, holding that the Geneva 
Conventions were not “judicially enforceable.”117 

After the Supreme Court granted Hamdan’s appeal but prior to oral argument, 
Congress enacted the Detainee Treatment Act of 2005 (“DTA”), which deprived the 
courts of jurisdiction to hear “an application for a writ of habeas corpus filed by or 
behalf of an alien detained by the Department of Defense at Guantanamo Bay, Cuba,” 
and vested in the Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit the sole juris­
diction to review the CSRTs’ decision to detain an alien at Guantanamo Bay and any 
sentence imposed on such aliens by a military commission.118 

The Supreme Court ruled that the DTA did not deprive the Court of jurisdiction 
in Hamdan’s case because the case was already pending at the time of enactment of 
the statute.119  On the merits of the case, the Court found that a military commission 
could not try the charges against Hamdan because none of his alleged acts occurred on 
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a specified date after September 11, 2001, were not alleged to have occurred during 
the United States’ war, and therefore could not have violated the law of war.120 The 
Court also held that “conspiracy” was not a recognizable violation of the law of war 
and was not an offense for which Hamdan could be tried by a military commission.121 

The Court also held that a “uniformity” principle required that Hamdan be entitled to 
the same procedural protections as defendants in courts-martial unless the President 
determines that such protections would be impracticable, and such protections were 
not impracticable at Guantanamo Bay.122 The Court held that the procedural rules of 
the military commissions, which did not require that the accused be present or hear 
the evidence against him, violated Common Article 3 of the Third Geneva Convention 
which prohibits “the passing of sentences and the carrying out of executions without 
previous judgment pronounced by a regularly constituted court affording all the judi­
cial guarantees which are recognized as indispensable by civilized peoples.”123 

After the Supreme Court’s decision in Hamdan, the administration re-examined 
the procedures followed by the military commissions. On Friday, July 28, 2006, a 
group of JAG officers met with Justice Department attorneys on the fifth floor of the 
Justice Department headquarters, just down the hall from the room where the 1942 
Nazi Saboteur trial was held. A fundamental concern among the JAGs was that secret 
evidence could be introduced during the military commission trials outside the pres­
ence of the defendant. Shortly after the meeting began, the Justice Department lawyers 
refused to discuss the secret evidence issue, thus limiting the agenda to less significant 
issues—not the core concerns which the Supreme Court raised in Hamdan. The ad­
ministration’s civilian attorneys submitted new legislation—the Military Commissions 
Act—to Congress, with virtually no input from the JAG lawyers124 

Congress decided to invite the top JAG from each service to testify about what 
they believed should be in the Military Commissions Act. Given an opportunity to 
bypass the filter of the Bush-Cheney legal team, the JAGs told lawmakers that to be 
fair and legal, the trials must give defendants the right to see any evidence used against 
them. The administration continued to argue against such a plan, but Congress ulti­
mately decided that the uniformed lawyers were right; the final bill outlawed the use 
of secret evidence. 

The Military Commissions Act of 2006 (MCA) provided specific Congressional 
authorization for the President to establish military commissions. The procedure to be 
followed in military commissions trial is required to “be based upon the procedures for 
trial by court martial,”125 and Congress declared that a “military commission . . . is a 
regularly constituted court, affording all necessary ‘judicial guarantees as recognized 
as indispensable by civilized peoples’ for purposes of common Article 3 of the Geneva 
Conventions.”126 The Act also restated the language of the DTA, which attempted to 
strip the courts of habeas corpus jurisdiction over enemy combatants,127 and made the 
determinations of the Combatant Status Review Tribunals “dispositive” as to whether 
a person is an enemy combatant.128 

360 



  

  

  

   

The Supreme Court’s latest decision in this area, Boumediene v. Bush,129 addressed 
detainees’ right to habeas corpus review of their detention after the enactment of the 
DTA and MCA. 

The detainees involved in Boumediene commenced their habeas corpus petitions 
in February 2002, but the cases were dismissed for lack of jurisdiction because the na­
val station is outside the sovereign territory of United States.130 The Court of Appeals 
for the DC Circuit affirmed. In Rasul v. Bush,131 the Supreme Court granted certiorari 
and reversed, holding that habeas corpus jurisdiction extended to Guantanamo.132  On 
remand to the District Court, the cases were consolidated into two separate proceed­
ings. The judge in one case held that the detainees had no rights which could be as­
serted in a habeas corpus proceeding; the judge in the other case held that the detainees 
were entitled to due process of law.133 While appeals were pending, Congress enacted 
the DTA, which stated that no court could hear a habeas corpus action on behalf of an 
alien detained at Guantanamo. After the Supreme Court’s decision in Hamdan, which 
held that the DTA did not apply to cases which were pending before its enactment, 
Congress passed the MCA, which specifically stated that the suspension of habeas cor­
pus applied to “all cases, without exception, pending or after the date of the enactment 
of this Act . . . .”134 The Court of Appeals held that the new act unequivocally stripped 
it of jurisdiction to consider the detainees’ habeas corpus petitions.135 

When the detainees appealed to the Supreme Court, five military lawyers—from 
the Army, Navy, and the Marine Corps—representing detainees at Guantanamo, filed 
an amicus curiae brief with the Court. The military lawyers wrote: 

The President here asserts the power to create a legal black hole, where a simulacrum 
of Article III justice is dispensed but justice in fact depends on the mercy of the Execu­
tive. Under this monarchical regime, those who fall into the black hole may not contest 
the jurisdiction, competency, or even the constitutionality of the military tribunals, 
despite the guarantee of habeas corpus, see US Const., Art. I, § 9, cl. 2, and the right 
to such determination by a “competent tribunal” under the 1949 Geneva Convention. 
The President’s assertion of such absolute supremacy contravenes the bedrock prin­
ciple that it is “the province and duty of the judicial department to say what the law is,” 
and the similarly “settled and invariable principle . . . that every right, when withheld, 
must have a remedy, and every injury its proper redress.” Marbury v. Madison, 5 US 
(1 Cranch) 137, 163, 177 (1803) (quoting Blackstone). This Court has never given the 
President the ability to proclaim himself the superior of sole expositor of the Constitu­
tion in matters of justice.136 

In Boumediene, the Supreme Court relied extensively upon the amicus curiae brief 
filed by a large group of “legal historians.” The court recited at length the history of ha­
beas corpus, and held that the writ could be suspended only if Congress had provided 
“adequate substitute procedures for habeas corpus.”137 The Court held that the DTA 
did not provide an adequate substitute remedy because the only venue for review of 
a detention decision was the Court of Appeals for the DC Circuit, but the DC Circuit 
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did not have authority to entertain a challenge to the President’s authority to detain a 
particular detainee as an “enemy combatant,” to order the release of a detainee, or to 
heat “relevant exculpatory evidence that was not made part of the record” at Guan­
tanamo.138 Accordingly, the Court held that the provision of the DTA and the MCA 
which stripped the court of jurisdiction was unconstitutional and remanded the case to 
the District Court for consideration of the detainees’ habeas corpus petition.139 

The permanence of the Boumediene decision is tenuous, however. The Supreme 
Court was split 5-4. Three of the justices who voted in the minority (Chief Justice Rob­
erts, Justice Thomas, and Justice Alito) are the youngest justices on the Court, and it is 
likely that any new appointee by President Bush would vote to strip the courts of juris­
diction to review military commission decisions, shifting the majority on the Court. 

In the meantime, the military commission process at Guantanamo Bay continues. 
On August 7, 2008, a commission acquitted Salim Ahmed Hamdan of conspiracy, and 
sentenced him to five-and-a-half years in prison, although he was given credit for the 
61 months that he had already served. Hamdan was the first detainee to be tried by 
a military commission (a prior case, involving an Australian citizen, ended in a plea 
agreement). However, the Justice Department continued to assert that the President has 
the inherent authority to hold detainees until the end of the war on terror, so it is uncer­
tain whether Hamdan will be released even after his sentence is completed.140 

The Army’s relationship to the judiciary’s power to intervene in military affairs 
has turned about since Andrew Jackson’s expulsion of Judge Hall from New Orleans. 
The Judge Advocate Generals’ testimony against the Military Commissions Act and 
the military lawyers’ amicus brief are an unprecedented divergence between military 
lawyers and the policy of the executive branch, which undermined the ability of the 
President to act as a unitary executive. 

In his dissent to the Court’s decision in Boumediene, Justice Thomas wrote that: 

The Founders intended that the President have primary responsibility—along with the 
necessary power—to protect the national security and to conduct the Nation’s foreign 
relations. They did so principally because the structural advantages of a unitary Execu­
tive are essential in these domains. “Energy in the executive is a leading character in 
the definition of good government. It is essential to the protection of the community 
against foreign attacks.” Id., [The Federalist] No. 70 at 471 (A. Hamilton). The prin­
ciple “ingredient” for “energy in the executive” is “unity.” Id. at 472. This is because 
“[d]ecision, activity, secrecy, and dispatch will generally characterize the proceedings 
of one man, in a much more eminent degree, than the proceedings of any greater 
number.”141 

In Youngstown Sheet & Tube Co. v. Sawyer,142 the case in which the Supreme 
Court invalidated President Truman’s seizure of steel mills during the Korean War, 
Justice Jackson articulated a test for reviewing the President’s wartime decisions. He 
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wrote that the President’s executive power varies, depending upon whether he acts 
on his own or with the approval of Congress. When the President acts entirely on his 
own, in a manner which is contrary to the “express or implied policy of Congress,”143 

his power “is at its lowest ebb, for then he can rely only upon his own constitutional 
powers minus any constitutional powers of Congress over the matter.”144 When the 
President acts in the absence of Congressional action, “he can only rely upon his own 
independent powers, but there is a zone of twilight in which he and Congress may have 
concurrent authority, or in which its distribution is uncertain.”145  However, when the 
President “acts pursuant to an express or implied authorization from Congress,”146 “his 
authority is at its maximum, for it includes all that he possesses in his own right plus 
all that Congress can delegate.”147 

The controversy over the use of military commissions—like the dispute over the 
treatment of detainees and electronic surveillance within the United States by military 
agencies—is a dispute over Presidential power. The Bush administration, motivated 
primarily by Vice President Cheney, who has sought to redress the diminution of Presi­
dential power that he witnessed as Chief of Staff during the Ford Administration, has 
acted on the conviction that the President has unitary power to act without dissent or 
dissonance within the executive branch, and has the inherent authority to wage war 
without interference or limit by Congress, the judiciary, or international agreements. 

When the Supreme Court considered Hamdi, who was an American citizen, Con­
gress had not authorized military commissions or specified the procedures for treat­
ment of unlawful and enemy combatants. Therefore, the Judge Advocates General, the 
detainees’ military defense lawyers, Congress, and the courts had a role in determining 
what policy should be, because the President was acting when his power was at its 
“lowest ebb.” However, after Congress enacted the MCA, the President’s power was at 
“its maximum,” and, although it turned out that the Supreme Court held that Congress 
did not properly suspend habeas corpus, the President should have been able to expect 
that the executive branch would act as a unitary whole in effecting his policy. 

However, the JAGs who resisted the administration policy on military commis­
sions have advanced an institutional agenda which they consider to be independent 
of, and to impose a duty higher than, administration policy. As Rear Admiral Donald 
Gutner, the Navy Judge Advocate General, told Jane Mayer: “We were marginalized. 
We were warning them that we had this long tradition of military justice, and we didn’t 
want to tarnish it. The treatment of detainees was a big issue. They didn’t want to hear 
it.”148  Since World War II, the Judge Advocate General’s corps—and the Army Judge 
Advocate Generals’ Corps, in particular—had developed a robust institutional iden­
tity and jurisdiction as the military’s conscience. This identity was bolstered by the 
overhauls of military justice in 1950 and 1968, which made the military justice system 
perhaps fairer than its civilian counterpart. The systemic implementation of the De­
partment of Defense law of war program, the development of operational law as a field 
of substantive law, and the widespread internalization of international law and limits to 
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warfighting, all overseen by the JAGs, caused the JAGs to believe that they were the 
keepers of a higher standard of warfighting which matched American values and that 
their input into policy-making that involved the military was indispensable. 

This attitude is a departure from Army tradition. The Army has been a reliable 
agent of executive power throughout its history, and has defied officials outside the 
executive branch to do so. The basis of Army action has been its understanding of its 
mission from the president—its organizational jurisdiction—even in the absence of 
specific instructions. Andrew Jackson ignored Judge Hall, and even removed him from 
office because he believed that it was necessary to accomplish his mission of defend­
ing New Orleans, and that his power to act flowed from the President who had given 
him his mission. Winfield Scott imposed martial law in Mexico, even without explicit 
approval, because he believed it necessary to accomplish his military mission. Army 
lawyers during the Civil War prosecuted civilian citizens before military commissions 
even after courts issued writs of habeas corpus requiring the Army to produce their 
prisoners. The Army commanders and lawyers in Hawaii enforced martial law pursu­
ant to the President’s proclamation in the face of continued resistance and orders from 
the federal judges in the territory. Colonel Kenneth Royall, who aggressively defended 
the Nazi saboteurs, only challenged the President’s military commission proclamation 
in the courts after the President’s representative authorized him to act within his own 
discretion. 

The JAGs resistance to the current administration’s military commission process 
may pass into history as a footnote—the Bush administration may terminate without 
the appointment of a new Supreme Court justice who would vote to overturn Boume­
diene, and the new administration will probably not adopt the aggressive position on 
the unitary and inherent power of the executive which was sponsored by Vice President 
Cheney. Nevertheless, this episode raises important questions about the institutional 
jurisdiction and independence of the Army as a service and Army lawyers as advo­
cates, since the JAGs continued to resist the President’s policy on military commis­
sions and treatment of detainees even after Congress enacted the MCA. The military 
commission policy was supported by both of the political branches of the government. 
The aggressive resistance to the military commissions may be a sign that the Army 
(and its JAGs) are committed, or are becoming committed, to a philosophy of military 
justice and treatment of enemies that, as an institution, it considers superior to the pol­
icy of the President himself, or even of the President and Congress acting together. At 
this point—in September 2008—after the Hamdan conviction, the military is imple­
menting the military commissions policy, but this should not obscure the fact that the 
substance of the policy was changed because of the military’s resistance to it and that 
the policy which the military is now implementing is fundamentally different from the 
policy which the administration originally promulgated. 

According to Jane Mayer, Major General Romig claims that Addington was “over­
heard” to have said: “Don’t bring the TJAGs into the process. They aren’t reliable.”149 
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The wariness of the leading administration’s civilian lawyers of military lawyers, who 
have now demonstrated an unprecedented independence, is a fundamental issue of 
civil-military relations which may affect the role which military lawyers are allowed to 
play in the interagency process, especially when policy which conflicts with military 
legal culture is proposed. 

Notes 

1. See Louis Fisher, Military Tribunals & Presidential Power: American Revolution to the 
War on Terror, (Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 2005). 

2. 3 Papers of Andrew Jackson, 206–7 (Harold D. Moser ed. 1991). 
3. Fisher, 25. 
4. 2 Correspondence of Andrew Jackson, 179 (J. Bassett ed. 1927). 
5. Ibid. 
6. 2 Correspondence of Andrew Jackson, 183. 
7. Habeas corpus is the process by which a prisoner may seek review of his detention. Ar­

ticle I § 9 of the US Constitution provides that the writ of habeas corpus may not be suspended 
except in times of rebellion or invasion. A prisoner may file a petition for a writ of habeas 
corpus with a court and, if the court grants the writ, the person responsible for the prisoner’s 
detention must produce the prisoner in court and justify the legal basis of the detention. If the 
detention is found to be illegal, the court may order the prisoner to be released. 

8. Robert Remini, Andrew Jackson and the Course of American Empire, 1767–1821, (Bal­
timore, MD: The Johns Hopkins University Press, 1977), 310. 

9. Jonathan Lurie, “Andrew Jackson, Martial Law, Civilian Control of the Military, and 
American Politics: An Intriguing Amalgam, Military Law Review 126, 133. 
10. 2 Correspondence of Andrew Jackson, 189 (letter to Captain Peter Ogden and order to 

Judge Hall, both March 11, 1815). 
11. 3 Papers of Andrew Jackson, 310. 
12. Lurie, 140 (relying upon Dart, Andrew Jackson and Judge D.A. Hall, 5 Louisiana His­

torical Quarterly, 551–53 (1922)). 
13. Remini, 313. 
14. Fisher, 27 (referring to Jonathan Lurie). 
15. Ibid., 37. 
16. Ibid. 
17. 1 Op. Att’y Gen. 233 (1818). 
18. Fisher, 32. 
19. Ibid., (citing 2 Justin H. Smith, The War with Mexico, 220 (1919)). 
20. Ibid., 33. 
21. John Pinheiro, Manifest Ambition: James K. Polk and Civil-Military Relations During 

the Mexican War, (Westport, CT: Greenwood Publishing, 2007), 91–95. 
22. 8 Op. Atty Gen. 365. 
23. Ibid. 
24. Ibid. 

365 



25. Ibid. The argument that martial law is imposed in the absence of law recalls Wellington’s 
rationale for the imposition of military rule in Portugal. He wrote in his dispatches from Portu­
gal that: “Let us call the thing by its right name; it is not martial law, but martial rule. And when 
we speak of it, let us speak of it as abolishing all law, and substituting the will of the military 
commander, and we shall give a true idea of the thing, and be able to reason about it with a clear 
sense of what we are doing.” (cited by David Dudley Field in his argument before the Supreme 
Court in Ex Parte Milligan, 71 US 2, 35 (1866). 

26. 10 Op. Atty Gen. 74, 85. 
27. Fisher, 44. 
28. 2 Stat. 755 (1863). 
29. 17 Fed.Cas. 144 (Cir.Ct. Md. 1861). 
30. Wall. (68 US) 243 (1864). 
31. Ibid., 253–54. 
32. 71 US 2 (1866). 
33. Ibid., 108–109. 
34. Ibid., 124–125. 
35. Ex Parte McCardle, 74 US 506 (Wall.) (1868). 
36. Ex Parte White, 66 F. Supp. 982, 984 (D. Hawaii 1944). 
37. Duncan v. Kahanamoku, 327 US 304 (1946) (citing Hawaii Organic Act, 31 Stat. 141, 

153). 
38. The Army Lawyer: A History of the Judge Advocate General’s Corps, 1775–1975, (Wil­

liam S Hein & Co, 1975), 178. 
39. Fisher, 131. 
40. The Army Lawyer, 178. 
41. Ex Parte Zimmerman. 132 F.2d 442, 444 (9th Cir. 1942). 
42. 132 F. 2d at 443. 
43. Ibid. 
44. Ibid, 444. 
45. Ibid. 
46. Ibid. 
47. Ibid., 446. 
48. Ibid., 450. 
49. 66 F. Supp. 982, 984. 
50. Ibid. 
51. Fisher, 134–35. 
52. Ibid. 
53. Ex Parte White, 66 F. Supp. 982 (D. Hawaii 1944). 
54. Ex Parte Spurlock, 66 F. Supp. 997, 1004 (D. Hawaii 1944). 
55. Ex Parte Duncan, 55 F. Supp. 976 (D. Hawaii 1944). 
56. Ibid., 981–82. 
57. Ex Parte Duncan, 146 F. 2d 576 (9th Cir. 1944). 
58. Steer v. Spurlock, 146 F. 2d 652 (9th Cir. 1944). 
59. 327 US at 323–24. 
60. Fisher, 95. 

366 



 
61. Ibid., 96. 
62. Fisher, 96 (quoting Diary of Henry L. Stimson, June 28, 1942, Roll 7, at 128–29, Manu­

script Room, Library of Congress, Washington DC). 
63. Fisher, 99 (quoting Biddle, In Brief Authority at 331 (1962). 
64. 7 Fed. Reg. 5101. 
65. Fisher, 99–100 
66. 7 Fed. Reg. 5103 (1942). 
67. Fisher, 103–106. 
68. “Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia,” 

reprinted in 39 Landmark Briefs and Arguments of the Supreme Court of the United States 296, 
550 (1975). 
69. Fisher, 112. 
70. Ibid., 106. 
71. Ibid. (Fisher relied upon “The Reminiscences of Kenneth Claiborne Royall,” Oral His­

tory Project, Columbia University, New York, 1965, 35). 
72. Ibid., 106–107. 
73. Ex Parte Quirin, 317 US 1, 18 (1942). 
74. Fisher, 107. 
75. 317 US at 48. 
76. Fisher, 114. 
77. 317 US at 30–31. 
78. Ibid., 37. 
79. Ibid., 45–46. 
80. Ibid., 47. 
81. Ibid. 
82. Conversation between Justice William O. Douglas and Professor Walter F. Murphy, June 

9, 1962, at 204–5, Seeley G. Mudd Manuscript Library, Princeton University, quoted in Fisher 
at 124. 
83. Fisher, 121–24. 
84. Ibid., 127, quoting Stimson Diary, January 5, 1945 at 18–19. 
85. Ibid., 128. 
86. Frederic L. Borch, Judge Advocates in Combat: Army Lawyers in Military Operations 

from Vietnam to Haiti, (Honolulu, HI: University Press of the Pacific, 2001), 319. 
87. http://www.goarmy.com/jag/history.jsp 
88. 66 Fed. Reg. 57833. 
89. Ibid., 57834. 
90. Charlie Savage, Takeover: The Return of the Imperial Presidency and the Subversion of 

American Democracy, (Boston: Little, Brown and Company), 135. 
91. Ibid., 136–37. 
92. Ibid., 137. 
93. Ibid., 138. 
94. Ibid. 
95. Jane Mayer, The Dark Side: The Inside Story of How the War on Terror Turned into a War 

on American Ideals, (New York: Doubleday Publishing, 2008), 86. 

367 



 

96. Savage, 139. 
97. Ibid., 47. 
98. Ibid., 48. 
99. Ibid., 62. 
100. Ibid., 63. 
101. Ibid., 287. 
102. H.R. 4200 “Ronald W. Reagan National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2005” 

at § 574. 
103. President’s Statement on the Ronald Reagan National Defense Authorization Act, 2005, 

at http://www.whitehouse.gov/news/releases/2004/10/print/20041029-6.html 
104. Ibid. 
105. Charlie Savage, “Control Sought on Military Lawyers,” Boston Globe, December 15, 

2007, http://www.boston.com/news/nation/washington/articles/2007/12/15/control_sought_on_mili­
tary_lawyers/ 
106. Hamdi v. Rumsfeld, 542 US 507, 510 (2004). 
107. Ibid., 512. 
108. Ibid. 
109. Ibid., 513. 
110. Ibid., 516. 
111. 424 US 319 (1976). 
112. 542 US at 533. 
113. Swift was passed over for promotion in 2006 and left the Navy. See Shukovsky, “Gitmo 

Win Likely Cost Navy Lawyer His Career,” Seattle Post-Intelligencer, July 1, 2006 at http://se­
attlepi.nwsource.com/national/276109_swift01.html 
114. 548 US at 569. 
115. Ibid., 570. 
116. Ibid., 571. 
117. Ibid., 572. 
118. Ibid., 584. 
119. Ibid., 599. 
120. Ibid., 612. 
121. Ibid., 623. 
122. Ibid., 630, quoting Geneva Convention (III) Relative to the Treatment of Prisoners of 

War, August 12, 1949, [1955] 6 UST. 3316, T.I.A.S. No. 3364 (Third Geneva Convention). 
123. Ibid., 279–81. 
124. 10 USC. § 948b(b). 
125. 10 USC. §948b(f). 
126. 28 USC. §2241(e). 
127. 10 USC. §948d(c). 
128. 128 S. Ct. 2229, 171 L.Ed.2d 41, 2008 US LEXIS 4887, 76 USL.W. 4406 (2008). 
129. 128 S.Ct. at 2241. 
130. 542 US 466 (2004). 
131. 128 S.Ct. at 2241. 
132. See Khalid v. Bush, 355 F.Supp.2d 311 (DC 2005); In re Guantanamo Detainee Cases, 

355 F.Supp.2d 443 (DC 2005). 

368 



133. 10 USC.A. § 948(a) et seq. (Supp. 2007). 
134. 128 S.Ct. at 2242. 
135. Brief of the Military Attorneys Assigned to the Defense in the Office of Military Com­

missions as Amicus Curiae in Support of Neither Party, Al-Odah v. United States, Supreme 
Court of the United States, No. 03-343 (February 14, 2004) at 5–6. 
136. Ibid., 2270. 
137. Ibid., 2272. 
140. Ibid., 2277. 
141. William Glaberson, “Bin Laden Driver Sentenced to a Short Term,” The New York Times, 

August 8, 2008, http://www.nytimes.com/2008/08/08/washington/08gitmo.html? 
142. 542 US at 580. 
143. 343 US 579 (1952). 
144. Fisher, 233. 
145. 343 US at 637–38. 
146. Ibid. 
147. Fisher, 232. 
148. 343 US at 637. 
149. Mayer, 88–89. “TJAGs” is the acronym for The Judge Advocate Generals. 

369 





 

Panel 8—Military Governments and Courts
 
(Transcript of Presentation)
 

Provincial Reconstruction Team (PRT): A Grass Roots Interagency
 
Counterinsurgency Methodology in Afghanistan
 

by
 

Lieutenant Colonel Lynda M. Granfield, US Army
 
Former PRT Commander for Jalalabad
 

Thank you for that humbling welcome. While you are focusing on my title and 
symbology in the photo here (Slide 1), I am going to provide some thoughts, so if I do 
not move through the slides as quickly as you think I should be, I am not missing some­
thing. I have some things that I want to just put out there and it is not a paper because 
I am not an academic. I am a practitioner and maybe that is a good thing or maybe 
it is a bad thing; I am not sure. This paper represents my personal views on what the 
interagency and whole of government process currently looks like through the lens at 
the field-level for over fifteen years in a variety of assignments on active duty as a civil 
affairs officer, and now in my current role in Washington DC at the strategic-level. So 
with that, I have to caveat that I do not speak for Secretary of Defense nor do I speak 
for Secretary of State on their policies, views, or doctrines. This is my personal opin­
ion. Working in an interagency environment as a member of the United States Armed 
Forces from my perspective is more of an art and not necessarily a science. Although 
there is a plethora of doctrine and books on this subject, much of what needs to take 
place is based on personal relationships, networking, and more importantly, being seen 
as value added and not only the USG (United States Government) process, but with 
a variety of potential partners found in complex operations. But now is the time, and 
we must get this right, as much depends on creating an environment in which each 
agency’s goals and objectives can be met, thus creating synergy to play off each other’s 
strengths and make up for areas that are known weaknesses. If we do not find balance 
then the enemy will continue to exploit our very bureaucratic tendencies and agency 
stovepipes. There is room for the US military to take the lead, but in many cases, there 
are other agencies in the USG that are more suited based on their expertise. In my 
position in civil affairs, most recently at the PRT (Provincial Reconstruction Team) in 
Afghanistan, there are often obstacles to creating that much needed synergy. I plan to 
briefly set the stage of this presentation on PRTs first from the USG’s strategic perspec­
tive so that you have an overarching framework to build on (Slide 2). In many cases, 
the tactical part is where the friction can end up either resulting in the cooperating 
graduate, i.e. working in concert to achieve results or the downside of herding squir­
rels, and notice I did not say cats because squirrels can jump from treetop to treetop as 
going to policy makers and key decision makers. The Jalalabad PRT was a model of 
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successful integration of interagency best practices, necessary to achieve a whole of 
government approach. I will then conclude with my perceptions at the strategic tactical 
level of USG integration. 

There are three parts to the three Ds—diplomacy, development, and democracy 
that I would like to cover (Slide 3). Unfortunately, I will not get to each bullet in detail 
today due to my time limits. That leaves you to do your homework on the USG’s stra­
tegic publications. This is only the tip of the iceberg and is solely focused on the USG. 
Not only do we need a USG integrated approach to counterinsurgency and stability 
operations, but a multi-national framework as well. As currently seen in Afghanistan, 
NATO, and the United Nations and a variety of interagency bodies are partners as 
well. We must contend with not only USG policy, but with those as well. There are 
international agreements and treaties that the US is a signatory to and a couple of 
examples include the Sphere Guidelines and Oslo Accords. Every military member 
should be familiar with these two documents. The reason why this is important is in 
the case of ISAF (International Security Assistance Force) currently in Afghanistan. 
There is a PRT handbook, but not all participants follow the strategy based on country 
caveats that hinder operations. The National Security Presidential Directive 44, other­
wise known as NSPD–44, was signed on 7 December 2005. Interestingly, it replaced 
the Clinton Administration Presidential Directive 56. Both documents cover a similar 
document, and interestingly, that is what we have heard throughout the theme of to­
day. Produced in May of 1967, the National Security Action Memo 362, outlined the 
responsibility for the US role in pacification. Of interest, NSPD–44 was issued one 
month after DOD Directive 3000.05. It seems like the cart and the horse, but I am not 
quite sure. NSPD–44 designates the Department of State (DOS), notice not the Depart­
ment of Defense, as a lead agency for interagency coordination and planning. DOS is 
to develop strategies and plans for reconstruction and stabilization as well as develop 
a civilian response capability through the recently created Office of the Coordinator 
for Reconstruction Development (S/CRS). The second responsibility for Department 
of State is to harmonize such efforts with US military plans and operations, to include 
complex emergencies, failing or failed states, and environments across the spectrum of 
conflict. This is a fairly large undertaking for DOD, let alone Department of State. It 
probably has less than twelve hundred Foreign Service Officers worldwide. 

The second part of the “D” is development (Slide 4). Since the Foreign Aid Act 
Reform of 1961, USAID (United States Agency for International Development) has 
come a long way in developing a comprehensive policy framework for bilateral aid by 
implementing transformational diplomacy for development. There are some institu­
tional changes within DOS and USAID that you should be familiar with. As the current 
administrator, Henrietta Fore, equivalent to a Deputy Secretary, has been appointed, 
designated by the Secretary of State as the Director of Foreign Assistance. This change 
took place in January 2006 when Secretary of State announced a major change in her 
transformational diplomacy strategy that not only included DOS but USAID as well. 
Prior to this policy shift USAID had organized several new offices to better address co­
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ordination with the US military during complex operations in humanitarian response. 
The Office of Military Affairs (OMA) was established in 2005 and was created in 
response to the national security strategy to collaborate between the two organiza­
tions in order to achieve national security. OMA is the day-to-day interface with DOD 
and helps integrate the USG policy between the two organizations and has recently 
provided senior development advisors to the five geographic combatant commanders, 
AFRICOM (United States African Command) and JFCOM (United States Joint Forces 
Command), respectively, and has senior military personnel represented in the OMA 
to help with three focused areas—interagency planning and implementation, policy 
development, and training and education. I would say that one of the most important 
aspects to OMA is the large piece of training and education. This includes providing 
trained US representatives at JRTC (Joint Readiness Training Center) in JFCOM exer­
cises. The administrator for USAID takes the interaction between the two groups very 
seriously and has recently issued the Civilian Military Cooperation Policy designed to 
facilitate a whole of government approach to draw on the strengths of the two agen­
cies to deal with interactions during complex emergencies. DOD Directive 3000.05 
Military Support for Stability Security Transition and Reconstruction Operations was 
released November 2005. It establishes the framework for DOD to plan, train and 
prepare, and to conduct stability operations (Slide 5). It assigns responsibility across 
DOD. The policy highlights that stability operations are a core US military mission that 
DOD should be prepared to conduct and support. Paragraph 4.4 goes further to state, 
“Integrated civilian and military efforts are key to successful stability operations.” Our 
recent experiences in Afghanistan and Iraq highlight the importance of successful inte­
grated strategies in complex environments. Not only do we need a national framework, 
but a field-level guide that helps prepare our forces to work in environments that define 
the populations at the center of our efforts. FM 3-07, due to be released in the upcom­
ing months, builds on FM 3-0. It describes an operational concept where commanders 
employ offense, defense, and stability or civil support operations simultaneously as 
part of an interdependent joint force. Both documents build on FM 3-24, counterinsur­
gency that really was the first real hard look at the Army’s doctrine and strategy and 
played on the painful lessons of Vietnam. 

This slide (Slide 6) shows the overlap of S/CRS as an essential task matrix and 
how it corresponds with USAID programs and tasks found in FM 3-0. This is a meth­
odology in a systematic way that the interagency should conduct mission analysis in 
whole of government planning efforts. It is a framework, and a critical component to 
the USG effort, it offers a foundation to build upon during stability and reconstruction 
activities. Whether one follows the essential task matrix or stability task found in FM 
3-0, the application at the field-level is critical to determine which agency is best suited 
for being the primary or secondary effort across the spectrum of conflict. Another ex­
ample of the complexity is the Department of State’s Humanitarian Information Unit, a 
small interagency organization created showing the overlap and alignment of the three 
Ds at work. As you can see from the slides, the lines are often misaligned and as we 
all well know, conflict has no borders (Slide 7). Often issues become regional in focus 
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and from this map of the world, it shows how our current institutional organizational 
constructs might not be as flexible and adaptable as it needs to be in complex emergen­
cies or stability operations. So to the meat of my presentation, something that I like to 
talk about. 

Provincial Reconstruction Teams (Slide 8) first found their roots in Coalition 
Humanitarian Liaison Cells (CHLCs), established in early 2002 in Afghanistan and 
were designed to begin coordinating the activities of the USG and other international 
partners to include the United Nations Assistance Mission to Afghanistan (UNAMA). 
It had established small outposts in Jalalabad, Kandahar, Herat, and Mazar-e Sharif. 
CHLCs had three functions—assess humanitarian needs, implement small-scale hearts 
and minds projects, and establish relationships with UNAMA. The scope and concept 
of CHLCs grew into a new organization called PRTs. They were established in Gardez, 
Bamian, and Kunduz. These three original PRTs were of strategic importance to the 
interim government of Afghanistan and President Karzai, as they represented areas of 
tribal and rival factions that could have disrupted the progress made thus far by the 
US and UNAMA. Originally PRTs were called Regional Reconstruction Teams but 
the name was changed based on the historical baggage of strong regions, i.e. warlords 
versus a strong central government. PRTs were instrumental in creating the political 
desire of the international community to share the burden of nation building to avoid 
the perception that the US and the international community were invading Afghani­
stan. PRTs, due to their provincial focus and civil-military resources, have wide lati­
tude to accomplish their mission of extending the authority of the central government 
by improving security, supporting good governance, and enabling economic develop­
ment. This had been, in the past, the strength of the PRT as it provided a flexible ap­
proach and resources to support the provincial government, improve security, and gain 
population support of not only the USG actions, but more importantly, to recognize 
the efforts of their own government and that the population in Afghanistan recognize 
that their government was working for them at three levels—central, provincial, and 
district. To give you a bit of context of our area of operations, Jalalabad is the capital 
of Nangarhar Province due east of Kabul and borders Pakistan (Slide 9). Nangarhar 
is considered a strategic gateway due to several factors. History shows us if Jalalabad 
falls, Kabul falls. The economic importance of the Khyber Pass border crossing, the 
rich agricultural capacity that has the potential to produce roughly sixty percent of 
Afghanistan’s food requirements with the right development, an illicit trade route that 
has a long history with the outside world, it has over the last five years produced fifteen 
to twenty percent of the world’s opium depending on the year. Haji Kadir welcomed 
Bin Laden after he was forced out of Sudan, hosted the infamous Tora Bora battle, and 
claims the successful launch of the first Stinger missile by the mujahedin against the 
Soviets and the list goes on and on. Here is the PR (Public Relations) mission statement 
from 2005 that was agreed upon by the interagency at the CJTF-76 (Combined Joint 
Task Force)-level in an effort to further refine our focus at the field-level (Slide 10). As 
previously, there was much dissent in the interagency on the original mission as many 
in the US did not feel that they were to be involved in a counterinsurgency operation. 
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PRTs worked to bring the Afghan government to the population. It was not an Afghan-
face strategy by the USG, but Afghan led as now was the time to push the provincial 
and district leadership to make decisions for the population and increase the security 
situation so that development efforts could begin to take hold. I would also like to 
highlight, from my perspective, PRTs are not a new concept. If you refer to the current 
configuration of the Civil Military Operations Center (CMOC), I would argue from a 
doctrinal perspective, that PRTs are CMOCs on steroids. It is the first time that I have 
had all the pieces and parts, i.e. the interagency, and a large budget to effect the PRT 
mission. You can call them whatever you want, CORDS, CMOCs, PRTs, clearly they 
are an ends to a mean. 

As you can see from this original 2003 task organizational chart, not much con­
sideration was given to the interagency (Slide 11). You can see over here on the right 
hand column that the interagency is on the outside of the PRT and creating the much 
necessary synergy expertise that they brought to the table. In the early days, DOS 
and USAID were merely living on the Forward Operating Base and their stated pur­
pose was outside the mission PRT construct. The base of relationship was information 
sharing only and that was normally accomplished through the Civil Military Opera­
tions Center. The relationships were dysfunctional as the team normally worked cross 
purposes, and the military dealt with issues back with the military chain of command 
and Department of State and USAID went back to Kabul for guidance and program 
strategies. It was extremely disconnected. As you can see from this slide (Slide 12), the 
purpose of the PRTs did not change over time, but the efforts and strategy evolved to 
capture synergy. DOS, USAID, and the US Department of Agriculture are no longer 
outside the PRT construct, but an integral partner with an equal voice. This was in part 
due to the recognition of the CJTF-76 Commander, Major General Kamiya, in mid 
2004, prior to US SETAF’s (United States Southern European Task Force) deployment 
to Afghanistan, that more emphasis on the benefits of interagency coordination and the 
application of the three Ds at the field-level, should follow the lessons from the earlier 
efforts of the Civilian Operation and Revolutionary Development Support (CORDS) 
program of the late 1960’s in Vietnam. This unified effort of interagency representa­
tion was not only implemented at the PRT level, but at RC (Regional Command) East 
and South, at CJTF-76 in Bagram and at CFC (Combined Forces Command) Alpha 
in Kabul, providing interlocking efforts at each level. Having the interagency team as 
part of the decision cycle at each level allowed for unity of effort and created a com­
mand group, or as we coined at the Jalalabad PRT, the Interagency Executive Team. 
The reason why the Jalalabad PRT was so successful is that this executive team created 
short-, medium-, and long-term objectives that nested with CFC Alpha’s lines of op­
erations and more importantly, the Afghan National Development Strategy, developed 
by President Karzai and supported by the international community through a series of 
Donors’ Conferences. We visualize this concept of unity in our infamous rope slide, 
progress though interagency synergy (Slide 13). And it symbolizes the need for each 
agency to work together to achieve successful conditions in the province. Even our 
provincial governors would say that they were only as weak or as strong as their weak­
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est governor. Creating the optimal conditions requires all entities to come together 
to maximize resources and capitalize on available assets without compromising the 
different agencies’ missions and goals. After all, at the end of the day, team members 
to the PRT are stakeholders in the provinces. We are there to create conditions for the 
central and provincial government to be responsive to the people and self sufficient 
Afghanistan government. The primary and secondary effort concept was created by 
a USAID representative on the PRT and illustrates my earlier point, referring back to 
the three PRT lines of operation—promoting good governance and justice, enabling 
the Afghan security apparatus, and facilitating reconstruction. Developing economic 
growth was no small task. Understanding the operational environment and the pri­
orities for the military and the interagency partners became the priority effort and we 
leveraged the strengths and expertise of each member. So how did the PRT create unity 
of effort without blurring the lines and crossing into each other’s strengths? As you can 
see in this slide, in the areas where security was an issue (Slide 14), the main effort was 
on creating a safe and secure environment so that the USAID implementing partners 
could begin to build capacity and infrastructure and the Department of State could be­
gin working with local district leadership in governance and transparency. Likewise, in 
areas that were more permissive for development, USAID programs became the main 
effort and the PRT programs executed through the Commanders Emergency Response 
Program (CERP) money were focused in other areas such as mentoring and training 
the Afghan national police and border police at the provincial, and more importantly, 
the district level. 

So I am not going to talk about each one because I am not going to have enough 
time, but I am going to highlight the first three (Slide 15). In the case of 2006, the US 
captured best practices in an effort to leave behind a strategy that could continue to be 
implemented. I have talked about the interagency piece for our PRT, but what did that 
mean in the day-to-day operation of the PRT? It was as simple as the four of us in the 
executive team getting together over coffee prioritizing the week’s events, reviewing 
the three to six month strategy, and by the way, figuring out what we were going to do 
with the thirty visitors coming to the PRT that week. In all, we had three hundred and 
sixty seven for the year, not our primary focus, but we had to coordinate our efforts. It 
could also be as complex as building programs that captured all three stakeholders and 
their resources in a unified effort. One of the biggest successes of the joint interagency 
work that our PRT managed to pull off was to create the Nangarhar Construction Trade 
Center. It was a USAID funded program that was 4.5 million dollars. A joint assess­
ment early on from the executive team determined that the original schools and clinics 
that were built by USAID did not necessarily hold up to the harsh climate. As well, 
many of the construction firms used local labor that was not trained. We determined if 
we could create a center that brought the workers from those companies together and 
trained them in five focus areas, we could then send them back to repair the clinics and 
schools and then begin to build the capacity of the local labor. The measure in this pro­
gram was not the money spent, which is what you hear, effects equal money and that 
is not necessarily the case, but the sustainment of the program and what do I mean by 
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that? It does you no good to create a program of skilled workers that do not have a job 
when they leave the program, and by the way, if the government cannot sustain the pro­
gram over the long term, then it is not viable. In the case of this program, it is still there 
today. The University of Nangarhar has assumed responsibility for the program and the 
sustainment piece and the school is now part of the engineering department. Lastly, the 
PRT created a Project Nomination Review Committee that included senior members 
from the staff as well as the interagency team. Each element could nominate a project 
in support of the lines of operation that were nested in our system’s approach and each 
member of the PRT had a veto vote. This forced PRT members to do their homework 
and it ensured that it nested with the provincial lines, director’s priorities and allowed 
the USAID and the Department of State rep to coordinate with the ministries in Kabul, 
extending the reach of the central government. This allowed all members on the PRT 
to have visibility of what each agency was doing and in many cases, if the project was 
denied, a more senior discussion with the executive team would be held to determine 
if the program was viable or not. Most of the time a compromise was reached or a 
project was shelved. The only exception was USAID opposition to the PRT efforts 
with the Director of Hajj and Mosques in the mullah community. However, since the 
mullah community was part of the PRT’s overall key communicator strategy, the PRT 
ended up funding several programs to support the Director and government controlled 
mosques in our Temporary Work for Afghan Program. 

So are we there yet? What is a presentation without some quotes (Slide 16)? As 
you read through these next few bullets I think it is extremely important to realize that 
the CORDS program was an effort, albeit late in implementation, to bring together 
the interagency. If you have not taken the time to read some of Komer’s thoughts, you 
should. I think his fourth point about creating unified management at each level where 
multidimensional conflict situations dictate integrated multifaceted responses really 
points out that, despite the lessons from Vietnam concerning the interagency, not much 
has changed or improved. We are still, from my point, working at cross purposes and 
paper thin efforts. John Paul Vann also hits the nail on the head and it does not apply 
just to Vietnam (Slide 17). We are seeing this in Afghanistan. The Afghans see a new 
group come in every nine to twelve months and make the same mistakes culturally, 
religiously and tribally. And they are quite honestly, tired of teaching us. In 2006, we 
were well on our way to creating momentum with what the PRT’s mission and focus 
were in capturing the strengths of the interagency. However, we have lost progress. It 
is a complex environment and requires trained experts that command and staff PRTs. 
No offense to my Navy and Air Force counterparts that are now running PRTs, but they 
do not have fifteen years of civil affairs experience, and we have not set them up for 
success. It is not about sending them off to three months at Fort Bragg in a crash course 
and that being good leaders that they will just figure it out as they learn, often making 
critical errors or building schools that have no teachers or program students. An exam­
ple of comparison is that I have forty-five hours in a Cessna 152 so I guess that means 
the Air Force should send me off to three months of F-16 training and put me in the air. 
I would argue that we have not applied the lessons from the past and, in many points, 
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have further created friction at senior levels. CORDS, NSPD–44, and S/CRS are good 
examples. Recently, events in Georgia required a USG unified and coordinated effort. 
S/CRS set up a team to go to the Embassy and yet the diplomacy piece of our response 
was secondary and the US military engaged in humanitarian relief despite the Oslo Ac­
cords framework, that any military supportive relief should be the last resort. Further, 
S/CRS has not gotten the traction needed within Department of State and there is still 
much friction within the regional bureaus. In the CORDS program, both civilian and 
military were placed under command and control and unity of effort of the Military As­
sistance Command. And the program was run by a civilian, creating leveraging in the 
USG unity of effort, again, a little bit too late. So if the strategic-level is not there, are 
the tactical efforts any better? I would argue that the PRTs should be the main effort in 
Afghanistan and yet they lack the expertise, civilian and military, the right equipment, 
the right force composition and adequate funding. The CERP funding differences in 
Iraq and Afghanistan are so disparate and should be cause for alarm. Perhaps a single 
source funding authorization stream for the USG in these types of operations would 
create more favorable conditions for the agencies to work together. Finally, Congress 
must give the other pieces of the interagency the resources the President has directed 
them to carry out. Without significant changes in personnel and budget authorizations, 
I do not have much faith that things will improve to allow S/CRS and Department of 
State to take the lead for the task they have been given, interagency coordination and 
planning, and we will all continue to work at cross purposes. 
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U.S National Security Strategy (NSS): 

3 D’s Diplomacy, Development and Defense 

Department of State 
•NSPD-44: Designates DoS as the lead agency for interagency 

di ti (th h S/CRS coordination (through S/CRS  

• 2003-Created the Humanitarian Information Unit 

• 2005-Office of the Coordinator for Reconstruction and 

Stabilization (S/CRS)
 

•Secretary Rice initiative: “Transformational Diplomacy” 

•Creation of “F”-Dual-hat USAID Director as DoS lead for “Foreiggn 
Assistance” 

•Secretary Rice launches the Civilian Response Corps on July 16, 
2008 
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3 D’s (cont) 
United States Agency for International Development (USAID) 

• 20032003: EEstabliblishhes thth e Office of C f Confliflictt Managementt andt Offi M d 
Mitigation 

•• 2005: Establishes the Office of Military Affairs 2005: Establishes the Office of Military Affairs 

• 2006: Policy Framework for Bilateral Foreign Aid: Implementing 
Transformation Diplomacy through DevelopmentTransformation Diplomacy through Development 

• 2008: Civilian-Military Cooperation Policy 

UNCLAS 

Slide 4 

380 



t

  

 

UNCLAS 

3 D’s (cont)
 
Department of Defense 
• DoD Directive 3000.05 – IA coordination for “Military Support for 
StStabilitbility, Securiity, TTransitiition and R d Reconsttructition Operati tions”S t O ” 

• Irregular Warfare Roadmap 

•JFCOM-Establishment of Joint Interagency Coordination Group 
(JIACG) 

•J.P 3.08-Interagency, Intergovernmental Organizations, and NGO 
Coordination Volume I and II 

•FM 3.0 Operations Feb 2008 

•FM 3.7 Stability Operations (pending release) 

•Provincial Reconstruction Teams- Afghanistan(2003) and Iraq(2006) 
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How the 3 D’s overlap 

S/CRS Essential Task Matrix: USAID Programs: FM 3.0 Stability Tasks: 
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and Infrastructure Agriculture and Trade and Infrastructure 

Governance 

Development 
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Background 

• Chicklet to PRT-getting other agencies involved 
• Coalition Humanitarian Liaison Cells-”Chicklets” 
• “Chicklet” to PRT getting other agencies involved 
• PRT Concept: 

Fill gap between Phase III and Phase IVFill gap between Phase III and Phase IV 
– Temporary 
– Interagency and InternationalInteragency and International 

• Pilot PRTs 
– Gardez (Dec 2002)Gardez (Dec 2002) 
– Bamyian (Jan 2003) 
– Konduz (Feb 2003) Konduz (Feb 2003) 
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PRT-Jalalabad 

Our purpose is to conduct civil-military operations in
Nangarhar Province in order to extend the reach and 
l iti  f th  G  t f Af  h i t  blegitimacy of the Government of Afghanistan by: 

�Promoting good governance and justice 
��Enabling an effective Afghan security apparatus throughEnabling an effective Afghan security apparatus through

training and mentorship 
�Facilitating reconstruction, development, and economic

growth 

Ultimately creating the conditions for self-sufficiency, enduring 
prosperity, a secure and stable environment in the province. 

To Achieve the Mission: Work with all available stakeholders and 
resources to bring stability to the population by enabling the 
legitimacy, transpparency and effectiveness of ggovernanceg y,  y  
and government institutions 
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Slide 13 

“Progress Through Interagency Synergy” 

PRT 

Create a moderate, stable, and representative Afghanistan capable of 
controlling and governing its territory. 

PRT 

Maneuver 

Department of State 
US Agency 

for International Development 

US Department of Agriculture 

Provincial Government 

Afghan Security Entities 
UN Assistance 

Mission to Afghanistan 

The Field Level 3 D’s Approach The Field Level 3 D s Approach 

Primary:
Development 
Secondary:
Stability 

Primary:
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Secondary:
Trust 

Primary:
Stability 
Secondary: 
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Jalalabad PRT -“Best Practices” 

� Interagency “Executive” Committee Meeting 

� Internal Weekly Project Nomination and Review Board � Internal Weekly Project Nomination and Review Board 

� Creation of “Center of Construction Excellence”- Nangarhar 
Construction and Trades Center 

� Weekly Provincial Security Coordination Meeting 

� Monthly Provincial Coordination Council 

� Hospital Task Force Working Group 

� Roads Technical Workingg Groupup 

� Construction of District government and Judicial Center’s 

� Governmental Conferences/Symposiums � Governmental Conferences/Symposiums 

� Monthly “Key Leader “ Engagement Strategy 
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Learning Lessons? 

“But our Vietnam experience also shows how difficult it is to translate such p
general…and in hindsight obvious…lessons into the requisite performance. 
This demands a constant, deliberate effort to offset the inevitable tendency 
of bureaucracies to keep doing the familiar and to adapt only slowly and 
incrementally. In particular, such efforts requires: 
1) specially selecting flexible and imaginative conflict mangers at all levels: 
2) revising training and incentive systems in place to place a higher 
premium on adaptiveness instead of the “school solution”;premium on adaptiveness instead of the “school solution”; 
3) setting up autonomous ad hoc organizations to manage specially tailored 
programs which are not in conventional organizational repertories: 
4) creating unified management at each level where multidimensional4) creating unified management at each level where multidimensional 
conflict situations dictate integrated multifaceted responses: 
5) assigning adequate staffs to single managers…” 

Robert W. Komer, Deputy to USMAC-V, CORDS 
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Learning Lessons?
 

“"We don’t have twelve years’ experience in Vietnam. We have one year’s 
experience twelve times over"experience twelve times over

John Paul Vann- former Deputy for CORDS in the Third Corps Tactical 
Zone of Vietnam Zone of Vietnam 

“I could probably write a lengthy book about being a PRT commander in 
Afghanistan I have told many Army officers that in many respects it is Afghanistan. I have told many Army officers that in many respects, it is 
even a tougher job than battalion (squadron) command. Interagency 
partnership at the grassroots level, integration of security and 

pment, working with Reserve and Active forces… with p , g 
coalition partners, not to mention the Afghan leadership such as provincial 
governors and tribal elders...an accumulation of experience that is simply 
invaluable.” 

MG Jason Kamiya- former CJTF76 Commanding General 
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Panel 8—Military Governments and Courts
 
Question and Answers
 
(Transcript of Presentation)
 

Colonel Gary M. Bowman, US Army
 
Lieutenant Colonel Lynda M. Granfield, US Army
 

Moderated by Mr. Robert Ramsey III
 

Audience Member 

I looked at your organizational chart and what I saw was three boxes with vertical lines 
going up to three horizontal boxes with no connection at the top and you mentioned that 
you think there is a problem with unity of effort. It seems to me the problem is unity of 
command and that starts at very high levels. We had a former Ambassador speaking to 
us the other day. He was very jealous of his prerogative to be the President’s personal 
representative in a certain country. Well, who is in charge in Afghanistan? Who makes 
the call on what the PRTs do? My experience over there was, and you have much better 
experience than I do obviously, was that somebody from USAID, for example, might 
completely disagree with the military commander’s objectives for the PRT. Where 
does this need to be solved so that one person is on the blame line and prioritizes the 
efforts of the United States government as a whole in that region? 

LTC Granfield 
Absolutely, that is an excellent question and it probably would take me about two or 
three hours to really cover where I think things were. As I highlighted, in 2006 we had 
representatives of the interagency at all four levels and so the coordination and the 
synchronization of the efforts of the USAID reps at the PRT-level to the brigade-level 
at the combat team up to 76 and then Combined Forces Command, were all nested at 
those levels and it worked quite efficiently when I was there from 2005 to 2006. There 
was obviously friction points because again, it is personality based. There is not any 
doctrine. There is an executive agreement in the interagency MOU (Memorandum of 
Understanding) that was signed in 2003 that really, quite frankly, has not been adhered 
to. There is supposed to be an executive steering committee that met monthly with all 
of the players in Kabul that included the USAID Mission Director, the Ambassador, 
General Eikenberry, and the ISAF (International Security Assistance Force) because 
they were a component, to come up with what the priorities and the strategies for the 
PRT should be. Then that was to trickle down in guidance. Were there disconnects? 
Obviously, there were. We made it work at our PRT just because it was personality 
based. How do we fix it? I think at the national-level when we get ready to do a mis­
sion, we have to rely on some sort of agreement and it has got to be a quick responsive 
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agreement. If we do not have a quick responsive agreement just like we saw in Geor­
gia, S/CRS (Office of the Coordinator for Reconstruction Development and Stabiliza­
tion) stood up a team as they outlined in their matrix and their integrated management 
system (IMS), but they are supposed to stand up a team that is directed by the Prin­
ciples Committee, and that includes all the senior reps at the Secretary-level and the 
Executive Branch, come up with a plan of action, who is going to be the priority of 
effort, whether it is going to be the military or not. And then they launch a team in to 
help the Ambassador and the Embassy simultaneously. An integrated planning team is 
supposed to go off to the combatant commander that is supposed to be an interagency 
team to help—in this case, EUCOM—come up with a military response to that whole 
of government plan. They do not have the right people, and they do not have the right 
funding; it is just a very frustrating process. I do not have an answer for it. There are 
systems in place but we have to get past “Who is the main effort; who is the supporting 
effort?” Maybe the answer is to create a new agency, outside another executive branch, 
that has the interagency pieces and it is not in S/CRS. In S/CRS’s case, the regional 
bureaus often trump what S/CRS has been tasked to do by the President. So I do not 
know if that answers your question but it is not a simple solution. And it becomes per­
sonality based. 

Audience Member 
My question is, you talked about measures of success in terms of what you see. What 
tools do you see out there that have been useful in determining measures of perfor­
mance as the people within Afghanistan see it? 

LTC Granfield 
Well, that is excellent because if the people do not see what our efforts are, I think 
that we are not making progress, and they do not see that their government is working 
for them. In our case, in 2005 and 2006, our key communicator strategy was one of 
the most effective ways that we could measure performance and the reason being is 
Jalalabad had riots into May of 2005 over the Gitmo-Koran incident. And they literally 
burned the city down as many provinces in Afghanistan did. My predecessor came up 
with a program to deal with key communicators who they thought were the instigators 
of the riots, one of which was the mullah community. So we continued that system and 
that is why it was so important that we continue the work despite USAID’s objections. 
It is not their objections from a personality base, it is because there are legal objections 
that they work with religious institutions, which is again, something that Congress 
probably needs to take a look at. But what we did then was create this very systematic 
approach to all of the key communicators so when the cartoon incident happened about 
seven months later, we were the only Province that did not have riots. That is, I think, a 
direct reflection of not only our key communicator program, but also to what we were 
doing in the provinces and in the districts that were some of the problem areas. Addi­
tionally, we bothered to train the police in Jalalabad in riot control and get State to get 

390 



them the right gear so they could deal with riots. We had a big program for University 
of Nangarhar students, and again, they are a part of our key communicator strategy 
so all of these different lines and extremes fit into our measures of performance. And 
from our perspective at the interagency executive team level, we could not have done it 
without each other. So we built off of each other’s strengths. What is happening now? 
Unfortunately, now you are seeing the PRT Civil Affairs Teams going out and building 
schools and clinics in areas that really is an USAID function. And by the way, it is an 
international function because of donors. So if you build a school and you do not have 
teachers that are nested with the ministry at Kabul’s education program, you just have 
an empty building. And so you have to have the right people that understand that it 
has to be a systems approach. It is not just one area. We are going to work on schools, 
USAID is going to do this, and State is going to work on governance to bring that 
framework together. Why did it work for us? I think a lot of it was personality based 
and that we had a commanding general that had vision, both at the JTF–76 level and 
also down in Kabul, who worked very closely with the Embassy to build those rela­
tionships, and we had a very strong relationship with General Eikenberry and Alonso 
Fulgham who was the USAID mission director, and Ambassador Neumann. So again, 
it is based on those personalities. We really have this momentum going in not only 
creating effects, but its performance as well. 

Audience Member 
I have a question for Colonel Bowman. Sir, what are the implications of the extension 
of habeas corpus to detainees? Is it restricted only to those in Gitmo or does it extend 
to detainees under US military control in theater? 

COL Bowman 
The implications are extensive and most of my papers are about those implications 
actually but you cannot understand what the current system is without understanding 
where it came from. Yes, habeas corpus extends to Gitmo. One of the initial challenges 
to detention were from a group of detainees, the Rasul group of detainees. The lower 
courts held that habeas corpus did not extend to Guantanamo; the Supreme Court held 
ultimately that it did. So those detainees’ cases came back through the system and that 
group, or the core of that group, were the petitioners in the latest Supreme Court case 
called Boumediene which just came out this summer. And in that case, the Supreme 
Court said that the Military Commissions Act of 2006 which was Congress’ attempt to 
validate the administration’s policy for determining whether, and to what extent, the 
government could detain these people in Guantanamo. It was Congress’ attempt to get 
on board with the administration, having a unified executive policy that was validated 
by Congress; that was in the Military Commissions Act. The Supreme Court struck 
down the Military Commissions Act and the administration has said that they are go­
ing to abide by that. So at this point, basically the major implication of this is that the 
military and the Army had stood up to the administration’s system for detaining these 
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people at Guantanamo. They slow rolled that for a long time, for seven years through­
out the war. The executive made its intention clear, Congress passed two acts—The 
Detainee Treatment Act and The Military Commissions Act. Military lawyers recruit­
ing civilian lawyers finally got that to the Supreme Court like Royall in the Nazi sabo­
teur case resisting what the President wanted and they were eventually able to break 
the spear on what the executive’s policy was. 

Audience Member 
My question is for Lieutenant Colonel Granfield. It is about organizational culture. It is 
very interesting that when you mentioned that USAID could not really get past the mis­
sion statement, and it is as if as an agency their cultural predisposition is more in tune 
with that of maybe the Peace Corps when you compare it to ours which would be more 
to see ourselves as an extension of policy by other means. So I was just wondering if 
you could dime out some of the key agencies that we could work with in the future and 
describe for us some of their cultural predispositions across the agency that make them 
easy or difficult to cooperate with. 

LTC Granfield 
Well, I can only speak from my experiences. In this most recent experience it is the 
first time really that I have worked within USG (United States Government). I can 
talk about the UN and some of the NGO (Non-Governmental Organizations) agencies 
that I have worked with over the last fifteen years, but in the case of Afghanistan, I 
think we have seen a significant improvement in USAID’s thought process in that they 
have created this new Office of Military Affairs. Henrietta Fore has recently issued 
the civilian-military cooperation policy, not only an external audience piece but also 
internally. How? That means that the USAID personnel will interface with the OD at 
that tactical-, operational-, and strategic-level. So I think that is a huge paradigm shift 
from the mentality of probably 2004 where the environment in Afghanistan was, most 
places there was obviously kinetic stuff going on, but in many cases it is semi-permis­
sive and there was freedom of movement so they thought they could just run off and go 
look at projects and have their implementing partners work to where the security situ­
ation got a little bit more dicey, especially in areas such as Kandahar and Kunar where 
they did not have that freedom of movement. And so I think that is a credit to them. I 
gave up one of my NCOs out of my Civil Affairs Team to work with my USAID rep 
so that she could map out where we had villages that were sitting on the fence so that 
we could then use her QUIP (USAID Quick Impact Project) money at the PRT-level 
instead of her spending it because she was spending 17.5 million for counternarcotics 
and she really did not have the time to manage three million in QUIP money. To look 
at information and where we saw targeting of the Marines, the maneuver force, where 
we saw targeting of the Government of Afghanistan entities, whether it was satellite 
dishes or their government facilities. And then go out and interview those villages, sit 
down with the Shura and develop a strategy of projects that may help them come into 
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the fold of the government. And so for her to say, “Hey, I want to know what the root 
causes of this insurgency are and how do we as the PRT come together and develop a 
strategy?” Again, maybe I was fortunate because I had a forward thinking USAID rep, 
but you saw that in other PRTs too and so, I think, you are seeing some of the old gray 
hairs, no offense to the gray hairs in the audience, leave the agency and retire and you 
have all these young guys that are coming in that do not necessarily buy into that whole 
mindset that we are just here to do development. Likewise, I see it in the State Depart­
ment with a lot of the young Foreign Service Officers coming in, volunteering to go to 
Iraq and Afghanistan where their counterparts may not necessarily want to. And in the 
case of USDA (United States Department of Agriculture), we got some great people, 
but the problem is they were volunteers and their agency had to foot the bill for them 
being gone and hire somebody temporarily in their place. So I was fortunate in that I 
had a cooperative extension specialist that came to my PRT which was a perfect fit. 
But in the case of Panjsher, they had a veterinarian and they did not really need a vet 
there. So those are just some of those institutional . . . where there is not a mechanism 
that the USG, those normally non-deploying kinds of people, really want to participate 
in where we are going with this counterinsurgency framework. 

Audience Member 
I have a question for Lieutenant Colonel Granfield. Recognizing the differences or the 
lack of passing the experience on from the military and the interagency perspective, 
what were you better able to do when you were leaving? So we do not repeat learning 
and relearning the lessons every year, what were you able to better do for the interagen­
cies so that their replacements were coming with a better experience base than when 
you came there with your interagency folks? 

LTC Granfield 
That is a good question. Actually, because I am at Department of State, my boss has 
given me flexibility to go out and talk to different organizations. So I have been asked 
to come out to FSI (Foreign Service Institute) when they train up the State Depart­
ment and workers that are going into Afghanistan. About the PRT experience as well, 
I have worked with USAID. Additionally, I teach at the Joint Special Operations Uni­
versity, courses on interagency operations, and so typically there are a lot of the State 
and USAID reps that are going out. I also left behind about . . . well, we had a three 
week transition which was really good. NESA (Near East South Asia) Center at the 
NDU, hosted a weeklong course or two week course for all of the PRT commanders, 
the USAID reps and the DOS reps that were going into theater, and so I also spoke in 
that. That program has been done away with and now the Air Force and the Navy have 
a program down at Fort Bragg and they bring in former PRT commanders with more 
recent experience to talk to not only their folks but also the USAID and the DOS reps 
that participate, not in the three month program, but they participate in the last week 
of a combination exercise. So there is some low hanging fruit; the Office of Military 
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Affairs and S/CRS and JFCOM (United States Joint Forces Command) has tried to 
capture those folks coming out to try to really get at best practices and continuing some 
of the great efforts that worked well when we were there. 

Audience Member 
I have a question for Colonel Bowman. Sir, can you explain to me the logic of how a 
Canadian or American soldier captures say a Saudi or Pakistani in Afghanistan, explain 
to me the logic and the point where they are granted the rights of a US citizen? For 
example, habeas corpus, as opposed to not being held to the standard of what we call 
the Law of Land Warfare which are the Geneva-Hague agreements. 

COL Bowman 
That question assumes . . . there are some mistakes in the question, which I really do 
not have time to correct all those, but I can address it to some extent. American citi­
zens get different rights than non-American citizens, generally. But in one of the early 
cases which gets to the question before about the Padilla case. The Supreme Court held 
that American citizens can be unlawful combatants, in fact one of the Nazi saboteurs 
claimed to be an American citizen. American citizens do get more rights than just 
regular detainees. The fact that they get some rights does not mean that they get the 
same rights as American citizens. You would have to compare what American citizens 
get versus what these foreign unlawful combatants, the array of rights they get and we 
do not have good comparisons of those. But the point at which habeas corpus attaches 
though, there is a process that is called the Combatant Status Review Tribunal. When 
a detainee is detained to the point that they get a review by this Combatant Status Re­
view Tribunal and that tribunal determines that the person is an unlawful enemy com­
batant and is going to be detained, then at that point there is something to challenge. 
If you just catch a detainee in Afghanistan and the guy just goes to a detention facility 
in Afghanistan or even if he is moved around in theater, that person does not have the 
same array of rights to challenge detention or habeas corpus as when the person is 
determined to be an unlawful enemy combatant by a tribunal. At that point they have 
already gotten some process. Now the real question is whether they are entitled to even 
that because there are lawyers in the administration that say that the President, when 
he has the power to wage war, can do whatever he wants to the enemy, within some 
standards. And the question then becomes what those standards are and some lawyers 
within the administration, which the most powerful lawyers within the administration 
arguably, would say that there are not any standards. It goes back to what Nixon said 
in the Nixon-Frost interview. “If the president does it, it isn’t illegal.” Well, we are at 
that point where the administration at the highest levels, its lawyers believe that the 
President has that inherent power. The irony is, that the military, which you would 
think would sign onto that, the lawyers in the military do not believe that and so one 
of the unusual aspects of this that is hard for people to understand is that the roles are 
kind of reversed here. The military stands up for greater rights for these people than the 
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civilian administration does and that is why it is like Kenneth Royall’s situation here 
with the Nazi saboteurs. Even though he was an Army colonel, he was standing up for 
the rights of these Nazi saboteurs, challenging it in the Supreme Court when the weight 
of the administration was pushing for the quick execution of these people. 

Audience Member 
My question is for Lieutenant Colonel Granfield. Do you consider that due to the fact 
that the security situation in Afghanistan seems to be deteriorating. Do you see a pos­
sible evolution in the bureaucratic concept? This was considered six years ago in order 
to address this new security environment. 

LTC Granfield 
That is a great point. I think that the PRT should still be the center of gravity because 
the population is the center of gravity. General Eikenberry will argue that, “No, it is the 
government.” But I truly believe that it is the population. I think that the PRTs should 
be more integrated and we were fairly well integrated with the maneuver battalions. 
But now there is talk of sending over more maneuver brigades into Afghanistan, and 
I do not know if kinetics is necessarily the right answer. And I will give you an ex­
ample. When we were there the Marines were getting significantly IEDed (Improvised 
Explosive Device) in Khogyani district, however, the PRT could travel freely through 
Khogyani and not get IEDed. And the reason for that being that the population saw 
the PRT as doing work for the provincial and district leadership and benefiting the 
people. It was actually the first time that it was done in Afghanistan, but if you refer 
back to the slide, you have Pachir Wa Agam, Khogyani, and Sherzad which are all 
Khogyani tribes. The Marines are getting IEDed down there, so we actually, myself 
and the maneuver battalion, went down to meet with the elders of Pachir Wa Agam and 
did a Nana Vati ceremony. Nana Vati means sanctuary of last resort. And basically we 
brought enough lamb and rice and stuff to feed the village down there. And we said, 
“Okay look, we know that things have gone wrong and the Marines are here. We are 
guests. We are sorry we have done things wrong. We would really hope that you would 
accept our request for Nana Vati and bless the lambs and sheep and say, “Okay, we are 
going to try to start this from scratch and not blame each side anymore because there is 
still blood chits for any member that is killed in the Pashtun areas.” We—to include the 
governor and the deputy governor—went over to Sherzad because our problem area 
was Khogyani so we were trying to put pressure, and I actually had members from the 
Wazir tribe which is the tribe from the wild, wild west there, and they are Khogyani 
but they do their own thing outside the Khogyani. They were in both of those Nana 
Vati ceremonies. And so both elders in Sherzad and Pachir Wa Agam came up with the 
document with all the signatures that said, “We are going to divide up our province 
into safe zones of responsible elders that are going to take control of those elders and 
we are going to guarantee you safe passage.” The intent was to go to Khogyani but 
unfortunately I ended up rotating out before we could get to Khogyani. But the story 
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with that was we left that system in place for the next guys coming in. We also saw 
significant reductions in IEDs against the Marines moving in those areas because word 
got out that, “Hey, the PRT and the Marines actually understand Pashtunwali.” I know 
you still have to kill bad guys. We all understand that and there are bad guys to kill, 
but if the Afghan government and the police and the ANA (Afghan National Army) are 
not the lead in going after those guys, and the US is seen as going after that, those are 
the tactics that have changed in 2007 and 2008, then maybe that is not necessarily the 
best way. I used to challenge the Special Forces guys because they would go after low 
value targets and kick in doors. “Hey, guys just tell me who you want and if I cannot 
get them here through the government system then go kick in the door.” And so I chal­
lenged them and they eventually gave in and they did and guess what? We got the guy 
that they were wanting and they did not kick in any doors. There are techniques to all 
of this and there are strategies. I am not advocating that we not do kinetics but we have 
to balance the kinetics with the non-kinetics and I think that the PRTs should expand. 
If I would have been able to have three or four more security platoons so that I could 
move in the districts and a helicopter to get to places where I needed to get to quickly, it 
would have made my life much easier. Maybe the brigades become a super PRT in the 
provinces and that is where you put the emphasis because you have to have balance. 
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Well, what comes around goes around and it is good to see my return to Fort Leav­
enworth is for the coveted after lunch spot. That could only be attributed to the fact 
that my classmate and good friend, Bill Caldwell, is the Commander here—a friend 
of mine for almost 36 years now, somebody who I have had a tremendous amount of 
respect for over the years and I can just tell you that you are very lucky to be at Fort 
Leavenworth at a time when Bill Caldwell is out here because I think you are going 
to find extreme innovation tempered with combat experience so it is not a theoretical 
exercise. Everything that is being done out here is being done for the right reason and 
has direct application. I am sorry to have missed the earlier discussions but as I read 
through the symposium notes and the agenda, it looked like a significant amount of 
the discussion was about interdepartmental interagency operations at the operational 
and tactical levels. Most of the discussions of the symposium seemed to be focused on 
agencies on the ground that have been developed over the last few years—Provincial 
Reconstruction Teams (PRT) inside both Iraq and Afghanistan, Joint Interagency Task 
Forces at combatant commands in the field and at their headquarters, and joint agen­
cy and other country teams with the United States Embassies. But that is simply not 
enough. These are important to get the interagency piece right down at that level, but 
what I would like to talk today is about what happens in Washington, DC at the inter­
agency-level and talk about what is going right and what is going wrong. I would say 
that if these operations, and the guidance that is getting down to our troops in these 
interagency constructs on the ground, are not guided as an outcome of DC-based in­
teragency decisions, then no matter how many times you put the teams together on 
the ground, no matter how much work you do trying to integrate, no matter how much 
enthusiasm is shown by those teams, if at the end of that meeting, the members of that 
meeting go back to their offices, call their organizations back in Washington, DC and 
get separate and sometimes contradicting guidance that reflects more agency equities 
than it does synchronization of military operations, interagency operations, then it is 
just not going to work. If we do not get it right at the top, it will never work itself right 
at the bottom. Now this is a military audience and quite frankly, you should be familiar 
with this challenge. It is a challenge for any commander that operates in a coalition 
environment and as Clausewitz said, “Always attack the coalition when given two op­
tions.” Coalitions have inherent strengths but they also have inherent weaknesses. We 
see that today in Iraq, and we see that today in Afghanistan and the Balkans. No mat­
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ter how many orders you give to other national forces in the coalition, one can expect 
that they will call back to their capitals for permission or refusal. These national red 
cards diminish the ability for forces to synchronize on a coalition battlefield and quite 
frankly, those national red cards that are pulled out are very similar to what I would 
consider the departmental red cards that are raffled off and pulled out by our fellow 
agencies on the ground. So with that in mind, I would like to spend a few minutes on 
the impact on operations of the processes and personalities inside of DC reflecting on 
the role of the departments, the National Security Council staff and the translation of 
interagency decisions made at the highest level of our command authority into actions 
on the ground, because as I said, if we cannot get it right in DC, it does not get better 
on the ground. Now before that, among this group talking about interagency, I would 
like to offer a brief public service announcement. I hope that as you have discussed 
interagency discussions, you have not only talked about the horizontal integration of 
government agencies into operations, but that you have also explored the notion of ver­
tical integration as well. Frankly, our mission sets are becoming vertically integrated 
as well and they are expanding. Those missions that the military either participates in 
directly or indirectly are getting bigger and more numerous. When one brings in State, 
USAID, Justice, Homeland Security, Commerce, and Treasury, that implies that the 
commanders on the ground are directly or indirectly taking on missions done by these 
agencies. When doing so it is probably as a result of the demand by a commander on 
the ground who understands the importance of what these teams can bring to the battle­
field. Nonetheless, we might as well call it what it is. We are back in the business of 
building nations, and nation building will probably remain a core competency for some 
time to come. Now while this is not the time or place to normatively debate that issue, 
it does emphasize that as we are doing nation building, we need to get these decisions 
right in DC. But those decisions also must simply not be idiosyncratic but they ought to 
be based on sound principles and policies. If we do not get the policy right as I said ear­
lier, no amount of ad hocracy on the ground by an enthusiasm by our officers and our 
troops will get it right. And this is the impetus behind a policy paper that we have been 
developing inside of DC between State, USAID, and DOD. This policy paper reads: 

Provide State, DOD, USAID, and other policy makers and practitioners with guide­
lines for planning and implementing security sector reforms with partner nations, re­
form efforts directed at the framework, institutions, and forces that provide security 
and promote the rule of law. 

This expanded view of security, one that not only seeks to achieve a tolerable level of 
violence inside of society, but actively promotes and facilitates activities to establish 
and respect the rule of law, supporting the establishment of relevant legal frameworks, 
planning, oversight, civilian management, and budgeting capacities will be an instru­
mental part of this policy development and how our troops operate in the field. 

That is a pretty ambitious set of objectives but I think if we take a look at what our 
troops are doing on the ground right now in Iraq and Afghanistan, that is exactly what 
they are doing and in many ways it is a disappointment that the troops are ahead of the 
policy. It is our hope that in this process we can get some policy out finally, between 
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State and DOD, USAID and others to provide that backbone for the decision mak­
ing process. We came across a quote that was very, to our mind, instrumental to this. 
This quote says, “It reflects the imperatives for our soldiers to know something about 
strategy and tactics and logistics, but also economics and politics and diplomacy and 
history. Our soldiers must know everything they can know about military power and 
must also understand the limits of military power. They must understand that few of 
the important problems of our time have in the final analysis been finally solved by 
military power alone.” Anybody know where that quote came from? That quote was 
delivered by John F. Kennedy to the graduating class of 1961 at the US Naval Acad­
emy. That is something we seem to have known for about forty-seven years, at least at 
the presidential level. And our troops certainly understand it at the ground level. And 
our view is it ought to be time that we get everything in between right for them. 

So with that in mind, I would like to move on to a couple of points regarding the 
interagency process as it currently exists and has existed in the recent past. There is 
a cottage industry out there for people that are promoting interagency reform and I 
am not here to join in that industry but simply to offer an insider’s perspective. Over 
the last two years, I have either participated in or prepared my principle, either the 
Secretary of Defense or the Secretary of State, for over two hundred PC’s (Principles 
Committee), DC’s (Deputies Committee), or PCC’s (Policy Coordinating Committee). 
And as a result, I can tell you that these observations are not drawn from any particular 
expertise or native intelligence but simply, on-the-ground experience. Of these three 
observations to this industry of interagency reform, I think two of them are a little bit 
controversial but I hope I can convince this audience of the thought process behind 
them. 

The first point that I want to make is that the NSC (National Security Council) staff 
are advisors to the President and should not have a fixed role. There is a suggestion out 
there that we ought to have a roles and missions definition for the NSC staff, that they 
ought to have exactly the same roles and missions from administration to administra­
tion. People talk about the halcyon days, the NSC staff before the first Gulf War, the 
experiences of the Berger NSC, and what was going on under Rice, and now Hadley. 
Each of these are different and equally valid models for the NSC because each of them 
reflect the President that they serve and attempting to formalize or cookie cutter the 
staff would not be helpful to the process nor would it serve the President. The second 
point that I would like to make concerns the notion of the War Czar. The selection of 
a War Czar to run the operations in both Iraq and Afghanistan was one of the most 
controversial decisions taken by the President with regards to the NSC during his eight 
years. While it has been controversial, I think history will bear it out to be probably one 
of the best decisions that was made and I will explain. And third, my view is that Gold­
water-Nichols legislation to impose better behavior and outcomes on the interagency 
is not the answer. The executive branch did not want an external actor to come in and 
clean up the interagency and Congress will not allow for a more efficient process. 
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Let me first start talking about the issue of the NSC staff and the roles of person­
alities. On this role of the staff and the departments, I suspect you have already talked 
about the 1947 National Security Act and the statutory responsibilities of the National 
Security Council. But it is important to recognize that the staff is first and foremost 
part of the President’s personal staff. It is an advisory body to the chief executive. The 
cabinet members who make up the NSC by contrast are nominated by the President, 
they are confirmed by the senate, and they are subject to request for testimony in front 
of the United States Congress. They serve the President, but they also answer to the 
will of the Congress, particularly when it comes to resources. By contrast, the NSC 
staff is not confirmed by the senate, cannot be subpoenaed by the committees, and does 
not testify in front of Congress. As a result, there is a dual nature between those two 
elements that make up the National Security Council and the supporting staff for it. 
And then of course, there is the third element, and a very important actor in this entire 
process, the Vice President who not only has a role inside the executive branch and also 
has a role inside the United States Congress. Because of the latest controversy about 
what his authorities and responsibilities are, I am not going to get into that subject. All 
I would say is that this current office of the Vice President has significant influence and 
has a significant voice at the table for all of the National Security Council debates and 
decisions. So what I would tell you is that who a President picks as his Vice President, 
who he picks as his National Security Advisor and his cabinet Secretaries will, in a 
large sense, dictate how the National Security Council staff interprets and implements 
its role. You take a look at the role that was held by the National Security Advisor and 
the cabinet Secretaries for the first Bush, there you had James Baker as Secretary of 
State, you had Dick Cheney as Secretary of Defense, strong personalities, and all held 
the confidence of the President. As a result, you saw Brent Scowcroft as the National 
Security Advisor, someone who saw his role more as a facilitator, and you saw the 
National Security staff somewhat like a weak battalion staff working for a strong bat­
talion commander and strong company commanders, in somewhat of a backward role. 
But just because it was a backward role or a back foot role, it did not see itself as a 
decision making body, it did not see itself as an authoritative body, but it is often rec­
ognized as one of the most effective National Security Councils and National Security 
Council staffs in interagencies that we have seen since 1947. If anybody would like 
to read more of that, and I recommend this highly, it is the Living History Project, the 
National Security Council project that was run by Ivo Daalder up at Brookings where 
he brought a significant number of people in to talk about those days and what went 
right and what went wrong. And what was remarkable, particularly since I do not think 
a lot of people recognized this or realized it, nor did I for that matter, is inside this 
seventy-eight hundred and fifty-page document, there is a little subtext to all of this 
and it was the role of Brent Scowcroft’s Deputy and his role running the DCs, was able 
to elevate the DCs to Under Secretary-level, and was a tremendous catalyst in getting 
these meetings done right and getting these meetings done effectively, efficiently, and 
one that to this day, (this study was done about fifteen years after that), where people 
continue to point out this individual as a catalyst for making this all happen. Anybody 
have an idea who Brent Scowcroft’s Deputy was? The current Secretary of Defense, 
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Bob Gates, is roundly seen as the hero of this entire story and the hero of the National 
Security Council in the interagency process during the first Bush administration. Well 
worth reading. Clinton was a little bit different. The Clinton era seemed to put more 
emphasis on the role of the National Security Advisor and when you take a look at the 
cabinet Secretaries, that might explain why. The cabinet Secretaries at that time did 
not necessarily have as much . . . you had Les Aspin, Madeleine Albright . . . these 
were not really dominant figures at the NSC table. As a result, when you needed things 
to get done, you went to Sandy Berger. Sandy Berger kind of cracked the whip and 
kept things going and as a result, the National Security staff reflected that as well. I 
remember as a young Army lieutenant colonel sitting in a PCC being run by Susan 
Rice and this was about the time of the Burundi situation and I can tell you, you went 
away from that meeting knowing what your homework was, you knew what you had 
to turn in, and if you did not get it right you were going to hear from the NSC staff. 
They were not there to facilitate. They were there to orchestrate, and they were there 
to make decisions that would then go to the President to underwrite. There was a little 
bit of resentment in the first Bush administration. In fact, perhaps not resentment, but 
it was probably more of a difference in tact. I do not know if most people recognize 
that there was an article about seven years ago where Condi Rice and Steve Hadley 
laid out their view of how the National Security staff should operate and used the word 
facilitators. There have been a lot of people that have criticized the current National 
Security staff as one that just has a lot of meetings and doesn’t really demand action 
and implementation the way the previous NSCs did and the interagency meetings did. 
I think if one takes a look at the National Security team that the President chose, that 
is understandable, a very strong Secretary of State in the form of Colin Powell, a very 
strong and verbal Secretary of Defense, and Condoleezza Rice, while an academic, 
really was not one that was going to be forcing her opinion at that table. So it really 
was the staff supporting the subordinate commanders, so to speak, in the forms of the 
Secretaries and the President and the staff facilitating those decisions, moving them 
up to the President. I bring that out simply because I think as there are some out there 
who would be prescriptive about the way the National Security staff should run and the 
way the interagency should run, it is important to recognize that first and foremost, it 
remains an advisory staff whose responsibility is to the President and prescribing their 
behavior or describing their behavior, I think, does not do good service to either the 
National Security staff nor, more importantly, the President nor the cabinet Secretaries. 
So my first observation is, I would treat with great suspicion any project that came for­
ward and said, “We are going to improve the interagency by dictating and demanding 
that the National Security staff operates in this particular way.” 

The second point is the issue of the War Czar. It is very controversial. There were a 
number of people that were asked to be the War Czar and chose not to be the War Czar, 
and Doug Lute finally stepped up to the plate. The role that the War Czar has played 
has not been necessarily in taking over the war responsibilities from the departments, 
but following through on the decisions made by the National Security Council. For 
anybody that has ever worked in the interagency, it is great at coming up with decisions 

401 



and absolutely lacking when it comes into implementation. It is an organization, there 
are probably, five to ten DCs and PCs every week and at each one of those decisions 
are made. The decisions are made at the principles level, deputies agree, the PCCs 
analyze, but at the end of the day you would think that by the end of the week, you 
would have a nice set of decisions that would percolate through the chain of command 
because that is the way it works in the military. It absolutely does not work that way 
inside the interagency process. Great decisions are made, but in the past very few of 
those decisions have been implemented or followed through. For anybody that knows 
Doug Lute you know that first and foremost this is a former J3 at numerous levels and 
he is a guy that tracks decisions. You go to the meetings with Doug Lute and he is go­
ing to ask where your homework is. If you say, “My dog ate it,” there is going to be 
some naming and shaming and blaming at the table. He is a guy that understands that 
it is not simply enough at the highest level of the government to make decisions, but 
those decisions not only have to be executed and implemented, but they have to go 
down the chain of command. Or you end up with the paradigm we talked about earlier, 
the simple issue is, if you go into the interagency decisions, make those decisions and 
if the principles walk away back to their departments and stay focused upon their own 
department equities and hope that decision never comes back to haunt them, you get 
away with a lot. Doug Lute does not let things ride and when decisions are made by the 
principles, the decisions are made and you move out smartly. There are many in this 
community that would suggest that is not the way to go, that is an unbridled granting 
of power to a uniformed officer, and it does not necessarily have to be a uniformed of­
ficer. There are significant numbers of areas that you have to ask, “Who goes to sleep 
at night worrying about this particular issue? Who wakes up in the morning and says, is 
this going to get done?” It seems normal to all of us in the room that that would happen. 
It is very abnormal inside Washington, DC, but I think quite frankly, what you want 
to do is you want to have more of these czars. They may not have that particular term, 
but there has to be somebody who holds responsibility for implementing and monitor­
ing the decisions that are made by the National Security Council. It is not being done 
and it needs to be done. All I would say is for anybody that wants to be a czar, always 
remember, when it comes to czars, the nobles normally hate them and the peasants 
normally assassinate them. 

The last point I would like to make before taking some questions is the notion of 
Goldwater-Nichols for the interagency. I would like to throw this thought out and just 
quite simply say, my personal view is it would not work. We do and we are making 
incremental improvements inside interdepartmental operations and interagency opera­
tions, but Goldwater-Nichols is not the ultimate solution. First of all, for those of us 
that lived through the Goldwater-Nichols era, in many ways, the results of Goldwater-
Nichols are a success, but the very fact that the services had to have an external force, 
the United States Congress, legislate what needed to be done, you have to consider 
that to be a failure. The services knew what to do. We all knew what to do. We knew 
the importance of working in a joint environment, but the incentives systems and the 
rewards were not set up for either acting joint and certainly not for going joint. There 
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were a couple of wise old heads inside the United States Congress that recognized that 
they could use the power of the purse to do this. They recognized the necessity to get 
the services to act joint and I think twenty years hence, we can all look at that as a suc­
cess. But I would also tell you that trying to take that extension from the United States 
military into the interagency is bound for failure. The primary reason it would not work 
is number one, Congress will not allow it to happen because what Congress would be 
allowing to happen is granting more authority to the President of the United States. In 
fact, it is more of a comparison to the separation of powers clause in the Constitution 
and not Goldwater-Nichols. Congress intentionally limits the power of the President 
and limits the power of the department by separating the structures by which the dif­
ferent departments respond to Congress. That is the reason you have a 600-700 billion 
dollar defense budget while the State Department has about a 55-60 billion dollar bud­
get. Different committees operate, different committees appropriate, different commit­
tees obligate money to those organizations and it does not seem, in my mind, rational 
that we would expect the United States Congress to give up that power to the President 
to be able to take money from the Department of Defense, give it to the Department 
of State or do anything that would make it more efficient. This separation of powers, 
these checks and balances currently held by the United States Congress which would 
be forfeited if we had a Goldwater-Nichols for the interagency, just does not seem to 
pass the common sense test. People say, “Well, what is wrong with ultimate synchro­
nization? Why shouldn’t that power be consolidated under the responsibility of the 
President?” Well, if you really want to do that, the ultimate form of synchronization, of 
course, is the dictatorship and I do not think America is going to be heading to a dicta­
torship anytime soon and I do not think that we are going to see a Goldwater-Nichols 
for the interagency anytime soon. It just does not seem to be the right way to do it and 
it just quite frankly, does not seem that it would be plausible in the first place to expect 
it to be achieved. But with that in mind, let me give some summary comments. We 
clearly have a lot of work to do in DC with regards to the interagency, and I think that 
there is a lot of internal work that needs to be done because until it is done, I cannot 
be confident that it is going to take care of the soldiers in the field and the interagency 
mechanisms that we are setting up on the ground. That is particularly acute given that 
there is a new administration that will be coming in town and it is going to have a 
completely new interagency National Security team. It will emerge, it will not look 
anything like the one we currently have, and I would expect that the National Security 
team under an Obama administration would look very different from one that would 
emerge under a McCain administration if he is elected. I think both of them could go 
from either the very strong managerial model that we saw under Sandy Berger. It could 
perhaps be the case that under a very strong McCain administration with very strong 
service Secretaries and department Secretaries, might seek somebody who is less as­
sertive and less demanding upon the departments in the form of the National Security 
Advisor. We will certainly find that out in the next six months or so. But before I do 
finish up and turn it over for questions, I think this issue that you have taking on for 
the last couple of days is extremely important, and what I very much appreciate is sort 
of the top to bottom approach that you have taken. There is a tremendous amount of 
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success going on at interagency, whether it is down at the PRT level, whether it is bri­
gade-level headquarters inside of Iraq and Afghanistan, the JIATFs (Joint Interagency 
Task Force) that have been set up at CENTCOM (United States Central Command) 
and other places and frankly, the interagency which is a joint interagency task force 
inside of Washington, DC. What I suspect is you have taken a look at which way to go 
in the future on the ground. All of us recognize there is still a lot of work that needs 
to be done at the highest levels, and quite frankly, it is not entirely inaccurate to sug­
gest that Washington, DC does not yet know that, does not yet understand it because, 
quite frankly, Washington, DC is not on a war footing. But I would tell you that there 
are still small pockets of individuals out there and groups that never fall asleep at 
night nor wake up in the morning without thinking about these issues because of the 
consequence it has for our soldiers in the field. And I just want to finish up by again 
remarking on the importance of our soldiers in the field. They are carrying the work of 
a nation in their rucksacks and we should be enormously proud of what they are doing. 
If this conference marginally improves, in any way, the interagency capability of this 
nation, insofar that it facilitates and supports what our troops on the ground are doing, 
then I would consider this conference a tremendous success. God bless those troops for 
what they do. They are the ones that ought to be the first people we think of as we try 
to improve interagency operations and we should just be enormously grateful for what 
they are doing every day. So thank you very much and rather than take the entire hour 
and a half to talk, I thought it might be helpful, either to let you guys get out early or 
take a number of questions in the interim, so thank you very much. 
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Day 3—Featured Speaker
 
Question and Answers
 
(Transcript of Presentation)
 

Mr. Mark T. Kimmitt
 
Assistant Secretary of State for Political-Military Affairs
 

United States State Department
 

Audience Member 

If you could comment briefly and I know you have only been at State now since the 
beginning of August it looks like. What do you feel like as you move from Defense? 
Do you have a sense yet from State? Is there an institutional perspective that you as 
an individual feel that you are going to be pressured to do things with State that you 
would not have had to do with Defense or vice versa? How does interagency work for 
an individual who has moved back and forth between both departments? 

A/S Kimmit 
That is a good question. First of all, we have to be loyal to our institutions. We have 
to be loyal to our leaders. As I said at my swearing in, it is remarkable that when you 
take the oath of office as an Assistant Secretary of State, it is almost word for word the 
same oath of office you take when you are commissioned as a United States officer or 
promoted. You swear to support and defend the Constitution of the United States, not 
the Department of State, not the President of the United States, but the Constitution 
of the United States. The last time I checked, when I drove over the bridge and got to 
the other side, it was still the same Constitution that the Department of State and the 
Department of Defense adheres to. That was point one. Point two, it was remarkable 
and perhaps [loss of audio]. I have often had the Under Secretary from policy call me 
up and say, “Mark, I want to talk to you about the paper.” I said, “What paper? I have 
not even seen it yet.” But that is just the way it works and you have to learn to live 
with that. But fundamentally, I do not see . . . well, let me put it this way, there are 
old-time State Department types out there that do not believe in all this interagency 
stuff. There are old-time senior Army officers that do not believe in this interagency 
stuff. Well, what is remarkable is this young generation of Foreign Service Officers and 
Army captains and majors that have served together, worked together, lived together, 
ate together, and in many cases, been shot at together, that are growing up inside these 
organizations and it is very refreshing. In fact, you get a bunch of young Foreign Ser­
vice Officers together with a bunch of military officers and soldiers at a social occasion 
where they have served together in combat and you would not be able to differentiate 
one from the other. So what I would say is, those sharp distinctions which used to exist 
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between our departments, war creates strange bedfellows and in this case that is a good 
thing. So I would just tell you that I was refreshingly . . . well, when I got over to State, 
I was not brought into a secret cloak room, given the secret handshake and told to say, 
“Okay, everything you did over in DOD does not apply here.” It is very similar. I think 
that we all work at the same objective, we all serve the same President, but most im­
portantly, it is important to defend the same Constitution. So that was a very refreshing 
observation to learn that after I had been there about two weeks. 

Audience Member (Blogosphere) 
Sir, if you could comment about what your feelings are about the National Center for 
Strategic Communications that would be the premier education and training facility for 
both DOD public affairs and Department of State public diplomacy. There have been 
congressional movements to establish this center to unify the strategic message across 
the USG (United States Government). 

A/S Kimmit 
In terms of a process or a building, I am indifferent. But in terms of an outcome, I think 
all of us have recognized, and Bill Caldwell and I in particular who have spent our last 
combat tour at a podium, understand the importance of information. And it is becom­
ing such an incredible component of what we do on the ground. General Caldwell and 
I were talking about it over lunch. The first people he introduced me to this afternoon 
were some of the people that had worked with him in Iraq, supporting him in his job. 
I see Matt [inaudible] who was my right arm while I was in Iraq, who taught me how 
important it was to get the information out, be first with the truth. There are many that 
still may think, “This ‘five o’clock follies,’ press conference stuff is not what real mili­
tary men are all about, what real military women are about. They are wrong. It is an 
essential part of what we do when we are fighting somewhere around the world—tell 
our message, get our message out, and be first with the truth. If for no other reason than 
the fact that even if you do not believe it, your enemy does. Your enemy is probably 
reading that same blog right now and trying to figure out how he or she can use a blog 
to disseminate this information to unwilling and unfriendly neighbors. So if there is a 
movement afoot to try to formalize this in a building, in a process, in an organization, 
I think that is great as long as it achieves the outcome which we all seek which is a 
core of foreign service, military, and civil service professionals that are able to get up 
in front of audiences, whether they are newspapers, whether they are our own citizens, 
whether they are our own press, or whether they are foreign nationals and explain what 
we are doing, why we are doing it, and why our soldiers are putting their lives on the 
line to do it. That is, in my mind, an absolute essential aspect of leadership for the 21st 
century. And if people do not get it, they do not get it. But your enemy does, and if for 
no other reason, you ought to understand that. 
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Audience Member 

You mentioned that Washington is not on a war footing. How would you compare and 
contrast the level of war footing between Defense and the State Department? 

A/S Kimmit 
Listen, do not go into the Pentagon hallways at 4:30 on a normal afternoon. You will 
get run over. I would not necessarily put the cloak of purity on the Department of De­
fense. If you are working in the policy shops for East Asia, life is not bad. If you are 
working in the policy shops for the Middle East, you work a little bit harder. I think 
everybody recognizes that we are in a war. I do not think people recognize that we 
are at war. I would say that comment applies in every bureau and remarkably, there 
are some departments that you would never expect to be thinking that they are at war 
that are so incredibly important these days. If you want to find some of the toughest, 
meanest people in Washington, DC fighting this war on terrorism, go to the Treasury 
Department. You run into guys like Stu Levy who spends every day of his life trying 
to figure out where the money flows are coming from in Iran and where they are going 
to. These guys are absolutely vicious. So I think as I said in my final comments, there 
are small pockets out there that really understand, not only that we are in a war, but we 
are at war. Then there are larger pockets that understand we are in a war, and then there 
are some other people that just acknowledge, “Hey, that is somebody else’s business 
and I am not worried about it.” So short answer is, not enough people understand we 
are in a war, not enough people understand that we are at war. But I would not make 
that department specific. 

Audience Member 
Earlier this academic year, we received a brief from Dr. Thomas Barnett and he spoke 
to us about his idea of creating a SysAdmin force which I understand to be an extreme 
form of interagency cooperation, a force structure that is able to deploy anywhere 
around the world with military, DOD, State Department, and other agencies. How do 
you feel about that idea? Is that something that is even possible with the current struc­
ture? 

A/S Kimmit 
Maybe I got confused on this notion of a SysAdmin force. I thought you were going to 
take me down into the cyber space fighting environment, but he is suggesting that we 
ought to have a stand-by capability to deploy anywhere in the world? 

Audience Member 
Yes Sir, in a joint interagency force that has . . . 
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A/S Kimmit 

I absolutely agree with you. In fact, that is one of the initiatives that is being pushed 
right now to the Civilian Reserve Corps at the Department of State. Oddly enough, the 
European Union figured this out ten years ago. They have a quote, “Rapid Reaction 
Force” of not only soldiers but lawyers, economists, so on and so forth. That is the 
effort that is being pushed by Ambassador John Herbst right now in S/CRS (Office 
of the Coordinator for Reconstruction and Stabilization) inside the State Department. 
It is probably not getting as much traction as it needs, but it is certainly the case that, 
depending on a civilian RFF (Request for Forces) process to try to find yourself an 
economist, a forensics expert, and a foreign policy advisor once the war starts is not the 
right way to go. I think there is debate in Washington, DC, there is actual money that 
has been put against that project, but it does not seem to have the traction that I think 
both of us would recognize that it needs over time. 

Audience Member 
I want to ask you about dynamics within the State Department. Robert McNamara 
made the argument once that in the 1950s we gutted the Asian specialists. As a conse­
quence of that when we went to Vietnam, we were not as knowledgeable as we should 
have been. Another argument has been made as we went into Iraq that we did not have 
sufficient number of Arabists, people that had a view from the position of Arabs in the 
Middle East. As a consequence of that, we did not have all the information we needed 
and all the understanding that we needed when we went into the Middle East. And 
the argument has been that within the State Department there is a dynamic that these 
various areas of the world have friction between them and one becomes dominant and 
influences policy more so than others. Have any comment on that? 

A/S Kimmit 
You brought up a couple of points there and different points. It is true that inside the 
State Department and the regional bureaus, there is somewhat of a hierarchy within the 
regional bureaus and much of that hierarchy is personality dependent. Obviously, right 
now the Near East Bureau, under David Welch, gets a lot of attention and gets a lot of 
resources because of what is happening inside the Middle East. By contrast, Secretary 
Jendayi Frazer down in Africa is always having to make the argument that, “Look, 
this is all about phase zero operations. Let’s prevent the next war rather than spend all 
our efforts fighting the current war.” But I think you are going to find that in all orga­
nizations, it was certainly the case in OSD policy, that as the DAS (Deputy Assistant 
Secretary) for the Middle East, I probably was able to secure more of what I needed 
whether it was resources, focus, attention, than say, the DAS for Western Hemisphere. 
So, true. The other point you made, I think, is even more important, which is develop­
ing that cultural base of expertise early on because cultural and language skills, to use 
the Japanese term, are not a “just in time” inventory. You cannot just call up and all of a 
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sudden get a hundred Asian specialists, a hundred Arabic speakers, so on and so forth. 
And even if you can quickly get the language speakers, the time it takes to develop the 
cultural expertise well surpasses the amount of time you are going to have in advance 
warning. This is something that General Caldwell and I were talking about at lunch and 
I was impressed to hear the initiatives that the Department of the Army in general, but 
Leavenworth in particular, are pushing in that regard. So I wish I could disagree with 
you, but I think in both cases, in terms of the cultural requirements, that we are going 
to need in the future and in terms of the bureaucratic behaviors inside the State Depart­
ment and other departments, I think you are spot on. 

Audience Member 
Sir, could you talk a little bit more about the cultural difference between your thirty 
plus years in DOD and what you are now seeing as far as the culture within the Depart­
ment of State and specifically about the career incentive programs within the Depart­
ment of State. Are you rewarded for these types of tours, career progression patterns, 
etcetera, and is there some cultural resistance within Department of State to not only 
interagency but just deployments in general? 

A/S Kimmit 
Interesting question and first of all, it was more of a cultural leap for me to take off my 
uniform and work as a Deputy Assistant Secretary of Defense than it was to go from 
wearing a tie in Department of Defense to working in the State Department. It was a 
tremendous leap between the two and some of the mistakes I made were what caused 
me to be delayed a little bit in my confirmation process, well deserved. That said, I 
think you would be remarkably impressed by the similarities in the cultures between 
the two places. Although the rules are different, the norms are very similar in terms 
of organizational loyalty, how you can progress, what is the path for success in the 
military versus the path for success in the State Department. And that is something that 
the State Department is examining right now. The State Department, in a lot of ways 
internal to itself, is going through a Goldwater-Nichols examination of itself. What do 
I mean by that? I also run the POLAD Program (Political Advisor Program). We just 
got finished selecting a new group of political advisors. As I was talking to a couple 
of them the other day, it sounded like twenty years ago, before Goldwater-Nichols, 
“Oh gosh, getting off the regional bureau track is going to hurt me.” Or the ones that 
are there, “This is the best job I have ever had, but it is not going to get me anywhere 
in the State Department.” And you take away the term “POLAD” and you put in the 
word “joint” and it is very similar to us. What I have been trying to amplify because 
I certainly did not invent this, but this notion that within the State Department that if 
they truly want to acknowledge how important interagency tours are, they have to be 
rewarded. People by and large are going to go where the motivations and incentives 
lie. Twenty years ago, we would not have gone to a joint assignment; it would be the 
kiss of death. Nobody gets promoted, nobody gets selected for command. And in many 
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ways in the foreign service, the answer is to be in a bureau, start off as a desk officer, 
go to an Embassy, work as a political officer, come back to the bureau, become a di­
rector, go back to an Embassy, be a DCM (Deputy Chief of Mission) or to a different 
one, and go back and forth. While that sounds nutty, I bet if you talked to most senior 
officers in the United States Army, we grew up in an environment where you go to 
a battalion, you go to a brigade, you go to successive commands. You do something 
crazy like working joint or take a White House fellowship and you are putting yourself 
at risk. We got over it inside the military and I think the State Department is trying to 
get through it now. I would tell you though, that they have not yet taken the final step 
which is to establish incentives, motivations, and penalties for those that do not, and I 
would suggest that human nature will say, “Until you actually penalize those who do 
not and reward those that do, you are not going to get anywhere.” They made a couple 
of steps two years ago when we were coming out of Iraq. Almost every award given 
that year in State Department was given to somebody who had served in Iraq, so they 
are getting rewarded. Just as we went through this in the Army, as we transitioned over 
to joint, they are going through that now. Does that help? I am absolutely impressed 
with this crowd for one that started at one o’clock in the afternoon right out of lunch. 
I was very carefully watching to see if anybody nodded off. Anybody in the class of 
1976 that ever had a class with me knows that between the hours of one o’clock and 
three o’clock, I could be found at my desk with my head on the desk, drooling from 
the side of my cheeks as I was falling asleep, so if for no other reason, thank you very 
much for the opportunity to speak today, thanks for what you are doing out here, and 
congratulations on a great symposium. 
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Day 3—Closing Remarks 

Conclusion
 
(Transcript of Presentation)
 

Dr. William Glenn Robertson
 
Director, Combat Studies Institute
 

In the Army pedagogical technique known as the Staff Ride, there is a brief but 
critical phase known as the integration phase. It begins the process of integrating all 
that we have learned through disparate means into a coherent framework. Let me very 
briefly begin that process of integration here at the close of our symposium, knowing 
that the integration process will go on individually within your minds as you leave 
this symposium, and further as you interact with others on this very important topic. 
What have we heard here this week? The interagency process is, first of all, not a 
new phenomenon, stretching back centuries. We’ve also learned that it is difficult to 
accomplish successfully. We’ve learned that personality difficulties and differences 
complicate the interagency process. Time and again, speakers have commented on 
the role of personality. We’ve learned that structural differences between and among 
agencies complicate the process. We’ve learned that organizational cultural differences 
complicate the process. But the good news is that we’ve also learned that people of 
good will and great skill can overcome all these difficulties; and when those difficul­
ties are overcome, the synergies available in service to our nation are immense. The 
historical record is clear. Indeed, it’s a commonplace. So, why don’t we learn? Or, if 
we do learn why do we forget? How can we institutionalize what works and avoid 
or discard what doesn’t? These are hard but critical questions, and this symposium 
has made a contribution toward framing an answer. The papers and discussions that 
have taken place over the last three days have told us what happened in the past. 
You have heard examples transcending single centuries and single places. You have 
heard those examples examined for significant insights and the details that each of 
them brings to the table, but the question of institutionalization remains. How does 
historical insight translate into policy? This symposium has turned up the rheostat 
on an already bright light. We may have to leave it to others to direct that light onto 
the path that is the future. Still, we’ve made a beginning, and I want to thank all of 
you—participants and attendees alike—for a most stimulating symposium. Next year, 
we have tentatively selected for our topic, “The Military and the Media in Wartime: 
Historical Perspectives.” We hope you will find the time to attend. Our proceedings of 
this symposium we hope to have published by the end of December. I want to add my 
thanks to those people that Ken Gott thanked, and I want to extend my thanks to Ken 
as well for managing this symposium so well. 
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Stetson Univers i ty  (1972), a Master’s degree in history from the University of Florida 
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